
1

Annual report
2018

GROWTH DRIVERS



ABOUT RUSAGRO GROUP

4 About Rusagro

6 The Company Today

8 Geographic Footprint

10 Sales Geography

12 Structure of the Company

STRATEGIC REPORT

15   2018 Highlights

16  Letter from the Chairman 

 of the Board of Directors

18  Letter from the Chief Executive

 Officer

20  Business Model

22   Growth Strategy

23  Key Priorities of Rusagro’s

 Growth Strategy

24  Expanding Presence in All Areas

 of Business

28  Developing Humal Capital

29  Developing Retail Brands

30  Automation and Innovation

COMPANY’S BUSINESS

32 SUGAR SEGMENT
34  Company’s Business

36  Russian Market Overview

39  Assets

43  Rusagro’s Results in 2018

44  Plans for 2019

46 MEAT SEGMENT
48  Company’s Business

50  Russian Market Overview

53  Assets

58  Rusagro 2018 Results

60  Plans for 2019

62  OIL AND FATS SEGMENT
64  Company’s Business

66  Russian Market Overview

70  Assets

74 Rusagro 2018 Results

76  Plans for 2019

78  AGRICULTURE SEGMENT
80  Company’s Business

82  Russian Market Overview

86  Assets

90 Rusagro 2018 Results

92  Plans for 2019

94  DAIRY PRODUCTS SEGMENT
96  Company’s Business

98  Russian Market Overview

103  Assets

104 Rusagro 2018 Results

106  Plans for 2019

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

109  Corporate Governance System

116  Corporate Management

118   Divisions Management

120  Relations with Shareholders

 and Investors

124   Risk Management

CORPORATE SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY

127 Human Resources Management

137  Social Investment

139  Environmental Responsibility

149  Lean

150  Quality Management

151   External Corporate Relations 

and Ethics Standards

152  Prevention of Corruption

153  Procurement

ADDITIONAL 
INFORMATION

155  International Financial Reporting 

 Standards Consolidated Financial

  Statements and Independent

 Auditor’s Report

239  Contact Information

CONTENTABOUT THE REPORT

This Annual report for 2018 (hereinafter 
referred to as “the Report”) was prepared 
by ROS AGRO PLC. Rusagro Group (hereinafter 
referred to as the Company and Rusagro) should 
be understood to mean the group of companies 
consisting of ROS AGRO PLC and its subsidiaries. 

Material subjects of the Report
The Report reviews the implementation 
of the Company’s Mid-Term Development Strategy 
in 2018, presents operating and financial results, 
and describes the existing corporate governance 
framework. The Report is prepared in accordance 
with good practice in Environmental, Social and 
Governance reporting (ESG) with a particular 
focus on human resource management, social 
investment and environmental protection.

Standards
The Report was prepared on the basis 
of ROS AGRO PLC management reporting, taking 
into account the consolidated financial statements 
of the Company and its subsidiaries for 2018. 
The Company’s consolidated financial statements 
were prepared in line with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted 
by the European Union, and the requirements 
contained in Cap. 113 of the Cyprus 
Companies Law.

Audit 
The audit of the IFRS consolidated financial 
statements of ROS AGRO PLC for 2018 was 
conducted by PricewaterhouseCoopers Limited.

Disclaimer
The Report contains estimations and forward-
looking statements about operating, financial, 
economic, social, and other indicators 
characterising the development of Rusagro. 
Actual events or results may vary materially 
from those expressed in the estimations and 
forward-looking statements due to various 
reasons, in particular, the changing market 
situation and other direct risks to ROS AGRO PLC 
and its subsidiaries. The Company assumes no 
responsibility or liability for any losses or damages 
incurred by individuals or entities through their 
reliance on the forward-looking statements. Any 
of such forward-looking statements represent one 
of the many possible scenarios and should not be 
viewed as the most probable scenario. In addition 
to the official information on the activities 
of Rusagro, the Report contains data obtained 
from third parties or sources that ROS AGRO PLC 
considers to be trustworthy. This being said, 
the Company does not guarantee the accuracy 
of such information, since it may be abridged 
or incomplete.

Since some indicators and percentages 
in the tables and figures of the Report have 
been rounded to the nearest whole number 
or the nearest decimal place, the sum 
of the rounded values may not fully match 
the totals. Further, some percentages contained 
in the tables and figures were calculated on 
the indicators prior to the rounding and may 
therefore not fully match the percentages 
calculated with the rounded values.
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About Rusagro

HISTORY OF THE COMPANY HIGHLIGHTS OF 2018

1997–2002
2003–2007

2008–2010
2011–2013

2014–2015
2016–2017 2018

Launching the Sugar 
and Agriculture businesses 
The Company acquires its first sugar 
plants and launches sugar production 
in the Belgorod Region. To satisfy its 
internal demand in sugar beet raw 
material, the Company expands its land 
bank, where it also grows grain crops. 
The Company buys elevators to store 
the grain. 

The history of the Company started back in 1995 with sugar imports and then 
proceeded with importing and processing of raw sugar in Russia. Shortly after, 
the actions to establish a vertically integrated holding company began. These activities 
can be divided into the following main stages.

Launching the Oil and Fats 
business and introducing the first 
retail brand
The Oil and Fats business starts with 
the purchase of an oil and fats production 
asset in Yekaterinburg. Around the same 
time, the Sugar business launches its 
first retail sugar brand – Chaikofsky. 
The Company is expanding its land bank.

Initial Public Offering (IPO)
The Company makes its initial public 
offering of GDRs (global depositary 
receipts) on the London Stock Exchange 
(LSE). The Company adopts a dividend 
policy stating that not less than 25% 
of net profit shall be paid in dividends. 
The Oil and Fats business purchases an 
oil extraction plant in the Samara Region. 
The Sugar business starts the Russkii 
Sakhar brand; this brand receives 
the National Trade Association’s Product 
of the Year 2011 Award in the Sugar 
category. The land bank is expanding 
to 463 thousand hectares. The Company 
exports to 14 countries. 

Razgulay deal and Secondary 
Public Offering (SPO)
The Company acquires from the Razgulay 
company three sugar plants in the Kursk 
and Orel Regions, a cereal processing 
plant, and a land bank. The Sugar 
business launches the first molasses 
desugarisation facility. The Slovo 
Myasnika (Word of Butcher) brand 
of the Meat business enters the consumer 
market; the Meat business starts a project 
for the construction of new pig farms 
in the Tambov Region. The Oil and Fats 
business brings into operation a fats 
interesterification shop in Yekaterinburg. 
The Company’s land bank amasses 
665 thousand hectares. The Company 
holds an SPO on the LSE and raises 
USD 250 million.

Purchasing a pork producing and processing plant 
in the Belgorod Region
Rusagro acquired CJSC KapitalAgro and LLC TD KapitalAgro 
for RUB 1.8 billion. The net debt of the companies amounted to 
RUB 1.9 billion. The transaction included pig farms with 10 thousand 
sows and a slaughterhouse for 400 thousand heads per year. 
The transaction will allow the Company to increase its share 
in the market of half-carcasses, large cuts, and consumer products.

For more details on the transaction, see page 57.

Launching a vegetable oil refining, deodorisation, 
and bottling shop in the Samara Region 
In April, Rusagro launched a sunflower oil refining, deodorisation, 
and bottling shop at the Samara oil extraction plant. 
Implementation of the project with a capacity of 100 thousand tonnes 
of oil and 1.4 thousand tonnes of lecithin per year began in 2017. 
The shop allowed the Company to independently produce bottled oil 
and lecithin. Investments amounted to RUB 1.9 billion, excl. of VAT. 

For more details on the project, see page 70.

Increasing the land bank by 11 thousand hectares 
in the Tambov Region
Rusagro acquired a 100% stake of LLC Vozrozhdenie, which 
has 11 thousand hectares under control. The lands are located 
in the Michurinsky District of the Tambov Region, not far from 
the Nikiforovsky sugar plant. The Company plans to use the lands 
for beet crop rotation and to develop the irrigation system.

Launching the Meat business 
Having completed the construction 
of the pig-breeding farms in the Belgorod 
Region, the Company launches its fourth 
business – pork production. The Sugar 
segment is expanding – the Company 
acquires two more sugar plants 
in the Belgorod and Tambov Regions, and 
also starts Mon Cafe and Brauni brands. 
The Company amasses a land bank 
of 380 thousand hectares. 

Listing on on the Moscow Stock 
Exchange and slaughterhouse launch 
The Company’s depositary receipts admitted 
to trading on the MICEX. The Sugar business 
modernises the plants and introduces 
new packaging lines. The Meat division is 
expanding – pig farms and slaughterhouse 
are launched in the Tambov Region. 
The Company embarks upon the creation 
of a food cluster in the Primorye Territory: 
acquires 26 thousand hectares of land 
and an oil and fats plant and concludes 
an agreement on the construction 
of infrastructure for a pig-breeding project.

Supplying animals to new pig farms 
in the Tambov Region 
The Meat business has begun to supply animals to new pig farms. 
By the end of the year, all new breeding farms in the Tambov 
Region were fully occupied. The Company also has begun to supply 
pigs to the breeding farm in the Primorsky Territory. Starting 
the production of commercial products within the framework 
of new projects is scheduled for 2019-2021.

Commencing the construction of the second 
desugarisation facility
In Q4 2019, Rusagro plans to launch a new facility for recovering 
sugar extract from molasses. The facility will be able to process 
molasses from the remaining six sugar plants of the Company and 
additionally contribute to the production of up to 70 thousand 
tonnes of sugar. The estimated project cost is RUB 5.7 billion. 

For more details on the project, see page 42.

Launching a new dairy business
Rusagro started selling cheeses and butter produced in the Samara 
Region to the Volga Region. The Company plans to create 
a raw material base and to launch its own production facilities 
for the production of cheeses and other high-margin products for 
taking on the domestic market and entering the East Asian market. 

For more details on the new business, see page 103.

Acquiring a right to purchase the majority interest 
of Solnechnye Produkty
ROS AGRO PLC acquired a right to purchase the majority interest 
of Quartlink Holding Limited Company, an owner of Solnechnye 
Produkty Group. Solnechnye Produkty is the second largest 
sunflower processing company in Russia, a leader in the production 
of margarine and mayonnaise. 

For more details on the transaction, see page 72.
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The Company today

PRODUCTION HIGHLIGHTS AVERAGE 
HEADCOUNT

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS3

OIL AND FATS 
SEGMENT

-21%-21% -3%

+9%-1% -6% +27%

-11% (20%)

+12% (31%)

SUGAR 
SEGMENT

MEAT 
SEGMENT

AGRICULTURE 
SEGMENT

POSITIONS IN RUSSIA1

№.2
VEGETABLE OIL 
PRODUCER IN RUSSIA

№.4
COMMERCIAL PORK 
PRODUCER IN RUSSIA

205
THS TONNES 
OF PORK IN 
LIVE WEIGHT

3,489 
THS TONNES 
OF SUGAR BEET

29
THS TONNES 
OF CONSUMER 
MARGARINE

4.4
THS TONNES OF 
DRY MIXES AND 
CONDENSED 
WHEY 

1.6
THS TONNES 
OF CHEESE 
AND CHEESE 
PRODUCT

0.7
THS TONNES 
OF BUTTER AND 
SPREAD

567
THS TONNES 
OF COMPOUND 
FEED

1,062 
THS TONNES 
OF GRAINS

48
THS 
TONNES OF 
MAYONNAISE

5.3 
THS PEOPLE

22.4   
RUB BN

+319% (11%)+35%-20% -14% +3%+5x

+11%-1% -8% +47% -1% +65x (24%)

20.8   
RUB BN

5.0   
RUB BN

(7%)

2.9   
RUB BN

26.3   
RUB BN

854   
RUB MN

59   
RUB MN

7.0   
RUB BN

329 
THS TONNES 
OF OILSEEDS

4.4 
THS PEOPLE

101 
THS TONNES 
OF BOTTLED 
VEGETABLE OIL 

2.0 
THS PEOPLE

№.3
LANDHOLDER 

№.1
SUGAR CUBES 
RUSSIAN MARKET 
PLAYER

№.2
MAYONNAISE 
PRODUCER IN RUSSIA

582 
THS HA OF ARABLE 
LANDS

№.1 
CONSUMER MARGARINE 
PRODUCER IN RUSSIA 

652  
THS HA OF THE LAND 
BANK 

№.3 
SUGAR PRODUCER 
IN RUSSIA

3.1  
THS PEOPLE

24.1   
RUB BN

4.9    
RUB BN

773 
THS TONNES 
OF SUGAR

№.2 
INDUSTRIAL FATS 
PRODUCER IN RUSSIA 

share of the vegetable 
oil produced in Russia

18%

share of the consumer 
margarine produced 
in Russia

67%

share of the sugar 
produced in Russia

13%

№.13
CHEESE AND CHEESE 
PRODUCTS PRODUCER 
IN RUSSIA

share of the mayonnaise 
produced in Russia

25%

share of the margarine 
produced in Russia

23%

share of the 
commercial pork 
produced in Russia

5%

of owned land

51%

share of the cheese 
and cheese products 
produced in Russia

2%

share of the cube 
sugar market

48%

Revenues EBITDA (EBITDA margin)

1 The share and place in the Russian production of Oil and Fats business is an estimate; it includes 
the production of Solnechnye Produkty assets, which are pledged to Rusagro in 2018. The place of 
the Company among the largest landowners is an estimate, corresponds to the data published by 
BEFL in May 2018 with an update to Rusagro's landbank as of end of 2018.

2 The Dairy Products business involves working on a give-and-take basis with an asset pledged 
to Rusagro in 2018. 3 Data shown before elimination between segments.

Rusagro is one of the largest vertically integrated agriholdings in Russia. The Company holds substantial share in the domestic production of pork, 
sugar, agricultural products, margarine, and mayonnaise. In 2018, the Company rolled out the fifth business – Dairy products. According to the results 
of the year, the Company’s annual average totaled 15.2 thousand people, the turnover – RUB 83.0 billion.

IN 2019

DAIRY 
PRODUCTS 
SEGMENT2



98

RUSAGRO  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2018 4-13

14-31

32-107

108-125

126-153

154-239

ABOUT RUSAGRO GROUP

STRATEGIC REPORT

COMPANY’S BUSINESS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Geographic footprint

STRUCTURE OF ASSETS BY 
REGIONS IN 2018

Assets of the Company are located in 13 constituent entities 
of the Russian Federation: Moscow, Belgorod, Tambov, Voronezh, Kursk, 
Orel, Sverdlovsk, Samara, Saratov, Orenburg, Penza, Novosibyrsk 
Regions, and Primorye Territory. The Company is headquartered 
in the Tambov Region, with its separate division in Moscow.

Ussuriisk

Saratov

Penza 

Samara 

Voronezh 

Belgorod

Kursk 

Orel 

Tambov 

Ekaterinburg

Novosibirsk 

Orenburg 

Moscow 

Capacities of the sugar plants 
by regions, %

Pig stock by regions, %

MOSCOW REGION

•  1 oil and fats plant*

TAMBOV AND 
VORONEZH REGIONS

•  3 sugar plants
•  1 cereal processing plant
•  10 pig farms
•  3 breeding farms 
•  1 compound feed plant
•  1 slaughterhouse and meat 

processing plant
•  2 elevators 
•  184 ths ha of land
• 6.8 ths jobs

BELGOROD REGION

•  3 sugar plants
•  8 pig farms 
•  2 breeding farms 
•  1 compound feed plant
•  1 slaughterhouse and meat 

processing plant
•  2 elevators  
•  303 ths ha of land
• 5.0 ths jobs

OREL REGION

•  1 sugar plant
•  43 ths ha of land
• 0.6 ths jobs

KURSK REGION

•  2 sugar plants
•  27 ths ha of land
• 1.3 ths jobs

SVERDLOVSK REGION

•  2 oil and fats plants
• 0.9 ths jobs

SAMARA REGION

•  1 oil extraction plant
•  1 butter and cheeseplant*
•  3 elevators 
• 0.6 ths jobs

SARATOV REGION

•  1 elevator 
•  1 oil and fats plant*
•  2 oil extraction plants*
•  8 elevators *

ORENBURG REGION

•  2 elevators 

PENZA REGION

•  1 elevator

NOVOSIBIRSK REGION

•  1 oil and fats plant*

1 Assets of Solnechnye Produkty and JSC Alev pledged to Rusagro as of 2018. 2 Before intercompany eliminations.

39

10

20

30

Tambov Region
Belgorod Region

Kursk Region
Orel Region

56

44

Tambov Region Belgorod Region

Revenues of the Oil and Fats 
division by regions2, %

52

10

37

Samara Region
Sverdlovsk Region

Primorye Territory

46

5

7

14

26

Belgorod Region
Tambov Region

Primorye Territory
Orel Region

Kursk Region
Voronezh Region

2

Arable lands by regions, %

PRIMORYE TERRITORY

•  1 oil extraction and oil and fats 
plant

•  94 ths ha of land
• 1.1 ths jobs

IN 2019-2020:

•  6 pig farms 
•  1 breeding farm 
•  1 compound feed plant
•  1 slaughterhouse and meat 

processing plant
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32 8

11 21

22 31

10 4

328
33

9
15

30
26

36
14

27

1834

29

17

1

23

6
25

35

13

16

2

720

19

5

12

Sales geography

1. Russia
2. Angola
3. Armenia
4. Azerbaijan
5. Belarus
6. China
7. Cote d’Ivoire
8. Denmark
9. Egypt
10. Georgia
11. Germany
12. Haiti
13. Hong Kong
14. India
15 Israel
16. Japan
17. Kazakhstan
18. Kyrgyzstan

19. Latvia
20. Liberia
21. Lithuania
22. Moldavia
23. Mongolia
24. Norway
25. Republic of Korea
26. Saudi Arabia
27. Tajikistan
28. Turkey
29. Turkmenia
30. UAE
31. Ukraine
32. United Kingdom
33. USA
34. Uzbekistan
35 Vietnam
36. Yemen

636
countries of sale new export 

destinations

In 2018, Rusagro exported products to 36 countries, including 
6 new destinations. The Company made its first supplies to African 
countries, such as Liberia and Cote d’Ivoire, and directly to China. 
According to the results of the year, 19% of the Company’s revenues 
was received from foreign sales. Further growth in exports will depend 
on the stability of product quality and the development of Russia’s trade 
relations with key food-importing countries, in particular, East Asia.
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Structure of the Company 

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018

LLC Rusagro Group 
of Companies
Tambov

SUIFENHE CITY 
ROSAGRO 
AGRICULTURAL 
AND SIDELINE 
PRODUCTS CO., LTD
China

JSC Rusagro Group
Tambov

ROS AGRO PLC
Cyprus

Ros Agro China Limited  launched in 2019

Hong Kong

100%

xxx% 

100% 

100%

100%

LLС Rusagro 
Molochnye Producty
Samara

LLС Tambovsky 
Molochnik
Tambov

LLС Primorskaya 
Zemlya
Ussuriisk

LLС Tambovsky 
Syrovar
Tambov

100% 

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

LLC Rusagro-Invest
Belgorod

LLC Agrotechnologii
Tambov

LLC GeoRitm
Primorye Territory

LLC Rusagro-Moloko
Belgorod

JSC PrimAgro
Ussuriisk

LLC Armada-Land
Primorye Territory

AGRICULTURE 
SEGMENT

100%

50%

100%

100%

100%

75%

50%

LLC Vozrozhdeniye
Tambov

LLC “UnionBetaSeed”
Voronezh Region

LLC Primorskaya Niva
Ussuriisk

LLC LANDLORD
Primorye Territory

LLC Otradaagroinvest
Orel

LLC Kshenagro
Kursk

Teman Terminal Limited
Cyprus

OJSK “Fats and Oil 
Integrated Works”
Ekaterinburg

CJSC Samaraagro-
prompererabotka
Samara

OJSC Pugachevsky 
elevator
Saratov

LLC Primorskaya Soya
Ussuriisk

LLC Kolyshleisky 
elevator
Penza

100% 

100%

75%

83.3%

100%

OILAND FATS 
SEGMENT

SUGAR 
SEGMENT

100% 

100%

100%

100% 

100%

100%

100%

100%

LLC ”Rusagro-Centre”
Moscow

LLC “Rusagro-Sakhar”
Tambov

LLC “RUSAGRO-
TAMBOV”
Tambov

LLC RUSAGRO-
BELGOROD
Belgorod

LLC OtradaAgro
Tambov

50%

50%

OJSC Gerkules
Voronezh

JSC “Sugar plant 
“Otradinskiy”
Orel

JSC “Kshenskiy 
sugar plant”
Kursk

OJSC “Krivets-sugar”
Kursk

MEAT 
SEGMENT

100% 

100%

100%

100%

100%

LLC “Tambov bacon”
Tambov

LLC RUSAGRO- 
PRIMORYE
Ussuriisk

LLC Regionstroy
Ussuriisk

CJSC CapitalAgro
Belgorod

LLC Capital-invest
Belgorod

100% 

100% 

99.99%

DAIRY 
PRODUCTS 
SEGMENT
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THE STRATEGIC BUSINESS GOAL OF RUSAGRO IS 

TO INCREASE RETURNS FOR ITS SHAREHOLDERS 

THROUGH EXPANSION OF THE PRODUCTION AND 

REGIONAL PRESENCE, DEVELOPMENT OF HUMAN 

CAPITAL, PROMOTION OF CONSUMER PRODUCTS 

SALES, AND INTRODUCTION OF INNOVATIVE 

IT-SOLUTIONS.

S
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A
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G
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R
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O

R
T

GROWTH
STRATEGY

2018 Highlights

Letter from the Chairman of the Board of Directors

Letter from the Chief Executive Officer

Business Model

Growth Strategy

Key Priorities of Rusagro’s Growth Strategy

Expanding Presence in All Areas of Business

Developing Human Capital

Developing Retail Brands

Automation and Innovation

2018 highlights

15.6 RUB bn 
of capital investments

15.2 thousand 
employees on average

33.0 RUB mn 
of investments in social 
programmes

83.0 RUB bn 
of sales

16.2 RUB bn 
of adj. EBITDA

19% 
of adj. EBITDA margin

5% 16% 1 p.p.

5  

business divisions

13 
regions of presence

>12
retail brands

11% 89% 8%

1 

15

16

18

20

22

23

24

28

29

30
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LETTER FROM the CHAIRMAN

OF THE BOARD

OF DIRECTORS

Dear shareholders, 

Following the results of the year, due to a decrease in production 

volumes, the share of Rusagro in the sugar production in Russia 

decreased from 15% to 13%, downgrading the Company 

from the second to the third place. Concurrently, its market 

share in the lump sugar market increased by 4 p.p. up to 48%. 

On the back of growing capacities of other players, even 

though the Company's share in the pork production in Russia 

remained at 5%, it went down from the third to fourth place. 

Despite the optimisation of the land bank in the fourth quarter 

of 2018, Rusagro is still one of the largest landowners in Russia 

and ranks third with a land bank of 652 thousand hectares. 

In the Oil and Fats segment, Rusagro remains the hands-down 

leading producer in the consumer margarine production 

(41% of the Russian production). In 2018, Rusagro bought 

out the Solnechnye Produkty debt worth of RUB 34.7 billion 

and in the next two years plans to buy out the core assets 

of the group. Eventually, the Company may become the second 

largest producer of vegetable oil, mayonnaise, and industrial 

fats in Russia.

In 2018, Rusagro’s meat processing output and production 

of additional sugar from the extract grew by 20% and 23%, 

respectively; the Company also managed to increase the yield 

of all crops, except sunflower, by 8-15% and the production 

of bottled vegetable oil – by 5 times. The Company acquired 

a pork producer in the Belgorod Region, settled the first animals 

for new pig farms in the Tambov Region, launched a vegetable oil 

refining, deodorisation and bottling plant in the Samara Region, 

expanded the land bank in the central region, and launched its fifth 

business. By the end of the year, Rusagro's headcount amounted 

to 16.8 thousand employees, which is up 17% year-on-year. 

VADIM MOSHKOVICH, 
Chairman of the Board of Directors, ROS AGRO PLC

After the challenging previous year, 2018 showed positive 
trends for Rusagro and brought an increase in financial 
performance. The upsurge in prices for all Company's 
main products – pork, sugar, oil and fat products (except 
bottled oil), grains, oilseeds, sugar beets, together with 
the increased production of the Oil and Fats segment, were 
the drivers behind the rise in the Company’s consolidated 
revenues. According to the results of 2018, revenues 
reached RUB 83.0 billion (+5%), EBITDA – RUB 16.2 billion 
(+16%), net profit – RUB 12.8 billion (+131%). 

The Company made further progress in developing the consumer 

segment and its brands. Thus, in 2018, Rusagro secured its 

leadership in the consumer market of white and brown sugar 

in Russia and in the market of mayonnaise and margarine 

in the Urals Federal District, and its sales of meat products under 

Slovo Myasnika brand were four times as much as in 2017. There 

are 12 brands in the Company's portfolio. With the buyout of debts 

of the butter and cheese plant and the Solnechnye Produkty Group, 

Rusagro will further expand its brand portfolio.  

To ensure efficiency, Rusagro has consistently employed global 

best practices, automation approaches, and innovations. 

For instance, the Sugar business has been implementing the project 

to manage raw materials through the end-to-end monitoring 

of the raw materials flow from the field to the production site, 

the project of long-term storage of sugar beets, and the Smart 

Production programme. In the Agriculture business, the Company 

has been implementing electronic field maps and automatic 

control of field work. In the Meat business, the automation 

of the compound feed mill operation and automated counting 

of the animals' number at the meat processing plant are underway.

I would like to thank the Board of Directors for their active role 

in improving corporate governance, shaping the development 

strategy, and approving a generous dividend policy. After 

considering the results of 2018, the Board of Directors approved 

distribution of RUB 4.5 billion as dividends to the shareholders 

for 2018.  
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Letter from

the Chief

Executive Officer

The financial results in the Meat business have been improving 

for the second year in a row. In 2018, the sales in the business were 

up 9% year-on-year and amounted to RUB 22.4 billion, the adjusted 

EBITDA grew by 12% to RUB 7.0 billion, with the EBITDA margin 

remaining the same – 31%. This was primarily due to the positive 

market trends and meat processing development in the Company. 

The production output of processed meat products grew by 20% 

with a fourfold increase in the output of consumer products. 

This was achieved by improving the financial performance and 

efficiency, developing the consumer segment, and expanding 

the exports. In 2018, the Company purchased a pork producing 

and processing plant in the Belgorod Region, thus increasing 

the production capacity. Also, the first animals were delivered 

to new facilities in the Tambov Region. The first commercial 

products are expected to be produced at these facilities in 2019.

We understand the year-on-year performance deterioration 

in the Sugar business in 2018, its revenues declined by 21% 

to RUB 24.1 billion, the adjusted EBITDA – by 11% to RUB 4.9 billion. 

These results are mainly attributed to the global crisis in the global 

sugar industry and the restructuring of the Russian industry due 

to the sugar surplus. We believe that division competitiveness will 

be enhanced through innovations. In 2018, the adjusted EBITDA 

margin was up 2 p.p. to 20%.

In view of the rising international and domestic prices 

for agricultural products, the crop production business 

demonstrated the improved financial results in 2018. 

The revenues of the Agriculture  business rose by 11% up 

to RUB 20.8 billion, the adjusted EBITDA – from RUB 76 million 

to RUB 5.0 billion, the adjusted EBITDA margin – from 0% 

to 24% year-on-year. The Company continued to implement 

its project on integrated automation and beet seed selection. 

In 2018, a record quantity of products was exported via 

the Black Sea, the Baltic Sea, and the Sea of Okhotsk.

In 2018, the Oil and Fats business focused on financial 

efficiency and hit a record financial result. A bottled oil 

production facility was launched that allowed to increase its 

production volume. At the end of the year, Rusagro managed 

to begin the process of acquiring the assets of a larger fat-and-oil 

MAXIM BASOV, 
Director, ROS AGRO PLC; Chief Executive Officer, 
LLC Rusagro Group of Companies

In 2018, Rusagro improved its financial results and 
carried out a series of important transactions related 
to mergers and acquisitions. The Company’s revenues 
increased by 5% to RUB 83.0 billion, the adjusted 
EBITDA – by 16% to RUB 16.2 billion. The adjusted EBITDA 
margin grew by 1 p.p. to 19% year-on-year. The financial 
performance has improved across all businesses, except 
for the Sugar business.

company, the Solnechnye Produkty group. At the year-end, 

the revenues increased by 35% up to RUB 26.3 billion, 

the adjusted EBITDA – from RUB 685 million to RUB 2.9 billion, 

the adjusted EBITDA margin – by 7 p.p. to 11%.

In 2018, Rusagro took the first steps towards implementing a new 

goal – to become one of Russia’s top three cheese producers. We 

have chosen this new business line since the cheese market is 

large, growing, and unconsolidated. We believe that Russia could 

become one of the world’s largest cheese producers and exporters. 

Therefore, Rusagro launched its fifth business – Dairy products. 

The Company united the butter- and cheesemaking plant in 

the Samara Region and a site in Ulyanovsk, which was pledged to 

Rusagro through the acquisition of the debt of a regional producer. 

In 2018, the first batch of cheese and cheese product, butter, 

spread, and dry whey was sold.

The ending import phasing-out in Russia and the decline 

in population are forcing market players to look for new drivers 

of growth. These can be mergers and acquisitions, the expansion 

of exports, and the development of new market niches. Reducing 

costs is becoming increasingly important for the development 

of Rusagro. The Company’s executives see cost optimisation 

opportunities in every business and will continue to focus on 

increasing cost control.

Global changes provide an avenue for growth in food production 

in Russia. These changes include improved weather in the central 

part of the country, growing food demand, particularly, in Asia 

and Africa, and technology development. Unfortunately, risks are 

growing alongside, which includes the evolution of pathogenic 

elements and the outspread of sanctions and trade wars. We 

will strive to use environmental change to the advantages 

of ROS AGRO shareholders and continue to strengthen our 

professional team and look for ways to improve automation 

and technology. We are optimistic about 2019, in which we expect 

the trends of the reporting year to last.
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BUSINESS MODEL

AGRICULTURE SEGMENT

The business model 
of Rusagro is based 
on vertical integration. 
The Sugar, Meat, and Oil 
and Fats businesses have 
fully integrated production 
systems, with raw materials 
supplied by the Agriculture 
business. The vertically 
integrated structure 
enables the business 
to build on diversification 
and effectively manage all 
elements of the value chain.

All of the harvested beets are used by the Sugar business. 

The beets come from the neighbouring fields, which 

minimises transportation costs. Pulp, molasses, 

betaine, and sugar beet lime are co-products of sugar 

processing. Sugar beet pulp is mostly sold abroad, 

and lime is a common soil amendment. The molasses 

desugarisation facility recovers sucrose extract that 

is used for the production of additional sugar. The betaine 

is exported. The Company sells its sugar and cereals 

under five different brands. 

Grain is supplied to compound feed mills of 

the Meat   business. Breeding farms raise young pigs 

and improve pig breeds. The sow farms rear feeder pigs 

and breeding replacements. The slaughterhouses and 

meat processing facilities produce finished products to 

be sold under a private brand. There is a plant for waste 

rendering, and the manure is used on the farmlands 

as a fertiliser.

Though the Agriculture business does not usually 

sell the sunflower seeds within the Company, it supplies 

soybean to the extraction plant in the Primorye Territory. 

The produced unrefined oil is used for the production 

of Oil and Fat products that are sold under six brands. 

The meal is a source of protein and therefore a valuable 

ingredient of pig feed. Industrial fats are used for some 

products in the Dairy products business.

In 2018, Rusagro launched its fifth business – 

Dairy  products. Now the business has one milk 

processing plant only. As the Company is in the raw milk 

surplus area, own raw material base does not need to be 

formed. The Oil and Fats business shares experience with 

the Dairy products business and may cooperates with it 

on a commercial basis. 

A high level of vertical integration both within each of 

the businesses and between the segments gives Rusagro 

a competitive edge in the markets, ensures superior 

production efficiency and financial stability. In order to 

maximise the benefits of each business, the Company 

adopted a flexible commercial policy that does not restrict 

the sales of products to third-party companies.  

Sugar beet
Wheat
Barley
Maize
Sunflower seeds
Soybeans

29% of revenues
В2С 
White and brown 
sugar, cereals

36% of revenues
В2С 
Large cuts 
and consumer 
products

57% of revenues
В2С 
Bottled oil, 
mayonnaise and 
sauces, margarines 
and spreads,
jams, soap

38% of revenues
В2С 
Cheese and cheese 
product, butter 
and spread

Butter and cheese 
production

62% of revenues
В2В
Dry and condensed 
whey

Live pigs production Oil extraction and obtaining
by-product

Slaughetrhouse
and meat processing

Oil and fats
production

Sugar
production

Compound
feed production Meal

Molasses
desugarisation

71% of revenues
В2В
Sugar, betaine, molasses, 
pulp, treacle

64% of revenues
В2В
Live pigs, carcass, industrial large cuts,
offal, by-products
of meat processing

43% of revenues
В2В
Vegetable oil, meal

Industrial fats

SUGAR 
SEGMENT

MEAT 
SEGMENT

IN 2019

OIL AND FATS 
SEGMENT

DAIRY PRODUCTS
SEGMENT
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Meat business
Sugar business
Agriculture business
Oil and Fats business
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Growth strategy Key priorities of Rusagro’s

Growth Strategy
The strategic business goal of Rusagro Group is to increase returns 

for shareholders while adhering to the mission “Making people’s 

lives better and longer”. To achieve this goal, in 2008, the Board 

of Directors approved the “Field to shelf” strategic concept, 

the implementation of which is based on the Company’s vertically 

integrated business model of food production. 

The strategy of the Company and the business units is developed 

for a period of five years and is annually reviewed by the Board 

of Directors, which makes it possible to redirect the efforts 

and respond to the changes in the external environment and 

to effectively manage financial and human resources. The success 

of implementing the Company’s strategy rests on a careful 

selection of long-term priorities and the exceptional quality 

of the investment process that ensures a high return on equity. Such 

priorities include business expansion, human capital improvement, 

cost reduction, and productivity growth through automation, as 

well as the development of Rusagro’s retail products and brands.

In 2019, the Company will remain committed to its priorities. 

The launch of investment projects in the Meat and Sugar 

businesses, buy-out of Solnechnye Produkty assets by auction, 

and expansion of new Dairy products business will drive the growth 

in the next few years. Other potential sources of increasing 

the Company’s value include the mergers and acquisitions and 

the development of strategic partnership with Asian countries.

From 2014 to 2018, Rusagro invested over RUB 67.1 billion 

in the implementation of its Strategy. In 2018, the Group invested 

a total of RUB 16.2 billion, a 7% decline year-on-year. 

Rusagro’s Capital Investments, RUB billion

Source: Rusagro

BUSINESS EXPANSION

DEVELOPING HUMAN 
CAPITAL

AN INCREASE IN THE SALES 
OF RETAIL PRODUCTS AND 
BRANDS

AUTOMATION AND 
INNOVATION

Rusagro intends to ramp up production and expand its regional presence across all five 

business areas to maintain market leadership. The ways of achieving this goal are as follows:

• Organic growth – building new production facilities, expanding the land bank, 

modernising and expanding the existing assets;

• Inorganic growth – acquiring additional companies and assets, in particular in previously 

unexplored business areas;

• Increasing the share in the current regions of presence and expanding to new regions of 

Russia and to new countries through the development of exports.

Development of human capital is a key for ensuring the Company’s sustainable growth. 

To achieve this goal, the following measures are taken:

• Comprehensive assessment of the strategically important personnel to form individual 

development plans;

• Regular assessment of human capital development progress using the personnel quality 

index and personnel efficiency index; 

• Creation of a talent pool of young professionals, in particular, by offering internal training 

and building a strong employer brand;

• Automation of HR processes.

Pursuant to its “Field to shelf” concept, Rusagro strives to develop its retail products taking 

the following measures:

• Increasing the depth of product processing;

• Expanding the product mix;

• Increasing representation in retail channels;

• Developing private brands and promoting them on the consumer market.

In an era of technological revolution, the development and introduction of innovative 

solutions in IT, automation and biotechnologies are becoming increasingly important in 

terms of their potential for cost reduction, product quality improvement, and additional 

revenue generation. The key areas of the Group’s activities related to this strategic priority 

include as follows:

• Introducing precision farming technologies; 

• Developing the automation of production and operating processes; 

• Using advanced selection methods in crop and livestock farming, with a focus on sugar 

beet and pigs.
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Expanding presence 

in all areas of business

SUGAR SEGMENT

MEAT SEGMENT

Results 
• From 2014 to 2018, Rusagro was consistently one of Russia’s 

three largest sugar producers. By the end of 2018, the Company 

ranked as the country’s No. 3 producer with a share in Russian 

production of 13%. 

•   Between 2014 and 2018, the combined production capacity of 

the sugar beet processing plants increased by 56% from 34.6 to 

53.9 thousand tonnes per day. In 2018, the combined production 

capacity of the Company’s sugar plants went up by 2%.

•   Over the past five years, the Company showed the highest sugar 

production in 2017. Due to bumper beet harvests and the plants 

capacity growth, 990 thousand tonnes of sugar, including 

15 thousand tonnes made on a give-and-take basis, were 

produced. In 2018, the Company produced 786 thousand tonnes 

of sugar, including 13 thousand tonnes made on a give-and-take 

basis, due to the lower domestic yield of beet. 

•   In 2018, Rusagro additionally produced 34 thousand tonnes of 

sugar from extract manufactured at the molasses desugarisation 

facility, a 23% increase year-on-year. The facility also produced 

10 thousand tonnes of betaine.

Results 
•   From 2014 to 2018, Rusagro was consistently one of Russia’s 

five largest commercial pork producers. By the end of 2018, 

the Company ranked as the country’s No.4 producer with a share 

in Russian production of 5%. 

•   Over 2014-2018, the livestock increased by 14% to 1.8 million 

heads, +3% in 2018. In 2015, a slaughterhouse with a capacity 

of 450 heads per hour was put into operation. The total 

slaughtering capacity in 2018 reached 525 heads per hour (+17%).

•   Over the past five years, commercial pork production went up 

by 10% to 205 thousand tonnes in live weight, including a 15% 

production increase in the Tambov Region and a 4% increase 

in the Belgorod Region. In 2018, lower production indices in 

the Tambov Region and ASF outbreak in the Belgorod Region 

provided a 1% decline in pork production. 

•   The exports grew from 1 to 11 thousand tonnes between 2016 

and 2018. In 2018, the Company’s exports of meat products 

jumped 2.5 times year-on-year. 

Key projects 
• Purchasing a pork producing and processing plant in 

the Belgorod Region in 2018, including the stock of 98 thousand 

heads and a slaughterhouse with an annual capacity of 

300 thousand heads.

•   Completing construction of three new commercial pig farms 

and one new breeding farm in the Tambov Region in 2018; 

the production capacity is 58 thousand tonnes of pork in live 

weight. The first production is scheduled for mid-2019, and 

the full capacity will be achieved in mid-2020. The Company is 

planning to build two more pig farms in 2021 and additionally 

increase the production capacity by 38 thousand tonnes.

•   Continuing with the construction of a vertically integrated 

pig farm in the Far East. The future capacity of the pig farm 

will amount to 75 thousand tonnes of pork in live weight, 

the slaughtering capacity will be 180 heads per hour. The start 

of commercial production is scheduled for 2021.

•   The Company approved a project for the gradual 

expansion of the daily capacity of the slaughterhouse from 

4,500 to 7,200 head over 2019-2020 and that of the deboning 

shop from 3,500 to 4,750 heads in 2020.  

Plans for 2019
•   Stocking three new pig farms in the Tambov Region and the first production.

•   Further implementation of current projects: the pig farm project in the Primorye Territory and expansion of production, 

slaughtering and meat processing capacities in the Tambov Region.

Key projects  
•   After acquiring three sugar plants in the Kursk and Orel 

Regions from the Razgulay company, the plants’ daily capacity 

in 2016 went up by 13.1 thousand tonnes of beet and achieved 

48.2 thousand tonnes of sugar beet (+37% against 2015).

•   The increase in sugar beet processing to 6.2 thousand tonnes 

per day over 2014-2018. In 2018, the Company increased 

the daily capacity of the sugar plant in the Kursk Region by 

700 tonnes, +13% year-on-year. 

•   In 2017, the Company launched a desugarisation facility in 

the Tambov Region for manufacturing additional sugar from 

molasses delivered from own sugar plants located in the Tambov 

Region, as well as for betaine production. 

Plans for 2019
•   Launching a desugarisation facility in the Belgorod Region for manufacturing additional sugar from 

molasses delivered from the Company’s sugar plants located in the Belgorod, Kursk, and Orel Regions.  

The capacity of Rusagro’s sugar plants in 2014–2018, 
thousand tonnes/day

Rusagro’s pig stock in 2014-2018, thousand heads

Rusagro’s own sugar production in 2014–2018, 
thousand tonnes

Commercial pork production by Rusagro  
in 2014-2018, thousand tonnes in live weight

Source: Rusagro Source: Rusagro

Source: Rusagro Source: Rusagro
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•   In 2018, Rusagro was the largest Russia’s consumer margarine 

producer; it also ranked as No.5 among mayonnaise producers 

in Russia and was estimated as No.2 among the largest Russian 

vegetable oil producers considering the amounts produced at 

Solnechnye Produkty oil extraction plants and sold by Rusagro. 

Rusagro may become the leader of the mayonnaise production 

market and take the second place on the industrial fats market, 

taking into account that Solnechnye Produkty oil and fats plants 

have been pledged to the Company since 2018.

•   Between 2014 and 2018, Rusagro’s vegetable oil production 

went up by 55% to 269 thousand tonnes, and bottle oil 

production jumped fivefold and reached 101 thousand tonnes. 

In 2018, the unrefined oil production reached 77 thousand 

tonnes (+40% year-on-year), bottled oil production – 

81 thousand tonnes (fivefold). Such growth was partially driven 

by Rusagro’s Solnechnye Produkty plants, which produced and 

sold 72 thousand tonnes of unrefined oil and 12 thousand tonnes 

of bottled oil.

Results 
•   According to the preliminary assessment, in 2018, Rusagro was 

Russia’s third largest landowner.

•   In 2014-2018, the Company’s land bank increased by 32% to 

652 thousand hectares, with a 41% increase of the arable land to 

582 thousand hectares. In 2018, the total area of the land bank 

declined by 3% year-on-year, while the total area of arable land 

went up by 3%.

•   Between 2014 and 2018, the production of grain crops reached 

771 thousand tonnes (+7%), oilseed – 145 thousand tonnes 

(+66%), and sugar beet – 3,489 thousand tonnes (+51%). 

In 2017, favourable weather conditions enabled the Company to 

harvest the record grain crop totalling 1,150 thousand tonnes, 

and in 2016, there was a bumper sugar beet harvest totalling 

3,509 thousand tonnes. In 2018, the yield of grain crops went 

down by 33%, the yield of oilseed – by 35%, the yield of sugar 

beet – by 1%.

•   The Company exported 236 thousand tonnes of grains and 

0.3 thousand tonnes of oilseed in 2018.

Key projects 
•   Launching a vegetable oil refining, deodorisation, and bottling 

shop in the Samara Region in 2018. The annual capacity 

of the shop allows the production of around 100 thousand tonnes 

of refined and deodorised bottled oil.

•   A deal with Solnechnye Produkty Group for acquiring the right 

to purchase the controlling stake at Quartlink Holding Limited 

that owns Solnechnye Produkty, as well as purchasing the right 

for claims to Solnechnye Produkty Group under loan agreements 

amounting to RUB 34.7 billion.

Key projects 
•   Expansion of the land bank by 11 thousand hectares 

in the Tambov Region as a result of the purchase of 100% stake 

of LLC Vozrozhdenie.

Rusagro’s oil and meal production in 2014-2018, 
thousand tonnes

Rusagro’s land bank area in 2014-2018, 
thousand hectares

Rusagro’s bottled oil production in 2014-2018 
thousand tonnes

Source: Rusagro Source: Rusagro

Source: Rusagro
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Plans for 2019
•   Starting with the consolidation of assets belonging to Solnechnye Produkty Group and being of interest for Rusagro, and 

selling of products under this Group’s trademarks. 

Plans for 2019
•   The beginning of the project to expand the elevator capacities in the Tambov, Orel, and Kursk Regions. A total storage capacity 

of 500 thousand tonnes will be created, that will shrink the share of third-party storage, reduce the grain conditioning and 

storage costs, while the increased seed preparation quality will contribute to a higher yield. Timeline: 2019-2022 
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Developing humal

capital

Developing retail 

brands

Rusagro’s Philanthropy Programme budget  
in 2016-2018, RUB million 

Source: Rusagro

   

7.8 

17.5 

33.0

'18'17'16

+89%

Results 
•   Rusagro’s share of internal hires in 2016-2018 went up to 54% 

(+25 p.p.). The figures vividly demonstrate the effectiveness 

of the Company’s consistent efforts in increasing the quality 

of human capital and prove that the Company offers real 

opportunities for the career and professional growth of its 

employees.

•   The personnel engagement grew by 6 p.p. to 73% in 2017. 

The next engagement survey is scheduled for 2019.

•   In 2018, Rusagro’s Employer Brand awareness jumped by 22 p.p. 

achieving 60%, while its attractiveness reached 47% (+6 p.p.), 

which makes the Company be the leader among the most 

attractive employers of Russia’s agribusiness.

•   Over 2016-2018, Rusagro’s Philanthropy Programme budget 

increased four times from RUB 7.8 million to 33.0 million. 

In 2018, it grew 89% year-on-year. Funds are used to finance 

educational initiatives and support child care centres and 

schools in the six regions of the Company's presence.

Key projects 
•   Launching the Unified Corporate Portal for employees of all 

the Rusagro businesses with the aim of uniting them in one 

information environment via the through communication system 

and a shared knowledge database.

•   Starting the implementation of SAP Success Factors system 

for automatic monitoring of all development stages of 

the Company’s employees.

•   Starting-up the project to create the Shared Service Centre for 

centralised HR management by all Rusagro's Subsidiaries. 

SUGAR SEGMENT

MEAT SEGMENT

OIL AND FATS SEGMENT

•   Rusagro has four sugar brands with a wide offering – Russkii Sakhar, Chaikofsky, Brauni, 

Mon Cafe – and a cereal brand – Tyoplye Traditsii. 

•    Rusagro is the leader of Russia’s cube sugar market. In 2018, the Company reported 

a 48% market share in the cube sugar category (+4 p.p.).

•   Russkii Sakhar and Chaikofsky were ranked first and second in the white cube 

sugar category in the market. Between 2016 and 2018, the share of Russkii Sakhar 

and Chaikofsky grew by three p.p. to 37% and 11%, respectively. Brauni is a leader 

in the brown cube sugar category with a summary share of 37% (+4 p.p. year-on-year). 

• Since 2016, Rusagro has been selling consumer products under the Slovo Myasnika 

brand. In 2018, the brand awareness in Russia was 9%, in the Central Federal District – 15%.

• In that year, Rusagro sold four times more of the products under own brand than in 2017 – 

11 thousand tonnes. The production output of semi-finished products also grew fourfold 

and achieved 16 thousand tonnes by the end of 2018. 

• In 2018, the brand's portfolio was expanded from 28 to 38 items, and the products were 

delivered to 14 thousand retail outlets at 8 federal retail chains, as well as to non-chain 

retail stores.

•   Rusagro presents five oil and fats brands: EZhK, Schedroye Leto, Mechta Khozyaiki, 

Gotovim doma, Soyaco, and Maslava.

•   By way of closing the deal with Solnechnye Produkty Group, the Company obtained 

permission to use the Group’s trademarks. The Group owns such trademarks and 

brands as Moskovsky Provansal, Novosibirsky Provansal, Saratovsky Provansal, Olivjez, 

Chudesnitsa, Buket, Solnechnaya Liniya, Slivochny Saratovsky, Rossiyanka, Yarko, Zhar 

Pechka, Stolichnaya gorchitsa, Ya lublu gotobit, SolPro, and Duet.

Plans for 2019
•   Assessing the engagement of Rusagro’s employees. 

•   Implementing Rusagro’s Employer Brand promotion strategy to increase the Company’s attractiveness as an employer.

•   Organising the training of successors under leadership development programmes and advanced training at the current position.

•   Further implementation of the training and development system: training mentors and internal coaches.
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Automation 

and innovation

SUGAR SEGMENT OIL AND FATS BUSINESS

AGRICULTURE BUSINESSMEAT BUSINESS

Key projects 
•   The Raw Materials Management project focuses on reducing losses during storage 

and mastering the technology of long-term storage of sugar beet. In 2018, a project 

for integrating the information systems into the raw material reception and accounting 

system of the Sugar and Agriculture businesses was successfully completed. The task 

on end-to-end monitoring of the raw material flow from the field to production site 

was solved.

•   The long-term storage project focuses on testing new ways to extend the processing 

period of a plant by storing beets for more than 90 days. The protection facilities and 

active ventilation systems have been tested since 2016. In 2018, pilot tests of a combined 

beet storage system based on American and Japanese beet storage systems were 

successfully completed, and the quality of raw material storage was improved.

•   The Smart Production programme aims to reduce the losses on work sites through 

the production digitalisation and the use of artificial intelligence. The data collected 

in 2018 confirmed the possibility of using artificial intelligence to reliably and accurately 

measure KPIs, technological parameters, and recording the device control events. 

Key projects 
•   In 2018, a large-scale project was launched for modernisation of the network 

infrastructure. The project was aimed at increasing the resiliency of IT-services and 

reducing the production downtime risks due to the use of outdated technologies and 

equipment.

•   The Company continued developing the ERP system focusing on two areas: 

implementation of business-processes regarding the supply chain, warehouse 

accounting, production, and finished products sales; and organisation of IT-assets 

accounting with the use of of SAP PM module for flexible audit, control, advanced 

analytics and planning of the infrastructure modernisation.

•   In 2018, the Company initiated a project for the selection and implementation 

of a customer management system in order to create a shared information environment 

for working with customers, to improve sales effectiveness and marketing campaign 

efficiency.

Key projects 
•   Algorithms for simulation and automated selection of the optimal crop rotation for each 

field have been implemented within the project of target-oriented planning of production 

technologies. For classification of the fields, the digital agro-management system is used, 

which can visualise information on each field on an electronic map with the necessary 

indicators displayed. Production planning for the 2019 season will be completely made in 

this system.

•   The production control and dispatching project provides for 100% of fieldwork to be 

carried out under the automatic monitoring mode to check for the area and boundaries 

of farmed land, the speed of the technological operation, the working standards, 

consumption of goods and materials, as well as violations of the business process 

of operational planning and dispatching of fieldwork. 

•   Under the logistics control and dispatching project, a system has been developed that 

takes into account the movement of all expensive goods and materials at each stage 

of the responsibility transfer from a warehouse to a field using bar-code terminals, with 

such transfers being recorded in SAP ERP. The system is expected to be implemented 

in the coming years. 

Key projects 
•   In 2017, the Company initiated a project for modernisation of the automated 

process control system at the compound feed mill to reduce downtime and increase 

the production performance. 

•   In 2018, the meat processing plant was equipped with the system automatically counting 

the number of animals using the streaming video analytics methods that provide 99.87% 

accuracy.

•   In 2017, the Company launched a project for creating the on-site traffic control system 

on the territory of the slaughterhouse and the meat processing plant in order to reduce 

the downtime of vehicles, order processing terms, transport loading and minimise 

the human factor impact on the results of motor transport weighting. 

•  In 2018, the project for introducing a unified information management system for 

feeding formulation was completed: the processes of forming a feed basket were 

automated with the ability to predict and optimise the cost of feed; the quality was 

improved and formula recalculation time was cut down. 

•   In 2017, the project for integrating 1C with the Mercury State Information System 

was initiated. 
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EBITDA  
MARGIN RISE
ON THE BACK OF SUGAR PRODUCTION 
DROP IN RUSSIA

S
U

G
A

R
S

EG
M

EN
T

• Increase in the sugar production 
from molasses by 23% year-
on-year to 34 thousand tonnes 
in the Tambov Region

• Expansion of the sugar beet processing 
capacity at the Krivetsky plant 
in the Kursk Region to 6,000 tonnes 
per day

• Growth of a market share from 44% 
to 48% on Russian cubed sugar market

GROWTH DRIVERS
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24.1 RUB bn 
of revenues

4.9 RUB bn 
of EBITDA 
(EBITDA margin)

3.1  RUB bn 
of investments

After previous two years, which were record high in sugar production, 
in 2018 sugar output in Russia dropped to 5.9 million 
tonnes (-9% year-on-year). The reason was a 14% reduction 
of the sugar beet yield, due to unfavourable dry weather in some 
Russian regions. Due to the expectations of the sugar production drop 
in Russia, despite the global market price sinking to 12 cents/pound, 
domestic sugar prices sharply grew in September 2018 by 
30% to RUB 33.6/kg, exclusive of VAT, staying at this level until 
the end of 2018 (+44% from January to December 2018).  

In 2018, the Company expanded the sugar plants' production 
capacity to 53,850 tonnes of beets per day due to the modernisation 
of the plant in the Kursk Region. However, amid lower yield, the amount 
of processed beets was 1.5 million tonnes less (-22% y-o-y). The sugar 
content of beets was at the last year's level, thus sugar production 
in 2018/2019 season decreased to 741 thousand tonnes (-13%). 
In 2018, the production dropped by 21% and reached 
773 thousand tonnes, which led to a reduction in sales and, as 
a consequence, in revenues. The revenues declined by 21% 
and amounted to RUB 24.1 billion, while the decline 
in EBITDA was just 11% and stood at RUB 4.9 million. 
The EBITDA margin went up from 18% to 20% due to lower 
costs in 2017 and higher sugar price in 2018, as well as an increase 
in sugar production from molasses by 23% to 34 thousand tonnes.

In 2018, the Sugar business invested RUB 3.1 billion. In particular, 
the Company continued the construction project of the second 
desugarisation facility. Its launch is scheduled for the autumn 
of 2019 and since 2020 Rusagro will produce extra sugar from 
molasses from all its sugar plants. Together with raw materials 
management projects, this will help to cut sugar production losses 
and attain the strategic objective to reduce the cost of production.

SUGAR BUSINESS RESULTS IN 2018

53.9 ths tonnes/
day of beet processing 
capacity

773 ths tonnes 
of sugar produced

702 ths tonnes 
of sugar sold

2% 21% 22% 

No.3  

sugar producer 
in Russia

5 
regions of presence

3.1 ths

average annual 
headcount

21% 9% 11% (20%) 

Nikolay Zhirnov, 
Head of the Sugar business

Company’s Business

SUGAR SEGMENT HIGHLIGHTS

3% 
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RUSSIAN Market Overview

PRODUCTION KEY PLAYERS

EXPORTS AND IMPORTS

Sugar beet processing in Russia in 2014-2018, 
million tonnes

The largest sugar producers in Russia in 2018, %

Sugar exports and imports in 2014-2018, 
million tonnes

Source: Rossakhar decade data

Source: Rossakhar decade data (without sugar made from molasses and syrup)

Source: railway traffic data and the Federal Customs Service data

Over the past five years, 95% of Russian sugar was produced 

from sugar beets. Since 2017, the growing beet crops and import 

tariffs on raw cane sugar have taken the production of sugar from 

raw cane sugar down to zero. 2017 turned out to be a record high 

for the Russian sugar market. For the first time, 6.5 million tonnes 

of sugar produced, leading to the buildup of sugar stockpiles and 

a 27% drop in prices from January to December.

In 2018, the gross yield of sugar beets in Russia decreased by 14% 

year-on-year and amounted to 41.3 million tonnes. The central 

regions of Russia accounted for 57% of the harvest. In response 

to low prices, crop areas shrank by 8% to 1.2 million hectares, while 

weather conditions affected the yield causing it to drop by 7% 

to 37.5 tonnes per hectare. 

According to Russia’s Ministry of Agriculture, at the end of the year, 

the daily processing capacity of the Russian sugar plants totalled 

380 thousand tonnes of beets. Russia has 21 sugar beet processing 

regions; the Krasnodar Territory produces about one-quarter of all 

Russian sugar, such performance being attributed to better soils 

and a climate favourable for growing sugar beet. In 2018, 40 million 

tonnes of beet were processed in Russia, with an average sugar 

content of 17.9%. A 13% drop in processing volumes was partially 

offset by an increase in sugar content by 1 p.p. As a result, the sugar 

output over the calendar year went down by 9% to 5.9 million tonnes.

Demand for sugar in Russia is stable, as it is one of the basic 

consumer goods of the market basket. Russia is one of the top sugar 

consuming nations in the world; its annual sugar consumption is 

estimated at 5.8 million tonnes, i.e. 40 kg per capita. At the end 

of 2018, the country’s sugar surplus was estimated as insignificant 

and stood at 0.1 million tonnes. On 1 January 2019, carry-over 

stocks were 5.1 million tonnes. 

In Russia, 61% of the sugar production market is held by five 

companies. Prodimex is the market leader having a 22% share. 

In 2018, Rusagro came down from the second place to the third with 

a 13% share. Meanwhile, the Company is No.1 in the Russian cube 

sugar market with a 48% share according to Nielsen retail audit 

analysis of data from 16 cities with a population of more than one 

million people. 

The high sugar production in 2016-2017 satisfied the domestic 

demand and allowed for a considerable increase in export capacity 

from 7 thousand tonnes in 2014 to 0.6 million tonnes in 2017. 

The sugar has been traditionally exported to the CIS nations, such 

as Kazakhstan and Uzbekistan.

In 2018, decreased sugar production in Russia resulted in a 25% 

drop in exports to 0.4 million tonnes. The main export destinations 

were Kazakhstan and Uzbekistan; these two countries accounted 

for 71% of supplies. It was explained by the best sugar sales prices 

taking into account logistics costs. 

Over the past five years, sugar imports to Russia have 

been gradually declining – from 2014 to 2017, they fell from 

0.9 to 0.3 million tonnes. The drop was related to the reduction 

of raw cane sugar import from 0.6 million tonnes to zero during 

the same period due to the contraction of sugar production deficit 

in Russia. As the result of the production surplus in 2017, sugar 

import from Belarus reduced from 0.3 million to 0.2 million tonnes. 

In 2018, the balance of demand and supply on the Russian sugar 

market was restored and prices rose, which led to the increase 

of white sugar import by 18% to 0.3 million tonnes. Imports from 

Belarus, which is a key supplier of sugar to Russia with a 85% share 

in the total volume of exports, surged by 23%. 
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Sugar production in Russia in 2014-2018, 
million tonnes

Source: Rossakhar decade data (without sugar made from molasses and syrup)
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PRICES

Average sugar prices in 2017-2018, ISCO Krasnodar1 
RUB/kg, excl. of VAT

In 2018, the annual average price of sugar, based on Krasnodar data, 

increased by 2% year-on-year and reached RUB 28.7/kg, exclusive 

of VAT. However, due to surplus production in the 2017/2018 

season, the average price for January-June of 2018 against 

the same period of the previous year dropped by 14% and reached 

RUB 27.0/kg. Meanwhile, the average price for September-

December of 2018 grew 34% and reached RUB 31.0/kg.

High production output of sugar, coupled with the low global prices 

and a stronger rouble, made the domestic wholesale sugar prices go 

down in 2017. The sugar prices fell from RUB 38.0/kg, exclusive of 

VAT, in July 2017 to RUB 23.3/kg, exclusive of VAT, in January 2018. 

In this period, record 0.6 million tonnes of sugar were exported. 

From February to May, the exports dropped in anticipation of beet 

acreage reduction in 2018 and low sugar production. As a result, 

the price increased by 26% up to RUB 30.8 per, exclusive of VAT. 

From June to August, sugar prices showed a declining trend as 

the planting acreage turned out to be above the market expectations. 

From September to October, the prices started trending upwards 

due to a decrease in the average yield of sugar beets and a decrease 

in the forecast for sugar production in 2018 season to 5.9 million 

tonnes. By the end of the year, sugar prices rose to RUB 33.5/kg, 

exclusive of VAT. From the beginning of 2018, the growth was 44%.

The average global price according to the quotes of the Sugar 

No.11 contract fell by 24% to 12.1 cents/pound. Such decline is 

due to overproduction resulted from bumper harvests in countries 

with favourable weather conditions, such as India, Thailand, and 

Pakistan. However, due to the minimal surplus in the Russian sugar 

market, the low global price did not put downward pressure on 

the domestic price level. 

2017 2018

23.3 24.4
25.5

27.8
30.8

29.7
27.6

26.1

28.8 33.1 33.5 33.5

28.9 28.6 29.3 29.6

30.1
36.3 38.0

26.5
23.2 21.9 22.1 22.5
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Source: Institute for Agricultural Market Studies (IKAR)

1 ISCO-IKAR industrial index of wholesale sugar prices is the average 
weighted index of wholesale prices by 17 sugar-producing regions.

OUTLOOK FOR 2019 By the projections of the Russian Ministry of Agriculture, in 2019, 

the sugar beet yield will remain at last year’s level and will be equal 

to 41 million tonnes, whereas sugar production should not exceed 

6 million tonnes. Considering sugar carry-over stocks in the amount 

of 5 million tonnes as of 1 January 2019, the planned sugar 

production will satisfy the domestic demand of the Russian market. 

While maintaining the current production volumes, as well as 

domestic and global prices at the level of 2018, in 2019, the export 

potential of Russian sugar will continue to be limited. 

Capacity of sugar plants in 2014-2018, tonnes/day
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Source: Rusagro

The Company’s Sugar business is represented by nine sugar plants 

located in the Tambov, Belgorod, Kursk, and Orel Regions in close 

proximity to the sugar beet cultivation areas of the Company’s 

Agriculture segment. In the Tambov Region the Company 

manages Znamensky, Nikiforovsky and Zherdevsky Sugar 

Plants, in the Belgorod Region – Chernyansky, Nika and Valuysky, 

in the Kursk Region – Krivetsky and Kshensky, in the Orel Region – 

Otradinsky.

In 2018, the sugar beet processing capacity of Rusagro's 

plants grew 2% and reached 53,850 tonnes per day. Owing 

to the Krivets sugar plant expansion project implemented in 

2017-2018, the production capacity of this plant increased from 

3.5 to 6.0 thousand tonnes per day. The production capacity of 

the Otradinsky sugar plant also increased by 4% to 5.6 thousand 

tonnes per day. The simultaneous sugar storage capacity is 

428 thousand tonnes. 

The molasses desugarisation facility of the Znamensky sugar 

plant (the Tambov Region) has been in operation since 2017. 

The molasses desugarisation facility uses the molasses from 

three sugar plants to produce the extract for subsequent sugar 

extraction. The newly launched line became the second example of 

this technology being implemented in Russia. With this technology, 

the plant may increase its output to 40 thousand tonnes by 

reducing losses during sugar beet processing. The desugarisation 

technology makes it possible to produce European-quality extra 

grade sugar, which opens up new marketing opportunities for 

the Group. In addition, the deep processing technology involves 

the production of up to 10 thousand tonnes of betaine per year. 

Betaine is a by-product of sugar extraction, amino acids used 

in the production of compound feed, dietary supplements, 

and cosmetics.

The Company’s assets include OJSC Gerkules cereal plant, a large 

grains processing facility with its own packaging line. The plant 

produces buckwheat, crushed buckwheat, and rolled oats for B2B 

channel, and buckwheat and rice for B2C channel.

Capacity of sugar plants by regions in 2018, %

Assets
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AUTOMATION 
AND INNOVATION 

The Group’s product portfolio includes four brands of different price categories: Russkii 

Sakhar, Chaikofsky, Mon Cafe, and Brauni. The Company is the leader in the consumer 

sugar market. Russkii Sakhar, Chaikofsky, and Brauni are the market leaders in their 

respective segments; they are the most popular brands among the Russian consumers, 

as confirmed by AC Nielsen retail audit and by the consumer preference tracking 

study of Synovate Comcon, an independent research company. Rusagro’s brands have 

the highest levels of brand awareness, consumption, and customer loyalty. Since 2015, 

the Company has been operating a brand of cereals, named Tyoplye Traditsii. 

The Sugar business is one of the most technology-intensive businesses of the Company. 
To manage the high technology projects, the Department of Innovation Development was 
created. The strategic goal of the Department’s activities is to reduce losses at all stages 
of beet sugar production by adopting the best world practices and innovative solutions 
with an eye on cost-effectiveness. Most efforts are focused on three key projects.

1. The Raw Materials Management project focuses on reducing losses during storage 

and mastering the technology of long-term storage of sugar beet. To achieve this, 

an automated workplace was organised for the Head of sugar beet reception base that 

includes a system for monitoring the temperature of the sugar beet piles, enabling to 

automatically estimate the condition of the pile and make decisions, about which about 

which parts of the pile should be immediately sent for processing. In 2018, a project for 

integrating the information systems, raw material reception and accounting system of 

the Sugar and Agriculture businesses was successfully completed at all 9 plants. Under 

the project, data on beet delivery were transferred to the Agriculture business, these data 

include weight, quality parameters of a source field, and a vehicle. The task on end-to-end 

monitoring of the raw material flow from the field to production site was solved.

2. The Long-term Storage project focuses on testing new ways to extend the processing 

period of a plant by storing beets for more than 90 days. The protection facilities and 

active ventilation systems have been tested since 2016. In 2018, pilot tests of a combined 

beet storage system based on American and Japanese beet storage systems were 

successfully completed, and the quality of raw material storage was improved.

3. The Smart Production programme aims to reduce the losses on work sites through 

the production digitalisation and the use of artificial intelligence.

• In 2017–2018, the Company focused on ensuring a reliable and accurate measurement 

of KPIs and process parameters, and logging of the events related to equipment 

operation. On the basis of the data collected, the machine learning modules generate 

optimal recommendations on sugar production equipment operation. 

• In 2017, the beet sugar content and dirtiness measuring procedure was automated at 

the Znamensky plant. A prototype was built that automatically identify the quality of 

incoming beets delivered in the dump body, thus avoiding the ingress of low-quality raw 

materials in the piles and improving its storage conditions. 

• High-precision systems for measuring the amount of sugar produced are utilised at 

the Znamensky sugar plant. The system is based on the joint operation of an infrared 

flow spectrometer and a Coriolis flowmeter. The measuring complex takes real-time 

measurements of the quantity of sugar produced by diffusers and evaporation line in 

the online mode. The data obtained help to specify the place and size of losses in order 

to increase plant efficiency.

• In 2018, aerial farm robots and surveying software were used to measure beet residues 

in pile storages, and stone and coal residues. The test results were successful and 

the measurement system using aerial farm robots is planned to be utilised in all plants. 

Machine vision technology allowed an accuracy of about 98%. 

• MRO 2.0 CORP (maintenance, repair, and operations) management information system 

was introduced for equipment operation and repair management. The system records 

defects and incidents in the operation of equipment for the accumulation of statistics 

and analysis in preparation for the start of the production season. The standard flow 

charts for equipment maintenance are generated and entered, providing a possibility to 

compare work quality and equipment operation at different plants.

• A project is ongoing to develop a pilot control system for a diffusion station using 

deep computer-assisted learning techniques. The data collected during 2018 proved 

the hypothesis about the possibility to use artificial intelligence. In 2019, the Company 

expects to launch such a system in pilot production. An idea behind this project is to 

reduce the negative impact of the human factor on the production process through 

automation. 
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OPERATING RESULTS

Sugar production in 2014-2018, thousand tonnes

Volumes of sugar sold and average selling prices 
of sugar in 2014-2018

In 2018/2019 season, Rusagro’s sugar plants worked for up 

to 109 days and produced 741 thousand tonnes of sugar. Due to 

the reduction in the number of working days, the plants’ output 

decreased by 11% year-on-year. The sugar season in 2018 was 

opened on 25 August and closed on 5 January 2019. During 

the season, Rusagro’s plants processed 5.2 million tonnes 

of sugar beets with an average sugar content of 18.0% and 

a sugar yield of 14.4%. 

During the calendar year, 773 thousand tonnes were produced 

(-21% year-on-year). Similarly to the previous year, the Company 

did not process raw cane sugar in 2018.

During 2018, sales of sugar decreased by 22% and reached 

702 thousand tonnes. Such a situation was forced by both 

the product ramp-down and the Company’s plans to move part of 

sales to the first six months of 2019 in anticipation of the further 

rise in prices. The average selling price of sugar remained flat with 

the last year’s level – RUB 30.6/kg, exclusive of VAT.

During the year, the Company significantly ramped up sales 

in the dealer channel in light of the attractive pricing environment, 

and also strengthened its brand position as the result of marketing 

support, new products launch, and development of distribution. 

In 2018, Russkii Sakhar and Chaikofsky ranked first and second 

respectively in the white cubed sugar market. The share of Russkii 

Sakhar rose from 34% to 37%. Chaikofsky reached 11% share due to 

the development of distribution and marketing activities, which 

increased brand awareness from 49% to 56%. Meanwhile, Brauni, 

which is the most popular brown cane sugar in Russia with maximum 

distribution in 2018, ranked first by volume in the brown cubed sugar 

market in Russia with a market share of 37% (+4 p.p. year-on-year). 

By reason of high domestic prices, sugar exports decreased by 

17% and reached 41 thousand tonnes. In 2018, the sugar supplies 

to Uzbekistan grew almost 6 times and amounted to 35 thousand 

tonnes. In addition to sugar, the Company exported sugar beet 

pulp in the amount of 125 thousand tonnes, including 42 thousand 

tonnes to Denmark, 28 thousand tonnes to Norway, and 

24 thousand tonnes to Finland, as well as betaine in the amount 

of 11 thousand tonnes, including 5 thousand tonnes to Belgium, 

2 thousand tonnes to Turkey, and 2 thousand tonnes to the USA. 

16. Sugar production in 2014-2018ed, thousands tonnes
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Rusagro’s results in 2018

Source: Rossakhar decade data

Source: Rusagro

INVESTMENTS

Investments in 2014-2018, RUB billion

The project of launching a desugarisation facility in the Belgorod Region

During 2014-2018, the Company invested RUB 13.5 billion into 

the maintenance and development of the Sugar segment assets. 

In 2018, the total investments amounted to RUB 3.1 billion, showing 

a 9% year-on-year decrease. The major project was a launch of 

the desugarisation facility in the Belgorod Region. The investments 

to this project in 2018 amounted to RUB 1.7 billion. The project 

will allow increasing the sugar refinery and betaine output. 15% of 

the budget was invested to maintain the Sugar business. 
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The project of launching a desugarisation facility 
in the Belgorod Region
At the end of 2017, the Group launched the project on building 
the second molasses desugarisation facility – this time, 
at the Chernyansky plant in the Belgorod Region. Additional 
processing of molasses will reduce sugar losses. Depending 
on the quality and sugar content of the raw material, up to 
74 thousand tonnes of sugar and up to 22 thousand tonnes 
of betaine per year can be produced from the recovered extract. 
The project cost is RUB 5.7billion, exclusive of VAT. Construction 
time: 2018 to 2019.
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After the end of the beet processing season on 1 January 2019, in 

February, the Znamensky sugar plant was launched again to produce 

sugar extract recovered from molasses from three Company’s 

plants in the Tambov Region. In the autumn, it is planned to launch 

the second desugarisation facility and, in a new season, to process 

the molasses from the six remaining plants in the Belgorod, Kursk, 

and Orel Regions. The production of beet sugar in the 2019/2020 

season will depend on the results of the harvest.

In a favourable pricing environment, the Company will strive to sell 

the remaining sugar produced in 2018/2019 season at the best 

available price, also through higher retail sales. 

In order to ensure the sustainability of the Sugar business, Rusagro 

intends to continue the development of the raw material base, 

increasing the land bank located in optimal proximity to sugar 

plants. The Company has a goal to become a world leader in 

efficiency and production culture, so in 2019 it will continue to 

place special emphasis on innovation and automation projects, 

such as Raw Material Management, Long-Term Storage, and 

Smart Production. 

Plans for 2019 

In 2018, EBITDA decreased by 11% to RUB 4.9 billion. A drop 

in earnings was due to a 21% year-on-year decrease in gross 

revenues to RUB 24.1 billion. EBITDA margin rose from 18% to 20%. 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Financial results in 2014-2018, RUB billion
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ON THE BACK 
OF AN INCREASE 
IN PROCESSED 
PORK SALES

M
EA

T
S
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• Growth of processed pork volume 
sales by 20% to 142 thousand tonnes, 
including fourfold increase of consumer 
products sales to 16 thousand tonnes

• Acquisition of pork producer 
and processor in the Belgorod Region 
with a capacity of 10 thousand 
sows and processing capacity 
of 300 thousand heads

GROWTH DRIVERS

RETURNS
RISE
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22.4 RUB bn 
of revenues

7.0 RUB bn 
of EBITDA 
(EBITDA margin)

9.4 RUB bn 
of investments

In 2018, the production in Russia increased by 5% to 3.7 million 
tonnes of pork in slaughter weight. Russia became the fourth 
largest pork producer in the world after China, the European Union, 
and the USA. Imports decreased by 78% and exports increased 
by 16% to 102 thousand tonnes. As before, most of the deliveries fell 
on Hong Kong, Vietnam, and Belarus while the markets of the largest 
pork-importing countries remain closed. Despite market expectations, 
in the second half of the year, pork prices went up on the back of the global 
prices jump and the bankruptcy of several large poultry farms. As a result, 
in 2018, we see a 4% increase in the average annual market 
price for live pigs – up to RUB 106.0/kg, exclusive of VAT. 

In 2018, the Company’s production of live pigs showed no 
growth, and its share in Russian production holds steady at 5%. 
The Company continued its focus on scaling up the production of meat 
processing products. In 2018, sales of live pigs declined by 53%, while 
sales of meat processing products rose 20% to 142 thousand 
tonnes, including 74 thousand tonnes of large cuts and 16 thousand 
tonnes of consumer products. Besides, sales of branded products were 
steadily trending upwards and reached 11 thousand tonnes in 2018 
(against 3 thousand tonnes in 2017). The transition to higher value-
added products and favourable pricing conditions had a beneficial 
effect on the financial performance of the business. Revenues grew 
9% to RUB 22.4 billion, while EBITDA increased by 12% 
to RUB 7.0 billion with an EBITDA margin of 31%.

In 2018, Rusagro continued with the implementation of two projects 
in the Tambov Region and the Primorye Territory and acquired 
a Belgorod pork producing and processing plant. Investments 
in 2018 amounted to RUB 9.4 billion. As a result, as long 
as 2019, the overall production may step up to more 
than 250 thousand tonnes, and the Company’s market share 
may expand to 8%. On the back of the project on expanding 
the capacities of a slaughterhouse and a meat processing plant, 
sales of consumer products are projected to rise further.

MEAT BUSINESS RESULTS IN 2018

1.8 bn heads 
in livestock

205 ths tonnes 
of live pigs

142 ths tonnes 
of meat processing 
products sold

3% 1% 20% 

No.4  

pork producer 
in Russia

3 
regions of presence

5.3 ths

average annual 
headcount

9% 12% (31%) 49% 

Maxim Basov, 
Head of the Meat business

Company’s Business

MEAT SEGMENT HIGHLIGHTS

27% 
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Russian market overview 

DOMESTIC PRODUCTION 

KEY PLAYERS

EXPORTS AND IMPORTS

Pork production in Russia, by enterprise category 
in slaughtered weight in 2014-2018, million tonnes

The largest pork producers in Russia in 2018, %

Exports and imports of pork in slaughtered weight 
in 2014-2018, thousand tonnes

Key destinations of pork exports in 2014-2018, 
thousand tonnes

Source: the Federal State Statistics Service

Source: National Pig Producers Union of Russia

Source: data from Federal Customs Service of Russia, the Company’s estimate

Source: data from Federal Customs Service of Russia, the Company’s estimate

In 2018, Russia produced 3.7 million tonnes of pork 

in slaughtered weight, showing a year-on-year increase of 5%. 

The production growth was driven by the expansion of the 

industrial segment up to 85% with a year-on-year increase 

of 3 p.p. In 2018, pork production by agricultural enterprises 

went up by 8% to 3.1 million tonnes. The industry’s six largest 

companies have traditionally been the major contributors 

to that increase. At the end of 2018, their share amounted 

to 37% of the total industrial pork production, which was 

equal to 1.4 million tonnes (+0.1 million tonnes year-on-year). 

Meanwhile, the production volumes of farm enterprises and 

private farm households are still on the downward trend. Since 

2014, their total share in pork production has decreased from 

25% to 15% as a result of poor competitiveness. In 2018, pork 

production by farm enterprises and private farm households 

was down by 11% year-on-year.

Over the last five years, pork production in Russia jumped 24% 

from 3.0 to 3.7 million tonnes, mainly spurred by government 

support in phasing-out of imports.

According to the Federal State Statistics Service, in 2018, pork 

consumption in Russia increased by 2% to 3.8 million tonnes per 

year, which amounts to 26.6 kg of pork per person. The reason 

behind such growth was the drop in poultry production resulted 

in the change-over of some processing plants to pork. 

In 2018, the six largest pork producers accounted for 37% of the total 

production in Russia. Miratorg has remained the leading producer 

with a 10% share. As a result of capacity expansion projects, 

the share of four players has increased. In 2018, Rusagro’s share 

remained at the same level of 5%, but as long as 2019, once new 

capacities are commissioned, it may grow to 8%. As a result, 

the Company may again become the third largest pork producer 

in Russia. 

In 2018, the exports of pork in slaughtered weight from Russia 

were still on the upward trend. Roughly estimated, they reached 

102 thousand tonnes, up 16% year-on-year. The bulk of exports 

(91%) went to Hong Kong, Ukraine, Vietnam, and Belarus. This is 

due to restrictions on deliveries to other countries and the growing 

demand of the countries of the Commonwealth of Independent 

States (CIS) for Russian pork. Thus, in 2018, 36 thousand tonnes 

were exported to Ukraine and Belarus, +29% year-on-year. 

Vietnam is a transit state for further export to Asia and, by 

the end of the year, the pork supplies are expected to grow from 

7 to 21 thousand tonnes.

With the domestic production steadily climbing, the share of pork 

imports to Russia in 2018 went down by 2% of total consumption. 

After the growth of imports to 300 thousand tonnes in 2017, 

in 2018, it reached a record low of the last five years – 98 thousand 

tonnes. The downswing made up 67% and was related to a ban 

on imports from Brazil. Due to the low cost of such imports, 

they accounted for 89% of all imports. In the reporting period, 

imports from Brazil went down from 266 to 17 thousand tonnes. 

At the beginning of 2018, the Russian Federal Service for Veterinary 

and Phytosanitary Surveillance enforced a temporary ban on pork 

and beef imports due to the detection of prohibited growth-

promoting substance – ractopamine feed additive – in Brazilian 

products. However, the imports from Brazil remained low even 

after the ban was repealed. China’s ban on pork imports from 

the USA resulted in the change-over of Chinese producers 

to Brazilian pork, thus leading to the growth in its price. Other pork 

importers to Russia are Chile, Argentina, and Belarus. In 2018, they 

imported 48, 11, and 10 thousand tonnes, respectively. 

Agricultural enterprises
Farm enterprises and private farm households 
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Meat business runs the full-cycle pork production in the Tambov and Belgorod Regions. 

In order to ensure biosafety, all production facilities operate in a closed mode; they are 

equipped with disinfectant barriers for vehicles and a sanitary inspection station for 

employees. Organic fertilisers are applied to the Company’s agricultural land. 

As at the end of 2018, the Company operates 18 commercial pig farms and five breeding 

farms for the reproduction of pig stock. As part of an investment project in the Tambov 

Region, three new commercial pig farms have been built by the end of the year, but not yet 

stocked. However, there was a growth in business capacities, following the acquisition of 

a pork producing plant in the Belgorod Region. In 2018, the total livestock increased by 3% 

and reached 1.8 million heads, and the projected capacity of the Meat business grew 14% 

and amounted to 234 thousand tonnes of pork in live weight per year. 

The maximum compound feed production capacity stayed the same – it is estimated at 

650 thousand tonnes per year, which allows being completely self-sufficient in covering 

homegrown livestock needs. The compound feed mills produce granulated feed for young 

pigs, sows, and boars. The plants’ laboratories ensure high accuracy of chemical, technical, 

and bacteriological analyses. Compound feed is produced from the Company's grains and 

externally purchased grains. The availability of in-house elevators allows for purchasing 

ingredients at the most optimal time and during periods of low prices.

In 2015, in the Tambov Region, Rusagro launched a slaughterhouse, a meat processing 

plant, and a slaughterhouse waste recycling facility. In the slaughterhouse, all provisions are 

made to ensure the highest level of hygiene, safety, and operational ergonomics, as well as 

no stress for animals. The design slaughtering capacity is 450 heads per hour or 1.95 million 

heads per year. In 2016, a deboning shop with a capacity of 350 heads per hour was opened 

to produce consumer products and to package them. With the acquisition of a new asset, 

since 2018, the Company has been operating a slaughterhouse and a slaughterhouse waste 

recycling plant in the Belgorod Region with a capacity of 75 heads per hour or 0.3 million 

heads per year. This allowed the Meat business to ramp up the meat processing and 

optimise the flows of slaughter pigs.

In 2016, the Meat business launched the Slovo Myasnika trademark and in 2017, this brand 

was ranked first in the Forbes magazine’s ranking of new brands for the brand concept. 

In 2018, the brand’s portfolio was expanded from 28 to 38 Stock Keeping Units , and 

the products were delivered to 14,000 retail outlets at eight federal retail chains, such as 

Metro, X5 (Perekrestok, Pyaterochka, and Karusel), Magnit, Diksi, Spar, and Billa, as well as 

to non-chain retail stores. 

OUTLOOK FOR 2019 In 2019, the production of farm enterprises and private farm 

households will still be trending downwards, while large producers 

will continue to commission new capacities of the ongoing pig 

breeding projects. So, pork production in 2019 may go up by 5% 

to 3.9 million tonnes. The pricing environment may continue to 

be positive since a consistent increase in demand by 3%, coupled 

with the potential export growth by 18% and high global prices, is 

expected. However, the absence of access to key export markets 

can lead to a decline in local prices for live pigs. 

East Asia (China, Japan, and South Korea) and Southeast Asia 

(the Philippines, Thailand, and Vietnam) are the most promising 

meat exports regions for Russia. According to the preliminary 

estimates, in 2018, these countries imported a total of about 

5 million tonnes of pork, including offal, which is of traditionally 

low-demand in the Western markets. The Asian market is 

still closed for Russian pork either in the absence of political 

agreements or due to the inability to prove Russia’s status as 

a country safe in terms of local animal diseases. However, Russia 

has competitive advantages over other countries exporting pork 

to China. Its success factors are own feed supplies, relatively low 

labour costs, and efficient logistics from the Far East.

Assets

Changes in the average market prices for live pigs 
in Russia in 2017-2018, RUB/kg, excl. of VAT

Source: the Company’s estimate
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PRICES

In 2018, the average market price for live pigs went up by 4% 

and reached RUB 106.0 per kilogram, exclusive of VAT. Pork and 

poultry prices in the first quarter of 2018 were low. Downward 

price movements started as early as October 2017 on the back 

of increased supply and limited demand. In January-March 

2018, prices for live pigs dropped 14% as compared to the same 

period of 2017 and reached RUB 88.0 per kilogram, exclusive of 

VAT. However, after a few poultry producers had left the market 

and the ban on pork supply from Brazil had been introduced, 

and along with the spring growth in demand, the prices spiralled 

up in the second quarter. In April, the prices jumped up 20% to 

RUB 103.5 per kilogram, exclusive of VAT. No growth in poultry 

production and a few outbreaks of African swine fever (ASF) 

conditioned relatively high prices until the end of the year. Thus, 

in the third quarter, the average price reached RUB 119.0 per 

kilogram, exclusive of VAT, but by the year end, it was adjusted 

to RUB 106.1 per kilogram, exclusive of VAT. 

TAMBOV REGION1

Production assets: 

• 10 commercial pig farms for a total 

of 56,500 sows;

• 3 breeding farms for a total of 7,200 sows; 

• 1 compound feed mill with a capacity 

of 50 tonnes/hour;

• Elevators with a capacity 

of 120 thousand tonnes; 

• Slaughtering and meat processing 

facility with a capacity of 1.95 million 

heads per year (450 heads/hour); 

• Deboning shop with a capacity 

of 350 heads/hour.

170 thousand tonnes – 
total annual production 
of pork in live weight.

BELGOROD REGION
Production assets:

• 8 commercial pig farms for a total of 

35,000 sows;

• 2 breeding farms for a total of 7,500 sows; 

• 1 compound feed mill with a capacity 

of 40 tonnes/hour;

• 1 slaughtering and meat processing 

facility with a capacity of 0.3 million 

heads per year (75 heads/hour). 

114 thousand tonnes – 
total annual production 
of pork in live weight.

1 Including the Tambov expansion project 
of 58 thousand tonnes.
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For the past few years, the Meat business has prioritised the introduction of information 
technologies and innovative development. Automation of production processes at 
pig farms, creation of a business unified information system and livestock quality 
improvement are largely contributing to increasing the business efficiency. Among 
the most significant projects in 2018, the following seven should be highlighted:

1. Upgrading the automated process control system of the compound feed mill. In 2017, 

the project was initiated at the compound feed mill in Zherdevka. The goal was to 

create an automated process control system, reduce downtime, increase production 

performance by automating the processes of acceptance and transfer of raw materials 

to production. At the moment, the project documentation has been agreed and 

the software has been put into the pipeline. The major portion of the system should be 

integrated in 2019. Based on the results of the project, the system might be rolled out 

to other production facilities.

2. Automatic counting the number of animals using methods of streaming video 
analytics. In 2018, the project was launched at a meat processing plant. The result was 

an automatic counting of animals with an accuracy of 99.87% and recommendations 

for achieving a constant accuracy of 100%. The system is planned to be rolled out 

to other production sites. It is also possible to use applicable solutions for analysing 

the quality and effectiveness of deboning, carcass defects, animal behaviour patterns 

for the purpose of early detection of diseases and behavioural anomalies and for non-

invasive weighing of animals.

3. Creating an on-site traffic control system. In 2017, the project was initiated 

on the territory of the slaughterhouse and the meat processing plant. The goal was 

to reduce the penalties for vehicle idle time, reduce the time needed to process orders 

and to load vehicles, and minimise the human factor’s impact on vehicle weighing 

results. In 2018, most of the project work was completed. This project will later 

become a reference for the weight stations of the Meat business and the Company, 

as a whole.  

4. Introducing a unified information management system for feeding formulation. 
In 2017, the project was initiated within the existing animal feeding system. With 

support from Adifo, a software developer, experimental calculations were made for 

feed formulas based on actual data that proved the efficiency of the new software. 

In 2018, the project was successfully completed: the processes of forming a feed 

basket were automated against multiple options with the ability to predict and optimise 

the cost of feed; the quality was improved, and formula recalculation time was cut. 

5. Integrating 1C with the Mercury State Information System. In 2017, the project 

was initiated to meet the requirements of the new draft law on the transition 

to the electronic information exchange system, Mercury. The goal was to organise 

electronic data exchange with the state veterinary control services, such data mainly 

being shipment veterinary certificates. The project outcome was a streamlined 

information exchange between the meat processing plant system and the Mercury 

state system.

6. Identifying meat processing employees by their biometric indicators. In 2018, 

the project was initiated at a meat processing plant. The goal was to increase 

the efficiency of manpower planning and improve the biosafety at meat processing 

facilities. As a result, vein pattern scanners were placed in production areas to identify 

employees and automatically record their working time.

7. Introducing an automated system for accounting the incoming raw materials and for 
production accounting. In 2018, the project was initiated at a waste recycling plant. 

The goal was to create an automated control of all flows of raw materials and finished 

products. The project is divided into three stages: installation and connection of truck 

scales and automation of incoming raw materials metering – completed in 2018, as 

well as automation of production accounting – underway, will be completed in 2019. 

The project outcome will be a commercial roll-out of the automated accounting 

system coupled with the automated process control system, weighing equipment, 

video cameras, and mass flow meters. 

AUTOMATION 
AND INNOVATION
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Investments in 2014-2018, RUB billion

Source: Rusagro
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INVESTMENTS

Between 2014 and 2018, the Company invested RUB 30.3 billion 

into the maintenance and development of the Meat segment 

assets. In 2018, the total investments amounted to RUB 9.4 billion, 

up 49% year-on-year. The bulk of the funds was allocated for 

the implementation of the projects in the Primorye Territory 

and the Tambov Region. Around 9% of the budget was invested 

in maintaining the current capacities of the Meat business. In 2018, 

another strategically important project was approved. The project 

goal is to increase the slaughtering capacity from 4,500 heads 

to 7,200 heads per day in 2019-2020 and a deboning capacity from 

3,500 heads to 4,750 heads per day, which will allow to gradually 

increase consumer products output by four times from 2020 

to 2024. 

At the end of 2018, the Company decided to expand the project 

and build two more commercial pig farms for a total of 12,000 sows 

and additionally increase the capacity of the compound feed 

plant. The expansion will require RUB 8 billion and will allow 

increasing the production of pork in liveweight by 38 thousand 

tonnes . The launch is scheduled for 2021. As at the end of 2018, 

the location for the pig farms was chosen.

Target production growth as driven by the new 
project, thousand tonnes

Source: Rusagro

CapitalAgro
The project in the Primorye Territory
The project in the Tambov Region – expansion

The project in the Tambov Region
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Project: Building new pig farms in the Tambov Region

Since the end of 2016, the project on building new pig farms 
has been underway in the Tambov Region. The target capacity 
of the project has been revised several times. In 2018, it was 
decided to fix upon the production in the amount of 58 thousand 
tonnes of pork in live weight per year. The project configuration 
includes as follows:
• 3 commercial pig farms for a total 16,000 sows; 

• 1 breeding farm for 3,200 purebred sows;

• expansion of the annual capacity of the compound feed mill and 

the storage facilities.

The project status as of the end of 2018: three commercial pig 

farms, a breeding , and a seed production workshop are 97% ready, 

compound feed expansion is completed. 

Project: Building new pig farms in the Primorye Territory

Since 2016, Rusagro has been delivering its largest project on building pig farms in 
the Far East. The new production facility will be located on the “Mikhailovsky” territory 
of the priority social and economic development of the Primorye Territory. LLC Rusagro 
Primorye is acting as a Project Operator. In 2017, a new project size was approved at 
75 thousand tonnes per year. The project configuration includes as follows:
• 6 commercial pig farms for a total of 18,000 sows each;

• 1 breeding farm for 3,000 purebred sows;

• 1 seed production workshop;

• 1 compound feed mill with a capacity of 300 thousand tonnes and 1 grain storage facility 

with a capacity of 120 thousand tonnes;

• 1 slaughterhouse and a meat processing facility with a capacity of 180 heads per hour 

(0.7 million heads per year);

• 1 offal processing and slaughterhouse waste recycling plant.

The total amount of produced pork will be processed at an in-house meat processing plant. 

Sales will be focused on the domestic market of the Far East, with the local pork production 

shortage estimated at 70%. 

The project is of strategic importance for the future growth of the Company. As soon as 

the export markets are opened up, the Company, with its two newly-commissioned stages 

and the increased capacity of 340 thousand tonnes, will become one of the Russian largest 

pork exporters to Asia, in particular, to China, Japan, and South Korea.

The project status as of the end of 2018: completion of construction and assembly 

works of pig farms, a breeding farm, and a seed production workshop varies up to 60%, 

a slaughterhouse and a compound feed plant is 30% completed, the first stage of elevator 

expansion is 97% completed, excavation and construction site for the meat processing 

plant is in progress.

DEAL WITH CapitalAgro 
Purchasing a pork producing and processing plant 
in the Belgorod Region

In August 2018, Rusagro acquired CJSC CapitalAgro and LLC TD CapitalAgro for 
RUB 1.8 billion. The net debt of the companies amounted to RUB 1.9 billion. The transaction 
included pig farms with 10.4 thousand sows and a slaughterhouse with an annual capacity 
of 0.3 million heads. The total annual production of pork in live weight will amount to about 
30 thousand tonnes. In 2018, the Company produced 11 thousand tonnes of pork in live 
weight at the acquiree’s facilities. Eventually, Rusagro increased its production capacity and 
a share in the market of half carcasses, large cuts, and consumer products.

Project cost: 12 RUB billion, excl. of VAT 
Construction time: 2016 to 2019
First production: mid-2019 
Time to full production: mid-2020

Project’s first stage construction cost: 

28 RUB billion, exclusive of VAT (net 

of investments in land acquisition and 

development of own food potential). 

Construction time: 2016 to 2021
First production: mid-2021 

Time to full production: mid-2023
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rusagro 2018 Results

OPERATING RESULTS

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

In 2018, Rusagro produced 205 thousand tonnes of pork in live 

weight, down 1% year-on-year. The decline in the production 

of live pigs stems from the performance decrease at pig farms 

in the Tambov Region and the outbreak of African swine fever (ASF) 

in the Belgorod Region, which was partially offset by the growth 

in production on the back of the acquisition of CapitalAgro.

Moreover, production turnout at the slaughtering and meat 

processing facilities resumed the upward trend. Against a year 

earlier, live weight pork processing increased by 27% and reached 

179 thousand tonnes. Due to ASF-driven reduction of livestock, 

in 2018, compound feed mills ramped down their production by 6% 

to 567 thousand tonnes of feed.

In 2018, the structural shift was still be going towards an increase 

in the range of deep processing products. Eventually, the total 

sales of the Meat business decreased by 4% to 169 thousand 

tonnes. The share of sales of pork in live weight again almost 

halved – from 33% to 16%, while the growth in processing made 

up 20%. As a result, 27 thousand tonnes of pork in live weight 

were sold, including non-commercial products. The highest growth 

was exhibited by consumer products. In 2018, sales of consumer 

products quadrupled to 16 thousand tonnes. Also, sales of large cuts 

increased by 13% and reached 74 thousand tonnes. With the growth 

of meat processing, the sales of offal and others, which include 

products from the waste recycling plant, such as meat and bone 

meal, feed fat, and blood meal, grew 18% and 19%, respectively.

In 2018, 23% of the Meat business sales fell to the consumer 

segment (up by 6 p.p. year-on-year). Moreover, as part of 

the strategy for capturing the retail market, the Company pushed up 

sales of its own branded products and enhanced brand awareness. 

Due to the developed distribution in the reporting period, sales went 

up four times – from 3 to 11 thousand tonnes. According to Ipsos 

Comcon, brand awareness in the Central Federal District, which is 

the main direction of sales, is estimated at 15% (up by 5 p.p. 

year-on-year). The awareness in all Russia is estimated at 9% 

(up by 1 p.p. year-on-year).

Rusagro began exporting meat products in 2016. Despite 

the limited prospects for Russian pork in the global market, in 2018, 

the Company continued to step up its exports by selling pork and 

by-products (offal) to the CIS countries and African countries. 

So, according to the results of the year, the export volume grew 

146% – up to 11 thousand tonnes, with 36% for half carcasses, 

35% for by-products (offal), and 28% for large cuts. In absolute 

terms, the deliveries of half carcasses and large cuts were the main 

contributors to that growth (They increased by 3 and 2 thousand 

tonnes, respectively).  

In 2018, a yearly average drop in the selling price of live weight pork 

made up 6%; eventually, the selling price came at RUB 88.7/kg, 

exclusive of VAT. The main reason behind this situation is that, 

unlike 2017, in the reporting period, the Company sold live pigs 

only during periods of low prices. With non-commercial pork sales 

considered, the average price stood at RUB 86.2/kg, exclusive of 

VAT. The prices for half carcass and large cuts increased by 9% 

and 8%, respectively. The prices of consumer products and offal 

remained roughly the same. 

In 2018, adjusted EBITDA grew 12% and reached RUB 7.0 billion. 

A boost in earnings was due to a 9% year-on-year increase in gross 

revenues up to RUB 22.4 billion. Such changes were mainly driven by 

an expansion of sales volumes and an escalation in sales prices for 

large cuts and semi-finished products. The EBITDA margin remained 

at the previous year level of 31%. The cost of pork in live weight 

remained flat with 2017. 

Live weight pork produced by Rusagro in 2014-2018, 
thousand tonnes

Rusagro’s sales in 2014-2018, thousand tonnes

Rusagro’s sales price, RUB/kg, excl. of VAT 

Financial results in 2014-2018, RUB billion

Source: Rusagro

Source: Rusagro

Source: Rusagro

Source: Rusagro
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Plans for 2019 

In 2019, the Company thinks of increasing the livestock by 24% to 2.3 million heads 

and ramping up the production of live pigs by 31% to more than 250 thousand tonnes. 

This growth is planned to be promoted through the use of pig farms purchased in 2018 

in the Belgorod Region (the production figures of these farms were only partially reported 

in the reporting year statements) and through the launch of new pig farms in the Tambov 

Region. Following the growing production of live pigs, the production of compound feed will 

also start going upwards.

Rusagro is on track to a consistent increase in the number of slaughter pigs, which in 2019 

may come up to 260 thousand tonnes. As a result, with keeping the sales of live pigs at 

a stable level, sales of half carcass, large cuts, semi-finished products, and, consequently, 

by-products, are projected to grow. In 2019-2020, the Company plans to increase its 

slaughtering and processing capacity to up to 7,200 heads per day and to build an additional 

workshop to achieve a fourfold increase in consumer products output.

The Company plans to develop export supplies in 2019, which may again be trending 

upwards, but until the opening of Asian markets, the sales volumes will remain low. In 2019, 

the pricing situation in the pork market may remain favourable. Unavailability of low-priced 

pork supplies from Brazil and growing demand from Belarus, spurred by the opening 

of the Chinese market, may continue to support domestic prices.     

With new pig farms launched in the Tambov Region and the Primorye Territory, once they 

reach their full capacity, Rusagro’s total production of live pigs will gradually increase to up 

to 400 thousand tonnes by 2023. 
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• Launch of a vegetable oil refining, 
deodorisation, and bottling shop that 
allows producing up to 100 thousand 
tonnes of bottled sunflower oil a year

• Growth of production of crude 
vegetable oil from 192 
to 269 thousand tons as a result 
of work with Solnechnye Producty oil 
extraction plants

GROWTH DRIVERS

FOURFOLD 
EARNINGS GROWTH
ON THE BACK OF GOOD 
PRODUCTION RESULTS 
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26.3 RUB bn 
revenues

1.2 RUB bn  
CAPEX

2.9 RUB bn 
adj. EBITDA

6 regions of presence

11%  RUB bn 
EBITDA margin

2.0  ths  
average annual 
headcount

OIL AND FATS BUSINESS RESULTS IN 2018

269 ths tonnes  
unrefined vegetable oil 
production

97 ths tonnes  
bottled oil sales

78 ths tonnes  
consumer margarine 
and mayonnaise sales

40% fivefold growth 18% 

No.2  

unrefined vegetable oil 
producer in Russia

No.1 
consumer margarine 
producer in Russia

In 2019: 

No.2 
mayonnaise producer 
in Russia 

No.2 

industrial fats producer 
in Russia

35% 

26% 

fourfold growth 7 p.p.

3% 

Roman Danilin,  
Head of Oil and Fats business

Company’s Business

OIL AND FATS SEGMENT HIGHLIGHTS

Due to higher oilseeds yield in Russia, production of unrefined 
oil in 2018/2019 season can grow up to 6.8 million 
tonnes (+16%). However, the results of the calendar year show 
that the production of bottled oil has remained at about the same 
level as last year, the production of mayonnaise has increased, 
while the production of consumer margarine and industrial fats 
has decreased. The main negative factor was the drop in exports 
to Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan, as well as the reduction in 
domestic demand. Strengthening of the dollar resulted in the rise 
of the average annual prices of unrefined sunflower oil 
up to RUB 40.6 thousand per tonne, excl. of VAT (+4%). 

In 2018, the market structure started changing. Working with 
Solnechnye Produkty oil extraction plants expanded Rusagro’s share 
of unrefined oil market, thus making the Company the second 
largest oil producer. Through this and launching of a new oil 
bottling line, the Company’s operating and financial results posted 
a growth. Production of unrefined oil grew to 269 thousand tonnes 
(+40%), sales of bottled oil jumped fivefold up to 97 thousand 
tonnes, and exports of oil and fats increased by 31 thousand 
tonnes (+63%). In 2018, sales growth and cost reduction provided 
a fourfold advance of adjusted EBITDA to RUB 2.9 billion. 
The EBITDA margin increased from 4% to 11%. 

In 2019, Rusagro will start working with Solnechnye Produkty oil 
and fats plants. As a result, the Company will be able not only 
to strengthen its position on the consumer margarine 
market but also may become the second largest 
mayonnaise producer and win the second place 
in the production of industrial fats. Over the next few years, 
the Company plans to acquire Solnechnye Produkty assets of its 
interest and consolidate them with Rusagro. 
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Russian Market Overview

PRODUCTION
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Oilseed harvest and processing capacities in Russia 
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Unrefined oil production in Russia  
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Oil and Fats production in Russia in 2017-2018,  
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Source: Russian Federal Service for State Statistics

Source: Russian Federal Service for State Statistics

Source: Russian Federal Service for State Statistics

In 2018, the oilseed crop yields in Russia grew 27% to 19.7 million 

tonnes. As estimated by the Institute for Agricultural Market 

Studies (IKAR), the planting acreage of three major oilseed 

crops – sunflowers, soybean, and rape – went up 11% to 13.9 million 

hectares. According to the preliminary results of 2018 published 

by the Russian Ministry of Agriculture, the sunflower planting 

acreage rose 2% to 8.2 million hectares and crop yield grew 28% 

to 1.5 tonnes/hectare. Hence, the gross sunflower seeds harvest 

grew 31% to 12.6 million tonnes. Due to the planting acreage 

increase by 11% to 2.9 million hectares, the gross soybean harvest 

also went up by 9% to 3.9 million tonnes. However, the processing 

capacities remained flat – 24 million tonnes per year, thus driving 

up the growth in capacity utilisation rate from 64 to 82%.

According to the data from the Russian Federal Service for State 

Statistics, 6.8 million tonnes of unrefined vegetable oil may be 

produced in 2018/2019 season, including 5.3 million tonnes 

(+17%) of unrefined sunflower oil and oil fractions, a 16% jump 

against 2017/2018 season.

In 2018, the production level of bottled vegetable oil remained 

flat with the previous year and amounted to 5.8 million tonnes. 

The production of mayonnaise and mayonnaise-based sauces, 

driven by the growth in exports, grew 2% to 0.9 million tonnes. 

Meanwhile, production of margarine products, including spreads, 

sank 8% to 0.6 million tonnes. The key driver was the lower exports 

to Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan. The production of industrial fats 

went down by 2% as a result of reduced local demand.

Russia has one of the highest levels of per capita consumption 

of sunflower oil in the world – 9 kg per person a year. In 2018, 

the domestic demand for sunflower oil contracted, as fueled by 

reduced maximum permissible trans fats content and favourable 

prices for palm oil. The average per capita consumption of 

mayonnaise is also higher than in other countries – 4 kg per year. 

However, amid the growing popularity of healthy eating in 2018, 

demand for mayonnaise reduced by 1%. Margarine consumption 

in Russia is lower than the world average – only one-fourth of 

the Russian households report using margarine on a regular basis. 

The demand for industrial fats also declined despite the growing 

confectionery market. The reasons were the low purchasing power 

of households, the popularity of a healthy lifestyle, the shift in 

demand towards chocolate confectionery. 

1 Including sunflower oil fractions.
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In Russia, nine players produced three-quarters of the sunflower 

oil. Yug Rusi is the market leader – 24%. In 2017, Rusagro 

held just 4% of the production, but as of the end of 2018, 

cooperation with Solnechnye Produkty plants spurred the increase 

in the Company’s utilised capacities. In 2018, Rusagro’s share 

in production is preliminary estimated at 14-18%, which makes 

the Company the second largest producer in the oil extraction market. 

The mayonnaise produced in Russia by eight players, five of whom 

hold 91% of the output. Essen is the largest mayonnaise producer 

with a share of 25%. Rusagro occupies 8% of the production, being 

the fifth largest producer. In 2019, due to operations with Solnechnye 

Produkty, the Company may increase its share in production up to 

25% and become the second largest producer in Russia.. 

The consumer margarine in Russia is produced by five players. 

The largest producer of margarine with a share of 41% is Rusagro. 

In 2019, after the start of production at Solnechnye Produkty oil 

and fats plants, the Company can increase its share in Russian 

production up to 67%. 

The market of industrial fats in Russia is represented by eight 

players. The largest producer with a share of 53% is EFKO. In 2018, 

Solnechnye Produkty, with a share of 22%, was the second among 

producers, while Rusagro that entered the market only in 2017 had 

less than 1%. In 2019, after the start of working with Solnechnye 

Produkty oil and fats plants, Rusagro may become the second 

largest producer of industrial fats in Russia.. 
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EXPORTS AND IMPORTS PRICES

OUTLOOK FOR 2019
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In 2018/2019 season, due to a higher volume of processed 

sunflower seeds, 2.5 million tonnes of unrefined sunflower oil 

can be exported, 8% growth against the previous season. This is 

equivalent to 47% of all oil that could be produced in Russia, and 

to 71% of all exported vegetable oil. Soybean oil exports can grow 

by 3% to 0.6 million tonnes. In 2018/2019 season, imports of 

unrefined vegetable oil, which is mostly accounted for palm oil, can 

grow by 19% to 1.1 million tonnes due to an increase in the palm oil 

supplies. The main importer is Indonesia, wherefrom 0.8 million 

tonnes can be imported in the 2018/2019 season.

In 2018 calendar year, 1.7 million tonnes (+4 % year-on-year) of 

raw sunflower oil was exported. Since Russian raw sunflower oil is 

particularly competitive in the Black Sea market, Egypt and Turkey 

hold 45% of its total exports. In 2018, exports to Egypt increased 

by 33% to 0.4 million tonnes, and to Turkey decreased by 38% 

to 0.3 million tonnes. Moreover, oil exports to China jumped up 

75% to 0.2 million tonnes. The increase in shipments of sunflower 

oil from Russia to China is due to the growing local demand for 

sunflower oil. Soybean oil is mainly exported to China and Algeria: 

0.2 million tonnes to each destination. In 2019, further export 

growth is expected. 

In 2018, exports of oil and fats increased by 5% to 3.7 million 

tonnes, 81% of which attributes to refined deodorised oil in bulk. 

According to the year results, its export grew 7% to 3.0 million 

tonnes. Meanwhile, export of bottled oil declined by 4% 

to 0.4 million tonnes, 95% of which corresponds to sunflower 

oil. The deliveries to Afghanistan and Tajikistan were most 

significantly reduced – the cumulative share of these countries 

fell from 25% to 20%. Exports of margarine products fell by 5% 

to 0.1 million tonnes, mainly due to Turkmenistan, whose share 

in exports fell from 19% to 13%, and Uzbekistan. Mayonnaise 

exports increased slightly and also suffered from the slump in 

shipments to Turkmenistan. Growth was driven by increased sales 

to Azerbaijan, Tajikistan, Mongolia, and Ukraine.

In 2018, oil and fats imports increased by 3% to 1.1 million tonnes, 

91% accrues to oil in bulk. Advancing of healthy eating philosophy 

drives imports of olive oil. Imports of bottled vegetable oil went up 

by 16%. Olive oil accounts for 88% of the import. In 2018, imports 

of mayonnaise, margarine, and industrial fats decreased by 5% to 

0.1 million tonnes. 

In 2018, the annual average price for unrefined sunflower oil 

grew 4% to RUB 40.6 thousand/tonne, exclusive of VAT, year-

on-year, mainly driven by strengthening of the dollar by 7% 

to 62.69 RUB/USD. Irrespective of the bumper harvest in 2018, 

the annual average prices for sunflower seeds went up by 18% 

to RUB 21.4 thousand/tonne, exclusive of VAT. Such behaviour 

was spurred by the rise in global prices for protein components 

and in prices of finished products. In the first half of 2018, 

sunflower seed prices augmented from RUB 20.0 thousand/tonne, 

exclusive of VAT, in January by 20% to RUB 24.0 thousand/tonne, 

exclusive of VAT, in June. Before start of the harvesting, prices 

stayed flat, while in August-November, they sank 20% to RUB 

19.1 thousand/tonne, exclusive of VAT. It was during this period 

when the oil extraction plants purchased raw materials for the new 

processing season.

Sunflower oil prices moved in similar with sunflower seeds 

prices direction. Thus, from February to June, sunflower oil 

prices increased by 12% from RUB 38.6 to 43.2 thousand/tonne, 

exclusive of VAT. While from September to November they 

dropped by 10% to 38.6 thousand/tonne, exclusive of VAT.

Vegetable oil production output in 2019 will depend on the harvest 

of oil crops in the new season. Owing to large carry-over stocks 

remaining from 2017/2018 season, the average sunflower oil price 

in 2019 may drop a few percents. On the back of the sunflower 

crop growth in 2018, an increase in export shipments of sunflower 

oil is expected at the beginning of the new year. Foreign sales of 

soybean oil may go up due to the growth in exports to China and 

Algeria markets. If in 2018/2019 season prices for palm oil remain 

low against other oils, its imports will continue to grow.

While domestic demand for sunflower oil is limited, exports to 

the Middle Eastern countries, such as Iran, Iraq, and Saudi Arabia, 

to the Northern Africa countries, such as Egypt and Sudan, and 

to China will be showing rapid growth. Exports of mayonnaise 

and margarine to the CIS nations will post growth. The largest 

consumers here are Kazakhstan, Azerbaijan, Moldova, Georgia, 

Uzbekistan, Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan, and Belarus, where the demand 

for Russian oil and fats still remain steady. The amount of olive oil 

imported to Russia continues to grow, while imports of mayonnaise 

and margarine will reduce.

In 2019, due to launching the works with Solnechnye Produkty oil 

and fats plants, Rusagro can become a leader on the mayonnaise 

market with a 25% share, as well as the second largest player 

on the industrial fats market and further expand its consumer 

margarine market share to 67%.  
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Assets

The Oil and Fats business of Rusagro Group is represented by three oil and fats 
enterprises: Bezenchuk oil extraction plant, Yekaterinburgsky oil and fats plant, and 
Ussuriysky oil and fats plant. 

BEZENCHUK OIL 
EXTRACTION PLANT

The Company has been operating the oil extraction plant in the Samara Region since 2011. 

The plant’s main products are unrefined sunflower oil (pressed and extracted) and high-

protein granulated sunflower meal. In 2018, the plant started production of bottled refined 

and deodorised oil and lecithin. 

At the end of 2018, the plant’s rated sunflower seed processing capacity was 423 thousand 

tonnes/year or 1.3 thousand tonnes/day. Depending on the parameters of the incoming 

raw materials, this is about 180 thousand tonnes of oil and 150 thousand tonnes of meal 

per year. The capacity of the vegetable oil refining, deodorisation, and bottling line allows 

the annual production of up to 100 thousand tonnes of products. 

The Company purchases raw materials for processing from third-party farmers of the Volga 

Federal District. In-house elevators in the Samara, Saratov, Orenburg, and Penza Regions 

provide flexibility in managing the raw material inventories. The total storage capacity 

is 182 thousand tonnes of sunflower seeds or 456 thousand tonnes of grains . The bulk raw 

material purchase share falls within the heavy harvesting period in October-November. 

The plant has convenient access to the roads and railways.

The advanced process equipment is put in place at the plant to deliver high-quality 

products. Products are certified under GMP + B2 “Good Manufacturing Practice”. 

It confirms compliance with national and international regulations, principles 

for the production and sale of safe products, including HACCP system and regulatory 

requirements of the European Union. Only one more Russian plant gained this certification. 

The ISO 22000:2005 Food Safety Management System is put in place at the plant. 

Yekaterinburgsky oil and fats plant was established in 1959 in Yekaterinburg and became part 

of the Company in 2003. The plant is the largest consumer margarine producer in Russia with 

a 41% market share and the fifth largest mayonnaise producer with a 8% market share.

The main products are margarine, mayonnaise and mayonnaise based souces, and bottled 

sunflower oil. The product mix includes 220 products, such as industrial fats, margarine in 

blocks, ketchup, mustard, and soap. The production of bottled oil and industrial fats began 

in 2017 as the fats refining, deodorisation, and interesterification shop and the vegetable oil 

bottling line were launched. 

The rated production capacity is 76 thousand tonnes of margarine, including 45 thousand 

tonnes of consumer margarine and 31 thousand tonnes of industrial fats, 159 thousand 

tonnes/year of mayonnaise and mayonnaise-based sauces, and 53 thousand tonnes/year 

of bottled oil. 

The use of quality natural products, advanced technology, and automated state-of-the-art 

equipment ensures the high quality of EZhK’s products. The plant has convenient access 

roads and railways.

The products are marketed under the EZhK, Schedroye Leto,Mechta Khozyaiki, and 

Gotovim Doma brands. The brands are represented in the federal retail networks, such 

as Pyaterochka, Karusel, Perekryostok, Magnit, Monetka, Ashan, Diksi, Lenta, and O’key, 

as well as in the regional retail networks. Schedroye Leto ranks second in Russia with a 15% 

market share of consumer margarine and first in the Ural Federal District with a 64% 

market share. This brand is the leader in the margarine and spread categories in the Central 

Asian markets, in particular, in Uzbekistan (25%) and Tajikistan (32%). Provansal EZhK 

takes the sixth place in Russia with a 5% share of the mayonnaise market and the first place 

in the Ural Federal District with a 45% market share. 

YEKATERINBURGSKY 
OIL AND FATS PLANT

USSURIYSKY 
OIL AND FATS PLANT

Ussuriysky oil and fats plant was established in 1927 in Ussuriysk and became part 

of the Company in 2015. The plant is the main producer of soybean oil and meal and is also 

the only manufacturer of soap in the Far East.

The key products are soybean oil and meal, mayonnaise, and beauty and household 

soap. The products are marketed under the Soyaco and Maslava brands. The soybean 

processing capacity of the plant is 179 thousand tonnes/year or 0.6 thousand tonnes/day. 

That makes up to 30 thousand tonnes of oil per year and 140 thousand tonnes of meal per 

year. In 2018, the production capacity showed a 24% year-on-year increase resulted from 

putting the third line into operation. In 2019, the soybean lecithin production is slated to be 

launched. Annual capacity of bottled oil production is 31 thousand tonnes. 

The oil and fats plant is of strategic importance for the Company development. Soybean 

meal is a major component of the diet of pigs, and Primorskaya Soya will provide 

the Company’s pig farms in the Primorye Territory with a reliable raw material source. 

Project “The launch of the vegetable oil refining,  
deodorisation, and bottling line“
In summer 2018, a vegetable oil refining, deodorisation, and bottling shop was put into 
operation at the Bezenchuk oil extraction plant. The Company modernised the existing 
production facility, installed an oil filling line, built a lecithin production line and a finished 
products warehouse. Shop's annual capacity is up to 100 thousand tonnes of refined, 
deodorised bottled oil. The project has become the largest for the Oil and Fats business 
in the last five years. In 2017-2018, the Company invested RUB 1.9 billion, exclusive of VAT, 
in this project.

184 ths tonnes 
production capacity 
of Rusagro bottled oil 
in 2018
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During 2014-2018, the Company invested RUB 4.5 billion into 

maintenance and development of the Oil and Fats segment assets. 

In 2018, the total investments amounted to RUB 1.2 billion, showing 

a 26% year-on-year decline. The major project of the reporting 

year was launching of the vegetable oil refining, deodorisation, 

and bottling shop. In 2018, RUB 0.6 billion of RUB 1.9 billion was 

invested in this project. In-house bottled oil production is required 

to reduce the risk of a drop in unrefined oil sales during periods 

of inefficient export when the cost of unrefined oil sold exceeds 

the export price. 

INVESTMENTS

0.2 

0.6 

1.0 

1.6  

1.2

-26%

'18'17'16'15'14

Investments in 2014-2018, RUB billion

Source: Rusagro

AUTOMATION 
AND INNOVATION

The reporting year was the year of the IT-infrastructure 

transformation, coupled with the upgrade in data security level 

to the benefit of users and business to achieve higher operational 

efficiency. For the development of the Oil and Fats business, 

the Company follows global trends in IT and applies groundbreaking 

cyber-technologies and technological innovations.

In 2018, a large-scale project was launched in the Oil and Fats 

business for modernisation of the network infrastructure. The project 

was aimed at increasing the resiliency of IT-services and reducing 

the production downtime risks due to the use of outdated technologies 

and equipment. 

The Company continued development of own ERP-system focusing 

on the following:

• Implementation of business-processes regarding the supply 

chain, warehouse accounting, production, and finished products 

sales;

• The organisation of IT-assets accounting with the use of SAP 

PM module for flexible audit, control, advanced analytics and 

planning of the infrastructure modernisation;

• Implementation of the transport logistics automation, planning 

and operating management system based on SAP TM.

In 2018, the Company initiated a project for the selection and 

implementation of a customer management system in order 

to create a shared information environment for working with 

customers, to improve sales effectiveness and marketing campaign 

efficiency. The Company started development of an integrated 

system based on next-generation firewalls that provide 

the  network perimeter security and protects against external 

attacks of intruders. In parallel, a project for the implementation 

of up-to-date in-house email protection against malicious files 

was started up. A standard and general purpose (in terms 

of ITSM) business-process of monitoring and provision of access 

to detachable devices upon agreed requests were implemented. 

It reduces the risk of security leakage and restricts virus activity. 

This case will be upscaled for entire Rusagro Group.

While purchasing Solnechnye Produkty assets, Rusagro Oil and 

Fats business will implement projects aimed at the transition to 

single digital platforms. The first step will be a change-over to 

a single infrastructure and services that correspond to Rusagro's 

policies and strategy. The second step will be the adoption of 

a single ERP-platform by all enterprises of the united Oil and Fats 

business for optimisation of business management and planning. 

SOLNECHNYE
PRODUKTY

DEAL WITH

In October 2018, ROS AGRO PLC acquired a right to purchase 
the majority interest of Quartlink Holding Limited Company that 
owned Solnechnye Produkty Group. In November, Rusagro Group 
of Companies purchased rights of claims against Solnechnye 
Produkty Group related to credits in the Russian Agricultural Bank 
amounting to RUB 34.7 billion. Payment of acquired rights will be 
made in instalments The obtained debt exceeds 80% of the  total 
external debt load of Solnechnye Produkty Group. The debt 
is secured by a mortgage on the main assets of the company.

Solnechnye Produkty Group includes the following key assets: 

• three oil and fats plants in Moscow, Saratov, and Novosibirsk 

with the total annual production capacity of 500 thousand 

tonnes of finished products;

• two oil extraction plants in the Saratov Region with a total daily 

production capacity of 3.3 thousand tonnes of oilseed; one of 

the plants has a river export terminal with access to the Caspian 

and Mediterranean basins;

• eight elevators in the Saratov Region with a total storage capacity 

of 260 thousand tonnes of sunflower seeds or 650 thousand 

tonnes of grains; 

• agricultural lands in the Saratov Region.

The product mix comprises bottled vegetable oil, mayonnaise, 

consumer margarine, industrial fats and margarine, salad 

dressings, mustard, and soap. Products are sold under the following 

brands: Moskovsky Provansal, Novosibirsky Provansal, Saratovsky 

Provansal, Olivjez, Chudesnitsa, Buket, Solnechnaya Liniya, 

Slivochny Saratovsky, Rossiyanka, Yarko, Zhar Pechka, Stolichnaya 

Gorchitsa, Ya lublu gotobit, SolPro, and Duet.

In 2019-2020, Rusagro figures on buying out the assets of its 

interest on an arm’s length basis. These assets include oil and 

fats plants, two oil extraction plants, and trademarks. If a sale of 

Solnechnye Produkty assets is initiated, Rusagro, being the majority 

secured creditor, can expect to receive the bulk of the gains on 

disposal of assets. This will partially offset the Company’s expenses 

for the acquisition of the debt of the Russian Agricultural Bank.

In Q4 2018, Rusagro started processing sunflower seeds at 

Solnechnye Produkty oil extraction plants. Driven by such 

cooperation, LLC Samaraagroprompererabotka that operates 

Bezenchuk oil exctraction plant in addition to its own production 

sold 47 thousand tonnes of unrefined oil, 62 thousand tonnes of 

meal and 12 thousand tonnes of bottle oil. In 2019, Rusagro, will 

start to produce products at Solnechnye Produkty oil and fats 

plants and increase sales of bottled oil, margarine, and mayonnaise. 

Some of the production companies of Rusagro recieved the rights 

to use the trademarks of Solnechnye Producty. Also, in 2019 

Rusagro’s agriculture business plans to lease 45 thousand hectares 

of land in the Saratov Region, previously managed by Solnechnye 

Producty, to use them for crop production. After the acquisition of 

some of assets in 2019-2020, the production facilities will come 

under Rusagro’s management.  
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OPERATIONAL RESULTS

PRODUCTION

Rusagro 2018 results 

In 2018, the Company processed 405 thousand tonnes of sunflower 

seeds (+1% year-on-year) and 108 thousand tonnes of soybeans 

(-2% year-on-year) at in-house plants. The actual capacity 

utilisation rate of the plant in the Samara Region and the plants 

in Ussuriysk was 95% and 60% of the rated capacity, respectively. 

In the reporting year, the capacity utilisation rate of the Bezenchuk 

plant decreased due to the shutdown of one line on the pressing site 

in May and the increase of unscheduled downtime.

Despite this, vegetable oil production grew 3% to 197 thousand 

tonnes, including a 3% increase of sunflower oil production 

up to 179 thousand tonnes, resulting from higher oil content 

of raw materials and reduction of losses. Taking into account 

72 thousand tonnes of oil produced by Rusagro at the assets of 

Solnechnye Producty, the production of vegetable oil increased 

by 40% to 269 thousand tonnes, the meal production – by 31% to 

318 thousand tonnes.

In 2018, the Company’s plants produced 175 thousand tonnes 

of oil and fats (+52%): 48 thousand tonnes of mayonnaise and 

sauces, 39 thousand tonnes of consumer margarine, spreads, and 

industrial fats (-3%), and 88 thousand tonnes of bottled oil. Bottled 

oil production jumped by 348% reaching 88 thousand tonnes due 

to launching a new shop at the oil extraction plant in the Samara 

Region. Bottled oil is partly produced from own unrefined oil. 

Mayonnaise and sauces production declined by 14% due to 

lower sales of Mechta Khozyaiki mayonnaise. The Company also 

produced 10 thousand tonnes of industrial fats. The total volume of 

oil and fats increased by 62% to 188 thousand tonnes, considering 

bottled oil production by Solnechnye Produkty on a give-and-take 

basis resulted in another 12 thousand tonnes of products. 

Meal
Unrefined oil 

Bottled oil
Mayonnaise and sauces

Consumer margarine
Industrial fats

318

243

198

163

159

269 101

20

12

43

47

192

162

157

173

2948 10

3656 3

3778

65 3

58

'18

'17

'16

'15

'14

Oil and fats production in 2014-2018,  
thousand tonnes

Source: Rusagro

SALES

In 2018, sales of unrefined oil to third-party purchasers showed 

a 12% increase achieving 168 thousand tonnes and sales of meal 

grew by 20% to 302 thousand tonnes. Oil and fats sales went up 

by 130% reaching 137 thousand tonnes. Bottled oil sales jumped 

fivefold up to 97 thousand tonnes including bottled oil produced 

at Solnechnye Producty oil extraction plants, due to the start-up 

of a new shop and development of the distribution channel, listing 

in new retail networks, rolling out of own retail trademarks, and 

export growth. Margarine sales dropped 18% to 29 thousand 

tonnes due to a decline in exports and shrinking of domestic sales 

geography in order to focus on the “home” region. Mayonnaise 

sales also decreased by 18% reaching 48 thousand tonnes as 

a result of sales geography shrinking and leaving some retail 

networks that were partially compensated by the export growth.

In 2018, the Company exported 36% of unrefined oil, 31% of 

meal, and 43% of oil and fats. Exports of unrefined oil reduced 

by 39% to 61 thousand tonnes, while that of meal doubled to 

95 thousand tonnes. Thus, 64% of unrefined oil were sold to 

Turkey, Iran, and Azerbaijan, and 57% of meal – to Germany and 

Norway. Exports of oil and fats went up by 63% to 80 thousand 

tonnes. Exports of bottled oil grew fourfold: supplies to Uzbekistan, 

Kyrgyzstan, Kazakhstan, Georgi, China, and Tajikistan increased 

by 25 thousand tonnes, and for the first time, 9 thousand tonnes 

of bottled oil were shipped to Azerbaijan, Armenia, Afghanistan, 

Belarus, Mongolia, and Turkmenistan. Exports of mayonnaise 

rose 18%, including larger supplies to Azerbaijan and Moldova, 

the countries with the high awareness of Mechta Khozyaiki brand, 

as well as to CIS nations. A drop of 17% in margarine exports was 

attributed to reduced supplies to Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan due 

to national currency devaluation. It was partially compensated by 

increased exports to Azerbaijan and Tajikistan and by the start of 

shipments to Mongolia.

In 2018, sales prices of unrefined oil and meal increased by 8% 

to 45.7 and 17.2 RUB/kg, exclusive of VAT, respectively. Taking 

into account new requirements of the Customs Union for product 

formulations, the consumer margarine prices went up by 6% 

reaching 83.2 RUB/kg, exclusive of VAT. The bottled oil prices 

dropped 4% to 55.7 RUB/kg, exclusive of VAT. 

Meal
Unrefined oil 

Bottled oil
Mayonnaise and sauces

Consumer margarine
Industrial fats

'18

'17

'16

'15

'14

302

253

200

198

239

168 97

20

18

43

47

150

116

100

199

2948 10

3659 3

3777

66 14

58

Sales in 2014-2018, thousand tonnes

Source: Rusagro

Meal
Unrefined oil 

Bottled oil
Consumer margarine Mayonnaise and sauces

95

43

40

29

68

61 46

11

4

35

37

100

65

72

90

24 11

29 9

29 8

10 1

10

'18

'17

'16

'15

'14

Exports in 2014-2018, thousand tonnes

Source: Rusagro

Meal
Unrefined oil 

Bottled oil
Consumer margarine Mayonnaise and sauces

17.2
45.7

55.7
83.2
81.3

16.0
42.2

58.8
78.1

80
.5

18.2
53.0

71.9
75.6
76.7

17.2
47.6

62.6
70

.7
72.7

9.0
29.5

54.5
59.0

'18'17'16'15'14

Sale price in 2014-2018, RUB/kg, excl. of VAT

Source: Rusagro

+40% 
unrefined oil production 
growth in 2018

In 2018 Rusagro 
dramatically increased crude 
and bottled oil production –

to 269 (+40%)

and  101
(fivefold growth)
thousand tonnes, respectively
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Revenues Adjusted EBITDA EBITDA margin, %

1.9 

Financial results in 2014-2018, RUB billion

Source: Rusagro

FINANCIAL RESULTS

Plans for 2019 

In 2018, adjusted EBITDA of the Oil and Fats business grew 

fourfold to RUB 2.9 billion due to a 35% increase in revenues 

reaching RUB 26.3 billion and the reduction of the marketed 

product cost of sales. The revenues increase resulted from 

higher sales, including those induced by working at the assets 

of Solnechnye Produkty, and positive price behaviour. Lower 

cost of sales was driven by the reduction of variable costs due to 

production modernisation, optimisation of purchasing procedures 

and drop in production losses, as well as by the control of fixed 

costs by the way of lowering distribution and selling expenses. 

The EBITDA margin increased from 4% to 11%. 

In 2019, the operating and financial performance of the Oil and Fats 

business may grow again. The Company is planning to continue 

working with oil extraction plants on a give-and-take basis and to 

start placing orders at Solnechnye Produkty oil and fats plants. 

Moreover, the capacity utilisation rate of the Company’s plants 

may be further increased. As a result, the production of unrefined 

oil and meal, as well as bottled oil, consumer margarine, and 

mayonnaise is projected to rise. This will enable the Company to 

expand its share in the Russian market. In 2019, the Company can 

not only acquire a 67% share of the consumer margarine market 

but also become No.1 producer of mayonnaise and No.2 producer 

of industrial fats for the first time.

The sales growth is planned to be ensured by expanding 

the domestic geography, export development, roll out of new 

products, listing in national retail networks, higher sales of 

products under own retail trademarks. Exports of bottled oil can 

keep on growing, particularly, supplies to the Tajikistan, Uzbekistan, 

Turkmenistan, Kazakhstan, and Kyrgyzstan markets with the high 

awareness of Schedroye Leto brand and to China market can 

be increased. In 2019, the Company is planning to put up prices 

of several items in the Mayonnaise category. Average sales prices 

of bottled oil may also go up due to changes in sales geography. 

In 2019, Rusagro plans to start 
producing at Solnechnye Producty 
plants not only sunflower oil and 
meal, but also mayonnaise, margarine, 
and industrial futs.

As the result, the Company

may become №.1 
mayonnaise producer in Russia

and №.2
producer of industrial fats
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ON THE BACK 
OF GROWTH 
IN PRICES
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• Increased sale prices for all crops 
produced by Rusagro and higher yields 
of all crops, except for sunflower

• Expansion of the land bank 
in the Tambov Region by 15 thousand 
hectares (+11% year-on-year) 
of arable land

• Digitalisation of agriculture 
business contributed to production 
automatisation and more precise 
management of the fields

GROWTH DRIVERS

EARNINGS
JUMP UP
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20.8 RUB bn 
of revenues

5.0 RUB bn 
of EBITDA

2.0  RUB bn 
of investments

In 2018, the yield of crops in Russia decreased to 158 million tonnes 
(-13%) due to a drop in the harvested grain (-16%) and sugar 
beet (-14%), which was partially offset by a higher yield of oilseeds 
(+17%). Due to bad weather conditions, the yield per hectare of wheat 
(-14%), barley (-20%), and sugar beet (-7%) sank, whereas the yield 
per hectare of sunflower and maize rose (+28 and 12%). The results of 
the season 2018/2019 led to a rise in domestic prices. The average 
annual price for grain crops went up to RUB 9.6 thousand 
per tonne, exclusive of VAT (+25%), for oilseeds – up to 
RUB 23.9 thousand per tonne, exclusive of VAT (+17%). The bumper 
harvest of the 2017/2018 season brought about increased exports 
in 2018, which grew 6% to 46.0 million tonnes, including 45.1 million 
tonnes of grain, with 30% of grain supplied to Egypt and Turkey. 

At the end of 2018, the Company was managing 652 thousand 
hectares, including 582 thousand hectares of arable land, which 
makes it the third largest landowner in Russia. A 3% shrinkage 
of the land bank stemmed from abandoning the pastures and inefficient 
fields, while the growth of arable land by 15 thousand hectares 
is attributable to new deals closed. In 2018, 4.9 million tonnes 
(-1%) of crops were harvested, including 1.1 million tonnes (-8%) 
of grain crops, 0.3 million tonnes (+47%) of oilseeds, and 3.5 million 
tonnes (-1%) of sugar beets. Despite the downturn (-15%) in sales in 
2018, high prices spurred a 11% increase in revenues of the Agriculture 
business to RUB 20.8 billion. The earnings rose from a record 
low EBITDA of RUB 76 million in 2017 to RUB 5.0 billion. 
The EBITDA margin surged from 0% to 24%.

In 2018, RUB 2.0 billion was invested in the Agriculture business, e.g. to 
renew the vehicle fleet and to expand it so that to cover the increased 
land bank needs. Part of the investment was spent on digitisation and 
automation in order to improve field management efficiency. In 2019, 
the Company will proceed with digital transformation and 
will stick to a crop-growing division track.

RESULTS OF THE AGRICULTURE BUSINESS IN 2018

582 ths hectares 
of arable land

4.9 million tonnes 
of gross yield,

incl.:

3.5 million 
tonnes of sugar beet

3.5 million 
tonnes of sugar beet

1.1 million 
tonnes of grain crops 

0.8 million 
tonnes of grain crops 

0.3 million 
tonnes of oilseeds

0.1 million 
tonnes of oilseeds

4.4 million tonnes 
of sales,

incl.:

3% 1% 

1% 12% 

8% 23% 

47% 43% 

16% 

No.3  

largest landowner 
in Russia

6 
regions of presence

4.4 ths

average annual 
headcount

11% 69% 
65 times 
growth

Dmitriy Garnov, 
Head of the Agriculture 
business

Company’s Business

AGRICULTURE SEGMENT HIGHLIGHTS

1% 
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RUSSIAN Market Overview

DOMESTIC PRODUCTION PRICES

Gross yield of crops in Russia in 2014-2018, 
million tonnes

Prices for crops in 2014-2018, RUB thousand 
per tonne, excl. of VAT

Domestic prices

Global pricesArea under crops in Russia in 2014-2018, million ha

Crop yield per unit in Russia in 2014-2018, tonne/ha

For the Russian crop production industry, 2017 was a record high in 

a gross yield of grain crops and their exports. Thus, wheat and barley 

yield in Russia and their exports in 2017 exceeded the average for 

2014-2016 by 28% and 38%, respectively. The reason behind this is 

an expansion of cropped lands and an enhancement of crop yield per 

hectare, most notably due to favourable weather conditions. Such 

high results did not occur again, and in 2018 the Russian market was 

influenced by a reduction in the yield of grain crops.

According to the Ministry of Agriculture’s estimates, in 2018, the grain 

and pulse crop yield reduced by 16% and amounted to 100 million 

tonnes in weight after processing. Wheat showed the strongest 

decline in absolute terms, from 86 million tonnes to 72 million tonnes 

(-16%). Barley and maize yields also decreased and reached 17 million 

(-18%) and 11 million tonnes (-15%), respectively. Sugar beet yield fell 

by 14% and reached 41 million tonnes. 

Meanwhile, oilseed yield touched a 5-year record high. By the end 

of the year, 13 million tonnes of sunflower seeds, up 20% year-on-

year, and 4 million tonnes of soybeans (up 9% year-on-year) were 

harvested. In addition to the increase in yields, the arable land grew 

4% due to higher profitability of oilseeds as compared to wheat.   

In 2018, there was a slight shrinkage (-1%) in the total cropped area 

in Russia to 50.3 million hectares. This reduction was mainly due to 

a decreased sowing of two crops – wheat (down 0.6 million hectares) 

and maize (down 0.5 million hectares), which was partially offset 

by an expansion of areas under barley (up 0.3 million hectares) and 

oilseeds (up 0.5 million hectares). Such behaviour is attributable to 

the tendency to use the areas under wheat for more profitable crops, 

such as soybean, sunflower, and barley.   

The total crop yield was also influenced by a lower yield per hectare 

of wheat and barley. Adverse weather conditions, including during 

the harvest period, resulted in the low quality of grain and yield per 

hectare of wheat and barley decreased by 14% to 2.6 tonnes/ha 

and by 20% to 2.0 tonnes/ha, respectively.The yield per hectare 

of sugar beet dropped by 7% and amounted to 38 tonnes/ha, 

while the yield of late crops rose. The yield per hectare of sunflower 

grew 28%, and the yield per hectare of maize increased by 12% 

to 4.5 tonnes/ha. 

In 2017, on the back of bumper harvests in Russia and globally, 

average annual prices for grains and oilseeds fell by 19-20% 

year-on-year. Besides, prices for wheat and sunflower have been 

on a downward track for two consecutive years now, and in 2016 

they also demonstrated a decrease. Domestically, higher falling 

rates were recorded in the southern regions, which is associated 

with the competition of suppliers for export at port areas. Closer 

to the start of the 2018/2019 season, when the information about 

the reduced crop yields in Russia came out, prices began to spiral 

upward. Thus, the price of fodder barley in July was almost equal 

to the price of food-grade wheat. 

News about the fall in crop yield led to a rise in domestic prices. 

On the back of exporters’ concerns that export duties on grain 

exports from Russia could be introduced from 1 January 2019, 

grain exports rates were on the upward trend during the first half of 

the season till December 2018. This led to a slump in a balance of 

grain remaining in Russia and to a rise in prices early in 2019. Thus, 

the average annual price of grain crops in the domestic market 

rose by 25% and reached RUB 9.6 thousand per tonne, exclusive 

of VAT; notably, prices of barley went up to RUB 9.7 thousand 

per tonne, exclusive of VAT (+34 %), and prices of wheat – up to 

RUB 9.8 thousand per tonne, exclusive of VAT (+23%). Prices for 

oilseeds were also on an upward track. In 2018, they increased 

by 17% to 23.9 thousand tonnes; notably, prices for sunflower 

increased to RUB 22.1 thousand per tonne (+27%), exclusive of 

VAT, and prices for soybeans – to RUB 25.7 thousand per tonne 

(+10%), exclusive of VAT.

The global market in 2018 posted the strongest growth in prices for 

wheat and barley, up 55% and up 30% year-on-year, respectively, 

Average annual prices for wheat, based on the Chicago Stock 

Exchange, amounted to RUB 11.4 thousand per tonne, exclusive 

of VAT, and prices for barley, according to FOB France, rose to 

RUB 13.3 thousand per tonne, exclusive of VAT. Global prices for 

soybean and sunflower rose 5% and 8%, respectively. 

Source: The Russian Ministry of Agriculture 

Source: APK-Inform 

Source: The Russian Ministry of Agriculture 

Source: The Russian Ministry of Agriculture 
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In 2018, prices for key crops 
have increased

 from 10% to 34% 
depending on the crop
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EXPORTS AND IMPORTS OUTLOOK FOR 2019

KEY PLAYERS

Russian imports and exports in 2014-2018, 
million tonnes

Largest farmland owners in Russia in 2018, thousand ha

Key destinations of Russian grain crop exports 
in 2014-2018, million tonnes

Over the past five years, the export sales of agricultural crops from 

Russia have increased by 45%: grain and oilseeds supplies have 

increased by 14 million tonnes and 0.5 million tonnes, respectively. 

In 2018, total exports amounted to 46.0 million tonnes, up 6% 

year-on-year. Wheat continues to hold the largest share of 

exports – in the reporting period, it accounted for 80% of deliveries. 

Another 18% fall to barley and maize, and 2% – to soybeans. 

Despite the lower gross yield in 2018, 36.7 million tonnes of wheat 

were exported, up 11% year-on-year. Amid the depreciation of 

the rouble, Russian wheat has become particularly appealing 

to the world market. Soybean supplies increased by 77% to 

0.8 million tonnes and eventually pushed up oilseed sales.

For the last five years, Egypt and Turkey have been the largest 

importers of Russian grains, since these countries have a high 

volume of mutual trade, given the logistical advantages of their 

close geographic proximity. In 2018, Egypt and Turkey continued to 

be the major export destinations. Grain supplies to these countries 

totalled 13.3 million tonnes. North Africa was also opened for 

imports from Russian. Meanwhile, oilseeds were mainly exported 

to China and Iran.

The only bulk crop, in which Russia is a net importer, is a a soybean. 

In Russia, until rather recent times, there was no culture of 

soybean cultivation, namely, there were no seeds, no technology, 

no knowledge, and no equipment. As meat production increased, 

the demand in soybean as an excellent source of protein grew 

exponentially. In 2018, 2.8 million tonnes of soybeans were 

imported, up 28% year-on-year. The Russian major soybeans 

importers are South American countries: Brazil, Argentina, 

Paraguay, and Uruguay. 

Due to the climatic conditions, namely, the lack of dry sunny days, 

the amount of whole wheat produced in Russia cannot cover 

the domestic needs. Russia imports high-protein food-grade 

wheat and exports softer wheat of lower grades and fodder wheat. 

Kazakhstan tops the rating of countries supplying grain to Russia. 

It mainly supplies third class wheat, with about one-tenth of such 

wheat produced in Russia. Russia imports seeds from the European 

Union countries. 

In general, the climate situation in Russia is assessed as favourable 

for the further development of crop growing. Global warming, 

which has already led to a decrease in the number of low-

temperature winters and a longer growing season, allows for 

a gradual increase in the cropped areas.   

According to the projections of the Ministry of Agriculture of 

Russia for 2019, production will touch the level of 2016 due to 

a few per cent growth in the area under crops and improvement 

in yield indicators. So, the gross yield of grain is expected to reach 

103 million tonnes (+3% against 2018), whereas wheat yield is 

expected to decrease by 2% to 71 million tonnes. This is attributed 

to the ongoing trend in cutting areas under wheat to replace it with 

higher yield crops, such as barley, soybean, and sunflower.    

The export potential in a new season may reach 47 million 

tonnes of grain, with 40 million tonnes coming to wheat. Due 

to the up-scaling of production in 2019, prices in the domestic 

market are expected to be under pressure. For individual crop 

cultures, global prices can sustain this trend. Although feed 

maize consumption by the European Union countries grows, 

overproduction of maize in 2018 will hold back a rise of prices 

in 2019. There is a potential for growth in soybean prices. The major 

drivers behind such growth are a decrease in soybean production 

forecasts for the United States, the full-scale operation of biofuel 

plants, the settlement of the situation with China, and increased 

soybean imports. 

According to BEFL, as of May 2018, ten largest market players 

operate the land bank with an area of 5.0 million hectares. Even 

after having cut its land back by 10 thousand hectares, Prodimex 

still remains the largest landowner; its land back is estimated at 

790 thousand hectares. Miratorg runs second: its land back grew 

by 5% to 676 thousand hectares. Rusagro again ranked third with 

a land bank of 652 thousand hectares1. 

Source: Federal Customs Service of Russia

Source: BEFL, May 2018

Source: Federal Customs Service of Russia
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Orel Region
Kursk Region
Voronezh Region

Belgorod Region
Tambov Region
Primorye Territory

Rusagro’s land bank area in 2014-2018, thousand ha

Land holdings by region in 2018, %

Legal structure of Rusagro’s land bank in 2014-2018, %

Between 2014 and 2018, Rusagro’s land bank grew 31% from 

495 thousand hectares. The major driver of such strong growth 

was the Company’s entry to a new region – the Primorye Territory, 

where during three years, 92 thousand hectares of land, including 

79 thousand hectares of arable land, were brought under control. 

Another significant factor was the deal with Razgulay in 2016 

resulted in the transfer of lands in the Kursk and Orel Regions, 

with a total area of 70 thousand hectares of arable land, and 

in the Belgorod Region, with an area of 18 thousand hectares, under 

Rosagro’s management.

In 2018, the Company’s total land area decreased by 3% year-

on-year and reached 652 thousand hectares. This was due to 

the disposal of 38 thousand hectares of land unfit for cultivation, 

including pasture fields. Meanwhile, the area of arable land 

increased by 3% and amounted to 582 thousand hectares.

The majority of Rusagro’s agricultural lands are located in the Central 

Black Earth Region of Russia with its highly fertile chernozem black 

soils. The largest arable land holdings are located in the Belgorod 

and Tambov Regions – 267 thousand hectares and 154 thousand 

hectares, respectively. In 2018, the Tambov Region experienced 

the bulk of the growth: its arable land increased by 15 thousand 

hectares, up 11%. This was attributable to the acquisition of 

LLC Vozrozhdenie that owned 11 thousand hectares.

At the end of 2018, more than half (51%) of the entire land bank 

was owned by Rusagro as compared to 39% in 2014. Another 42% 

of land has a long-term lease.

All lands controlled are located in close proximity to the Company’s 

processing plants, which ensures the self-sufficiency of the sugar 

and compound feed plants, the soybean processing plant, and 

the elevators. One hundred per cent of the cultivated sugar beet 

goes to Rusagro’s plants; part of the grain is used as raw materials 

to produce compound feed at the pig farms, and the soybean is 

processed at the plant in the Primorye Territory. With own four 

elevators, the Company can have grains conditioned and stored 

throughout the year. In 2018, the aggregate storage capacity, 

including five grain-storage sites, totalled 875 thousand tonnes. 

As of end-2018, the Agriculture business’s fleet included 

1.5 thousand self-propelled agricultural machines and over 

3.8 thousand items of pull-type equipment. 

Source: Rusagro

Source: Rusagro

Source: Rusagro
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In addition to the designated projects, the following 

projects were completed in 2018: optimising and 

automating the payroll system of tractor drivers; integrating 

the processes of conveying of sugar beets from the fields 

and their acceptance at sugar beet plants with due account 

to quality indicators; transferring the business accounting 

function into a common service centre; managing quality, 

acceptance, processing, storage, and marketing of finished 

products; managing the equipment maintenance and repair, 

and personnel managing.  

Apart from the information technology projects, 

the Company proceeded with a project for the selection 

of sugar beet hybrids. The project was started in 2017 and 

includes forming initial collections of parental lines, creating 

a database of genotypes, and developing the breeding 

programmes for SoyuzSemSvekla plant breeding centre. 

The fundamental outcome of 2018 for the Agriculture business in terms of IT was 
the preparation and protection of the Digital Transformation Strategy until 2022. 
The  Strategy included 15 projects related to the digitisation of such aspects 
of  the  business as:
• automated quality control of fieldwork; 

• automated end-to-end monitoring of goods and materials; 

• end-to-end tracking of finished products; 

• automatic detection of zones with the differentiated application of plant 

protection products and fertilisers; 

• balancing and optimisation of in-house agricultural vehicles and rented transport; 

• yield forecasting and selection of optimal field-wise rotations of crops, etc.

In addition, in 2018, more than 10 IT projects were delivered, three of which lay 

the groundwork for transformation and are the basis for the implementation 

of the Digital Strategy:

1. Targeted planning the production technology. Algorithms for simulation 

and automated selection of the optimal crop rotation for each field have been 

implemented. The system optimises the process of digging and piling, plans 

crop rotation for the season with relevant algorithms and rules observed, and 

also calculates potential yield. All data on observations and measurements are 

taken into account by the system using the Agronomist’s mobile application. 

For classification of the fields, the digital agro-management system is used, 

which can visualise information on each field on an electronic map with 

the necessary indicators displayed. Production planning for the 2019 season 

will be completely made in this system.

2. Managing and dispatching the production. For 100% of fieldwork, 

the automatic monitoring is carried out no later than the next day to check 

for the area and boundaries of farmed land, the speed of the technological 

operation, the working standards, consumption of goods and materials, 

including petroleum, oil, and lubricants, as well as violations of the business 

process of operational planning and dispatching of fieldwork. The scope 

of work performed and the fuel consumed is confirmed automatically 

in SAP ERP, with reports generated on the scope of work performed and 

service hours of each piece of equipment. Thus, we managed to establish 

a complete quantitative accounting and control over technological operations 

in the actually cultivated land boundaries, based on objective data from 

telemetry sensors installed on the farming machinery.

3. Managing and dispatching the logistics. A system has been developed that 

takes into account the movement of all expensive goods and materials at each 

stage of the responsibility transfer from a warehouse to a field using bar-code 

terminals with such transfers being recorded in SAP ERP. Implementation 

of the system should be realised in the coming years.

INFORMATION 
TECHNOLOGIES 
AND INNOVATIONS  

INVESTMENTS

Investments in 2014-2018, RUB billion During 2014-2018, the Company invested RUB 18.0 billion into 

the maintenance and development of the Agriculture segment 

assets. In 2018, the total investments amounted to RUB 2.0 billion, 

showing a 69% year-on-year decline. The bulk of the funds was 

spent to renew the fleet of vehicles and to provide technical 

facilities for new fields. Another important project was the digital 

transformation of the Agriculture sector: the digitalisation of 

production management processes, the introduction of software 

tools for simulation and planning optimisation, operational 

management, accounting and controlling the material and financial 

resources to avoid losses and misuse of the Company’s resources.

In 2019-2022, Rusagro plans to invest in expansion of the elevator 

capacities in the Tambov, Orel, and Kursk Regions. A total storage 

capacity of 500 thousand tonnes will be created and it will shrink 

the share of third-party storage, reduce the grain conditioning and 

storage costs, while the increased seed preparation quality will 

contribute to a higher yield. 

Source: Rusagro
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SALES

PRICES

Rusagro’s sales in 2014-2018, thousand tonnes

Sales price of Rusagro’s products in 2014–2018, 
RUB thousand per tonne, excl. of VAT

In 2018, sales of the Company’s Agriculture business sank by 15% 

to 4,404 thousand tonnes year-on-year. Sales of all crops declined, 

except for barley and maize; their sales remained at the same level. 

By the end of the year, 3,489 thousand tonnes (-12%) of sugar beet, 

771 thousand tonnes (-23%) of grain, and 144 thousand tonnes 

(-43%) of oilseeds were sold. 

Falling-off in sales was mainly driven by the increased carry-over 

balance of grains and oilseeds in 2019. At the end of the year, they 

amounted to 673 thousand tonnes. The bulk of grains and oilseeds 

(79% and 66%, respectively) was sold to companies outside 

the Rusagro’s coverage area. 

In 2018, the Company’s agricultural exports reached 203 thousand 

tonnes. The largest exports, 87 thousand tonnes of grain, were 

made to Japan. Besides, 31 thousand tonnes were sold to Lithuania, 

30 thousand tonnes – to Saudi Arabia, and 27 thousand tonnes – in 

each of Yemen and Tunisia. 

In 2018, all agricultural products went up in their selling price. Grain 

crops grew by 46% up to RUB 9.2 thousand per tonne, exclusive 

of VAT, oilseeds – by 10% to RUB 20.2 thousand per tonne, 

exclusive of VAT, and sugar beet – by 39% up to RUB 2.5 thousand 

per tonne, exclusive of VAT. Prices for wheat showed a surge 

of 46% to RUB 8.9 thousand per tonne, exclusive of VAT, and 

prices for barley – a surge of 56% to RUB 9.7 thousand per tonne, 

exclusive of VAT. 

Source: Rusagro

Source: Rusagro
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RUSAGRO 2018 results

PRODUCTION

Rusagro’s gross harvest in 2014-2018, million tonnes

Average yield in 2014-2018, tonnes per ha

In 2018, the Company harvested 4,886 thousand tonnes, including 

3,489 thousand tonnes of sugar beet (-1%), 1,062 thousand tonnes 

of grains (+8%), and 329 thousand tonnes of oil crops (-47%). As 

a result of the change in the crop structure and the reduced early 

crop yield, the harvested amount dropped 1% year-on-year.

Winter and spring wheat, barley, sugar beet, and soybean 

accounted for around 78% of Rusagro’s arable lands 

in 2018. In 2018, the area under grain crops increased by 3% 

to 252 thousand hectares, and the area under oilseeds increased 

by 10% to 166 thousand hectares. For example, the Company 

extended its wheat plantings by 19 thousand hectares, which was 

driven the introduction of spring wheat into the crop rotation with 

the relevant reduction of barley crops, since the former crops are 

proved to be more resistant to weather conditions and, thus, more 

profitable. Meanwhile, sugar beet plantings were reduced by 4% 

as a decision was taken to abandon unprofitable and distant sugar 

beet fields. 

In 2018, the average yield of grain crops dropped 10% 

to 4.2 tonnes/ha. In particular, wheat and barley yielded 

4.0 tonnes/ha (-18%) and 3.5 tonnes/ha (-13%), while corn yield 

was up 32% and reached 6.7 tonnes/ha. Against a record yield 

of early grain in the previous year, 2018 was marked with a lower 

grain yield due to the poor weather conditions during the harvesting 

season. However, 2018 turned out to be favourable for late 

crops, such as soybeans, sunflowers, maize, and sugar beets. 

So the yield of oilseeds increased by 31% to 1.9 tonnes/ha. The yield 

of sunflower increased by 36% to 2.6 tonnes/ha, soybeans – by 

30% to 1.8 tonnes/ha, and sugar beet – by 3% to 39.1 tonnes/ha. 

The Company’s results are still above the average across all crops 

in Russia. For example, sugar beet yields are 4% higher, wheat 

and barley – 53% and 73% higher, respectively, and soybean and 

sunflower– 19% and 96% higher, respectively. 

Source: Rusagro

Source: Rusagro

Source: Rusagro
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OPERATIONAL RESULTS

Crop structure in 2018, %
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

Financial results in 2014-2018, RUB billion On the back of rising prices for all products of the Agriculture 

business, sales revenues in 2018 increased by 11% and amounted 

to RUB 20.8 billion. Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, 

and amortisation (EBITDA) went up 64 times from a record low 

of RUB 76 million to RUB 5.0 billion. EBITDA margin rose from 0% 

to 24%. 

Source: Rusagro
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Plans for 2019 
In 2019, there are no projections for a significant increase 

in the land bank of the Agriculture business, but there are 

expectations for a sustained increase in yields per hectare through 

the consistent improvement of production and management 

processes. Further automation and digitalisation, including 

the field-wise management of the land bank, will be very 

contributing to this trend and will make the Company a leader 

in the use of precision farming technologies both in Russia and 

across the globe. Along with the production ramp-up, the Company 

intends to expand its storage capacity to reduce the need for 

third-party storage. Sales volumes may also increase due to high 

carry-over balances. 
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NEW BUSINESS
DIVISION LAUNCH
TO SEIZE 
OPPORTUNITIES 
IN HIGH-POTENTIAL 
MARKET
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• Launch of Dairy products business 
segment to enter high margin 
segments with an export potential

• Acquisition of the debt of milk 
processor in the Samara Region 
with capacity of 300 tonnes of milk 
per day focused on cheese, spread, 
whey, and nondairy products

GROWTH DRIVERS
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854 RUB million 
of revenues

2% 
share of the cheese 
and sheese products 
produced in Russia

59 RUB million 
of EBITDA

4.2 ths tonnes 
of dry mixes sold

7% 
of EBITDA margin

In 2018, the commercial milk production in Russia increased 
to 22.1 million tonnes (+3% year-on-year) leading to the dairy 
products output growth. Higher prices and reduced household 
disposable incomes caused a structural shift with consumer 
switching to traditional fermented milk products and 
cheeses. The production volumes of these products grew the most. 
In 2018, their output amounted to 11.7 million tonnes (+1%) in milk 
equivalent and 666 thousand tonnes (+3%), respectively. Over 
the past five years, the cheese market has grown by 33% 
and will continue to grow according to MilkNews AC forecast, 
while the major player now holds not more than 5% of the market.

In 2018, Rusagro resolved to launch its fifth business 
– Dairy products. The Company was particularly attracted by 
the cheese market owing to its scope and low consolidation level, as 
well as its growth potential due to successive import substitution and 
exports to Asia. In the autumn, the Company acquired the debt of 
JSC ALEV, the regional leading manufacturer of cheese and butter in 
the Samara and Ulyanovsk Regions with own brands and trademarks.

In September-December 2018, Rusagro sold 4.2 thousand 
tonnes of industrial dry mixes from whey powder, 
1.6 thousand tonnes of cheese and cheese products, 
and 0.7 thousand tonnes of butter and spread. The Dairy 
products business’s revenues and EBITDA amounted 
to RUB 854 million and RUB 59 million, respectively.

In 2019, the first Growth Strategy for a new business will be developed. 
Under this Document, a plan to capture the market and make 
the top three will be drawn up. The current capacity of the plant 
is 9 thousand tonnes/year of cheese and cheese products that ranks 
Rusagro No.13 among the largest players in the Russian market.

DAIRY PRODUCTS BUSINESS RESULTS IN 2018

300 ths tonnes/
day – milk processing 
capacity

9 ths tonnes/year – 
production capacity 
of cheese and cheese 
products

14.2 ths 
tonnes/year – dry mixes 
production capacity

1.6 ths tonnes 
of cheese and cheese 
products sold

No.13  

cheese producer 
in Russia

0.7 ths tonnes 
of butter and spread sold

Stanislav Shalamkov, 
Head of the Dairy products 
business

Company’s Business

DAIRY PRODUCTS SEGMENT HIGHLIGHTS



9998

RUSAGRO  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2018 4-13

14-31

32-107

108-125

126-153

154-239

ABOUT RUSAGRO GROUP

STRATEGIC REPORT

COMPANY’S BUSINESS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Russian market overview

DOMESTIC PRODUCTION

Milk production in Russia in 2014-2018, 
million tonnes

Dairy products production in Russia in 2014-2018, 
thousand tonnes

Raw milk production by Russian regions in 2018F, %

Cheese production in Russia in 2014-2018, 
thousand tonnes

Over the past five years, the cow stock in Russia have been gradually 

trending downwards and in 2018, reached 7.9 million heads, with 

annual growth in market milk output. According to projections 

of MilkNews Analytical Centre, 22.1 million tonnes of milk were 

produced in 2018, showing a 12% growth against 2014. Milk yield 

went up by 3% year-on-year mainly due to higher production 

at agricultural enterprises (+4%). Moreover, milk marketability 

reached 72%, + 6 p.p. above the 2014 level. Sustainable growth 

in Russian milk production is driven by a slowdown in imports and 

higher demand by milk processing plants. The intensification and 

modernisation of the dairy industry, the use of high-productive 

breeds, the introduction of up-to-date technologies of livestock 

management, feeding and reproduction spurred the progressive 

increase of milk yield per one head, which grew by 2% up to 

3.9 thousand tonnes of milk between 2014 and 2018.

Regional milk production structure is stable. In 2018, the Volga 

Federal District and the Central Federal District accounted for 50% 

of the total milk yield in Russia, 9.5 million and 5.8 million tonnes, 

respectively. The Far Eastern Federal District showed the lowest 

milk production results in 2018, just 1 million tonnes of milk. 

The bulk of milk in Russia is used to make whole-milk products, 

butter, and cheeses. So, in 2018, whole-milk production in milk 

equivalent totalled 11.7 million tonnes, a 2% increase over 2014-

2018 and a 1% growth year-on-year. In 2018, in absolute terms, 

this category showed a maximum jump, in absolute value, of 

75 thousand tonnes year-on-year. This was driven by a decline 

in purchasing power of household incomes and switching over to 

cheaper dairy products. In this case, demand for fermented milk 

products slows, while that for drinking milk and cream goes up. 

In 2014-2018, cheese and cheese products1 turned out to be 

the fastest growing category, providing a 33% increase to 

670 thousand tonnes of products in 2018. The growth is explained 

by the introduction of embargo in 2014, which led to gradual  

growth of domestic production. Within that period, ice-cream 

production also grew strongly by 30% to 440 thousand tonnes 

in 2018. Over the past five years, the production of margarine and 

spreads fluctuated, but kept the third place in the output. Recently, 

the demand for this category started to slow down again; in 2018, 

the output declined by 9% to 0.63 million tonnes. 

In 2018, semi-hard cheeses and cheese products accounted for 

62% of the total cheese production in Russia. The third most 

popular cheese with a 16% share is fat processed cheese. Over 

the past five years, the profile of cheese production has changed 

towards an increase in semi-hard cheeses (from 20% to 33%) 

and a reduction in the share of hard cheeses (from 21% to 9%). 

In 2014, the consumption rate of hard cheeses was at the level 

of processed cheeses, whereas in 2018, their output halved, and 

their share shrank from 21% to 9%. Meantime, from 2014 to 

2018, the production of semi-hard cheeses jumped by 128% and 

reached 220 thousand tonnes. Moreover, by 2018, the annual 

production of cheese products has grown by 64% to 190 thousand 

tonnes. 2017 was marked by a year-on-year upward trend similar 

to that of the five-year period discussed. In 2018, MilkNews 

Analytical Centre expects a 3% year-on-year growth in cheese 

production. The dynamics prevailing in the Russian market was 

driven by an upswing of demand for low-cost cheeses amid 

household disposable incomes suffering a squeeze. Low demand 

for expensive products, long production terms, and high retail 

prices are responsible for shifting the production structure towards 

cheaper products.

In 2018, MilkNews Analytical Centre predicts a 1% decline in milk 

and dairy products consumption to 230 kg per capita in milk 

equivalent. Consumption has been continuously reducing over 

the last five years (-4%). This trend is associated with the reduction 

of actual household disposable incomes and their purchasing 

power and the ongoing growth in prices of most dairy product 

categories. The demand is being refocused from expensive milk-

demanding products to cheaper ones, specifically those with 

vegetable fats. Lower consumption of spreads and margarine 

(-10%) in 2018 is related to consumer switching to cheese products.

Roughly estimated results of 2018 show that Russia’s self-

sufficiency in milk and dairy products fall within the range from 

76% to 83%, depending on estimation approaches. That is below 

the approved 90% threshold value. However, the steady growth of 

market milk production in recent years contributes to a consistent 

enhancement of the self-sufficiency. Self-sufficiency of the Volga 

Federal District is at the country’s average of 83%, while that 

of the Far Eastern Federal District is at 38%. 

Source: MilkNews Analytical Centre as per data from the Federal State Statistics Service, 

National Union of Milk Producers

Source: MilkNews Analytical Centre as per data from the Federal State Statistics Service, 

National Union of Milk Producers

Source: MilkNews Analytical Centre as per data from the Federal State Statistics Service, 

National Union of Milk Producers

Source: MilkNews Analytical Centre as per data from the Federal State Statistics Service, 

National Union of Milk Producers
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6
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14 19

6 3
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1 Cheese products are the cheese produced with the use of vegetable fats.
2 Data for 2014-2017 given in line with Decree No.632 of the President 

of the Russian Federation dated 03.11.2018.
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KEY PLAYERS

EXPORTS AND IMPORTS

TOP-10 largest companies by cheese production 
in 2018, %

Imports of milk and dairy products in Russia 
in 2014-2018, thousand tonnes

Exports of milk and dairy products in Russia 
in 2014-2018, thousand tonnes

Danone Group is the leader of the milk processing with a daily 

capacity of 1.6 million tonnes of milk. Wimm-Bill-Dann (PepsiCo) 

runs second, with a daily capacity of 1.4 million tonnes of milk, 

followed by Molvest (0.5 million tonnes), Milcom (0.4 million 

tonnes), and Dominant (0.3 million tonnes). Top-10 players on 

the cheese and cheese products market, excluding cream and 

processed cheese, account for 39% share in production in Russia. 

The leading cheese producers in Russia are Dominant and Savushkin 

Product, sharing the first place with an annual production capacity 

of 25 thousand tonnes of products and a 5% share. With a capacity 

of 9 thousand tonnes, Rusagro hold the 13th place among largest 

cheese and cheese products producers in Russia with a 2% share. 

In 2018, Russia’s exports of dairy products may slightly grow 

year-on-year to 0.7 million tonnes in milk equivalent. Over the past 

five years, exports of margarine and spreads, as well as of cheese 

products, vastly increased by 31 thousand tonnes (+20%) and 

17 thousand tonnes (+102%), respectively. Thus, 35 thousand tonnes 

of cheese products (+27% year-on-year) and 183 thousand tonnes 

of margarine and spreads were exported in 2018.

Main importers of Russian dairy products are the CIS states, 

accounting for 91% of exports, namely, Kazakhstan (47% of 

all supplies in milk equivalent), Ukraine (14%), Belarus (11%), 

Azerbaijan (4%), and Tajikistan (4%). Minor supplies were made to 

Mongolia, China (1%), Canada, the USA, Sweden, and Senegal. 

For the rapid growth of exports, it is necessary to expand 

the geography and actively open up new markets. To increase exports, 

Russian milk producers can take advantage of projected noticeable 

growth in global demand and imports up to USD 10 billion by 2027. 

Such growth will be contributed by China, African and Southeast 

Asian countries. Russian producers consider China as a strategic 

trading partner, the world’s largest importer of dairy products. 

The competitive advantages of Russian products in the segment – 

convenient logistics and the possibility of quick delivery, high quality 

at a relatively low price – hold a promise of a significant expansion of 

exports. In late 2018, Russia and China declared the approval of a list 

of companies for mutual supplies of dairy products. 

Source: Rusagro’s estimates Source: MilkNews Analytical Centre as per data from the Federal State Statistics Service, 

National Union of Milk Producers

Source: MilkNews Analytical Centre as per data from the Federal State Statistics Service, 

National Union of Milk Producers
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Over 2014-2018, imports of milk and dairy products in milk 

equivalent declined by 31% as a result of 2014 Russian food import 

embargo, when they amounted to 9.2 million tonnes, including 

2.5 million tonnes imported from sanctions countries. According 

to a preliminary forecast of MilkNews Analytical Centre, milk 

and dairy products imports in 2018 (in milk equivalent) will 

approximate 6.4 million tonnes (-11%) and, by the year-end, may 

touch a record low of the last 15 years. Imports of whole-milk 

products (exclusive of fermented milk products and curd) showed 

the most significant drop by 21% and reached 261 thousand 

tonnes. Imports of cheese products were also slumping. In 2018, 

their supplies went down from 152 thousand to 121 thousand 

tonnes, -21% year-on-year, while imports of other cheeses grew 

by 21% and achieved 234 thousand tonnes. The import decline 

was mainly driven by the imposition of temporary restrictions on 

the supply of certain types of dairy products from several Belarus 

enterprises in 2018. Other reasons were a decline in imports from 

far abroad countries due to considerable stocks in Russia and lower 

appeal of imports due to the depreciation of the rouble.

Belarus is the main supplier of dairy product to Russia. In 2018, it 

supplied 82% of the total imports, including 87% of whole-milk 

products, 82% of cheeses, and 68% of cheese products. In 2018, 

supplies from Belarus to Russia went down by 10–15%. In 2018, 

TOP-5 countries, other than Belarus, selling dairy products to 

Russia are Argentina (3%), Uruguay (3%), New Zealand (2%), and 

Kazakhstan (2%). These countries mainly imported dried milk, 

butter, ice-cream, and cheese products to Russia. Turkey was no 

longer on the list, while New Zealand came down from the second 

to the fourth place due to a threefold reduction of butter supplies 

and eightfold reduction of dried whole milk supplies year-on-year. 

On the contrary, imports from Kazakhstan increased by 44% due to 

a threefold increase in exports of butter to Russia, which, however, 

some market experts explain by re-exporting Belarusian products. 
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PRICES

OUTLOOK FOR 2019

Sales prices of market milk and dairy products 
in Russia in 2014-2018, RUB/kg

In 2018, the annual average price of raw milk posted negative 

growth for the first time over the past six years. It declined by 7% to 

RUB 22.9/kg, exclusive of VAT. The fall in purchase prices for raw 

milk was due to an imbalance of supply and demand. On the one 

hand, there is a reduction in consumption and demand for finished 

products, on the other – an increase in commercial production of raw 

milk, which led to the formation of record stocks of dairy products. 

The pricing trend started to slightly recover only with the reduction of 

finished product supplies from Belarus in the second half of the year. 

The average annual producer prices for finished dairy products 

remained above the last year across all categories. Thus, traditional 

dairy products – drinking milk, fermented milk products, without 

sour cream and curd, – and cheeses went up by 1%, sour cream and 

curd – by 2%, and butter – by 4%. 

In 2018, Rusagro launched its fifth business – dairy products. With 
this aim in view, the Company acquired the debt of JSC ALEV in 
the amount of RUB 0.9 billion and leased its production assets, namely, 
the Koshkinsky Butter and Cheese Plant in the Samara Region and 
the Zavolzhsky Dairy Plant in the Ulyanovsk Region. In September-
December 2018, the Company worked with those plants on a give-and-
take basis under tenancy. During 2019, the Company plans to buy out 
a portion of ALEV’s portfolio under the bankruptcy procedure.

ALEV was a local leader enjoying the access to regions with 

a population of 70 million people and having an advantageous 

location in terms of ready access to raw materials at a price lower 

than the Russian average. In 2018, the Volga Federal District is 

the most milk-intensive region of Russia with a milk production 

volume of 9.5 million tonnes per year. 

The design capacity of the Koshkinsky Butter and Cheese Plant is 

300 tonnes of milk per day. The plant is in a reasonable operational 

condition, but it may require minor investments to improve its 

performance. Milk is purchased from farms in the Ulyanovsk and 

Samara Regions, and in Tatarstan. The ratio of price and quality is 

the top priority when choosing a supplier. Milk supplies are distributed 

differentially so that to rule out the single-supplier dependence. 

According to the MilkNews forecasts, in 2019 the growth rates 

of commercial milk production will still be the same due to 

the restoration of the supply and demand balance, the introduction of 

new production plants, and the ongoing intensification of production. 

The finished products market may also go up, depending on the level 

of household disposable incomes and finished product prices. 

Due to rising prices, which are expected as a result of taxation 

changes coming into force on 1 January 2019, and the lack of growth 

in household incomes, the consumption will continue to shift to 

the most affordable dairy categories. According to preliminary 

estimates, in 2019, the production of whole-milk products will still 

be trending upward, primarily due to drinking milk and cream, curd 

and ice cream. Production of cheeses and cheese products will be 

increasing as new facilities are brought to full capacity. Cheeses 

production structure will remain the same with a gradual increase 

in the share of the semi-hard cheeses. Weak demand and high cost 

will not significantly increase the production of butter, margarine, 

and spreads.

Source: MilkNews Analytical Centre as per data from the Federal State Statistics Service, 

National Union of Milk Producers

1 In standard weight.

Focusing on exports will stimulate production growth. Expected 

growth in dairy products exports will be 15% in 2019. Whole-milk 

products, including fermented milk products, ice-cream, cheeses 

and cheese products, dried and condensed milk are the priority 

goods for Russia. In 2019, exports across all these goods are 

projected to rise. A task to boost exports of dairy products, e.g. 

through increased supplies to the China market, has been set under 

the International Cooperation and Exports national project and 

AIC Product Exports federal project. Until 2025, dairy exports may 

grow from USD 0.3 billion to USD 1 billion, and key importers of 

Russian products would be China and Southeast Asian countries. 

In 2019, the tendency to reduce the volume of imports will continue, 

while their territorial structure will not change significantly. 

The imposition of administrative restrictions on dairy imports from 

Belarus will shrink its share in the imports pie by 2-5%, while price 

advantages of suppliers from other countries will help expand their 

footprint in Russia. Their constraints will be the rouble exchange rate 

and the low cost of Russian products. 

Assets

The product line includes cheese and cheese product, butter and 

spreads, cream, dry mixes, and nondairy beverages. The plant specialises 

in the production of rennet cheese and cheese products, with such 

by-products, as butter and cream, and dry mixes based on cheese whey. 

The plant’s products are represented by four brands of different 

price categories: Milie, Koshkinsky syrovar, Koshkinskoe, and 

Normula. Milie trademark products are natural semi-hard cheeses 

and butter of above-average price brackets; they are mainly sold in 

retail networks and represented in the regions of the Central and 

Volga Federal Districts, in the Urals, and in the South of Russia. 

Cheese products are sold under the Koshkinsky syrovar brand 

in the price brackets of an average minus with a price-quality ratio. 

The Koshkinskoe brand offers low-cost milk beverages, an affordable 

alternative to milk, while Normula represents a line of nondairy 

healthy beverages, such as soybean and oat milk. The plant’s 

products are sold in the federal retail chains: Auchan, Metro, 

Thunder, X5, Okay, Lenta, and in 32 local retail chains.

In 2018, at the Zavolzhsky Dairy Plant, the Company produced 

only dry industrial mixes. The production capacity of these mixes 

is 14.2 thousand tonnes per year. These mixes are sold to food 

manufacturers as ingredients for instant food, as dry cream for 

instant coffee, and additives for meat and confectionery products. 

In 2019, in addition to dry industrial mixes, it is planned to produce 

dairy and cereal beverages at the Zavolzhsky Dairy Plant.  

In 2019, once all assets are acquired by auction, the Company plans 

to invest in their modernisation and expansion, where necessary. 

For instance, funds can be used to increase the throughput capacity 

of the milk receiving department up to 330 tonnes per day, to 

improve water treatment systems, and to purchase more advanced 

equipment. The successful transition and the necessary investments 

will ensure the outperformance of production against the reporting 

period results already in 2019.

In 2019, the first seven-year dairy development strategy will be 

developed, with a decision made within this period about further 

expansion of the business. The growth opportunities vary from 

an expansion of the current production sites to the launch of a cluster 

in other regions. Thus, the Company looks upon the Primorye Territory 

as a promising region, where a cluster formed of a milk processing plant 

and dairy farms could satisfy the local shortages and aim at the export 

markets of Asian countries such as China, Japan, and Korea.

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018F

Raw market 
milk1 

19.7 20.7 21.8 24.5 22.9

Drinking milk 32.0 34.1 36.2 37.3 37.5

Fermented 
milk products 

40.4 50.4 54.4 56.3 56.7

Curd 155.9 167.4 181.9 192.0 195.4

Cheeses 
and cheese 
products

197.8 228.4 246.5 277.1 279.1

Butter 217.4 247.7 274.0 312.8 324.6

Margarine 
and spreads

64.0 75.0 78.7 76.6 77.7

Ice-cream 111.8 132.8 146.4 176.0 182.7
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OPERATING RESULTS FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

Rusagro’s dairy production  
(September-December 2018), thousand tonnes

Rusagro’s dairy products sales 
(September-December 2018), thousand tonnes

Rusagro’s dairy products sales prices 
(September-December 2018), RUB/kg, excl. of VAT

In September-December 2018, working on a give-and-take basis 

with the Koshkinsky and Zavolzhsky plants, Rusagro produced 

3.4 thousand tonnes of consumer products and 5.5 thousand 

tonnes of industrial dry mixes and condensed whey. In particular, 

2.5 thousand tonnes of cheese and cheese products, 0.9 thousand 

tonnes of butter and spread were produced. The utilisation rate of 

the butter and cheese plant was 47%, which was due to problems with 

milk purchasing and with the renewal of products sale contracts across 

all sales channels. In December 2018, milk supplies were streamlined, 

and the Company plans to increase the plants’ utilisation rate in 2019.

In September-December 2018, 2.3 thousand tonnes of consumer 

products and 4.4 thousand tonnes of dry mixes and condensed 

whey were sold. In particular, the Company sold 1.6 thousand 

tonnes of cheese and cheese products, 0.7 thousand tonnes of 

butter and spread, and 10 tonnes of nondairy beverages. Products 

have been partially marketed under the Milie and Koshkinsky 

Syrovar brands. Also, the stocks of 0.3 thousand tonnes of milk, 

19 tonnes of curd, and 0.2 thousand tonnes of condensed whey, 

which had been produced during the downtime of the whey 

drying complex, were sold off, and no further production of these 

products is planned.

Almost half of sales in the reporting period in 2018 (44%) was made 

in the Volga Federal District, which is attributable to the location 

of production facilities and the initially strong posture of ALEV 

in the region. The regions of the Central, Northwestern, and Ural 

Federal Districts are also of strategical importance since the major 

share of the Company’s consumers of B2C and B2B sector is localised 

there. Their share in sales is 24%, 14%, and 13%, respectively. 

Due to the difficulties related to listing in retail networks, in 2018, 

only 15% of cheese products and 3% of oil and fat products were 

sold via this sales channel, and 85% and 97%, respectively, were 

sold to distributors and wholesale customers.

The selling prices in September-December 2018 corresponded 

to the average prices in the region of sales. In 2019, the average 

selling price of products may increase as a result of a change in 

the product mix towards an increase in the share of packaged 

products, an improvement in the product quality level and 

consistency, brand promotion, and development of relationships 

with retail networks. 

In September-December 2018, the revenues of the Dairy Business 

approximated RUB 0.9 billion, EBITDA amounted to RUB 59 million 

with an EBITDA margin of 7%. 

Over the course of five months of 2018, the total financial performance 

targets were achieved through sales of dry mixes. Profit on sales of 

cheese, butter, and vegetable butter, including spreads, failed to reach 

the target. Due to the disreputation of ALEV among buyers, namely, 

federal retail networks, Rusagro failed to renegotiate contracts and 

enter the retail networks’ listing in a short time. Another barrier in 

achieving the targeted sales of packaged products was an extremely 

competitive market, also spurred by the entry of new players into 

the market of branded products. 

In 2019, the Company plans to resolve the difficulties with listing 

in the retail networks and make its way to stable production. 

This will be facilitated through the modernisation of the plant 

and by building relations with milk suppliers – in 2018, some 

of the suppliers refused to cooperate due to ALEV’s outstanding 

debts. The long-term goal of the Business is to increase EBITDA to 

RUB 4 billion and EBITDA margin – up to 12% within seven years.

Source: Rusagro

Source: Rusagro

Source: Rusagro
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Rusagro 2018 results

In September 2018, Rusagro 
launched its fifth business devision with 
a focus on the dairy products market.  

The Company aims at becoming

top-3 player 
on the Russian cheese market and 
a leading exporter to Asia in the future

854 RUB min  

Revenues

59 RUB min  

EBITDA

7%  

EBITDA margin, %
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Plans for 2019

In 2019, Rusagro will prepare its first strategy for the development of the Dairy business. 

The goal of the Dairy business will be to gain a leading position in the market of the most 

promising dairy products in Russia and across the globe. This will require to increase 

the design capacity of the Koshkinsky Butter and Cheese Plant and continue with 

developing the distribution networks.  

The Company reckons cheese, high-fat products, such as butter, margarine and spreads, as 

well as nondairy beverages and dry whey-based mixes, among the promising products. So, 

the domestic consumption of cheese and cheese products has been gradually recovering after 

its embargo-driven fall in 2014. From 2014 to 2018, it grew 14% to 1 million tonnes but has not 

yet reached the 2013 level. The Company will strive to become one of the top three leaders 

in this category. To this end, Rusagro plans to produce cheese of all important consumer 

segments, to invest in the development of brands and responsible consumption of cheese.

Although the consumption of butter, margarine, and spreads has dropped by 12% over 

the past five years, the Company believes this market trend will change and intends to take 

a leading position here within the next seven years. So, on the back of changes in legislation 

in 2019, the vegetable butter category will disappear from the market. As a result, 

the consumption pattern will change due to the absence of the vegetable butter category; 

the buyers will mostly switch to regular butter, but the attitude towards spreads will remain 

cautious. Further, in 2020, under the influence of two factors – falling incomes and the entry 

of players with new concepts of spreads – it is quite likely that consumption of spreads 

will grow. The consumption of butter will be pushed down by the pricing factors, healthy 

lifestyle popularity, and changes in taste preferences.

In recent years, the market of herbal beverages has been booming, spurred by increasing 

popularity of a healthy lifestyle and veganism, the extension of allergy and lactose 

intolerance among the population, and greater concern for environmental issues. 

Possessing technological capabilities in the production of herbal beverages, as early as 

2019, the Company may become No.2 player in the vegetable-based beverage category in 

Russia. It is planned to sell nondairy drinks under the Normula brand. Aseptic production 

technology and long shelf life do not limit the geography of sales but help in approaching 

the export markets.

The current capacities and experience in the dry mixes production enable the Company to 

take a place among the leaders in the dry cream and whey & fat concentrates segments of 

the B2B market. The entry into the animal feed market and investments in cheese whey deep 

processing practice may turn into an important trend in the development of dry mixes. 
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Rusagro strongly believes that quality of corporate governance system is an essential factor 

influencing the investment appeal, the trust of the investment community and business 

reputation, and seeks to improve and develop its corporate governance system. 

The public status of the Company requires high standards of corporate governance. 

The global depositary receipts (GDRs) issued for the Company’s shares are listed on 

London and Moscow stock exchanges.

The Company’s fundamental documents on corporate governance are as follows:

• The Company’s Articles of Association;

• The Company’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics;

• The Company’s Code of Conduct for the Prevention of Insider Trading;

• The Company’s Regulation on the Board of Directors;

• The Regulation on the Audit Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors.

CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT AND ETHICS 
Amended text of the Company’s 2014 Code of Business Conduct and Ethics was approved 

in 2017. It includes the following guidelines:

• Basic rules, principles, and values governing the Company’s activities;

• Standards of business and social conduct;

• Ethical standards for internal and external corporate relations;

• Principles of social responsibility to employees, shareholders, business partners, 

the state, and society.

The Code builds upon generally accepted rules of corporate ethics and business conduct, 

international laws and documents that define best practices in corporate governance. It is 

a valuable instrument for creating a strong corporate culture and a well-defined system of 

corporate values that determine and shape the Company’s reputation, its competitiveness, 

and effectiveness.

Compliance with the Code is mandatory for all the subsidiaries and the companies that 

are part of the Group. The provisions of the Code apply to the members of the Board of 

Directors, senior executives, and other employees of the Company. 

In addition to the Code, all employees must observe the relevant international anti-

corruption acts, in particular:

• The UK Bribery Act;

• The US Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA);

• The Company’s anti-corruption regulations and other current anti-bribery laws that are 

applicable to the Company or its employees. 

RUSAGRO GROUP HAS BEEN COMMITTED TO 

UPHOLDING THE RUSSIAN AND INTERNATIONAL 

STANDARDS AND BEST PRACTICES IN 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE. AN EFFECTIVE 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE SYSTEM OF 

THE COMPANY IS THE KEY TO THE LONG-TERM 

STABILITY OF THE BUSINESS AND THE INCREASE 

OF SHAREHOLDER VALUE. 
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CODE OF CONDUCT FOR THE PREVENTION OF INSIDER TRADING
As a public company, Rusagro has extensive responsibilities on establishing and observing 

a special procedure for the disclosure of information that can materially affect the price 

of the Company’s securities.

In 2011, the Company adopted a Code of Conduct for the Prevention of Insider Trading that 

applies to all its employees and members of the Board of Directors.

The Company uses the relevant global best practices to ensure equal access of all securities 

market participants to sensitive information while striving to prevent unlawful use of insider 

information. 

In addition to understanding and observing the Company Code of Conduct for 

the Prevention of Insider Trading, the employees must observe international acts on the use 

and disclosure of insider information, in particular: 

• The Cyprus 2016 Market Abuse Law;

• The UK 2000 Financial Services and Markets Act (FSMA);

• The Disclosure and Transparency Rules (DTR) of the UK Financial Services Authority;

• The UK 1993 Criminal Justice Act and other applicable laws and (or) the rules 

of the regulatory authorities.

GOVERNANCE AND CONTROL SYSTEM
In accordance with the Articles of Association, the Company’s corporate governance 

system includes as follows:

• The General Shareholder Meeting;

• The Board of Directors;

• The Audit Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors;

• The Managing Director.

The Company’s governance and control system

GENERAL SHAREHOLDER 
MEETING

The General Shareholder Meeting is the Company’s supreme management body. 

The Annual General Meeting is held once a year; any additional General Shareholder 

Meeting is regarded as an extraordinary general meeting. The General Shareholder 

Meetings are held at 8 Mykinon Street, 1065, Nicosia, Cyprus. If there is a necessity 

to change the location, the Company’s Board of Directors appoints the date and place 

of the Annual General Meeting and extraordinary meetings.

The General Shareholder Meeting holds exclusive authority to:

• Announce the payment of dividends on the Company’s securities;

• Decide upon the issues of shares and other Company’s securities;

• Decide upon the acquisition of the shares previously issued by the Company;

• Approve the Company’s financial statements;

• Review the reports of the auditors and the Board of Directors;

• Approve the Company’s annual reports;

• Appoint members of the Board of Directors;

• Elect an auditor for the Company and decide upon their remuneration;

• Approve the purchase of the Company’s shares by the members of the Board of 

Directors;

• Decide on the dissolution of the Company.

In 2018, the Company held two General Shareholder Meetings: on 13 April (Annual General 

Meeting) and on 14 September (extraordinary General Shareholder Meeting).

The Annual General Meeting in April 2018 approved as follows:

• Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for 2017;

• Audited Parent Company Financial Statements for 2017;

• Independent Auditor’s Report for 2017;

• Annual Report for 2017;

• Payment of dividends for 2017.

In September 2018, the extraordinary General Shareholder Meeting approved the decision 

on the payment of dividends for the first six months of 2018. 

Minutes of General Shareholder Meetings are available at the Group’s web page under 

Corporate Documents of Ros Agro PLC.

General Shareholder MeetingExternal Auditor

Election

Appointment

Auditor’s report

Control, 
appointment

Recommendation

Reporting

Board Audit Committee

Subsidiaries
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors is the Company’s 

collective governance body responsible 

for overall management of the Company’s 

business, except for issues within 

the exclusive authority of the General 

Shareholder Meeting. The Board of 

Directors is collectively responsible to 

the shareholders for the Group’s results.

The Board sets strategic goals, ensures 

there are the financial and human 

resources to achieve them, and assesses 

the performance of the Group’s 

management team. The Board of Directors 

also defines the values and standards of 

corporate governance and makes sure 

that the Group meets its obligations 

to the shareholders.

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of 

Association, the Board shall have no less 

than two and no more than five members 

and include at least two non-executive 

directors. The Annual General Meeting 

held on 13 April 2018 re-elected 

the following members to the Board:

MAXIM BASOV
Member of the Board, ROS AGRO PLC, Chief 

Executive Officer of JSC Rusagro Group, 

LLC Rusagro Group of Companies, 

Head of the Meat business

Born in 1975.

Mr. Basov graduated from New York 

University in 1996 where he majored in 

Economics and Finance, International 

Business and Philosophy.

He held management positions at 

OJSC Severstal, OJSC Kuzbassugol, 

OJSC Severstal Resource, and Interpipe 

Research, Industries and Investment 

Group. He headed Metalloinvest from 

2006 to 2009. In 2011, Mr. Basov 

was elected Member of the Board 

of ROS AGRO PLC. In 2009, he was 

appointed Chief Executive Officer of 

LLC Rusagro Group of Companies.

He holds 7.2% of the Company’s GDRs.

TASSOS TELEVANTIDES
Member of the Board, ROS AGRO PLC, 

Independent Director

Born in 1948, Mr. Televantides was 

a member of the ICPAC Board of Directors 

from 1994 to 1998 and was Honorary 

Treasurer of the Limassol Chamber of 

Commerce and Industry from 2002 

to 2008. He has been Chairman of 

CyproDirectLimited since 2008 and Board 

Chairman at Limassol Bishopric since 

2009.

For more than 20 years, he has been 

a partner at Pricewaterhouse Coopers 

Cyprus. He held directorships in 

a Canadian pharmaceuticals group, 

Norwegian construction and drilling 

company, Gazprombank Financial Services 

(UK) Limited, and Olivant Investments.

Mr. Televantides is a certified auditor of 

the highest category.

He was elected a member of the Board and 

Chairman of the Board Audit Committee of 

ROS AGRO PLC in November 2011.

He holds 0.01% of the Company’s GDRs.

RICHARD ANDREW SMYTH
Member of the Board, ROS AGRO PLC, 

Independent Director

Born in 1962, Mr. Smyth graduated from 

Oxford University in 1984.

He was the General Manager at LLC Mars 

from 2003 to 2009 and has been 

the Regional President of MARS Central 

Europe and CIS since January 2009.

Mr. Smyth served as Chairman 

of the Board of Directors of ROS AGRO PLC 

from February 2011 to May 2015.

He holds 0.02% of the Company’s GDRs.

ANNA KHOMENKO
Member of the Board, Managing Director and 

Compliance Officer, ROS AGRO PLC 

Born in 1977, Ms. Khomenko studied 

international law at the Institute of 

International Relations of the Taras 

Shevchenko National University of Kyiv, 

Ukraine. She continued her studies at 

Keele University in the UK, which she 

graduated with a dual degree in Law and 

International Politics in 1999. In 2000, 

she completed a Legal Practice Course at 

the University of Law Chester, UK.

Before 2007, Ms. Khomenko headed 

the Corporate Department of Excel Serve 

Management (Cyprus), a service provider. 

From 2007 to 2009, she was the Chief 

Executive Officer of IFG Trust (Cyprus) 

Limited, specialising in financial and 

corporate services for businesses and 

individuals.

Ms. Khomenko currently holds the position 

of the Managing Partner at Fiduciana Trust 

(Cyprus) Limited.

Since 2011, she has been a Member 

of the Board of ROS AGRO PLC.

She does not hold any securities 

of the Company.

VADIM MOSHKOVICH
Chairman of the Board of Directors, 

ROS AGRO PLC 

Born in 1967, Mr. Moshkovich graduated 

from the Moscow State Institute of Radio 

Engineering, Electronics and Automation 

(currently known as the Moscow 

Technological University) in 1992.

He started his career in agribusiness in 

1995 as the Head of CJSC Shugarimpeks 

Trading and Sugarimpeks Trading 

Company. From 1999 to 2006, he was 

the Chief Executive Officer and a co-

owner of a group of companies that were 

consolidated into LLC Rusagro Group of 

Companies in 2003.

From 2006 to 2014, he was a member 

of the Federation Council, the upper 

house of the Federal Assembly of Russia 

(the Parliament), where he represented 

the Belgorod Region and sat on 

the Committee for Economic Policy.

In May 2015, Mr. Moshkovich was elected 

Chairman of the Board of ROS AGRO PLC.

He holds 70.7% of the Company’s GDRs.
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In 2018, the Board held four in-person meetings: on 16 March, 

11 May, 9 August, and 9 November. The meeting on 16 March 

2018 was chaired by Anna Khomenko. Vadim Moshkovich was 

appointed the Chairman of the meetings on 11 May, 9 August, and 

9 November 2018. The quorum present met the requirements of 

the Company’s Articles of Association.

In March 2018, the Board reviewed and decided on the following 

issues:

• Financial results for Q4 and twelve months of 2017;

• Results of the Audit Committee meeting held on 14 March 2018;

• Annual Report, including information on the structure 

of the management team, corporate governance, and corporate 

social responsibility, and a review of financial results;

• Appointment of the Auditor for 2018; 

• Recommendations for payment of dividends for the second six 

months of 2017 in accordance with the Company’s dividend 

policy;

• Remuneration for the Company’s senior management team for 

2017 and scheduled changes in the management team, the stock 

options plan for 2018;

• Business plan for 2018;

• Capex forecastfor 2018;

• Presentation on M&A opportunities for the Group in 2018.

In May 2018, the Board reviewed and decided on the following 

issues:

• Financial results for Q1 2018;

• Results of the Audit Committee meeting held on 7 May 2018;

• Information on the status of M&A projects and the opportunities 

for 2018;

• Meat business growth strategy for 2019-2024;

• Presentation of PwC offer on the provision of auditing services 

for 2018-2020.

AUDIT COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Audit Committee was established to enhance the performance and effectiveness 

of the Board of Directors. The Audit Committee is governed by the Charter of the Audit 

Committee adopted by the Board of Directors in line with the provisions of the legislation of 

the Republic of Cyprus, the Company’s Articles of Association, the Regulation on the Board 

of Directors, and the decisions of the Board. 

The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee are as follows:

• Assist the Board in making decisions on reporting and audit;

• Increase the effectiveness of the Board control over the financial and economic activities 

of the Company by preliminary reviewing and preparing recommendations for the Board 

on matters within the Board’s authority;

• Create an effective system of control over the financial and economic activities 

of the Company and ensure the Board’s participation in controlling the Company’s 

financial and economic activities.

The Audit Committee is elected by the Company’s Board of Directors. The Audit 

Committee may only be chaired by a non-executive director. 

In 2018, the Audit Committee had the following membership:

• Tassos Televantides (Chairman) 

• Richard Andrew Smyth

• Anna Khomenko.

In 2017, the Board Audit Committee held four in-person meetings: on 14 March, 7 May, 

9 August, and 6 November. 

In August 2018, the Board reviewed and decided on the following 

issues:

• Financial results for Q2 and the six months of 2018;

• Requesting an extraordinary General Shareholder Meeting to 

decide on the payment of dividends for the first six months of 

2018;

• Updated information on capex; 

• Information on the status of M&A projects and the opportunities 

for 2018;

• Recommendations for the payment of dividends for the first six 

months of 2018 in accordance with the Company’s policy;

• Results of the Audit Committee meeting held on 9 August 2018;

• Presentation of the Group’s business strategy for 2018–2024;

• Purchase of short-term bonds;

• A date for the next Board Meeting.

In November 2017, the Board reviewed and decided on the following 

issues:

• Financial results for Q3 and the nine months of 2018; 

• Results of the Audit Committee meeting held on 6 November 2018;

• Plans for possible changes in the structure of the management 

team and the introduction of new positions by the end of 2018;

• Presentation of the report on capex for the Group major projects 

and total investments;

• Information on the status of M&A projects and the opportunities 

for 2018;

• Dates for the Board Meetings in 2019.

Detailed information on the decisions adopted is available 

at the Company’s web page under Corporate Documents 

of Ros Agro PLC.
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Corporate Management

MAXIM BASOV
Member of the Board, ROS AGRO PLC, 

Chief Executive Officer of JSC Rusagro Group,  

LLC Rusagro Group of Companies, 

Head of the Meat business

For Mr. Basov’s CV, please see the Board 

of Directors section.

ALEXEY PODOLYAKIN
Chief Financial Officer, 

LLC Rusagro Group of Companies

Born in 1976, Mr Podolyakin graduated 

from the Ivanovo State University in 1998 

with a major in National Economy.

Before joining Rusagro, he held senior 

positions at SUN InBev Russia. Since 2013, 

he has been Chief Financial Officer 

of Sugar business in LLC Rusagro Group of 

Companies. Mr. Podolyakin was appointed 

Chief Financial Officer of LLC Rusagro 

Group of Companies in January 2018.

SERGEY KOLTUNOV
Director of Legal and Corporate Affairs, 

LLC Rusagro Group of Companies

Born in 1980, Mr. Koltunov graduated 

from the Lobachevsky State University of 

Nizhny Novgorod, Law Faculty in 2003. 

In 2004, he received the second higher 

degree in Economics and Management. 

In 2011, he completed a course at 

the Russian Presidential Academy 

of National Economy and Public 

Administration under Managerial Human 

Resources Training Programme.

Before joining Rusagro, Mr. Koltunov 

headed legal departments and held 

other senior positions at Russky Alkohol 

Group and Danone Group. He has been 

Director of Legal and Corporate Affairs 

of LLC Rusagro Group of Companies 

since 2013. 

In 2017, he was included in the Top 

1000 Russian Managers rating by 

the Kommersant Publishing House and 

the Legal 500 GC Powerlist: Russia 2017 

rating. 

OLGA FEDOROVA 

Born in 1979, she graduated from 

technology department of State University 

of Nonferrous metals and Gold with 

a major in Metallurgy in 2000. In 2006, 

she graduated from Plekhanov Russian 

University of Economics with a degree in 

Economics and Management. 

Before joining Rusagro, Mrs. Fedorova 

worked in the HR management in Russian 

Aluminium Company. She held senior HR 

management positions in Rusagro Sugar 

business from 2006 to 2018, including 

Head of Human Resources. In January 

2019, Mrs. Fedorova was appointed as HR 

Director of Rusagro Group.

She is a holder of the international 

certificate in Global Remuneration (GRP) 

from WorldatWork (USA). 

SVETLANA KUZNETSOVA
Head of Investment Department, 

LLC Rusagro Group of Companies

Born in 1989, she graduated from the 

National Research University Higher 

School of Economics in 2011 as a specialist 

in the world economy and international 

business.

From 2012 to 2015, she was the Head 

of Funds & Investment Services 

Department of Europe Finance Ltd. 

In 2016, Ms. Kuznetsova was the Senior 

Analyst at Skolkovo Institute of Science 

and Technology on National Technology 

Initiative FoodNet.

In June 2016, she was appointed the 

Marketing Manager of LLC Rusagro-

Ovoschi to develop an investment project 

for launching a vegetable business. Since 

October 2016 she has held the position 

of Head of Investment Department of 

Rusagro Group of Companies.

DMITRY BREKHOV
Head of Internal Audit, 

LLC Rusagro Group of Companies

Born in 1971, Mr. Brekhov graduated 

from the Faculty of Economics of 

the Lomonosov Moscow State University 

in 1997 with a degree in Accounting and 

Audit.

Before joining the Company, Mr. Brekhov 

headed the Internal Audit function 

at AGRICO Agricultural Investment 

Company and Antanta Pioglobal 

Investment Group.

In October 2010, he was appointed 

as the Head of Internal Audit 

of LLC Rusagro Group of Companies.
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Divisions

 management

DMITRIY GARNOV
Head of the Agriculture business

In 2002, Mr. Garnov graduated from 

Moscow State Technological University 

“Stankin”, Mechanics and Control Faculty 

with a degree in engineering. In 2003, he 

received a degree in Accounting, Analysis, 

and Audit. He has been a Ph.D. candidate 

in soil science since 2016.

From 2004 to 2010 he worked his way 

up from the Head of the Internal Audit 

Department to the position of Chief 

Executive Officer of LLC Don-Agro in 

OJSC Razgulay Group. From 2010 to 

2014, Mr. Garnov was Executive Director 

of CJSC Rylskaya Farming Firm in United 

Confectioners Holding.

Before joining Rusagro, he held the Director 

position of the Crop Production Division in 

PJSC Cherkizovo Group.

Mr. Gurnov was appointed Deputy Chief 

Executive Officer of LLC Rusagro-Invest 

in July 2018. He has been Chief Executive 

Officer of LLC Rusagro-Invest and Head 

of Rusagro Agricultural Business since 

January 2019.

Head of the Meat business

MAXIM BASOV
Member of the Board, ROS AGRO PLC, 

Chief Executive Officer of JSC Rusagro Group, 

LLC Rusagro Group of Companies, 

Head of the Meat business

For Mr. Basov’s CV, please see the Board 

of Directors section.

NIKOLAI ZHIRNOV
Head of the Sugar business

Nikolai Zhirnov graduated from 

the Chelyabinsk State Technical University 

in 1996 with a degree in Applied 

Mathematics. In 2004, he received 

an MBA at the Stockholm School of 

Economics (Sweden).

From 1997 to 2005, he worked at 

WRIGLEY Russia. From 2005 to 2009, 

he was Chief Executive Officer of 

SPORTLAND Russia of SPORTLAND 

INTERNATIONAL.

In September 2009, he was appointed 

Commercial Director of LLC Rusagro-

Centre. In October 2011, he was appointed 

Chief Executive Officer of LLC Rusagro- 

Centre.

Since November 2011, Mr. Zhirnov has 

headed the Sugar business.

ROMAN DANILIN
Head of the Oil and Fats business 

Roman Danilin graduated from 

the Plekhanov Russian Academy 

of Economics in 2003 with a degree 

in Corporate Management. From 2001 

to 2011, he held various positions at OJSC 

Hlebprom. Between 2011 and 2017, he 

was Chief Executive Officer at CJSC 

Perm Flour Mill, LLC Venskiy Tsekh, 

and LLC Cheremushki Confectionery 

and Bakery Plant. 

In 2017, Mr. Danilin has included in Top 

250 Executives rating of the Kommersant 

Publishing House in Consumer Products 

Manufacturing.

In July 2017, he was appointed as 

the Deputy Chief Executive Officer 

of OJSC Zhirovoy Kombinat, and 

in October took up the position of Chief 

Executive Officer and Head of the Oil 

and Fats business.

STANISLAV SHALAMKOV
Head of the Dairy business

In 1997, Mr. Shalamkov graduated from 

Derzhavin Tambov State University 

with a management major. In 2003, he 

graduated from the State University 

Higher School of Economics with a degree 

in financial management.

From 1998 to 2009, he held various 

positions at OJSC Gazprom. From 2009 to 

2011, he took part in the implementation 

and development of large agro-industrial 

projects in the Tambov Region.

Since 2011, Mr. Shalamkov has worked 

in Bondar Cheese Factory LLC, the last 

position held – Chief Executive Officer. 

Since September 2018, he has been Chief 

Executive Officer at LLC Molochnye 

Produkty Rusagro and Head of the Dairy 

products business. 

REMUNERATION
 
Remuneration to 12 representatives of 

key management personnel (KMP), 

included in payroll costs, comprised 

short-term remuneration such as salaries, 

discretionary bonuses, and other short-

term benefits totalling RUB 724 million, 

incl. RUB 65 million payable to the State 

Pension Fund (2017: RUB 1,107 mn and 

RUB 97 mn respectively).

Included in the share-based compensation 

and other remuneration to KMP disclosed 

above, are the Company directors' fees, 

salaries and other short-term benefits 

totalling RUB 470 million in 2018 (2017: 

RUB 806 mn). During 2018, the dividends 

paid to KMP reached RUB 130 million. 

As at 31 December 2018, the share-

based payment reserve accumulated 

in equity due to the share-based 

payment transactions amounted to 

RUB 1,329 million (2017: RUB 1,308 mn).

In 2014, Rusagro initiated a share option 

incentive scheme for its top-management, 

under which employees are granted 

GDRs of the Company if they remain 

in their position up to a specific date in 

the future. The amount of GDRs granted 

depends on the average market prices of 

GDRs for the period preceding this date. 

In 2018, 6,055 GDRs (2017: 33,614) of 

the Company amounting to RUB 1 million 

(2017: RUB 8 mn) were transferred. 

In 2017, a new such scheme was initiated 

with recognised expenses for 2018 

of RUB 30 million (2017: RUB 20 mn).
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As of end 2018, the Company’s authorised capital consisted of 60,000,000 declared 

ordinary shares and 27,333,333 issued ordinary shares, with a par value of EUR 0.01 each.

In April 2011, the Company made an initial public offering (IPO) (by listing the global 

depository receipts (GDRs) with 5 GDRs representing one share) and listed on the London 

Stock Exchange (LSE). The listing included 4,000,000 shares issued by the Company 

(including a greenshoe option) and 1,000,000 shares offered by the Company’s 

controlling shareholders at a price of USD 15 per one global depositary receipt. Alfa Capital 

Holdings (Cyprus) Limited, London Branch, Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited, 

and Renaissance Securities (Cyprus) Limited investment banks acted as joint global 

coordinators and bookrunners and lead managers. The Company raised a total of around 

USD 300 million from its IPO, before the commission, with post-IPO market capitalisation 

at USD 1,800 million. 

To expand the investor base, it was decided to list on the Moscow Exchange MICEX-RTS. 

On 26 November 2014, the global depositary receipts of ROS AGRO PLC 

(ISIN US7496552057) were admitted for trading on First Tier (top) quotation list. 

The trading of the GDRs began on 1 December 2014.

SHARED CAPITAL 
STRUCTURE

Company trading codes:
• Reuters – AGRORq.L
• Bloomberg – AGRO LI Equity
• LSE – AGRO
• MOEX – AGRO.

In May 2016, the Company made a second public offering (SPO) of its depositary receipts. 

A total of 3,333,333 shares issued by the Company or 16,665,665 GDRs at a price of 

USD 15 each, were listed. J.P. Morgan Securities plc, UBS Limited, and VTB Capital plc 

investment banks acted as joint global coordinators and bookrunners. The Company raised 

a total of around USD 250 million, before commission, from its SPO. Rusagro’s post-SPO 

market capitalisation was USD 2,050 million.

As of 31 December 2018, the Company owned a total of 2,166,313 GDRs, an equivalent 

of around 433,263 shares. In 2018, Dmitry Basov, Chief Executive Officer of LLC 

Rusagro Group of Companies purchased 197 thousand GDRs and increased his share 

from 7.0 to 7.2% (7.3% exclusive of treasury securities). 

Relations with

 shareholders and

 investors
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DIVIDEND POLICY INFORMATION FOR 
SHAREHOLDERS

In August 2013, the Company adopted a dividend policy stipulating that at least 25% 

of the Company’s net profit should be paid out as dividends annually.

The Company’s dividend policy is built on the following key principles:

• Uphold of shareholders’ rights as defined by the legislation;

• The balance between the interests of shareholders and the Company’s needs;

• Need to develop the Company and improve its investment appeal;

• Transparency of the procedure for calculating and paying the dividends.

As of end 2018, the Board of Directors recommended that RUB 4.5 billion 

(USD 68.6 million) should be paid to the shareholders as dividends. 

For the first six months of 2018, the Company paid dividends amounting RUB 1.0 billion 

(USD 16.1 million), or RUB 38.2 (USD 0.6) per share and RUB 7.6 (USD 0.12) per GDR 

(with 5 GDRs representing one share), exclusive of 2,166,313 treasury GDRs held by 

the Company. The payments equalled to 44% of the Company’s net profit for the first six 

months of 2018.

For the second six months of 2018, a total of RUB 3.4 billion (USD 52.5 million) has been 

approved to be paid as dividends. The exact amount of dividend per share/GDR will be 

fixed at the dividend record date.

Dividends paid in 2014–2018

Total Per share Per GDR

RUB bn USD bn RUB USD RUB USD 

H1 2014 2.0 54.1 84.90 2.30 16.98 0.46

H2 2014 3.0 55.4 130.03 2.35 26.01 0.47

Total for 2014: RUB 5.0 billion (25% of net profit for 2014)

H1 2015 1.8 27.1 76.45 1.15 15.29 0.23

H2 2015 5.3 77.9 198.45 2.90 39.69 0.58

Total for 2015: RUB 7.1 billion (30% of net profit for 2015)

H1 2016 2.0 30.9 74.55 1.15 14.91 0.23

H2 2016 4.6 78.0 171.75 2.90 34.35 0.58

Total for 2016: RUB 6.6 billion (48% of net profit for 2016)

H1 2017 1.9 30.9 69.20 1.15 13.84 0.23

H2 2017 2.2 39.0 82.68 1.45 16.54 0.29

Total for 2017: RUB 4.1 billion (71% of net profit for 2017)

H1 2018 1.0 16.1 38.15 0.60 7.63 0.12

H2 2018 3.4 52.5 – – – –

Total for 2018: RUB 4.5 billion

community with all the information that may materially affect 

the value of the Company’s securities, in particular: 

• Annual and quarterly statements on financial and operating 

performance;

• Information on all material events in the Company’s activities;

• Specialised information and analytical materials for the investors.

Further, the Company ensures equal access to Company 

information for all representatives of the investment community 

and makes every effort to prevent separate groups of investors 

from gaining exclusive access to such information.

Any information that can have a material effect on the value of 

the Company’s shares is published on the official web page of 

the Group, the RNS (LSE), the Moscow Stock Exchange, and 

Interfax news agency, in line with the statutory requirements 

on information disclosure. As soon as the quarterly and annual 

financial results are available, the Company holds conference calls 

to inform on the results and provide an additional comment that is 

required to assess the financial standing of the Group.

In 2018, ten investment banks ensured analytical coverage: 

VTB Capital, Gazprombank, Otkritie, BofAML, J.P. Morgan, 

Renaissance Capital, Sberbank CIB, Credit Suisse, UBS, and BCS. 

To ensure unified understanding of the results and events, 

the Company holds regular meetings between its senior executives 

and key managers and the representatives of media and 

the investment community and maintains contact through internet 

and telecommunications networks. Once a year, the Company 

arranges visits to the Group’s major facilities and holds workshops; 

these visits are timed to coincide with the Analyst and Investor 

Day. The calendar with dates of the key news release and corporate 

events is available at the Company’s web page.  

The Company is committed to constantly improve its cooperation 

with the investment community and open for comments and 

suggestions on its development. The Company values its 

shareholders and investors and will continue its efforts on 

better meeting their demand in accurate, complete, and timely 

information. 

PROTECTION OF SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company prioritises the protection of shareholders’ interests, 

seeking to forge and maintain the relations of trust. In building its 

relations with the shareholders, the Company makes every effort 

to protect their rights and prevent any violation of these rights. 

The Company is engaged in a direct dialogue with the shareholders 

and investors and guided by the current legislation and global best 

practices. The main standards of external corporate conduct and 

ethics to be applied in the relations with shareholders and investors 

are outlined in the Company Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. 

The Company strives to minimise the actual risks to the investors: 

it appropriately discloses the information on its activities and 

refrains from actions that may mislead the investors. The Company 

makes every effort to increase its shareholder value, prevent 

intercompany conflicts and ensure high quality of corporate 

governance. 

The Company equally respects the rights of all shareholders, 

regardless of the number of shares or GDRs they hold. 

The Company guarantees to all its shareholders the protection 

of all the rights stipulated by the current legislation and the rights 

resulting from the Company’s obligations in relation to trading 

securities on the stock exchanges. The Company also offers 

assistance to the shareholders in line with the global best practices 

in corporate governance. In doing so, the Company constantly 

works towards making the exercise of these rights even easier and 

more accessible; more effective, yet less costly. 

INFORMATION POLICY
Though the Company’s investment appeal largely depends on its 

effectiveness and performance, corporate governance, especially 

the openness and the transparency of the Company’s activities, is 

also very important for making a positive investment decision. 

To ensure a high level of openness that is consistent to the global 

best practice, the Company timely provides the investment 
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Risk management

Rusagro has invested heavily in risk identification, analysis, and 

assessment as part of decision-making in business. The Company 

has been committed to observing the national and international 

standards in risk management: the Company’s going concern has 

been to monitor the risks and to update its risk management toolkit 

in order to maximise the Company’s value and reduce the risk 

impact severity.

Risk description Risk mitigation

Industry risks

Decline in product prices

The Company’s financial results depend on the prices of sugar, pork, 
agricultural products, vegetable oils, and products made from them. 
The level of prices is driven by a few factors that the Company cannot 
fully control. The key reasons that may cause a decline in prices are 
as follows: 

• Increased supply from the competitors;
• A decline in household purchasing power;
• Restrictions on product exports;
• Easing of the restrictions on imports;
• A drop in global prices.

• Diversifying the Company’s product portfolio by extending 
the product range and developing retail brands; 

• Developing the sales channels, signing contracts with major 
industrial partners and retail chains;

• Developing exports and entering new markets;
• Maintaining ample stocks of finished products intended for sale 

during seasonal price hikes; 
• Continuously monitoring the market situation to get a full and 

accurate picture of the trends and to ensure a reliable basis for 
projections on the market dynamics.

Increase in the prices of purchased raw materials and services

Fluctuations in the prices of raw materials and services may directly 
affect the Company’s profits. The Company’s financial results are 
most sensitive to prices for the following types of raw materials:

• Sunflower seeds;
• Grain and protein components of feed;
• Sugar beet;
• Live pigs.

• Developing the Company’s own raw material base and expansion 
of the land bank;

• Managing raw materials supplies and inventories to optimise 
the procurement cost and to ensure the continuity 
of the Company’s operations;

• Increasing material efficiency;
• Finding new suppliers to ensure diversification of the supply 

channels and optimise procurement prices;
• Analysing the macroeconomic and industry trends to timely 

identify and assess risks in business decision-making.

Operational risks

Extreme weather

Extreme weather, such as drought, frost, excessive moisture, strong 
winds, hail, damping-off, may lead to reduced yield and poorer 
financial results. 

• Applying a comprehensive approach to weather forecasting based 
on the data obtained from weather stations;

• Monitoring the crops on a regular basis;
• Managing the costs during crop vegetation based on data obtained 

through monitoring;
• Developing the irrigation systems;
• Identifying the best hybrids and pedigree seeds for each climatic 

zone;
• Following the production cycle and observing agronomic schedules 

for planting, selecting the best ways to cultivate crops (expansion 
of direct planting areas, crop treatment against diseases);

• Controlling the actual amount of moisture per planted area, 
in particular, by snow retention in winter.

Risk description Risk mitigation

Agronomic errors

In an agribusiness, agronomic errors may result in decreased 
yields or poor material efficiency, which can have a negative effect 
on the Company’s financial results. The main risk factors include 
as follows:

• Qualification and experience of the employees;
• Incomplete data on the soil and crop condition;
• Quality of process execution.

• Developing talent by signing agreements with vocational schools 
in the regions of presence and attracting students for internship 
in the Agriculture business;

• Introducing automated crop monitoring systems to control 
the development of crops in the fields, the quality of soil cultivation, 
the changes in the agrochemical properties of soil; creating 
specialised maps to ensure selective use of fertilisers;

• Developing the systems of automated control over the process 
execution quality, including the rate of fertiliser application, 
photopoint monitoring at the time of loading and during operation, 
and control over material efficiency; 

• Introducing automated production planning based on SAP ERP 
and a system for the generation of immediate reporting based on 
data obtained from different sources (SAP ERP, monitoring system, 
satellites, weather/climate services). 

African Swine Fever

Considering the recorded cases of ASF infected wild boars and 
domestic pigs in Russia, there is a possibility of infection of pigs 
raised at the Company's farms.

• Preventing access of vehicles and purchase of goods and materials 
from current ASF quarantine zones; 

• Disinfecting the vehicles, goods, and materials supplied 
to the Company's production facilities that have live pigs;

• Preventing physical contact of the pigs at farms with wild animals;
• Ensuring control over the food products supplied to the production 

facilities;
• Monitoring the health of pigs grown at the Company’s production 

facilities;
• Monitoring the ASF incidents in Russia.

Financial risks

Credit risk

The risk of losses to the Company due to the failure of the contractors 
to meet their obligations to transfer cash and cash equivalents and 
other financial assets to the Company. The risk factors related to 
the Company's activities include as follows:

• Provision of loans;
• Selling on credit; 
• Placing deposits with banks;
• Other transactions with the contractors involving the creation 

of financial assets.

The Company factors in this risk when formulating the contractual 
arrangements.

The Company takes a conservative approach to managing the cash 
in bank accounts and deposits, as well as restricted cash, placing 
the cash with financial institutions that have a minimal risk of default.

Interest rate risk

The Company’s financial results and operating cash flow can be 
affected by fluctuating market interest rates. The interest rate risk 
arises if the Company has short-term and long-term liabilities.

The liabilities with a floating rate give rise to the risk that 
the Company’s future cash flows may be changed due 
to the fluctuations of the market interest rate.

The liabilities with a fixed rate are a source of risk of changes 
in the fair value of these liabilities due to the change in the market 
interest rate. 

The Company regularly assesses its exposure to the risk of interest 
rate fluctuation, using scenario analysis for quantitative risk 
assessment. The various stress scenarios factor in refinancing, 
changes in position, and alternative financing. Based on the scenarios 
that consider both the changes in the interest rates and the availability 
of refinancing, the Company assesses their potential impact on 
the  financial results, with due account for the structure of liabilities 
with fixed and floating rates. 

Currency risk

In the short and medium term, the Company is exposed to risks of 
adverse changes in exchange rates since it operates in many countries 
and its prices on finished products depend on global prices, which are 
set in foreign currency (prices for agricultural products, sugar, pork, 
oil, and meal). 

In particular, the strengthening rouble puts downward pressure on 
the profit since the sales decrease faster than the cost of production.

To reduce the currency risks, the Company seeks to reduce its net 
currency position, with due account to the expected cash flows in 
foreign currencies.

Key risks
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Human capital development is one of the four strategic objectives for Rusagro. As at 

year-end 2018, the Company employs 16.8 thousand people in 11 regions of the Russian 

Federation. According to the international Randstad Award in 2018, Rusagro was 

acknowledged as a Russia’s most attractive employer in agriculture for the second 

year in a row. The Company creates decent working conditions, provides competitive 

compensations and social guarantees, and maintains a strong focus on personal and 

professional development of its employees. Rusagro considers its employees as a key asset 

of inherent value and encourages them to fulfil their potential, improve their knowledge and 

skills, and participate in challenging innovative projects.

In 2018, the Company's average headcount increased by 8% year-on-year and totalled 

15.2 thousand employees. Thirty-five percent of the employees work in the Meat business, 

where the highest headcount growth was demonstrated in 2018. Due to the business 

expansion and acquisition of production facilities in the Belgorod Region, the number of 

employees increased by 27% and amounted to 5.2 thousand. Twenty-nine percent of all 

personnel work in the Agriculture business, 21% – in the Sugar business. In 2018, the Sugar 

business showed a slight reduction of staff (-3%) attributable to completing the integration 

of assets in the Kursk and Orel Regions. The Oil and Fats business employs 13% of 

the Company's personnel, in the reporting period this figure grew 3%. In 2018, the Common 

Service Center for providing centralised accounting services was established.

In 2019, on the back of launching new pig-breeding facilities and acquiring ALEV and 

Solnechnye Produkty assets, the average headcount is projected to increase further.

IN ITS ACTIVITIES, RUSAGRO STRIVES 

TO MEET THE INTERESTS OF THE SOCIETY 

AND RECOGNISES ITS ACCOUNTABILITY 

TO THE STAKEHOLDERS. THE COMPANY 

INVESTS IN EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT, 

THE CREATION OF SAFE WORKING CONDITIONS, 

AND EQUAL JOB OPPORTUNITIES. RUSAGRO 

CONTRIBUTES TO THE DEVELOPMENT OF ITS 

REGIONS OF PRESENCE THROUGH JOB 

CREATION AND CHARITY PROGRAMMES. 

TO ENSURE SUSTAINABLE GROWTH, 

IT PROMOTES ENVIRONMENTALLY SOUND 

PRODUCTION AND HIGH STANDARDS 

OF WORKING ETHICS. 
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WORKFORCE STRUCTURE

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Corporate Centre 100 113 144 157 73

Common Service Center – – – – 225

Meat business 2,256 2,846 3,789 4,186 5,300

Oil and Fats business 1,419 1,920 2,042 1,969 2,025

Sugar business 2,234 2,202 3,095 3,248 3,149

Agriculture business 3,326 3,368 4,292 4,478 4,443

Total 9,335 10,449 13,362 14,038 15,215

Rusagro’s average headcount 
in 2014-2018, employees

Source: Rusagro
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At end-2018, 16.8 thousand employees work at Rosagro. 

The jobs are mainly in the Tambov and Voronezh Regions (41%) 

and in the Belgorod Region (30%). Another 8% of the jobs are 

in the Kursk Region and 7% – in the Primorye territory.

Most of the Company’s employees (51%) are aged 36 to 55 years. 

The next largest category comprises employees aged 26 

to 35 years (29%). In 2018, young specialists accounted for 8%, 

and older specialists – for 12%.

The proportion of young employees in the Company increased 

by 1 p.p. year-on-year. This was driven by the efforts aimed at 

increasing the Company’s appeal for young specialists (for more 

details see Section "Working with young people"). 

The majority of the Company's employees have vocational 

secondary education (39%). A high percentage of employees 

have post-secondary education (29%). These major personnel 

categories are the core of the Company. In 2018, the Company 

changed the methodology for calculating the structure of 

the workforce according to the level of education and expanded 

the number of personnel analysed for the strategic segment. In this 

regard, a correct comparison with previous periods does not seem 

appropriate.

The proportion of women in the Company in 2018 was more than 

18% (2,769 people), which corresponds to the average index 

across production companies in Russia. The proportion of women 

in the Corporate Centre and Oil and Fats business is close to 50%. 

Due to difficult working conditions at the meat processing plants, 

the proportion of women in the Meat business amounts to 6%.

The percentage of women among workers is 54%, and among 

specialists – 36%. The share of women among the heads of 

functional units is 10%, while the share of women among senior 

managers is 25%, which is higher than the average across 

production companies in Russia. The highest percentage of women 

among the senior managers is in the Oil and Fats business (33%). 

In 2019, the Company plans to increase the percentage of female 

staff among specialists and senior managers.

2017 2018

Tambov and Voronezh Regions 5,562 6,806

Belgorod Region 4,543 4,964

Kursk Region 907 1,310

Orel Region 616 548

Primorye Territory 864 1,141

Samara Region 463 622

Sverdlovsk Region 834 884

Others 573 494

2017 2018

under 25 7 8

26-35 29 29

36-55 53 51

over 56 11 12

Jobs in Rusagro’s presence regions, 2017-2018 
at year-end, employees

Rusagro’s structure of workforce by age in 2017-2018, %

Rusagro’s workforce structure by education level 
in 2018, %

The percentage of women in Rusagro in 2018, %

Vocational secondary
Postsecondary
Complete secondary
Initial vocational
Basic general education

8

17

29

8

39

Workers
Specialists
Senior management
Heads of functions25

36

10

54

Rusagro’s incentives and compensation policy is aimed at maintaining a competitive salary 

level. In 2018, the average salaries in Company’s production facilities and operations 

management units increased in the Meat business (+5%) and Agriculture business (+10%) 

and amounted to RUB 41,000 and RUB 51,000, respectively. Salary growth is linked to 

the inflation growth rates and market growth as related to remuneration of labour. The highest 

average monthly salary was paid in the Agriculture and Oil and Fats businesses and 

amounted to RUB 51,000, which is 11% above the Company’s average level of RUB 46,000. 

The difference in the average salary in businesses is due to the Company’s operation 

in different regions, as well as various working conditions, and business-related features.

2017

Headcount, 
employees

Women, 
employees

Women 
share, %

Number 
of senior 

management 
positions

Number 
of senior 

management 
positions 

held by 
women

Share of 
senior 

management 
position held 
by women, %

Corporate Centre 157 85 54% 5 1 20%

Meat business 4,186 251 6% 12 3 25%

Oil and Fats business 1,969 925 47% 9 3 33%

Sugar business 3,248 780 24% 9 2 22%

Agriculture business 4,478 716 16% 12 3 25%

2018

Headcount, 
employees

Women, 
employees

Women 
share, %

Number 
of senior 

management 
positions

Number 
of senior 

management 
positions 

held by 
women

Share of 
senior 

management 
position held 
by women, %

Corporate Centre 73 37 51% 5 1 20%

Meat business 5,300 318 6% 9 2 22%

Oil and Fats business 2,024 955 47% 9 3 33%

Sugar business 3,149 693 22% 9 2 22%

Agriculture business 4,443 766 17% 12 3 25%

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Meat business 28 34 37 39 41

Oil and Fats business 44 37 47 51 51

Sugar business 35 36 34 42 41

Agriculture business 28 31 38 46 51

Gender equality indicators

Average monthly salary in production 
facilities and operations 
management units of Rusagro 
in 2014-2018, RUB thousand

COMPETITIVE EMPLOYEE 
COMPENSATION

Source: Rusagro

Source: Rusagro

Source: Rusagro

Source: Rusagro

Source: Rusagro

Source: Rusagro
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The differential in the rates of men’s and women’s pay is 

insignificant: women are paid less by 0.8% (in fixed part), there 

is no difference in the size of bonuses paid. The number of women 

who received a bonus is by 11 p.p. less than men.

In 2018, the Rusagro’s Future project was recognised as the best programme involving 

young specialists and was ranked the first in III All-Russian Contest of Graduates and Young 

Specialists Projects GRADUATE AWARDS – 2018. 

The Rusagro’s Future project was launched in May 2017 and comprised several stages. 

At the first stage, following the Ideas and Projects Competition held in summer 2017, 

66 winners were selected from 147 applications. They took part in Rusagro’s Youth 

Convention. During the next stage, 12 project cross-functional teams worked on solving real 

business cases. Seven teams reached the final. In June 2018, they presented and defended 

their projects before mentors and experts, including Business Directors, Heads of functions 

and subfunctions.

Three projects scored the most: Attracting employees to blue-collar jobs from other 

regions, Rusagro Dairy Business. Production of cheese and dairy products. Expanding 

the existing professional and cross-functional knowledge of the successors. The winning 

projects are of great importance for Rusagro’s business, and project results are already 

being used to accomplish business objectives.

Rusagro regards continuous improvement as an important value relative both to the 

processes and to the personnel. The Company’s employees can choose from a wide range 

of opportunities for development – participation in interesting training courses and events, 

online courses, and working with an assigned mentor.

Rusagro’s employee training and development system is based on the mentorship, 

internal training, and coaching. The system is based on the learning organisation model. 

For example, the Company has in place the Pool of Internal Trainer. Rusagro introduced 

a centralised programme for building own Pool of Internal Trainers in 2017 and developed 

it further in 2018. By the end of 2018, the Company had 322 internal trainers and 

690 mentors. 

A valuable instrument for acquiring and reinforcing skills is the Remote Training 

System (RTS). The number of system courses and their participants is constantly 

increasing. In 2017, 191 courses were uploaded to the RTS portal, and in 2018 there were 

already 303 courses. The number of completed man-courses also grew noticeably 

from 5,214 in 2017 to 9,717 in 2018. The employees can take online courses either on their 

own initiative or upon the recommendation of their managers.

All employees of the Company have opportunities for career 

growth through the developed career paths in major functional 

directions. The employees can also share their career aspirations, 

including those that involve a transfer to another business within 

Rusagro.

Rusagro’s share of internal hires increases annually. In 2018, 

the share of internal hires amounted to 61% against 56% in 2017. 

The figures vividly demonstrate the effectiveness of the Company’s 

consistent efforts in increasing the quality of human capital and 

prove that the Company offers real opportunities for the career and 

professional growth of its employees.

The company is interested in attracting and retaining young people 

who bring a new perspective on technologies and processes. 

At the same time, 80% of Rusagro’s production sites are in rural 

areas experiencing a shortage of staff, especially in the agricultural 

sector. Therefore, the Company makes consistent efforts in 

attracting young people. 

In 2018, exchange programmes and dual education programmes 

continued to be implemented, and Career Days were held for 

the first time for the students of specialised secondary educational 

establishments from the Belgorod, Tambov, and Orel Regions. 

2018

fixed part -0.8

bonus 0

% of women who received the bonus 70

% of men who received the bonus 81

Difference in the rates of men's and women's pay 
in 2018, % (-% less, % more)

Rusagro’s share of internal hires in 2016-2018, %

36 

56 
61

'18'17'16

CAREER GROWTH

TRAINING AND 
DEVELOPMENT

WORKING WITH YOUNG PEOPLE

Source: Rusagro

Source: Rusagro

Rusagro ‘s three business divisions (Sugar, Meat, and Agriculture) 

held a unique event for the regions – Rusagro’s Career Days for 

the students of specialised secondary educational establishments 

and most promising vocational students.  

Rusagro's Career Days have become not just a job fair, but 

a full-fledged business forum. The event involved the students of 

specialised secondary educational establishments from the four 

regions of the Central Federal District (the Tambov, Belgorod, Kursk, 

and Orel Regions) with 16 educational institutions participating in 

the project. More than 600 students submitted their applications 

for participation, and, after a preliminary assessment, 360 of them 

were invited to attend the event.

The students were able to learn more about the Company's 

business divisions and available vacancies and had a chance to meet 

Rusagro's top managers. The event had more than 37 speakers – 

from trainees to the Company's senior managers.
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2017 2018

RTS courses 191 303

Man-courses 
completed

5,214 9,717

Face-to-face 
training courses

684

Personnel training in 2017-2018, 
man-hours

In 2018, Rusagro held its first Strategic Conference.

In addition to competitive salaries, Rusagro offers its employees a comfortable and safe 

working environment and a generous benefits package that includes meals, employee 

shuttles, voluntary health insurance schemes, sanatorium-resort care, and good-quality 

workwear. Young professionals working in rural areas may qualify for home-buying 

assistance from the Company. Students doing internships and receiving on-the-job training 

are given rooms in the Company dormitories.

The occupational health and safety system is an integral element of the Company’s 

effective production management. The amenity spaces, equipment, and the processes of 

all the enterprises of the Group meet the highest occupational health and safety standards. 

To prevent employee ill-health, the Company introduced the Manage Your Health 

programme that includes vaccination, an office doctor, routine health checks, physical 

exercise, and wellness promotion.

According to the international Randstad Award in 2018, Rusagro 

was acknowledged as a Russia's most attractive employer in 

agriculture for the second year. Rusagro awareness increased by 

22 p.p. year-on-year, its attractiveness by 6 p.p., that exceeded 

the average growth in the industry. The gap with the closest 

competitor was 4%.

In 2018, the Company continued its intensive efforts 

on the Rusagro’s Employer Brand project that helped to retain 

the key employees and attract the best and most talented ones 

from the outside. 

To promote the Rusagro’s Employer Brand, the Company created 

its representative pages in VKontakte and Instagram social 

networks.

By the year-end, Rusagro also established one more 

up-to-date recruiting channel – the Career Website 

(http://rabota.rusagrogroup.ru). Prospective candidates who want 

to work or do an internship in the Company can find the information 

on working conditions, training, and development in the Company, 

interesting vacancies, as well as to send a CV or an application for 

the internship. The Rusagro’s Career Website is accessible both 

from PCs and cell phones. 

In 2018, major changes affected the Rusagro mobile application. 

Nowadays, the application serves not only as a job searching 

tool for prospective candidates and a source of the agribusiness 

news but also enables the users to check their knowledge in 

the online intellectual quiz and get promotional corporate gifts 

from the Company. In addition to introducing an intellectual quiz, 

the user functionality of the mobile application has been expanded. 

With the updated interface, a user can register in the application, 

control the personal account, upload the profile photo, and receive 

generated push notifications with the information about newly 

uploaded vacancies or events.

Above and beyond

The conference that united more than 270 top-managers of the agribusiness was focused 

on innovations and digital technologies. 

The conference was opened by the General Director of Rusagro, Maxim Basov, who spoke 

in detail about the holding’s strategy for the coming years, and also shared his vision 

on the main challenges and opportunities for Rusagro in the ever-changing VUCA world.

The panel discussion participated by all General Directors of the businesses and Heads 

of support functions was moderated by Andrey Sharonov, the President of Skolkovo School 

of Management. 

The final part of the conference was devoted to the inspiriting speech made by Vladimir 

Pirozhkov, the Designer of the Future, the Director of Kinetic Engineering Centre, allowing 

a more far-reaching look at possibilities and threats to the business. During the conference, 

Mr. Pirozhkov brought up the issues of trends and technologies in 10 to 30-year perspective, 

Industry 4.0, demography, and struggle for global resources. 

In fact, polls of the conference members showed that 85% of the pollees believe that such 

conferences should be held annually. So we are waiting for new interesting topics and 

discussions.

THE COMFORTABLE 
AND SAFE WORKING 
ENVIRONMENT

RUSAGRO’S EMPLOYER 
BRAND

Employer brand, %

The most attractive employers in the agricultural 
segment in 2018, %

Rusagro Group of Companies

Tkachev Agricultural Complex

AgroTerra

EFCO Group of Companies

Miratorg agroholding

Yug Rusi

Belaya Ptitsa

PRODO Group

Prioskolie

Cherkizovo Group

47
43
43
42
39
38
34
32
30
29

Source: International Randstad Award Research

Source: International Randstad Award Research

2017 2018

Rusagro’s Employer Brand awareness 38 60

Rusagro’s Employer Brand attractiveness 41 47

Find a VKontakte contact

Currently, the Internet and social networks are an essential 

part of the life of any modern person. Besides, this efficient 

communication tool in many cases has no clear goal and becomes 

a dialogue about everything and nothing at the same time. A new 

Rosagro's community in VKontakte has a goal – attraction of 

promising young people to the Rusagro’s close team.

The community name – Work in RUSAGRO – fully represents its 

basic idea to tell about the Company’s life from the inside and helps 

those who want to join the development team. Apart from success 

stories and vacancies, there is enough space for video data from 

production facilities, the latest quotations of the management and 

relevant news from the entire Group of Companies, peculiarities 

of business activities and press materials. For details, please, visit 

the shared resource: www.vk.com\rabotavrusagro.

Source: Rusagro
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Tambov

Bezenchuk

Ussuriysk

Ekaterinburg

Belgorod

Orel

130

105

94

91

84

62

Integrated Corporate Portal

On 1 January 2019, Rusagro launched the Integrated Corporate 

Portal that may be used by all the agribusiness employees in all 

businesses.

The Portal is mainly intended for creating a common information 

space and uniting all businesses via the through communication 

system and shared knowledge database. The Company tried to 

make the Portal as interactive and user-friendly as possible. Such 

elements as comments, likes, forums, and feedback forms are 

frequently used. The Portal serves for exchanging ideas (online 

suggestion box) and development of mutual aid (Say Thanks to 

a Colleague service). A special portal section is created to facilitate 

project work, which is of particular importance for distributed teams.

Olga Fedorova, HR and Organisation Development Director, 
LLC Rusagro Group of Companies:
"The Engagement Survey is an important reference point for 

the Company's management and HR colleagues for the implementation 

of improvements in different HR areas. Management meetings were 

organised in the follow-up of each survey, and respective action plans 

were drawn up to improve this or that process. Unfortunately, each time 

there were only 6-7 months left until the next survey to deliver these plans. 

Quite often, the employees did not have enough time to perceive any 

effect from the improvements. Having consulted with the world leader on 

engagement issues – Aon Hewitt, we decided to follow the lead of other 

companies and measure engagement not so often – once every two years, 

but in between do pulse measurements using a simplified methodology. 

Besides, many new assets joined Rusagro in 2018. To include them 

in  the survey system, the Company decided to carry out the next survey 

in May 2019. Future surveys will be also conducted in spring, as it is 

the most convenient period regarding the business processes".

The attractiveness of the Rusagro Employer Brand was actively 

promoted among the schoolchildren. The Early Career Guidance 

System – the Sprouts of the Future – was launched and involved 

more than 3,300 school students in the Tambov and Belgorod 

regions (for the details refer to the SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 

SECTION). The Company also conducted a Russia-wide online 

lesson devoted to the agricultural professions of the future 

(3 million reviews, 18 thousand schools). 

The Integrated Corporate Portal was created in 2018 for generating 

a shared information space and transmitting the employer brand 

values among the Company’s employees.

Before 2018, the Company conducted an annual employee 

engagement survey showing the employees’ commitment to 

the Company’s business and success. In 2017, the engagement level 

of the Company’s employees jumped to 73% (+6 p.p.). So, in 2018, 

the Company decided to do such large-scale personnel surveys only 

once in two years. Thus, the next survey will take place just in May 2019. 

EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT

Engagement in Rusagro in 2017, %

High-performance
zone for engagement

Rusagro’s
engagement level

FMCG
engagement level

Engagement level
of a typical Russian man

Engagement level
of production companies

69

67

63

62

57

Source: Rusagro

interesting programme was prepared, including entertainers and 

trampolines, chemical experiments and drones launches, exciting 

lectures and games, and many other entertainments. All day long 

there were competitions and performances by artists on the festival's 

stage; there was no chance for kids and adults to get bored.

One km and three km charity races “Run for the sake of good” 

became the key event of all “2018 Fair games Rusagro” festivals. 

The employees of each region chose the area of support 

independently by open voting, and different cities selected one and 

the same variant: helping children with disabilities.

According to the run rules, each kilometre run by a participant 

earned RUB 300 to the overall charity score. Children’s runs were 

also accounted, as young sportsmen took part very actively and 

whole-heartily. Rusagro’s employees and their children run a total 

of 617 kilometres.

In 2018, the HR team of the Rusagro Group of Companies studied 

the best practices for automating human resource management 

processes in the market with a view to applying them to our 

Company. The final decision was to introduce one of the most 

advanced and high-performance SAP Success Factors (SF) system 

and start implementing a project for creating the Shared HR 

Services Centre.

Through the implementation of the SAP Success Factors, all 

stages of the employees' "life" in the Company will be recorded 

and controlled in one system, having an intuitive interface and 

high capacity.

The project was started up on 1 February and has a two-year 

horizon. But by the end of 2019, the employee recruitment and 

adaptation services, efficiency and skills assessment processes, 

career planning and continuity management processes will 

be introduced.

CORPORATE CULTURE

AUTOMATION 

Results of “Run for the sake of good” races, km

Implementing success factors
This decision offers a wide range of advantages:

The objectives of the Rusagro's HR digital transformation:

• Attract and train transformational leaders
• Provide all employees with effective development tools
• Provide managers and teams with quality information needed 
to make decisions

Simplify and Upgrade
Reducing the complexity of HR processes, upgrading 
the technology platform, the highest level of security

Real Time Analytics
Making HR decisions based on transparent and relevant 
information, as well as forecasting and planning HR strategy

Operational efficiency
Reducing the number of manual and administrative 
operations, freeing up time to support business goals

Employee user experience
Providing each employee with modern management tools 
for learning, development, career, and teamwork

A single corporate culture that is based on the Company values 

shared by all the employees plays a key role in ensuring Rusagro’s 

effective operation. To support its corporate culture, Rusagro 

annually holds multiple teambuilding events. 

In 2018, the Company organised a traditional event, Rusagro’s 

Fair Games, as a series of sports and family values festivals: six 

cities, six festivals, and more than 5,300 participants. The festivals 

were attended by both adults and children, for the latter a special 

Source: Rusagro
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At the end of the previous year, Rusagro launched a project for creating the Shared HR 

Management Services Centre 

A new service division will provide services for all Rusagro’s Subsidiaries; thus, the HR 

recordkeeping will cover more than 16,500 employees (including seasonal workers) in four 

time zones.

The Shared HR Services Centre will include 35 front-offices that will accept documents 

from the employees at the local level, as well as the back-office processing the requests and 

keeping the records. 

The Shared HR Services Centre will enable the Company to:

• improve labour efficiency of the HR function;

• standardise and centralise the processes with further automation and implementation 

of modern technologies (cutting down the information systems ownership costs);

• acquire summary insights;

• reduce terms for generation of all types of reports.

The advantage of the Shared HR Services Centre is a possibility to continuously work on 

improvement and optimisation. It means that HR Directors of the businesses, giving us care 

about service and routine operations, will be able to focus on such functions as recruitment, 

development, training, and onboarding of the personnel. By centralising the expert 

evaluation of the serviced processes and HR systems, the Shared HR Services Centre will be 

able to offer the business simpler and more efficient working practices and ways of solving 

problems, reducing the risks of business law violation.

Shared HR Services Centre

Automated bonuses

The HR service of the Sugar business has completed a new project for process automation. 

Earlier the C&B staff spent about five days to calculate the bonus pays for the plant workers, 

now they need just five hours to do this. The Company is planning to reduce this period to 

two-three hours. 

 "The bonus calculation process was very time-taking, – says Anna Danilejko, the C&B manager. – 

The data on full-time employees was processed and downloaded from ETWeb system, while data 

on the seasonal workers were calculated in Excel. Now, as we transferred all the calculations in 

1С system, this is much easier and quicker. The system automatically synchronises the personnel 

list, employees' KPI, and all special parameters (the date of employment, number of working days, 

seasonal worker or full-time employee, transitions to other divisions). Finally, a single order is 

generated and automatically sent to the Accounting Office for payroll accounting. 

The project was completed within five months, so in December, the bonuses were calculated 

already “in a new way”. 

Rusagro Group is a strategic investor with long-term interests seeking for social development and 

raising the living standards in the regions of its operation. Rusagro’s Philanthropy Programme was 

approved by the Board of Directors in December 2015. It is aimed at assisting schools, pre-school 

institutions, and district administrations with the construction of playgrounds. In 2018, a new 

forth focus area – the Sprouts of the Future educational initiative – was added. Its objective is to 

give equal opportunities to children from various socioeconomic backgrounds, to support their 

personal development and soft skills. Most of the targeted assistance goes to the regions where 

Rusagro’s employees live and work. The programme’s budget is calculated as 0.5% of the payroll 

budget for the production facilities in Rusagro’s presence regions. 

“Rusagro’s Philanthropy Programme has long-term objectives. Focusing on the younger 

generation – students of village schools and child care centres, we invest into the future 

of  the  Company’s operation regions and help those who actually need it”, – said Maxim Basov, 

the Chief Executive Office of Rusagro Group of Companies.

In 2018, the amount of assistance offered under the Programme almost doubled reaching 

RUB 33.0 million. In 2019, the project budget went up by 10% to RUB 36.4 million. 

The educational initiative will cover the Kursk and Orel Regions.

The budget growth in 2018 allowed an increase in the number of educational institutions 

embraced by the Programme. In 2017, assistance was provided to 43 educational institutions, 

while in 2018, the Programme included another 75 schools and child care centres. Under 

the Rusagro's Philanthropy Programme, 4 sports and playgrounds were opened in the Belgorod, 

Tambov, and Kursk Regions. This is 2 playgrounds more as compared to the previous year. 

By the year-end, the Company assisted the schools in the organisation of extracurricular 

programmes in robotics and 3D-modelling, purchased educational and laboratory equipment 

for chemistry and biology classes, updated the extracurricular programmes in arts, sports and 

civic and national education, provided schools with modern computers, multimedia equipment, 

and sensory rooms. The Company provided child care centres with play equipment and sensory 

rooms, developed the extracurricular programmes in arts and sports.

Social investment

IMPLEMENTATION 
OF THE PHILANTHROPY 
PROGRAMME

2016 2017 2018

Belgorod Region 3.9 6.7 11.9

Tambov Region 3.6 8.6 13.1

Samara Region 0.4 0.8 1.7

Primorye Territory – 0.4 2.2

Kursk Region – 0.5 2.3

Orel Region – 0.4 1.8

TOTAL 7.8 17.5 33.0

Rusagro’s Philanthropy Programme 
budget in 2015-2018 broken down 
by regions, RUB million
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In 2018, in addition to three traditional ones (school and children care centres support and 

construction of sports and playgrounds), the Rusagro’s Philanthropy Programme included 

one more assistance area – the Sprouts of the Future educational initiative. It is an early 

career guidance system for school students involving up-to-date methods. The project 

aimed at giving equal opportunities to children from various socioeconomic backgrounds. 

The projects will facilitate a positive social environment for the children to engage in 

project activities, development and experiments, and to acquire universal professional 

skills. Providing career guidance at such an early stage will enable the Company to build 

an effective long-term talent pipelining strategy.

Number of educational institutions 
included in the Rusagro’s 
Philanthropy Programme 
in 2016-2018

Schools Child care centres

2018 49 26

2017 26 16

2016 19 10

Sprouts of the Future

The project is implemented in three stages: interactive lessons at schools, a project 

competition, and a project festival. The three stages are centred on the four key areas of 

Rusagro’s activities: plants, animals, machinery, and technology.

The first project stage is a series of interactive lessons, including different forms of 

activity and encouraging teenagers to actively select their future professions. According 

to the game rules, teams of school students shall bring a new exoplanet under control. 

To achieve that, they need to select proper feeding and conditions for piglets, sow a field 

with most profitable crops, "virtually" harvest the crops, and process them. Vehicles were 

also kept in mind: kids were busy assembling them, measuring their run, and even launching 

small-size drones on their own. In April, more than 3,300 schoolchildren in grades 

7–8 in the Tambov and Belgorod Regions had a chance to play this way.

The second stage is a project competition. The purpose of the Competition was to draw 

attention to innovations in the agro-industrial sphere, to stimulate research activities and 

engineering and technical creativity of schoolchildren, to socialise gifted and talented children, 

and to encourage their business activities. During the summer months, schoolchildren prepared 

research works in four areas: livestock breeding, crop production, mechanisation, production 

technology, and processing of agricultural products. Mentors from the Michurin State Agrarian 

University, the Belgorod State Agricultural University, and Rusagro helped them. Through that 

initiative, the participants were all the time in a positive social environment engaged in project 

activities, development, and experiments. More than 80 applications were submitted.

At the end of the project competition, the best teams were invited to the Sprouts 

of the Future festivals in the Tambov and Belgorod Regions, where 3,400 visitors, 20% 

of which were children, could have a look at the projects. It consequently heightened 

the interest in scientific researches in the agriculture area. The winners in four competition 

nominations will be sent to a summer camp at the Black Sea coast in summer 2019, 

the mentors were given gift certificates and a possibility to complete a training course 

in the occupational guidance camp, and schools were awarded cash grants.

In its activities Rusagro Group focuses on observing the applicable environmental legislation, 
ensuring rational use of natural resources, implementing environmentally safe technologies, 
as well as on ensuring biological and veterinary safety in its livestock division.

Rusagro’s environmental management system has been developed in compliance 

with Russian environmental legislation. In addition to ensuring full compliance with all 

the requirements of the current environmental and health protection legislation, the Company 

seeks to minimise the negative impact on people, natural resources and the environment. 

The principles of achieving a sustainable balance between production and environmental 

protection lie at the core of the Company’s activities enabling it to minimise financial and 

reputational risks, identify the areas of concern at early stages and make the best decisions. 

The Company is open for dialogue with the society and other stakeholders on environmental 

protection and rational use of natural resources. 

The Company seeks to contribute to environmental conservation by implementing 

the following measures:

• Reducing the environmental footprint in all business segments;

• Producing more eco-friendly products;

• Facilitating rational use of natural resources – both those included in production and 

those found in the Company’s presence regions;

• Impementing the best technologies available.

Every enterprise within the Company constantly monitors water discharge and air quality. 

The water and air treatment facilities of the enterprises comply with the requirements of 

the applicable environmental legislation. To reduce the discharge, new air pollution control 

and dust and gas collection equipment is installed as part of modernising production. 

The Industrial Environmental Monitoring Programme involves regular monitoring of pollutant 

emission sources and necessary measures taken to reduce the environmental impact. 

In 2018, the Company reduced the volume of process and waste water by 12% 

to 11.4 million cubic metres. Greenhouse gas emissions declined to 1.2 million tonnes (-4%), 

while pollutant emissions increased to 15.0 million tonnes (+2%).

Environmental

responsibility

ENVIRONMENTAL 
PROTECTION

EMISSIONS

2016 2017 2018

Greenhouse gas emissions, 
thousand tonnes 1,309 1,282

1,225

Pollutant emissions, 
thousand tonnes 17,720 14,764

15,012

Process and waste water discharge, 
million cubic metres 10.1 11.4

10.0

Emissions

Source: Rusagro
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Major emissions in the Company are recorded in the Sugar business. In total, its 

enterprises discharged 9.2 million cubic metres of process and waste water by dilution 

and emitted 9.7 million tonnes of pollutants. The greenhouse gas emissions of the Sugar 

business are insignificant and a total of 1.1 thousand tonnes. In 2018, both process and 

waste water discharge and pollutant emissions declined by 14% and 9%, respectively, 

due to the lower amount of processed beets and a shorter season. The process and waste 

water is treated by routing it to filtration beds, where water is biologically purified by 

sedimentation, land filtration, and water evaporation. To reduce the volume of used natural 

waters and emissions, the Company takes measures to optimise water consumption. 

In-process monitoring of pollutant emissions is carried out once a year during the season, 

and pollutants monitoring in the sanitary protection zone – twice a year. To do such 

environmental monitoring, the Company involves a third party contractor.

The largest amount of greenhouse gas emissions comes from the Meat business. 

In 2018, these emissions reached 1.2 million tonnes (-4% year-on-year) due to livestock 

reduction. Pollutant emissions and waste water discharges in the reporting period went 

up by 32% to 5.2 million tonnes and by 11% to 106 thousand cubic metres, respectively. 

The changes were driven by commissioning and construction of new production facilities 

within the capacity expansion projects. Thereat, process and waste water discharges 

decreased threefold since 2016. The waste water is treated at biological treatment plants. 

The technology involves mechanical, physical, chemical, and biological treatment and 

disinfection of waste water. Some facilities do not have water treatment plants, and waste 

water is transferred to specialised treatment contractors. Untreated waste water is not 

discharged to the sewage system or water bodies. The automated hazardous emission 

control system is not available. In-process monitoring of atmospheric pollutant emissions 

is provided by a third-party certified laboratory, measuring the pollutants concentration at 

emission sources and at the boundary of the sanitary protection zone. 

The Oil and Fats business does not generate greenhouse gas emissions, while 

the pollutants level reached 70 thousand tonnes by the end of 2018 (down 14% year-on-

year). In 2018, 707 thousand cubic metres of process and waste water were discharged 

(up 14% year-on-year). The increase was driven by the commissioned bottling and refining 

line at the Oil Extraction Plant in the Samara Region, by setting a higher levels due to 

the absence of a waste water metering station at the Yekaterinburg Oil and Fats Plant, 

higher refining and deodorisation output and a three-line production at the Ussuriysk Oil 

and Fats Plant. The Company is implementing two large-scale projects for the retrofitting of 

waste treatment plants and the reduction of odorising substance atmospheric emissions. 

The Company is planning to invest more than RUB 1 billion within six years. To modernise 

the electrolysis plant generating hydrogen for the mayonnaise production and to purchase 

new filters to eliminate odours, a total of RUB 50 million of investments was allocated 

in 2018. According to the technology, air passes through a convector, where it is cleaned 

of impurities, followed by the destruction of molecules of pollutants, which, under 

the influence of ozone, are oxidised and decomposed into carbon dioxide and water. It is 

planned to purify waste water to the level of drinking water bodies. The Plant’s hazardous 

emission monitoring system comprises the production laboratory control at hazardous 

emission sources and at the boundaries of the sanitary protective zone and the residential 

area. Storm runoffs are treated at a sand oil catcher, the plant effluents are preliminarily 

degreased at grease traps and further at stormwater treatment facilities. The treatment 

approach is based on induced air flotation using chemical agents.

No provisions are made for the waste water discharge in the production 
process of the Agriculture business. Greenhouse gas emissions in 2018 amounted 

to 0.9 thousand tonnes (+15%), pollutants emissions – 0.3 thousand tonnes (+57%). Such 

growth in the pollutant emissions was driven by the expansion of production facilities due 

to the acquisition of new land assets. The greenhouse gas emissions include atmospheric 

СО2 emissions resulting from combustion of all types of gaseous, liquid, and solid fuel in 

boiler units and turbines. To control the level of emissions, industrial internal environmental 

control is made available at emission sources. Moreover, in 2018, the Company purchased 

six methane-fuelled KAMAZ vehicles to gain relevant operating experience to further 

switch from gasoline to gas. From 2019, the business plans to gradually convert light 

motor cars, passenger cars, and trucks to gas fuel. These changes will have a positive 

environmental impact, as they will reduce carbon dioxide emissions into the atmosphere.

The Meat business is planning to set additional production sites into operation in 2019, 

which may result in higher emissions. To reduce atmospheric emissions, it is planned to 

reconstruct the ventilation systems and use the manure destructor. The Oil and Fats business 

may show an increase in the amount of waste water in 2019, as in 2018, the refining and 

deodorisation shop did not work for the entire calendar year. Installation of the waste water 

metering station and modernisation of the treatment plants are scheduled for 2019. 

In 2018, the Company’s enterprises generated 783.5 thousand tonnes of solid wastes, -2% 

year-on-year. Nearly all solid wastes (78%) resulting from the operations of the Group’s 

enterprises are Class 5 (practically non-hazardous) wastes. Class 4 (low-hazard) wastes 

account for 22% of the total amount. The volume of Class 4 wastes went down by 37%, 

while that of Class 5 wastes grew by 32%. Class 1, 2, and 3 wastes totalled 110 tonnes.

The Sugar business generates 98% of all the Company’s solid wastes. In 2018, 

the business produced a total of 766.2 thousand tonnes of solid wastes (-2%), including 

532.5 thousand tonnes (+32%) of Class 5 wastes and 233.6 thousand tonnes (-38%) of 

Class 4 wastes. Class 1, 2, and 3 wastes were not produced. The changes were mainly 

associated with beet processing volume. Class 5 wastes in the Sugar business comprise 

lime scum and dirt from filtration beds, which, while in water, contain earth and sand 

particles, microparticles of other impurities. The filtration beds are regularly cleaned, and 

the dirt is ploughed into fields not used in crop farming. Class 4 wastes are presented by 

wet-pressed pulp from the pit. The fermentation taking place in the pit results in forming 

bacteria and microorganisms, which further get into the soil. With pulp dryers installed 

at all plants, the Company can give up this technology and produce dry pulp pellets. Such 

wastes have a minimal environmental impact, as they either are reused at the Company’s 

plant or used to recover valuable components with their further utilisation. The lime is 

a common soil amendment, as its nutrient content is close to that of the manure, so the lime 

WASTE DISPOSAL
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is used for chalking or sweetening of sour lands. The amount of dirt from filtration beds is 

minimised by enhancing the flume water treatment quality through the withdrawal of dry 

sediments. For this, the sediments from a circular settling tank are mechanically dewatered 

and the resultant substance is delivered to the filtration beds. The pulp is sold to farm 

enterprises for cattle feeding and used as a soil amendment. 

In 2018, the Meat business generated a total of 6.9 thousand tonnes of solid wastes 

(+14%), including 5.4 thousand tonnes (+23%) of Class 5 wastes and 1.4 thousand tonnes 

(+3%) of Class 4 wastes. Sweepings from the plants’ territory, different fabric chips and 

tailings, grain cleaning wastes were ranged in Class 5 and Class 4 wastes. The surge in 

wastes generated in 2018 is attributed to the increased capacity of the production facilities. 

Class 1, 2, and 3 wastes totalled 8 tonnes (-96%), including disposal of mercury-vapour and 

fluorescent lamps that had lost their consumer attributes, and used lead batteries. The bulk 

of wastes is disposed of at the landfill. Biological (animal) wastes from the livestock farming 

enterprises at the Tambov Region are transported for processing to an in-house waste 

recycling plant and animal wastes at the Belgorod Region are transferred to specialised 

contractors. In 2019, the Company plans to commission new production facilities and 

expects the relevant increase of wastes generated. At the same time, there are plans to 

further reduce the amount of generated Class 1 wastes by replacing mercury lamps with 

LED ones at production facilities.

In addition to solid wastes, the Meat business generates liquid wastes – manure. In 2018, 

the volume of these wastes amounted to 3.2 million tonnes of cubic meters, which is 

down 11% year-on-year. To process manure accumulated in the baths of the production 

buildings, it is mixed with water and drained through the sewage system into the lagoons, 

where the liquid effluents are accumulated and neutralised to the Class 4 waste. Then, 

by agreement with the owners of the fields, manure is introduced deep into the soil of 

the fields to a depth of at least 20 cm. The closed method of applying manure to the soil, 

i.e. the injecting method, reduces the ammonia concentration in the air. In the winter, 

the introduction of manure is prohibited. Manure serves as a fertiliser and improves 

the soil quality, but it also brings negative environmental impact risks. In order to avoid 

this, in the winter period, the Company prepares equipment for introduction of manure, 

and for repair and replacement, develops and approves application schedules and 

rates, continuously controls the heads of the transport management department and 

the environmental engineers adhere to the application procedure, has the fields ploughed 

around the perimeter to prevent leaks of manure beyond the field and has the field timely 

disked in case of a rupture of the hose system and the overflow of manure to the surface.

 In 2018, the Oil and Fats business produced a total of 4.1 thousand tonnes of solid 

wastes (+5%), including 1.1 thousand tonnes (-32%) of Class 5 wastes and 3.0 thousand 

tonnes (+32%) of Class 4 wastes. The reduction of Class 5 wastes was driven by alterations 

of contractual terms. Starting from 2018, a contractor is solely responsible for taking 

away wastes generated by activities and reporting on the same. In 2018, the amount of 

Class 4 wastes increased together with the increased volume of bleaching earth used for 

oil clarification, resulting in the generation of associated bleaching earth wastes containing 

vegetable oils. Fifty-three percent of the solid waste from the Oil and Fats business is 

landfilled, another 44% is reused. In 2019, the Company plans to process the bleaching 

earth wastes containing vegetable oils by incinerating them and consequently reduce 

the amount of landfill wastes.

The Agriculture business generated only 1% of the Company’s solid wastes, which 

totalled 6.2 thousand tonnes (+30%) in 2018. Class 5 wastes accounted for 87% of that 

amount, including grain cleaning wastes, clear wood, sawdust, and paper. Class 4 wastes, 

such as solid household wastes, packages for mineral amendments and crop protection 

agents, contaminated paper, and used grain bags, totalled 0.8 thousand tonnes. The volume 

of Class 5 and Class 4 wastes went up in 2018 г. (+28% and +48%, respectively), resulting 

from the land bank expansion and higher production output. The amount of Class 3 wastes 

reached 56 tonnes (+29%) due to an increase in the volume of disposed used oils and 

greasy wastes, and also as a result of the identification of non-disposed oils. Class 2 wastes, 

including used batteries, totalled 40 tonnes (-2%). Class 1 wastes amounted to 48 kg, 

including mercury-vapour lamps collected every year and handed over to specialised 

organisations as they are accumulated. The enterprises of the Agriculture segment have 

sanitary protection zones, where the warehouses for the storage of crop protection agents 

are located. Residual crop protection agents and fertilisers, as well as packaging waste, 

undergo treatment in order to prevent environmental contamination. As part of technical 

modernisation, effective state-of-the-art filters are installed at the threshing facilities. 

Partially separate collection of such wastes as oil, tyre casings, accumulators, mercury-

vapour lamps, and waste paper (partially), is organised. All wastes are disposed of by third-

party specialised contractors.

Method 2016 2017 2018

Re-use 259,401 379,788 235,622

Recovery of valuable components, including 
energy generation

276,141 360,604 294,117

Landfilling 4,502 8,218 10,144

Storage at the plant’s site – – –

Other methods 219,949 43,033 238,831

Total 759,994 791,643 778,714

2016 2017 2018

Class 1 8 6 3

Class 2 30 41 44

Class 3 238 237 63

Class 4 261,716 382,010 238,837

Class 5 501,850 413,191 544,527

 Total 763,841 795,485 783,473

Waste disposal, burial and processing 
methods, weight in thousand tonnes

Total solid wastes broken down by 
classes, tonnes
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ENERGY SAVING AND 
WATER CONSUMPTION

In 2018, Rusagro cut down on energy consumption. So, electricity consumption decreased 

by 10% to 383.5 million kWh, heat energy – by 17% to 11.3 million GJ. This trend is directly 

related to the Company’s level of production and its efforts to enhance energy efficiency. 

In particular, energy saving equipment and LED-based lighting are installed at all the plants. 

In addition, automated and remote lighting control systems are introduced, including systems 

with infrared motion and presence detection sensors. 

The bulk of the electricity and heat consumption comes from the Sugar business. 

In 2018, it accounted for 52% and 83% of the total consumption of electricity and 

heat energy, respectively. Due to lower beet processing output and a shorter season, 

as compared to 2017, the electrical energy consumption went down by 21%. In 2018, 

electricity consumption decreased from 254.5 million to 201.2 million kWh, and heat 

energy – from 11.9 million to 9.4 million GJ. To cut down electricity consumption, 

the following activities are undertaken:

• revamping the process equipment;

• introducing energy-efficiency measures;

• installing variable speed drives;

• installing LED-based lighting;

• installing filter-compensating units;

• process automation;

• replacing the energy-intensive equipment;

• recovering heat from continuous blowdown of flashed vapour and condensate, heat 

insulation of equipment and networks;

• installing an automated electric power metering system to control energy consumption 

in particular areas.

In 2018, the Meat business consumed 110.8 million kWh of electricity (+10%), which is 

29% of the Company’s total electrical energy consumption. The level of heat consumption 

in the reporting period amounted to 10% of the total consumption. In 2018, it grew by 17% to 

1.1 million GJ. The growth in electrical energy consumption in 2018 was driven by new facilities 

built and higher production output. The energy-conscious measures comprise the transition 

to LED-based lighting and light regime control. The projections for 2019 include the launch of 

new production facilities and the respective growth in electrical energy consumption.  

In 2018, the Oil and Fats business consumed 55.9 million kWh of electrical energy (+4% 

year-on-year) and 0.8 million GJ of heat energy (+2%). The year-on-year growth in energy 

consumption is spurred by the acquisition of 4.2 thousand kW transformer capacity and by 

the launch of the refining and finished product bottling line at the Samara Oil Extraction Plant. 

It was partially offset by a decline in energy used at the Yekaterinburg and Ussuriysk Oil and 

Fats Plants. Several improvement projects were implemented in Yekaterinburg, for example, 

inefficient equipment was taken out of operation. In Ussuriysk, the reduction was achieved by 

non-using the second steam boiler because of high ambient air temperature. In 2019, the oil 

refining and bottling line will be operating during the entire calendar year, the husk pelletising 

line will be commissioned in Samara, and two steam boilers will be running in Ussuriysk, all 

these events will push energy consumption up. It will be partially offset by ongoing energy-

saving projects in Yekaterinburg. In 2019, the Oil and Fats business has approved 2019 Energy 

Saving and Energy Efficiency Plan for the Samara Oil Extraction Plant. The energy audit is 

planned to be conducted at the Yekaterinburg Oil and Fats Plant.  

The Agriculture business has the lowest energy consumption among the other 

Company’s businesses. In 2018, this business used 15.7 million kWh of electrical energy 

(+3%), 1.0 thousand GJ of heat energy (+5%). Low consumption of heat energy is associated 

with the growing use of in-house thermal energy produced by gas or electric boilers. 

The energy consumption growth was driven by the acquisition of new assets and the 

respective expansion of production facilities. The Company’s plans include the gradual 

transition to energy-saving lamps, the replacement of the machine and tractor station 

equipment, threshing machines and equipment with less energy-intensive ones.

In 2018, the Company used 14.2 million cubic metres of water with a 10% year-on-year 

reduction. Due to its production process aspects, the Sugar business accounted for 70% 

of the water consumption. The Sugar business takes the following water saving measures:

• increasing the capacity of the water recycling system;

• recycling river water;

• replacing river water with the recycling water;

• automating the river water consumption;

• installing water metering units. 

The Meat business used 3.7 million cubic metres of water in 2018, showing a 13% 

reduction year-on-year. The changes were driven by the enforcement of a temporary 

quarantine, repair works at some production facilities, and replacement of equipment. 

The Company plans to increase water consumption in 2019 due to the construction and 

commission of new production facilities. To reduce the water consumption in 2019, it is 

planned to install the well dispatching system, which will allow on-line monitoring of water 

supply from each well to the plant, timely detection of water leaks, and repair of leaky 

pipes. Another important measure will be the transition from the reactive maintenance of 

equipment to scheduled preventive repair and maintenance.

2016 2017 2018

Electrical energy consumption (kWh) 390,462,397 423,856,153 383,474,083

Sugar 225,812,000 254,520,000 201,158,000

Meat 100,538,202 100,243,917 110,752,813

Oil 48,983,579 53,853,329 55,879,291

Agriculture 15 128 615 15 238 907 15,683,979

Heat energy consumption (TJ) 11,787,062 13,642,214 11,348,500

Sugar 10 124 110 11 879 834 9,403,481

Meat 890,645 962,213 1,125,334

Oil 770,429 798,327 817,743

Agriculture 1,879 1,841 1,941

Energy consumption
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The Oil and Fats business consumed 0.5 million cubic 

metres of water in 2018, that is 4% of the Company’s total 

water consumption. A 9% increase was mainly spurred by 

the commission of the oil refining and bottling line in summer 

2018. The water consumption rate will continue growing in 2019 as 

the line will operate during the entire calendar year. The Agriculture 

business accounted for 1% of the Company’s water consumption 

that totalled 0.1 million cubic metres in 2018, +20% year-on-year. 

The growth was attributed by the expansion of the production 

facilities due to the acquisition of new assets. In 2019-2020, in 

order to optimise water consumption, the Company plans to 

implement several well drilling and water towers erection projects 

in the Belgorod, Tambov Regions, and the Primorye Territory. This 

will enable to create capacities to fill spraying devices for treating 

the agricultural crops.

Water consumption (cubic metres)

LAND USE

OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY

The Agriculture business implements the following measures 

to prevent soil degradation: crop rotation and soil deoxidisation by 

placing lime into soils of the Central Federal District territory and 

dolomite powder into soils of the Primorye Territory. The Company 

adheres to the principles of rational use of the mineral fertiliser 

complex – the application rates of fertilisers are adapted to 

the specific content of nutrients in a particular field.

Rusagro’s occupational safety indicators vary with its businesses. 

Thus, the lost time injury frequency rate (LTIFR)1 ranges from 

0.8 to 3.1, the lost time accident frequency rate (LTAFR)2 – 

from 1.5 to 3.0, the average number of days lost due to injury – 

from 31 to 83. In 2018, there were two fatalities in the Company – 

one in the Meat business and one in the Sugar busuness, while 

in 2016 and 2017, there were none.

The Meat business was marked with one of the highest labour safety indicators in 2018. 

Its LTIFR is 0.8, LTAFR is 1.5, which is the best in the Company. In 2018, the former indicator 

was improved by 50%, and the latter, due to a fatality happened, was decreased by 36%. 

An average number of days lost due to injuries reduced by 46% to 43. To achieve high 

results in the Meat business, the Company has in place the Regulation on the Labour 

Safety Management System, the Regulation on Industrial Control, and the Regulation on 

Interaction with Contracting Organisations.

In 2018, the Sugar business also showed high results. According to the results of 

the year, LTIFR decreased by 50% and reached 2.2. An average number of days lost due to 

injuries reduced by 60% to 31. Also, one fatal case was recorded in this business. In order 

to ensure occupational safety, a Safety Policy has been developed, introduced, and being 

continuously implemented.

In the Oil and Fats business in 2018 LTIFR increased from 0.8 to 1.2 and LTAFR 

grew from 1.2 to 1.8 as the result of an injuries in Samara and Ussuriysk. To achieve high 

occupational safety results, the business introduces a Training Policy, develops and 

implements the Labour Safety Management System.

In 2018, in the Company's Agriculture business, the LTIFR and LTАFR were 3.1 and 3.0, 

respectively. And due to the longer sick days in 2017, the number of lost days increased 

from 51 to 83 and LTIFR declined by 43%. To improve the industrial safety indicators of 

the Agriculture business, a Labour Safety Action Plan and Regulations on Labour Safety 

Policy were developed, introduced, and have been continuously implemented.

1 LTIFR = total working time lost due to injuries × 1 million man-hours / total 
working time. 

2 LTAFR = Number of accidents in the reporting period (minor + serious + fatal) * 
1,000 / average number of employees in the reporting period.

Method 2016 2017 2018

LTIFR (Lost Time Accident Frequency Rate)

Sugar 2.7 8.4 2.2

Meat 2.5 1.6 0.8

Oil 1.0 0.8 1.2

Agriculture 1.7 2.1 3.1

LTAFR

Sugar – – –

Meat 1.4 1.1 1.5

Oil 2.1 1.2 1.8

Agriculture 1.6 3.0 3.0

Average number of days lost due to injuries

Sugar 19.9 77.7 30.7

Meat 103.0 79.0 43.0

Oil 38.0 11.0 53.0

Agriculture 19.3 51.2 83.3

16.5 15.7
14.2

'18 '19'17'16

14.9

Source: Rusagro
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Rusagro adheres to the latest standards on growing quality livestock and reducing 

the risk of disease. The Company’s pig-breeding farms are fitted with modern high-tech 

equipment and comply with the top biosecurity status: Compartment IV (protection level 

of a pig-breeding plant). To ensure the high biosecurity level, the Meat business relies on 

the following principles:

1. Physical separation – the land, where the pig farms controlled by the Group are 

located. Within a 10-kilometre radius from its farms, there are no other livestock farms 

or household animal breeding enterprises. The distance between the farms is one to 

three kilometres, which allows preventing the spread of infection.

2. AIAO (All-in / all-out) production – animals of different generations and different 

production functions are kept separately to prevent the spread of diseases.

3. Restricted access – access to the areas inside the pig farms is stringently controlled 

and restricted. Each production facility is equipped with showers: every visitor 

is required to shower before entering and exiting, and also to leave all personal 

belongings outside and use specialised clothing and footwear. The vehicles can 

enter the territory of the pig farms only after they have been washed and disinfected. 

The incoming and outgoing employees, visitors, and vehicles must be registered.

4. Feed quality control – all feed ingredients are subject to constant laboratory control, 

which includes the assessment of quality and purity, and monitoring for pathogenic 

elements, infections, and toxic substances. All feed is heat-treated in order to prevent 

the spread of disease through the feed.

5. Strict sanitary procedures – the production areas at the farms are regularly cleaned 

and disinfected. The Group uses the AIAO (All-in / all-out) system, which implies that 

any production area may only be occupied by animals of the same generation. When 

the growing stage is completed, the area is thoroughly cleaned and disinfected. All 

technological vehicles get access to the production sites after being washed with foam 

detergents, disinfection, and heat treatment, involving a specially equipped drying 

machine. Vehicles are permitted for washing by quality inspectors and a veterinary 

laboratory, which performs bacteriological examinations after disinfection; quality 

inspectors and the veterinary laboratory exercise control over all stages.  

6. Vaccination – the animals are regularly vaccinated to prevent all known diseases.

7. Disease monitoring – The Group’s veterinarians constantly monitor the data on 

the spread of any disease and follow the latest scientific achievements in biosecurity 

and veterinary safety. The Group makes every effort to rapidly respond to any 

outbreaks of disease in the country by immediately interrupting feed purchases and 

supplies of animals to the affected regions.

BIOSECURITY AND 
VETERINARY SAFETY

Rusagro Group has consistently implemented global best practices aimed at increasing 

production efficiency in all of its businesses. In particular, the Everest world-class 

production system is being successfully implemented in the Sugar business; the Agriculture 

business has put in place the 5S (Kaizen) continuous improvement system; the Meat 

business has carried out the Lean Production project, and the Oil and Fats business is using 

its own production system based on the WCM (World Class Manufacturing) methodology.

Essentially, all these programmes involve continuous efforts aimed at efforts aimed at 

cost optimisation using the approaches that require constantly working toward eliminating 

all losses, engaging every employee in the optimisation process, and ensuring maximal 

customer orientation. 

The constant improvement system of the Agriculture segment is based on four key 

elements:

• 5S methodology;

• Improvement management system (rewarding the employees for filing proposals 

for improvement);

• Value stream mapping (identifying and eliminating losses in the processes);

• Overall maintenance of equipment.

Since late 2016, the Meat business has implemented the Lean Production project. 

The project is aimed at increasing overall equipment and operational efficiency, as well as 

reducing production costs.

The World Class Production programme that is being implemented in the Oil and 

Fats segment covers 10 key areas: occupational health and safety, finance, targeted 

improvements, autonomous maintenance, professional maintenance, quality, logistics 

and client service, equipment control, personnel development, environmental protection 

and energy. 

In 2014, the Sugar business introduced a new Your Idea Works programme aimed at 

stimulating the generation of ideas on improvement. The programme primarily targets 

the employees who have a profound knowledge of their jobs and see what can be changed 

and improved and at what stage. Most of the proposed ideas are related to technology 

modernisation or rational use of available technology and resources. Under the programme, 

employees will be eligible for remuneration after their idea has been successfully 

implemented. The amount of remuneration depends on the annual economic effect 

achieved by implementing the idea.

Lean
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The key priority of Rusagro Group is to produce competitive, high-quality products 

that comply with the requirements of the legislation and meet the expectations of 

the customers. The Company recognises the importance of safe high-quality food products 

for the nation’s health and controls every stage of production in all of its business segments, 

including control of incoming materials, production control, control of finished products, 

and control of vehicles used for the transportation of the products. The state-of-the-art 

production equipment ensures the quality of the manufactured products and their 

compliance with all relevant requirements on sanitary and hygienic practices. 

The Group’s enterprises are certified as compliant with Russian and international standards, 

regulations, and safety principles applied to the production and supply of products. 

The enterprises have introduced the GOST ISO 9001–2011 quality management system and 

the ISO 22000:2005 food products safety management system. Separate enterprises have 

also been certified as compliant with ISO/TS 22002–1, ISO/ТS 22002 and FSSC 22000 if 

this was required by the specific aspects of their activities. 

The two feed plants of LLC Tambovsky Bekon and all the enterprises of the Oil and Fats 

business have been certified by HACCP system, a key element of the ISO 22000:2005 

international standard for food safety management. НАССР certification implies that 

the required safety level should be ensured during food production, storage, transportation, 

and preparation. 

CJSC Samaraagroprompererabotka was the second sunflower seed processing facility 

in Russia to be certified under GMP + B2 good manufacturing practices standard. 

The Agriculture business operates in compliance with 015/2011 Technical Regulation on 

Grain Safety of the Customs Union.

The pig production division of the Meat segment is regularly assessed by the Russian 

Federal Service for Veterinary and Phytosanitary Surveillance and is assigned a zoosanitary 

status subsequent to the result of the assessment. Nearly all the production facilities 

(98%1) have been assigned a high safety status: Compartment IV.

The Group focuses on increasing customer satisfaction and uses the information obtained 

in the process of handling complaints to improve its products. The Group’s enterprises 

maintain extended complaints statistics that can be filtered by SKUs, shipments, and 

customers. Every incoming complaint is compared to similar cases and the customer’s 

complaints history is analysed, which makes it possible to reduce the complaint handling 

time. As soon as the root causes of the shortcoming are identified, the Company makes 

every effort to address them as quickly as possible and provide feedback. To ensure 

personnel engagement, a system of remuneration based on achieving specific KPIs 

was introduced.

In its activities, the Company is focused on strict compliance with the laws and other 

regulatory legal acts of the countries, in which it operates. In addition, Rusagro and its 

employees adhere to the basic ethical principles set forth in the Code of Business Conduct 

and Ethics.

The Company’s relations with the government agencies and local authorities are based on 

responsibility, trustworthiness, partnership, and mutual trust, as well as on respect for, and 

consistency with, the obligations.

The underlying principles of the Company’s relations with its business partners (customers, 

suppliers, contractors, and consultants) are long-term cooperation, mutual benefits, 

respect, trust, honesty, and fairness. The Company does business only with reliable 

partners who are engaged in legal activities and observes the following basic rules:

• Being a public company, the Group primarily selects its suppliers on a competitive basis;

• The Company fulfils the contractual obligations to its business partners and expects 

them to do the same;

• The Company settles any dispute that may arise in the process of its business activity 

by legal means and negotiations aimed at finding a mutually acceptable solution;

• The Company always takes into account the requirements of the legislation of 

the countries it does business with.

The Company builds its relations with the competitors on mutual trust; it welcomes and 

encourages mutually beneficial cooperation. The Company regards any manifestation of 

unfair competition or abuse of market power as completely unacceptable. The Company 

fully complies with the competition laws of the countries where it operates.

Quality

management

External corporate

relations and

ethics standards

1 Only one (the Tyurinsky feeding facility) of the Company’s 55 production facilities has been put 
in quarantine for African swine fever.

Rusagro’s 
ethical 
principles:
• Effectiveness

and profitability

• Observing laws
and regulations

• Social responsibility

• Integrity

• Partnership
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As prescribed by the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, all the Company’s employees 

observe the current anti-corruption and anti-money laundering legislation. The employees 

may not make, promise or receive illegal payments in cash, in kind or in any other form. 

The Company rules also prohibit the employees to offer, receive, or authorise offering 

of valuable gifts to public or private customers, business partners, their representatives 

or affiliated parties with an aim to obtain undue commercial advantages. In 2019, 

an Anticorruption Policy has been introduced.

Any contact with government officials and other persons referred to in the UK Bribery Act 

and the US Foreign Corrupt Practices should strictly comply with the Company’s anti-

corruption regulations and the current legislation. 

As part of its anti-corruption efforts, the Company implements the following principles:

• Do business only with reliable business partners (customers, suppliers, contractors, 

and consultants) engaged in legal activities and not involved in corruption, and make 

every effort, to the extent permitted by the applicable law, to inform them thereof, and 

to examine their business practices;

• Make every possible effort to prevent bribery in the name of the Company by developing 

and introducing a system of adequate procedures; 

• Make every effort, to the extent permitted by the current legislation, to obtain 

the information verifying the appropriate use of funds that the Company allocated for 

charity and sponsorship; 

• Cooperate with the authorised agencies, partners, and customers on preventing 

corruption, on the principle of reciprocity. 

All the principles and restrictions set forth by the Code equally apply to agents, consultants, 

and other third parties acting on behalf of the Company.

Prevention

of corruption
Procurement efficiency is of key importance to Rusagro Group, for this, the process defines 

the cost and quality of the products, and ultimately its profit and its competitiveness 

in the market.

The Company introduced unified Tender Regulations defining the objectives and principles 

of organising and performing the procurement. The Company’s procurement process in 

Agricultural and Oil and Fats business is managed by a SAP-based system that contains 

actual information on the procurement process and generates reports on specific aspects 

for a selected period with various level of detail.

The suppliers are selected on a competitive basis. To ensure equal opportunities, a single 

set of requirements will be applied to all potential suppliers, such as a standard package of 

documents for due diligence and unified formats for commercial proposals and terms of 

reference.

Today, most of the procurement is done on the electronic trading platforms, which saves 

time and effort, ensures the transparency of the procurement process and impartiality of 

contractor selection, and, consequently, the fairness of competition.

All tenders are announced in the mass media, on the Internet, and on the corporate 

web page of Rusagro Group, which means that any company can obtain information on 

the tender, see the commercial enquiry, the terms of reference, and the contact information 

of the person responsible for the procurement. 

Healthy competition and absence of monopoly for a specific product or service create 

a favourable environment for securing contracts on the most favourable terms possible. 

A significant economic effect is achieved by centralising procurement within the business, 

as well as by developing annual procurement schedules that factor in seasonal drops in 

the prices for specific goods and the time required for delivery.

Procurement

Rusagro’s 
procurement 
principles:
• Strict regulation

• Maximum automation

• Absolute transparency
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ROS AGRO PLC 
CONSOLIDATED MANAGEMENT REPORT 

 
 

 

The Board of Directors presents its report together with the audited consolidated financial statements 
of ROS AGRO PLC (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 
31 December 2018. The Group’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union (“EU”) and the 
requirements of the Cyprus Companies Law, Cap. 113. 
Principal activities 
The principal activities of the Group are the agricultural production (cultivation of sugar beet, grain 
and other agricultural crops), cultivation of pigs, processing of raw sugar and production of sugar 
from sugar beet, vegetable oil production and processing. 

Review of development, position and performance of the Group’s business 
In 2018 revenue increased by RR 3,919,851 thousand or 5%. All segments except for the Sugar segment 
demonstrated an increase in revenue. The major contributor to the sales increase was the Oil and Fat 
segment where sales increased by RR 6,855,466 thousand or 35% comparing to the previous year. 
The decrease in sales in the Sugar segment by 21% is a result of lower volumes of sugar sold. Sales 
in the Oil and Fat segment increased thanks to the sales growth of bottled and bulk oil and the rise 
of sales price of bulk oil and margarine. Revenue in the Agricultural segment rose by 11% as the result 
of growth in sales price of all crops. Higher sales volume of processed pork cutting products together with 
higher prices led to the increase in the Meat segment sales by 9%. 

In 2018 Adjusted EBITDA increased by RR 2,223,706 thousand or 16% with positive dynamics 
in all segments except for the Sugar segment, which demonstrated a drop by RR 606,358 thousand 
or 11%. The Agricultural segment demonstrated an increase by RR 4,904,507 thousand thanks to higher 
gross profit and lower distribution and selling expenses. The increase in the Oil and Fat segment amounted 
to RR 2,186,870 thousand as a result of an increase in gross profit and lower distribution 
and selling expenses. Adjusted EBITDA in the Meat segment increased by RR 723,079 thousand or 12%.  

In 2018 the Group investments in property, plant and equipment and inventories intended for construction 
amounted to RR 16,244,442 thousand on a cash basis. Investments of RR 9,367,503 thousand were made 
in the Meat segment and were related to pig farms construction in Tambov region and Primorski Krai. The 
Sugar segment invested RR 3,766,117 thousand in modernization of the sugar plants. The Agricultural 
segment invested RR 1,953,058 thousand in acquisition of new agricultural machinery and equipment. 
Investments in the Oil and Fat division amounted to RR 1,157,764 thousand. 

Changes in the Group’s structure 

On 26 February 2018 the Group acquired 100.00% of ownership interest in LLС Tambovsky Molochnik. 

On 27 February 2018 the Group acquired 25.50% additional shares in OJSC Pugachevskiy elevator, 
thereby increasing its shares in the share capital of OJSC Pugachevskiy elevator at 93.3% (2017: 67.8%). 

On 28 February 2018 the Group acquired 100.00% of ownership interest in the newly incorporated company 
LLС Tambovsky Syrovar. 

On 21 August 2018 the Group obtained 100.00% of ownership interest in the newly incorporated company 
LLС Rusagro Molochnye Producty. 

In August 2018 the Group acquired through one deal 100.00% share capital of trading company LLC 
Torgoviy dom Kapital Agro and holding company LLC Kapital-Invest both located in Belgorod region. At the 
time of the purchase transaction, LLC Kapital-Invest controlled 100.00% ownership interest in CJSC 
KapitalAgro, located in Belgorod region. The total consideration transferred under the deal amounted to 
RR 557,000 thousand. 

On 19 September 2018 the Group acquired 100.00% of ownership interest in the share capital of LLC 
Vozrozhdenie, which controlled 11 thousand hectares of land in Tambov region. The Company plans to 
implement sugar beet crop rotation on this land and develop irrigation system. The total cash consideration 
amounted to RR 217,850 thousand. 

On 1 October 2018 LLC Rusagro Uchet was merged with LLC Group of Companies Rusagro. 

On 5 October 2018 the Group obtained 50.00% of ownership interest in Teman Terminal Limited 
incorporated in Cyprus. 

On 29 December 2018, the Group incorporated new company in China – Suifenhe Enong Agricultural 
Sideline Products Co., Ltd. But according to the Chinese law the date of incorporation of the company is 
the date of issue of the license. The date of issue the license is 31 January 2019. Until this date there is 
prohibition of commercial activities. The main commercial activity is agricultural activity and growing pigs.  
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Changes in the Group’s structure (continued) 

For more details regarding the Group structure refer to Note 1 and Note 25 of the consolidated financial 
statements. 

Principal risks and uncertainties 
The Group’s critical estimates and judgments and financial risk management are disclosed in Notes 2 
and 30 to the consolidated financial statements. The Group’s operating environment is disclosed 
in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. 

The Group’s contingencies are disclosed in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements. 
Future developments 
In 2018 and beyond, the Group plans to continue modernization and expansion of its production and 
storage facilities in all business segments. The Group plans to make further expansion in the Far East 
region where it develops agricultural and meat business. 

Results 
The Group’s results for the year are set out on page 2 of the consolidated financial statements. 

Human resources management and environmental protection 

The Group offers its employees opportunities to realize their professional potential, improve their knowledge 
and skills, work on interesting innovation projects and be part of a cohesive team. Group management 
believes that one of the keys to a successful business is maintaining a balance between the high quality 
and efficient work of all employees who share common values and principles on one hand, and the 
Company’s commitment to providing opportunities for career growth on the other. Group business divisions 
annually prepare and implement employee training and development plans based on the business’s 
strategic and current objectives, as well as needs identified by comprehensive assessment. Based on the 
results of a comprehensive assessment, every employee draws up an individual development plan for a 
period of one to two years that lists all training and development activities that are intended to advance the 
employee’s skills or pass on the knowledge they have gained. 

The Group is committed to protecting the environment and minimizing the environmental impact of its 
operations in regions where it has a presence. All of the Group’s divisions constantly monitor wastewater 
runoff and air quality, and are equipped with treatment facilities that meet all the standards of applicable 
environmental legislation. The Group has implemented guidelines for maximum allowable emissions and 
guidelines for waste generation and established sanitary buffer zones for warehouses storing crop 
protection agents. The Group also returns packaging from crop protection agents and fertilizer to 
counterparties and performs soil deacidification efforts on farmland. 

The composition and diversity information of the Board of Directors of the Group 

The authority and responsibilities of the Board of Directors are described in the Internal Rules of the Board 
of Directors. 

On behalf of all shareholders and on the proposal or advice of the Management Board, the Board of 
Directors lays down the strategy and general policy of the Group. It also sets the Group’s standards and 
monitors the implementation of that strategy.  

It controls and gives direction to the management of the company and the Group and provides monitoring 
of risks.  

It also ensures that the principles of good governance are respected.  

The Board’s acts are guided solely by a concern for the interests of the Company in relation to its 
shareholders, its customers and staff.  

The Board of Directors is the decision-making body of our Group. Its role is to define the Group's strategic 
vision, assisted by a specialized committee (the Audit Committee). It is composed of 5 Directors, including 
2 independent Directors and 1 managing Director. The Board offers a diverse and synergistic range of 
experience, nationalities and cultures and enables us to consider the interests of all our shareholders. 

The Board has determined that, as a whole, it has the appropriate skills and experience necessary to 
discharge its functions. Executive and independent Directors have the experience required to contribute 
meaningfully to the Board’s deliberations and resolutions. Independent Directors assist the Board by 
constructively challenging and helping develop strategy proposals. 
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Dividends 
Pursuant to its Articles of Association the Company may pay dividends out of its profits. In August 2013 the 
Board of Directors has approved a new dividend policy with payout ratio of at least 25% of the Group’s 
profit for the year applicable starting from the year ended 31 December 2013. To the extent that the 
Company declares and pays dividends, owners of Global Depositary Receipts (hereafter also referred as 
“GDRs”) on the relevant record date will be entitled to receive dividends payable in respect of Ordinary 
Shares underlying the GDRs, subject to the terms of the Deposit Agreement. 

The Company is a holding company and thus its ability to pay dividends depends on the ability of its 
subsidiaries to pay dividends to the Company in accordance with the relevant legislation and contractual 
restrictions. The payment of such dividends by its subsidiaries is contingent upon the sufficiency of their 
earnings, cash flows and distributable reserves. The maximum dividend payable by the Company`s 
subsidiaries is restricted to the total accumulated retained earnings of the relevant subsidiary, determined 
according to the Russian law. 

In 2018 the Company distributed RR 2,224,024 thousand of dividends for the second half of 2017 and 
RR 1,026,426 thousand of interim dividends for the first half of 2018. The dividends for the second half of 
2017 amounted to RR 82.68 (gross) per share and interim dividends for 2018 amounted to RR 38.15 (gross) 
per share. 

Subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board of Directors recommends the payment of 
additional dividends out of the profits for the year 2018 and prior years' undistributed reserves to the amount 
of RR 3,449,838 thousand. Given that the Company has already paid interim dividends for the first half of 
2018 to the amount of RR 1,026,426 thousand, the total dividend out of the profits for 2018 and prior years' 
undistributed reserves amounts to RR 4,476,264 thousand.  

The proposed dividend is subject to approval by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. These 
consolidated financial statements do not reflect the dividends that have not been approved on the reporting 
date. 

Share capital 

There were no changes in the share capital of the Company during 2017 and 2018. 

The role of the Board of Directors 

The Company is governed by its Board of Directors (hereafter also referred as “the Board”) which is 
collectively responsible to the shareholders for the successful performance of the Group. 

The Board sets corporate strategic objectives, ensuring that the necessary financial and human resources 
are in place for the Group to meet its objectives and reviewing management performance. 
The Board of Directors sets the Group’s values and standards and ensures all obligations 
to shareholders are understood and met. The Board believes it maintains a sound system of internal control 
to safeguard the Group’s assets and shareholders’ investments in the Group. 

Significant direct/indirect holdings 

For the significant direct and indirect shareholdings held by the Company, please refer to Note 1 of the 
consolidated financial statements 

Members of the Board of Directors 

The members of the Board of Directors at 31 December 2018 and at the date of this report are shown in 
the beginning of these consolidated financial statements. All of them were members of the Board throughout 
the year ended 31 December 2018.  

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, one third of the Directors shall retire by rotation 
and seek re-election at each Annual General Meeting. 
The Company’s Directors’ remuneration is disclosed in Note 27. There were no any significant changes to 
the Directors’ remuneration during the year ended 31 December 2018. 

Directors’ Interests 

The Directors Mr. Vadim Moshkovich, Mr. Maxim Basov, Mr. Richard Andrew Smyth and Mr. Anastassios 
Televantides held interest in the Company as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017. 

Mr. Vadim Moshkovich had no direct interest in the Company as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 
2017. The number of shares held indirectly through a company controlled by him as at 31 December 2018 
is 19,327,829 (31 December 2017: 19,327,829). 
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Directors’ Interests (continued) 

The number of shares and GDRs held directly by Mr. Maxim Basov as at 31 December 2018 is 
1,000,000 and 4,876,911 (equivalent of 975,382 shares), respectively (31 December 2017: 1,000,000 
shares and 4,679,571 GDRs equivalent to 935,914 shares). 

The number of GDRs held directly by Mr. Richard Andrew Smyth as at 31 December 2018 
and 31 December 2017 is 31,126 (equivalent of 6,225 shares). 

The number of GDRs held directly by Mr. Anastassios Televantides as at 31 December 2018 
and 31 December 2017 is 10,000 (equivalent of 2,000 shares). 

Audit Committee 

The Board of Directors has established an Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is primarily responsible 
for (i) ensuring the integrity of our consolidated financial statements, (ii) ensuring our compliance with legal 
and regulatory requirements, (iii) evaluating our internal control and risk management procedures, 
(iv) assuring the qualification and independence of our independent auditors and overseeing the audit 
process and (v) resolving matters arising during the course of audits and coordinating internal audit 
functions. The Audit Committee consists of three members appointed by the Board of Directors. 
The current members are Mr. Anastassios Televantides (Chairman), Mr. Richard Andrew Smyth 
and Mrs. Ganna Khomenko. 

Internal control and risk management systems in relation to the financial reporting process 

The internal control and risk management systems relating to financial reporting are designed to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and to ensure compliance with 
applicable laws and regulations. The Audit Committee of the Board of directors of the Company reviews 
high-risk areas at least once a quarter. Reporting from various Group entities to the central office is 
supervised on an ongoing basis and procedures have been established for control and checking of such 
reporting. With each acquisition the Group seeks to adapt and incorporate the financial reporting system of 
the acquired operations quickly and efficiently. 

Corporate Governance 

Since 2011, the Company adopted the following codes: Code of Conduct on insider information and Code 
of Business Conduct and Ethics. In addition, since May 2014 the Company together with its subsidiaries 
and affiliates adopted a new edition of the Codes for mandatory compliance by all employees. In 2017 the 
Company adopted a new Code of Conduct and Business Ethics.  

Non-Financial and Diversity Information 

The Group will be publishing its first Non-Financial Information and Diversity Statement on the company’s 
website, www.rusagrogroup.ru, within six months after the balance sheet date.  

Events after the balance sheet date 

The material events after the consolidated balance sheet date are disclosed in Note 33 to the consolidated 
financial statements. 

Branches 

The Company did not operate through any branches during the year. 

Treasury shares 

On 25 August 2011 the Board unanimously resolved that it is in the best interest of the Company to buy 
back GDRs from the market for the total amount of up to USD 10 million increased to up to USD 30 million 
via subsequent Board's decision on 17 July 2012. 

At 31 December 2018 the Company held 2,166,313 of its own GDRs (approximately 433,263 shares) that 
is equivalent to RR 490,606 thousand, representing 1.6% of its issued share capital. At 31 December 2017 
the Company held 2,172,368 of its own GDRs (approximately 434,474 shares) that is equivalent to 
RR 491,978 thousand, representing 1.6% of its issued share capital. The GDRs are held as ‘treasury 
shares’. 

During 2018 and 2017 the Company did not buy back any of its own GDRs from the market. 
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Treasury shares (continued) 

In 2018 6,055 GDRs (approximately 1,211 shares) of the Company amounting to RR 1,371 thousand were 
transferred to the employees under the share option incentive scheme initiated by the Group 
in 2017 (Note 27). 

Research and development activities 

The Group is not engaged in research and development activities.  

Going Concern 

Directors have access to all information necessary to exercise their duties. The Directors continue 
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial statements based on the fact that, 
after making enquiries and following a review of the Group’s budget for 2019, including cash flows and 
borrowing facilities, the Directors consider that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operation 
for the foreseeable future. 

Independent Auditors 
The Independent Auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers Limited, have expressed their willingness 
to continue in office. The appointment of the auditors will be approved at the Annual General Meeting. 

 

By Order of the Board 
 
 
 
 
 
                                           

Vadim Moshkovich                                    
Chairman of the Board of Directors 
 
Limassol 
13 March 2019
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The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted 
by the European Union (“EU”) and the requirements of the Cyprus Companies Law, Cap. 113. 

This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant 
to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and 
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

Each of the Directors confirms to the best of his or her knowledge that these consolidated financial 
statements (which are presented on pages 1 to 61) have been prepared in accordance with IFRS 
as adopted by the EU and the requirements of the Cyprus Companies Law, Cap. 113, and give a true 
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company 
and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole. 

 

 

By Order of the Board 
 
 
 
 

 

                                             

Vadim Moshkovich                                    
Chairman of the Board of Directors 
 
Limassol 
13 March 2019 
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ROS AGRO PLC 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018
(IN THOUSANDS OF RUSSIAN ROUBLES, UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE) 

The accompanying notes on pages 5 to 68 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  1 

Note 31 December 2018 31 December 2017

ASSETS
Current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 3 1,728,396 4,860,335
Restricted cash 49 42
Short-term investments 4 8,551,238 18,457,778
Trade and other receivables 5 6,226,403 3,196,315
Prepayments 6 2,194,971 1,201,479
Current income tax receivable 533,459 212,026
Other taxes receivable 7 4,420,011 3,352,606
Inventories 8 49,011,008 25,665,886
Short-term biological assets 9 4,065,870 4,009,965
Total current assets 76,731,405 60,956,432

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 12 68,606,452 56,390,084
Inventories intended for construction 12 4,136,855 795,314
Goodwill 25 2,364,942 1,826,258
Advances paid for property, plant and equipment 6 9,681,448 13,841,743
Long-term biological assets 9 2,650,201 1,719,784
Long-term investments 10 54,494,252 17,594,030
Investments in associates 7,320 7,320
Deferred income tax assets 26 1,866,593 1,992,839
Other intangible assets 13 2,202,786 2,286,181
Other non-current assets 215, 417 -
Non-current assets held for sale 11 820,950 -
Total non-current assets 147,047,216 96,453,553
TOTAL ASSETS 223,778,621 157,409,985

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Short-term borrowings 15 32,513,595 8,863,525
Trade and other payables 16 12,190,160 6,773,069
Current income tax payable 60,913 63,729
Other taxes payable 17 4,023,943 4,072,364
Total current liabilities 48,788,611 19,772,687

Non-current liabilities
Long-term borrowings 15 62,587,531 37,787,777
Government grants 18 7,310,975 6,377,469
Deferred income tax liability 26 359,051 744,113
Other non-current liability 15 2,465,813
Total non-current liabilities 72,723,370 44,909,359
TOTAL LIABILITIES 121,511,981 64,682,046

EQUITY 
Share capital 14 12,269 12,269
Treasury shares 14 (490,607) (491,978)
Share premium 14 26,964,479 26,964,479
Share-based payment reserve 27 1,326,579 1,308,188
Retained earnings 74,286,089 64,758,965
Equity attributable to owners of ROS AGRO PLC 102,098,809 92,551,923
Non-controlling interest 167,831 176,016
TOTAL EQUITY 102,266,640 92,727,939
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 223,778,621 157,409,985

Approved for issue and signed on behalf of the Board of Directors on 13 March 2019.  

_______________________________________  __________________________________________ 
Maxim Basov                                                             Vadim Moshkovich  
Director of ROS AGRO PLC Chairman of the Board of Directors
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ROS AGRO PLC 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
(IN THOUSANDS OF RUSSIAN ROUBLES, UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE) 

The accompanying notes on pages 5 to 68 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  2 

Note
Year ended

31 December 2018
Year ended

31 December 2017

Sales 19 82,977,711 79,057,860
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of biological assets and 
agricultural produce 9 2,850,788 (2,976,169)
Cost of sales 20 (61,679,842) (58,115,770)
Net gain/(loss) from trading derivatives 29 8,890 (11,115)

Gross profit 24,157,547 17,954,806

Distribution and selling expenses 21 (6,960,090) (8,360,964)
General and administrative expenses 22 (5,168,528) (4,878,534)
Other operating income/(expenses), net 23 593,112 (665,918)

Operating profit 12,622,041 4,049,390

Interest expense 24 (2,884,418) (2,259,804)
Interest income calculated using the effective interest method 3,581,272 3,847,749
Other similar interest income 421,680 341,801
Net (loss)/gain from bonds held for trading (41,940) 29,783
Other financial (expenses)/income, net 24 (166,842) (38,968)
Share of results of associates - 11,060

Profit before income tax 13,531,793 5,981,011
Income tax expense (703,830) (417,848)

Profit for the year 12,827,963 5,563,163

Other comprehensive income:
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit and loss:
Change in value of available-for-sale financial assets 15 - (154,082)
Fair value loss of available-for-sale financial assets 

transferred to profit or loss 15 - 301,335
Income tax relating to change in value of available-for-sale 

financial assets 15 - 30,816
Income tax relating to fair value loss of available-for-sale 

financial assets  transferred to profit or loss 15 - (60,267)
Total comprehensive income for the year 12,827,963 5,680,965

Profit is attributable to:
- Owners of ROS AGRO PLC 12,807,823 5,630,671
- Non-controlling interest 20,140 (67,508)

Profit for the year 12,827,963 5,563,163

Total comprehensive income is attributable to:
- Owners of ROS AGRO PLC 12,807,823 5,748,473
- Non-controlling interest 20,140 (67,508)

Total comprehensive income for the year 12,827,963 5,680,965

Earnings per ordinary share for profit attributable to the owners 
of ROS AGRO PLC, basic and diluted 
(in RR per share) 28 476.15 209.33
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ROS AGRO PLC 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
(IN THOUSANDS OF RUSSIAN ROUBLES, UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE) 

The accompanying notes on pages 5 to 68 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  4 

Note
Year ended

31 December 2018
Year ended

31 December 2017
Cash flows from operating activities 
Profit before income tax 13,531,793 5,981,011
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization 20, 21, 22 7,788,465 7,155,334
Interest expense 24 4,000,443 3,512,362
Government grants 23, 24 (1,915,530) (1,733,537)
Interest income (4,002,952) (4,189,550)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 23 126,228 78,849
Net (gain)/ loss on revaluation of biological assets and agricultural 
produce 9 (2,850,788) 2,976,169
Change in provision for net realizable value of inventory 63,905 2,222
Share of results of associates - (11,060)
Change in provision for impairment of receivables and prepayments 61,704 181,757
Foreign exchange loss /(gain), net 23, 24 63,468 (15,949)
Share based remuneration 27 18,391 19,761
Settlement of loans and accounts receivable previously written-off 23 (139) (141,339)
Lost  harvest write-off 23 70,580 82,119
Net loss / (gain) from bonds held for trading 41,934 (29,783)
Change in provision for impairment of advances paid for property, plant 
and equipment (38,852) 6,220
Impairment of goodwill 23 - 399,046
Loss on sale of associates, net - 58,833
Loss on sale of other assets 23 102,997 -
Realized deferred day-one gain 23 (274,111) -
Gain from reposition of collateral 23 (316,023) -
Loss on other investments 23 - 401,453
Other non-cash and non-operating expenses, net 146,758 109,201
Operating cash flows before working capital changes 16,618,271 14,843,119
Change in trade and other receivables and prepayments (4,050,515) 855,801
Change in other taxes receivable (1,050,067) 999,150
Change in inventories (19,788,602) 1,438,041
Change in biological assets (1,069,740) 304,866
Change in trade and other payables 2,808,297 (568,000)
Change in other taxes payable 141,469 223,637
Changes in working capital (6,390,887) 18,096,614
Income taxes paid (1,281,174) (423,213)
Net cash (used in)/ from operating activities (7,672,061) 17,673,401
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (12,895,786) (16,684,987)
Purchases of other intangible assets (351,141) (514,318)
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment 75,168 29,891
Purchases of inventories intended for construction (1,968,594) (848,870)
Proceeds from cash withdrawals from deposits 20,966,068 34,227,159
Deposits placed with banks (6,139,044) (35,976,815)
Purchases of associates - (9,168)
Proceeds from sale of associates - 42,116
Investments in subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 25 (534,450) 79,426
Purchases of bonds with maturity over three months (19,900,000) -
Purchases of promissory notes (100,000) -
Loans given - (7)
Purchases of loan issued (882,492) -
Loans repaid 369,008 428,559
Movement in restricted cash 658 (846)
Interest received 4,524,153 4,336,595
Purchases of other assets 23 (52,532) -
Proceeds from sales of other assets 23 1,325,100 -
Dividends received - 19,558
Net cash used in investing activities (15,563,884) (14,871,707)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings 15 49,981,866 18,819,053
Repayment of borrowings 15 (25,326,315) (16,860,947)
Interest paid (3,569,972) (2,865,059)
Purchases of non-controlling interest 14 (58,574) (81,218)
Dividends paid to owners ROS AGRO PLC (3,485,666) (6,146,486)
Proceeds from government grants 2,309,106 2,674,618
Lease payments 11,942 (14,919)
Other financial activities 79,377 (4,625)
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 19,941,764 (4,479,583)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 162,242 (213,488)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (3,131,939) (1,891,377)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 3 4,860,335 6,751,712
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 3 1,728,396 4,860,335
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1. Background 

Description of the business 

These consolidated financial statements were prepared for ROS AGRO PLC (hereinafter the “Company”) 
and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively with the Company, the “Group”). The Group is ultimately 
controlled by Mr. Vadim Moshkovich (hereinafter the “Owner”), who controls 70.7% of the issued shares 
in ROS AGRO PLC as at 31 December 2018 (31 December 2017: 70.7%). 

The principal activities of the Group are:  

− agricultural production (cultivation of sugar-beet, grain and other agricultural crops); 

− cultivation of pigs;  

− processing of raw sugar and production of sugar from sugar-beet;  

− vegetable oil extraction and processing. 

The registered office of ROS AGRO PLC is at 25 Aphrodite Street, CY-1060, Nicosia, Cyprus. 

The Group operates in the Russian Federation except for financial derivatives trading activity (Note 30).  

Principal subsidiaries of the Group included into these consolidated financial statements are listed below. 
The Group’s ownership share is the same as the voting share. 

Entity Principal activity
Group’s share in the share capital, %

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
OJSC Rusagro Group Investment holding, financing 100 100
LLC Group of Companies Rusagro Investment holding, financing 100 100

Sugar segment
LLC Rusagro-Sakhar Sugar division trading company, sales 

operations 100 100

LLC Rusagro-Belgorod Beet and raw sugar processing 100 100
LLC Rusagro-Tambov Beet and raw sugar processing 100 100
OJSC Krivets-Sakhar Beet and raw sugar processing 100 100
OJSC Kshenskiy Sugar Plant Beet and raw sugar processing 100 100
OJSC Otradinskiy Sugar Plant Beet and raw sugar processing 100 100
OJSC Hercules Buckwheat processing plant 100 100
Limeniko Trade and Invest Limited Trading operations with goods and derivatives 100 100

Oil and Fat segment
OJSC Fats and Oil Integrated Works Oil processing 100 100
CJSC Samaraagroprompererabotka Oil extraction 100 100
OJSC Pugachevskiy elevator Elevator 93.3* 67.8
LLC Primorskaya Soya Oil extraction and processing 75.0 75.0
LLC Kolyshleyskiy Elevator Elevator 100 100

Meat segment
LLC Tambovsky Bacon Cultivation of pigs 100 100
LLC Rusagro-Primorie Cultivation of pigs 100 100
LLC Regionstroy Construction for cultivation of pigs 100 100
LLC Kapital-Invest Cultivation of pigs 100** -
CJSC KapitalAgro Cultivation of pigs 100** -

Agriculture segment
LLC Rusagro-Invest Agriculture 100 100
LLL Rusagro-Moloko Agriculture 100 100
LLC Agrotehnology Agriculture 100 100
CJSC Primagro Agriculture 100 100
OJSC By General Vatutin Agriculture ***- 66.47
LLC Kshenagro Agriculture 100 100
LLC Otradaagroinvest Agriculture 100 100
LLC Vozrozhdenie Agriculture 100 -

*In 2018 the Group acquired additional share in OJSC Pugachevskiy.  

**In 2018 the Group acquired legal entities LLC Kapital-Invest and CJSC KapitalAgro that joined the Meat segment (Note 25). 

***In 2018 OJSC By General Vatutin was liquidated. 
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1. Background (continued) 

Russian Federation. The Russian Federation displays certain characteristics of an emerging market. Its 
economy is particularly sensitive to oil and gas prices. The legal, tax and regulatory frameworks continue 
to develop and are subject to frequent changes and varying interpretations (Note 31). The Russian 
economy continues to be negatively impacted by ongoing political tension in the region and international 
sanctions against certain Russian companies and individuals. Firm oil prices, low unemployment and rising 
wages supported a modest growth of the economy in 2018. This operating environment has a significant 
impact on the Group’s operations and financial position. Management is taking necessary measures to 
ensure sustainability of the Group’s operations. However, the future effects of the current economic 
situation are difficult to predict and management’s current expectations and estimates could differ from 
actual results. 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU) and the requirements of the Cyprus 
Companies Law, Cap.113. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical 
cost convention, as modified by the initial recognition of financial instruments based on fair value, financial 
instruments categorized at fair value through profit or loss and at fair value through other comprehensive 
income, biological assets that are presented at fair value less point-of-sale costs and agricultural produce 
which is measured at fair value less point-of-sale costs at the point of harvest. The Group entities registered 
in Russia keep their accounting records in Russian Roubles in accordance with Russian accounting 
regulations (RAR). These consolidated financial statements significantly differ from the financial statements 
prepared for statutory purposes under RAR in that they reflect certain adjustments, which are necessary to 
present the Group’s consolidated financial position, results of operations, and cash flows in accordance 
with IFRS as adopted by the EU. 

As of the date of the authorisation of these consolidated financial statements all International Financial 
Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and effective as at 
1 January 2018 have been adopted by the EU through the endorsement procedure established by the 
European Commission. 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are 
set out below. Apart from the accounting policy changes resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 
15 effective from 1 January 2018, these policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, 
unless otherwise stated (refer to Notes 2.11 and 2.30).  

2.2 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies 
Useful lives of property, plant and equipment 

The estimation of the useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment is a matter of judgement based 
on the experience with similar assets. The future economic benefits embodied in the assets are consumed 
principally through use. However, other factors, such as technical or commercial obsolescence and wear 
and tear, often result in the diminution of the economic benefits embodied in the assets. Management 
assesses the remaining useful lives in accordance with the current technical conditions of the assets and 
estimated period during which the assets are expected to earn benefits for the Group.  

The following primary factors are considered: (a) expected usage of the assets; (b) expected physical wear 
and tear, which depends on operational factors and maintenance programme; and (c) technical or 
commercial obsolescence arising from changes in market conditions. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

Fair value of livestock and agricultural produce 

The fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs of livestock at the end of each reporting period is 
determined using the physiological characteristics of the animals, management expectations concerning 
the potential productivity and market prices of animals with similar characteristics.  

The fair value of the Group’s bearer livestock is determined by using valuation techniques, as there were 
no observable market prices near the reporting date for pigs and cows of the same physical conditions, 
such as weight and age. The fair value of the bearer livestock was determined based on the expected 
quantity of remaining farrows and calves for pigs and cows, respectively, and the market prices of the young 
animals. The fair value of mature animals is determined based on the expected cash flow from the sale of 
the animals at the end of the production usage. The cash flow was calculated based on the actual prices 
of sales of culled animals from the Group’s entities to independent processing enterprises taking place near 
the reporting date, and the expected weight of the animals. Future cash flows were discounted to the 
reporting date at a current market-determined pre-tax rate. In the fair value calculation of the immature 
animals of bearer livestock management considered the expected culling rate.  

Key inputs used in the fair value measurement of bearer livestock of the Group were as follows: 
31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Cows Pigs (sows) Cows Pigs (sows)
Length of production usage in calves / 
farrows 5 5 5 5
Market prices for comparable bearer 
livestock in the same region (in Russian 
Roubles/kg, excl. VAT) 202 347 178 318

Should the key assumptions used in determination of fair value of bearer livestock have been 
10% higher/lower with all other variables held constant, the fair value of the bearer livestock as at the 
reporting dates would be higher or lower by the following amounts: 

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
10% increase 10% decrease 10% increase 10% decrease

Cows
Length of production usage in calves 2,610 (3,092) 2,409 (2,847)
Market prices for comparable bearer 
livestock in the same region 13,281 (13,281) 8,502 (8,502)

Pigs
Length of production usage in farrows 28,815 (12,928) 31,353 (15,944)
Market prices for comparable bearer 
livestock in the same region 151,859 (151,859) 104,376 (104,376)

The fair value of consumable livestock (pigs) is determined based on the market prices multiplied by  
the livestock weight at the end of each reporting period, adjusted for the expected culling rates. 
The average market price of consumable pigs being the key input used in the fair value measurement was 
91.0 Russian Roubles per kilogram, excluding VAT, as at 31 December 2018 (31 December 2017:
90.5 Russian Roubles per kilogram, excluding VAT). 

Should the market prices used in determination of fair value of consumable livestock have been 10% 
higher/lower with all other variables held constant, the fair value of the consumable livestock 
as at 31 December 2018 would be higher/lower by RR 295,692 (31 December 2017: RR 303,256).
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

2.2 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies (continued) 

Fair value of livestock and agricultural produce (continued) 

The fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs for agricultural produce at the time of harvesting was 
calculated based on quantities of crops harvested and the prices on deals that took place in the region 
of location on or about the moment of harvesting and was adjusted for estimated point-of-sale costs 
at the time of harvesting. 

The average market prices (Russian Roubles/tonne, excluding VAT) used 
for fair value measurement of harvested crops were as follows: 

2018 2017
Sugar beet 2,204 1,786
Wheat 8,390 6,209
Barley 9,051 6,075
Sunflower 19,181 16,517
Corn 9,213 8,020
Soya bean 27,745 20,323

Should the market prices used in determination of fair value of harvested crops have been 10% higher/lower 
with all other variables held constant, the fair value of the crops harvested in 2018 would be higher/lower 
by RR 2,176,842 (2017: RR 1,520,443). 

Estimated impairment of goodwill 

The Group tests goodwill for impairment at least annually. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating 
units (“CGUs”) have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the 
use of estimates as further detailed in Note 25.  

Impairment test of property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets 

As at 31 December 2018 management determined that there were no indicators that would necessitate 
performing an impairment test of property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets at any of the 
CGUs. As at 31 December 2017 management determined that there were no indicators that would 
necessitate performing an impairment test of property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets at 
all CGUs except for Oil Primorie CGU which demonstrated significant underperformance in production and 
sales volumes. Details of the impairment assessment performed are disclosed in Note 25.  

Deferred income tax asset recognition 

The recognised deferred tax asset represents income taxes recoverable through future deductions from 
taxable profits and is recorded in the consolidated statements of financial position. Deferred income tax 
assets are recorded to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit is probable and in relation to 
losses carried forward it is also based on management judgement about deductibility of expenses included 
in the related profit tax base. The future taxable profits and the amount of tax benefits that are probable in 
the future are based on a medium-term business plan prepared by management and extrapolated results 
thereafter. The business plan is based on management expectations that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. The key assumptions in the business plan are EBITDA margin and pre-tax 
discount rate (Notes 25, 26). 

Tax legislation  

Russian tax, currency and customs legislation is subject to varying interpretations (Note 31). 

Assessment of existence of control over Group of companies Solnechnye producty 

Management assessed that a call option to acquire the majority shares in of Group of companies 
Solnechnye producty does not result in control over that group (Note 15).

2.3 Foreign currency and translation methodology 

Functional and presentation currency  

The functional currency of the Group’s consolidated entities is the Russian Rouble (RR), which is 
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group operates. The Russian Rouble has 
been chosen as the presentation currency for these consolidated financial statements. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

2.3 Foreign currency and translation methodology (continued) 

Translation of foreign currency items into functional currency 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to Russian Roubles at the official exchange rate 
of the Central Bank of the Russian Federation (CBRF) at the date of the transaction.  

Translation of foreign currency items into functional currency (continued) 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated into 
the functional currency at the exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting 
from the settlement of the transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities at year-
end exchange rates are recognised in profit or loss. 

2.4 Group accounting 

Consolidation 

Subsidiaries are those investees, including structured entities, that the Group controls because the Group 
(i) has power to direct relevant activities of the investees that significantly affect their returns, (ii) has 
exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investees, and (iii) has the ability to 
use its power over the investees to affect the amount of investor’s returns. The existence and effect of 
substantive rights, including substantive potential voting rights, are considered when assessing whether 
the Group has power over another entity. For a right to be substantive, the holder must have practical ability 
to exercise that right when decisions about the direction of the relevant activities of the investee need to be 
made. The Group may have power over an investee even when it holds less than majority of voting power 
in an investee. In such a case, the Group assesses the size of its voting rights relative to the size  
and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders to determine if it has de-facto power over the investee. 
Protective rights of other investors, such as those that relate to fundamental changes of investee’s activities 
or apply only in exceptional circumstances, do not prevent the Group from controlling an investee. 
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group (acquisition date) 
and are deconsolidated from the date on which control ceases. 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries other than those 
acquired from parties under common control. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent 
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured at their fair values at the acquisition date, 
irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling interest.  

The Group measures non-controlling interest on a transaction by transaction basis, either at: (a) fair value, 
or (b) the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of net assets of the acquiree. 

Goodwill is measured by deducting the fair value of net assets of the acquiree from the aggregate  
of the fair value of the consideration transferred for the acquiree, the amount of non-controlling interest 
in the acquiree and fair value of an interest in the acquiree held immediately before the acquisition date. 
Any negative amount (“negative goodwill, bargain purchase”) is recognised in profit or loss, after 
management reassesses whether it identified all the assets acquired and all liabilities and contingent 
liabilities assumed and reviews appropriateness of their measurement. The consideration transferred for 
the acquiree is measured at the fair value of the assets given up, equity instruments issued and liabilities 
incurred or assumed, including fair value of assets or liabilities from contingent consideration arrangements 
but excludes acquisition related costs such as advisory, legal, valuation and similar professional services. 
Transaction costs related to the acquisition and incurred for issuing equity instruments are deducted from 
equity; transaction costs incurred for issuing debt as part of the business combination are deducted from 
the carrying amount of the debt and all other transaction costs associated with the acquisition are expensed. 

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are 
eliminated; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the cost cannot be recovered. The Company 
and all of its subsidiaries use uniform accounting policies consistent with the Group’s policies.

Non-controlling interest is that part of the net results and of the equity of a subsidiary attributable to interests 
which are not owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company. Non-controlling interest forms a separate 
component of the Group’s equity.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

2.4 Group accounting (continued) 

Associates 

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence (directly or indirectly), but not control, 
generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20 and 50 percent of the voting rights. Investments in 
associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost, 
and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s share of changes in net 
asset of investee after the date of acquisition. Dividends received from associates reduce the carrying value 
of the investment in associates. Other post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of an 
associate are recognised as follows: (i) the Group’s share of profits or losses of associates is recorded 
in the consolidated profit or loss for the year as the share of results of associates, (ii) the Group’s share of 
other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive income and presented separately, 
(iii) all other changes in the Group’s share of the carrying value of net assets of associates are recognised 
in profit or loss within the share of results of associates. 

However, when the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, 
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has 
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. 

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent  
of the Group’s interest in the associates; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. 

Purchases of non-controlling interests  

The Group applies the economic entity model to account for transactions with owners of non-controlling 
interest. The difference, if any, between the carrying amount of a non-controlling interest acquired and  
the purchase consideration is recorded as capital transaction in the consolidated statements of changes in 
equity.  

Purchases of subsidiaries from parties under common control  

Business combinations involving entities under common control (ultimately controlled by the same party, 
before and after the business combination, and that control is not transitory) are accounted for using 
the predecessor basis of accounting. Under this method the consolidated financial statements 
of the acquiree are included in the consolidated financial statements from the beginning of the earliest 
period presented or, if later, the date when common control was established. The assets and liabilities of 
the subsidiary transferred under common control are accounted for at the predecessor entity’s IFRS 
carrying amounts using uniform accounting policies on the assumption that the Group was in existence 
from the date when common control was established. Any difference between the carrying amount of net 
assets, including the predecessor entity's goodwill, and the consideration for the acquisition is accounted 
for in these consolidated financial statements as an adjustment to retained earnings within equity. 

Disposals of subsidiaries and associates  

When the Group ceases to have control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is 
remeasured to its fair value at the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised 
in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for 
the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity, are accounted for as if the Group had 
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss. 

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate 
share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss 
where appropriate. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

2.5 Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and provision for 
impairment, if any. 

Assets under construction are accounted for at purchase cost less provision for impairment, if required. 

Costs of minor repairs and maintenance are expensed when incurred. Cost of replacing a major part or 
component of property, plant and equipment items is capitalized and the replaced part is retired.  

Upon sale or retirement, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the 
consolidated financial statements. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds 
with the carrying amount and are included in operating profit or loss for the year within other operating 
income and expenses. 

2.6 Depreciation 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment other than land and assets under construction is calculated 
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to the residual values over their estimated useful lives: 

Asset category Useful life, years
Buildings 15-50
Constructions 5-50
Machinery, vehicles and equipment 2-20
Other 4-6

Assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis from the month following the date they are ready for use. 

The residual value of an asset is the estimated amount that the Group would currently obtain 
from disposal of the asset less the estimated costs of disposal, if the asset were already of the age and in 
the condition expected at the end of its useful life. The residual value of an asset is nil if the Group expects 
to use the asset until the end of its physical life. The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, 
and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. 

2.7 Biological assets and agricultural produce 

Biological assets of the Group consist of unharvested crops (grain crops, sugar beets and other plant crops) 
and livestock (pigs and cows). 

Livestock is measured at their fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs. Fair value at initial recognition 
is assumed to be approximated by the purchase price incurred. Point-of-sale costs include all costs that 
would be necessary to sell the assets. All the gains or losses arising from initial recognition of biological 
assets and from changes in fair-value-less-cost-to-sell of biological assets less the amounts of these gains 
or losses related to the realised biological assets are included in a separate line “Net gain/ (loss) 
on revaluation of biological assets and agricultural produce” above the gross profit line.
At the year-end unharvested crops are carried at the accumulated costs incurred, which approximate  
the fair value since little biological transformation has taken place since initial cost incurrence due 
to the seasonal nature of the crops. Unharvested crop-growing costs represent costs incurred to plant and 
maintain seed crops which will be harvested during the subsequent reporting period. Subsequent 
to the year-end unharvested crops are measured at fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs. A gain 
or loss from the changes in the fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs of unharvested crops less the 
amount of such gain or loss related to the realisation of agricultural products is included as a separate line 
“Net gain/ (loss) on revaluation of biological assets and agricultural produce" above the gross profit line. 
Upon harvest, grain crops, sugar beets and other plant crops are included into inventory for further 
processing or for sale and are initially measured at their fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs at the 
time of harvesting. A gain or loss arising on initial recognition of agricultural produce at fair value less 
estimated point-of-sale costs of unharvested crops less the amount of such gain or loss related to the 
realisation of agricultural products is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it arises.  
Bearer livestock is classified as non-current assets; consumable livestock and unharvested crops are 
classified as current assets in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

2.8 Goodwill 

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is presented separately in the consolidated statement of financial 
position. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. The Group tests goodwill 
for impairment at least annually and whenever there are indications that goodwill may be impaired. Goodwill 
is allocated to the cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit 
from the synergies of the business combination. Such units or groups of units represent the lowest level at 
which the Group monitors goodwill and are not larger than an operating segment. Gains or losses on 
disposal of an operation within a cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated include the 
carrying amount of goodwill associated with the operation disposed of, generally measured on the basis of 
the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit which is retained. 

2.9 Intangible assets 

The Group’s intangible assets other than goodwill have definite useful lives and primarily include acquired 
land lease rights, capitalised computer software, patents, trademarks and licences. Acquired computer 
software licences, patents and trademarks are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and 
bring them to use.  

Intangible assets are amortised using the straight-line method over their useful lives: 
Asset category Useful life, years
Trademarks 5-12
Software licences 1-3
Capitalised internal software development costs 3-5
Land lease rights 2-50
Other licences 1-3

If impaired, the carrying amount of intangible assets is written down to the higher of value in use and fair 
value less costs to sell. 

2.10 Impairment of non-current assets 

The Group’s non-current assets except for deferred tax, biological assets and financial assets are tested 
for impairment in accordance with the provisions of IAS 36, Impairment of Assets. The Group makes an 
assessment whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired at each reporting date, except 
for goodwill which is tested at least annually regardless of whether there are any indications 
of impairment. If any such indication exists, an estimate of the recoverable amount of the asset is made. 
IAS 36 requires an impairment loss to be recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds 
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs 
to sell and its value in use. Value in use is the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to 
arise from the continuing use of an asset and from its disposal at the end of its life. 

2.11 Non-current assets classified as held for sale  

Non-current assets and disposal groups (which may include both non-current and current assets) are 
classified in the statement of financial position as ‘non-current assets held for sale’ if their carrying amount 
will be recovered principally through a sale transaction (including loss of control of a subsidiary holding the 
assets) within twelve months after the reporting period. Assets are reclassified when all of the following 
conditions are met: (a) the assets are available for immediate sale in their present condition; (b) the Group’s 
management approved and initiated an active programme to locate a buyer; (c) the assets are actively 
marketed for sale at a reasonable price; (d) the sale is expected within one year; and (e) it is unlikely that 
significant changes to the plan to sell will be made or that the plan will be withdrawn.  

Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale in the current period’s statement of 
financial position are not reclassified or re-presented in the comparative statement of financial position to 
reflect the classification at the end of the current period. 

A disposal group is a group of assets (current or non-current) to be disposed of, by sale or otherwise, 
together as a group in a single transaction, and liabilities directly associated with those assets that will be 
transferred in the transaction. Goodwill is included if the disposal group includes an operation within a cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated on acquisition. Non-current assets are assets that 
include amounts expected to be recovered or collected more than twelve months after the reporting period. 
If reclassification is required, both the current and non-current portions of an asset are reclassified. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
2.11 Non-current assets classified as held for sale (continued) 
Held for sale disposal groups as a whole are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value 
less costs of disposal. Held for sale property, plant and equipment, investment properties and intangible 
assets are not depreciated or amortised. Reclassified non-current financial instruments and deferred taxes 
and investment properties held at fair value are not subject to write down to the lower of their carrying 
amount and fair value less costs of disposal.  

Liabilities directly associated with the disposal group that will be transferred in the disposal transaction are 
reclassified and presented separately in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

2.12 Financial instruments 
Financial instruments – key measurement terms 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The best evidence of fair value is the 
price in an active market. An active market is one in which transactions for the asset or liability take place 
with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.  

Fair value of financial instruments traded in an active market is measured as the product of the quoted price 
for the individual asset or liability and the number of instruments held by the entity. This is the case even if 
a market’s normal daily trading volume is not sufficient to absorb the quantity held and placing orders to 
sell the position in a single transaction might affect the quoted price.

Valuation techniques such as discounted cash flow models or models based on recent arm’s length 
transactions or consideration of financial data of the investees are used to measure fair value of certain 
financial instruments for which external market pricing information is not available. Fair value 
measurements are analysed by level in the fair value hierarchy as follows: (i) level one are measurements 
at quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, (ii) level two measurements 
are valuations techniques with all material inputs observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, 
as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices), and (iii) level three measurements are valuations not 
based on solely observable market data (that is, the measurement requires significant unobservable 
inputs). Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are deemed to have occurred at the end of the 
reporting period. 

Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of 
a financial instrument. An incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if the transaction had 
not taken place. Transaction costs include fees and commissions paid to agents (including employees 
acting as selling agents), advisors, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies and securities 
exchanges, and transfer taxes and duties. Transaction costs do not include debt premiums or discounts, 
financing costs or internal administrative or holding costs.  

Amortised cost (“AC”) is the amount at which the financial instrument was recognised at initial recognition 
less any principal repayments, plus accrued interest, and for financial assets less any allowance for 
expected credit losses (“ECL”). Accrued interest includes amortisation of transaction costs deferred at initial 
recognition and of any premium or discount to the maturity amount using the effective interest method. 
Accrued interest income and accrued interest expense, including both accrued coupon and amortised 
discount or premium (including fees deferred at origination, if any), are not presented separately and are 
included in the carrying values of the related items in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

The effective interest method is a method of allocating interest income or interest expense over the relevant 
period, so as to achieve a constant periodic rate of interest (effective interest rate) on the carrying amount. 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 
(excluding future credit losses) through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, if 
appropriate, to the gross carrying amount of the financial instrument. The effective interest rate discounts 
cash flows of variable interest instruments to the next interest repricing date, except for the premium or 
discount which reflects the credit spread over the floating rate specified in the instrument, or other variables 
that are not reset to market rates. Such premiums or discounts are amortised over the whole expected life 
of the instrument. The present value calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties to the 
contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. For assets that are purchased or originated 
credit impaired (“POCI”) at initial recognition, the effective interest rate is adjusted for credit risk, i.e. it is 
calculated based on the expected cash flows on initial recognition instead of contractual payments. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
2.12 Financial instruments (continued) 

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments 

A financial instrument is recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument. The Group’s financial assets and liabilities are initially recorded at fair value. Fair value 
at initial recognition is best evidenced by the transaction price. A gain or loss on initial recognition is only 
recorded if there is a difference between fair value and transaction price which can be evidenced by other 
observable current market transactions in the same instrument or by a valuation technique whose inputs 
include only data from observable markets. After the initial recognition, an expected credit loss allowance 
is recognised for financial assets measured at amortised cost, resulting in an immediate accounting loss.

Financial assets – classification and subsequent measurement – measurement categories
The Group classifies financial assets in the following measurement categories: fair value through profit and 
loss, fair value through other comprehensive income and amortised cost. The classification and subsequent 
measurement of debt financial assets depends on: (i) the Group’s business model for managing the related 
assets portfolio and (ii) the cash flow characteristics of the asset. 

Financial assets – classification and subsequent measurement – business model 
The business model reflects how the Group manages the assets in order to generate cash flows – whether 
the Group’s objective is: (i) solely to collect the contractual cash flows from the assets (“hold to collect 
contractual cash flows”,) or (ii) to collect both the contractual cash flows and the cash flows arising from the 
sale of assets (“hold to collect contractual cash flows and sell”) or, if neither of (i) and (ii) is applicab le, the 
financial assets are classified as part of “other” business model and measured at fair value through profit 
and loss.

Business model is determined for a group of assets (on a portfolio level) based on all relevant evidence 
about the activities that the Group undertakes to achieve the objective set out for the portfolio available at 
the date of the assessment. Factors considered by the Group in determining the business model include 
the purpose and composition of a portfolio, past experience on how the cash flows for the respective assets 
were collected, how risks are assessed and managed, how the assets’ performance is assessed and how 
managers are compensated. 

Financial assets – classification and subsequent measurement – cash flow characteristics
Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to hold contractual cash 
flows and sell, the Group assesses whether the cash flows represent solely payments of principal and 
interest (SPPI). Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when 
determining whether their cash flows are consistent with the SPPI feature. In making this assessment, the 
Group considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement, i.e.
interest includes only consideration for credit risk, time value of money, other basic lending risks and profit 
margin. 

Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that is inconsistent with a basic lending 
arrangement, the financial asset is classified and measured at fair value through profit and loss. The SPPI 
assessment is performed on initial recognition of an asset and it is not subsequently reassessed.  

Financial assets – reclassification
Financial instruments are reclassified only when the business model for managing the portfolio as a whole 
changes. The reclassification has a prospective effect and takes place from the beginning of the first 
reporting period that follows after the change in the business model. The entity did not change its business 
model during the current and comparative period and did not make any reclassifications. 

Financial assets impairment – credit loss allowance for expected credit loss
The Group assesses, on a forward-looking basis, the expected credit loss for debt instruments measured 
at amortised cost and fair value through other comprehensive income and for the exposures arising from 
loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, for contract assets. The Group measures expected 
credit loss and recognises Net impairment losses on financial and contract assets at each reporting date. 
The measurement of expected credit loss reflects: (i) an unbiased and probability weighted amount that is 
determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes, (ii) time value of money and (iii) all reasonable and 
supportable information that is available without undue cost and effort at the end of each reporting period 
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future conditions. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

2.12 Financial instruments (continued) 

Debt instruments measured at amortised cost and contract assets are presented in the consolidated 
statement of financial position net of the allowance for expected credit loss. For loan commitments and 
financial guarantees, a separate provision for expected credit loss is recognised as a liability in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. For debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive 
income, changes in amortised cost, net of allowance for expected credit loss, are recognised in profit or 
loss and other changes in carrying value are recognised in other comprehensive income as gains less 
losses on debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The Group applies a three stage model for impairment, based on changes in credit quality since initial 
recognition. A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in Stage 1. 
Financial assets in Stage 1 have their expected credit loss measured at an amount equal to the portion of 
lifetime expected credit loss that results from default events possible within the next 12 months or until 
contractual maturity, if shorter. If the Group identifies a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition, the asset is transferred to Stage 2 and its expected credit loss is measured based on expected 
credit loss on a lifetime basis, that is, up until contractual maturity but considering expected prepayments, 
if any. Refer to Note 30 for a description of how the Group determines when a significant increase in credit 
risk has occurred. If the Group determines that a financial asset is credit-impaired, the asset is transferred 
to Stage 3 and its expected credit loss is measured as a Lifetime expected credit loss. The Group’s 
definition of credit impaired assets and definition of default is explained in Note 30. For financial assets that 
are purchased or originated credit-impaired, the expected credit loss is always measured as a Lifetime 
expected credit loss. Note 30 provides information about inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques 
used in measuring expected credit loss, including an explanation of how the Group incorporates forward-
looking information in the expected credit loss models. 

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a 
lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade and other receivables.  

To measure the expected credit losses, trade and other receivables have been grouped based on shared 
credit risk characteristics and the days past due. 

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 36 month before 31 
December 2018 or 1 January 2018 respectively and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced 
within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information 
on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. The Group has 
identified the GDP and the unemployment rate of the countries in which it sells its goods and services to 
be the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based on expected changes 
in these factors. 

Financial assets – write-off. Financial assets are written-off, in whole or in part, when the Group 
exhausted all practical recovery efforts and has concluded that there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovery. The write-off represents a derecognition event. The Group may write-off financial assets that are 
still subject to enforcement activity when the Group seeks to recover amounts that are contractually due, 
however, there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. 

Financial assets – derecognition
The Group derecognises financial assets when (a) the assets are redeemed or the rights to cash flows from 
the assets otherwise expire or (b) the Group has transferred the rights to the cash flows from the financial 
assets or entered into a qualifying pass-through arrangement whilst (i) also transferring substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the assets or (ii) neither transferring nor retaining substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership but not retaining control.  

Control is retained if the counterparty does not have the practical ability to sell the asset in its entirety to 
an unrelated third party without needing to impose additional restrictions on the sale. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

2.12 Financial instruments (continued) 

Financial assets – modification. The Group sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies the contractual 
terms of the financial assets. The Group assesses whether the modification of contractual cash flows is 
substantial considering, among other, the following factors: any new contractual terms that substantially 
affect the risk profile of the asset, significant change in interest rate, change in the currency denomination, 
new collateral or credit enhancement that significantly affects the credit risk associated with the asset or a 
significant extension of a loan when the borrower is not in financial difficulties. 

If the modified terms are substantially different, the rights to cash flows from the original asset expire and 
the Group derecognises the original financial asset and recognises a new asset at its fair value. The date 
of renegotiation is considered to be the date of initial recognition for subsequent impairment calculation 
purposes, including determining whether a SICR has occurred. The Group also assesses whether the new 
loan or debt instrument meets the SPPI criterion. Any difference between the carrying amount of the original 
asset derecognised and fair value of the new substantially modified asset is recognised in profit or loss, 
unless the substance of the difference is attributed to a capital transaction with owners.

In a situation where the renegotiation was driven by financial difficulties of the counterparty and inability to 
make the originally agreed payments, the Group compares the original and revised expected cash flows to
assets whether the risks and rewards of the asset are substantially different as a result of the contractual 
modification. If the risks and rewards do not change, the modified asset is not substantially different from 
the original asset and the modification does not result in derecognition. The Group recalculates the gross 
carrying amount by discounting the modified contractual cash flows by the original effective interest rate (or 
credit-adjusted effective interest rate for POCI financial assets), and recognises a modification gain or loss 
in profit or loss.  

Financial liabilities – measurement categories 

Financial liabilities are classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost, except for (i) financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit and loss: this classification is applied to derivatives, financial liabilities 
held for trading (e.g. short positions in securities), contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a 
business combination and other financial liabilities designated as such at initial recognition and (ii) financial 
guarantee contracts and loan commitments. 

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss 

The Group may designate certain liabilities at fair value through profit and loss at initial recognition. Gains 
and losses on such liabilities are presented in profit or loss except for the amount of change in the fair value 
that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability (determined as the amount that is not 
attributable to changes in market conditions that give rise to market risk), which is recorded in other 
comprehensive income and is not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. This is unless such a 
presentation would create, or enlarge, an accounting mismatch, in which case the gains and losses 
attributable to changes in credit risk of the liability are also presented in profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities – derecognition 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished (i.e. when the obligation specified in the 
contract is discharged, cancelled or expires).

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statements of
financial position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and there 
is an intention to either settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
Such a right of set off (a) must not be contingent on a future event and (b) must be legally enforceable in 
all of the following circumstances: (i) in the normal course of business, (ii) in the event of default and (iii) in 
the event of insolvency or bankruptcy. There were no offsets of financial assets and liabilities as at 31 
December 2018. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

2.12 Financial instruments (continued) 

Presentation of results from sugar trading derivatives 

The Group engages in raw sugar derivative trading transactions through an agent on ICE Futures US 
primarily in order to manage the raw sugar purchase price risk (Note 30). As such transactions are directly 
related to the core activity of the Group, their results are presented above gross profit as 'Net gain from 
trading derivatives' in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
Management believes that the presentation above gross profit line appropriately reflects the nature of 
derivative operations of the Group. 

2.13 Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, cash held on demand with banks, bank deposits with 
original maturity of less than three months, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities 
of three months or less. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost because: (i) they are held 
for collection of contractual cash flows and those cash flows represent SPPI, and (ii) they are not designated 
at fair value through profit and loss. Features mandated solely by legislation, such as the bail-in legislation 
in certain countries, do not have an impact on the SPPI test, unless they are included in contractual terms 
such that the feature would apply even if the legislation is subsequently changed. 

Restricted balances are excluded from cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the consolidated 
cash flow statements. Balances restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 
twelve months after the reporting period are included in non-current assets.  

2.14 Investments 

Bank deposits with original maturities of more than three months and less than twelve months are classified 
as short-term investments and are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 2 

Bank deposits with original maturity of more than twelve months are classified as long-term and are 
carried at amortised cost.

Bond held for trading are securities which are acquired solely to generate a profit from short-term 
fluctuations in price or trader’s margin, or are included in a portfolio in which
a pattern of short-term trading exists. These financial assets are classified as part of “other” business model 
and measured at FVTPL. Business model is determined for a group of assets (on a portfolio level) based 
on all relevant evidence about the activities that the Group undertakes to achieve the objective set out for 
the portfolio available at the date of the assessment. Factors considered by the Group in determining the 
business model include the purpose and composition of a portfolio, past experience on how the cash flows 
for the respective assets were collected, how risks are assessed and managed, how the assets’ 
performance is assessed and how managers are compensated. 

2.15 Prepayments 

Prepayments classified as current assets represent advance payments to suppliers for goods 
and services. Prepayments for construction or acquisition of property, plant and equipment and 
prepayments for intangible assets are classified as non-current assets. Prepayments are carried at cost 
less provisions for impairment, if any. If there is an indication that the assets, goods or services relating 
to a prepayment will not be received, the carrying value of the prepayment is written down accordingly and 
a corresponding impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss for the year. 

2.16  Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted 
average basis. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, 
other direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity) but excludes 
borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 
selling expenses. 

Raw materials intended for the operating activities of the Group, finished goods and work in progress are 
classified as current assets. Materials intended for construction are classified as non-current assets 
as “Inventories intended for construction”.



189188

ROS AGRO PLC 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
(IN THOUSANDS OF RUSSIAN ROUBLES, UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE) 

18

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

2.17 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at their fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. In subsequent 
periods, borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method; any difference 
between the amount at initial recognition and the redemption amount is recognised as interest expense 
over the period of the borrowings.  

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of assets that necessarily 
take a substantial time to get ready for intended use or sale (qualifying assets) are capitalised as part of 
the costs of those assets.  

Capitalisation of borrowing costs continues up to the date when the assets are substantially ready 
for their use or sale.

The Group capitalises borrowing costs that could have been avoided if it had not made capital expenditure 
on qualifying assets. Borrowing costs capitalised are calculated at the Group’s average funding cost (the 
weighted average interest cost is applied to the expenditures on the qualifying assets), except to the extent 
that funds are borrowed specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset. Where this occurs, 
actual borrowing costs incurred less any investment income on the temporary investment of those 
borrowings are capitalised. 

2.18 Trade and other payables 

Trade and other payables are recognised when the counterparty has performed its obligations under 
the contract, and are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

2.19  Value added tax 

Output value added tax related to sales is payable to tax authorities on the earlier of (a) collection 
of the receivables from customers or (b) delivery of the goods or services to customers. Input VAT is 
generally recoverable against output VAT upon receipt of the VAT invoice. The tax authorities permit the 
settlement of VAT on a net basis. VAT related to purchases where all the specified conditions 
for recovery have not been met yet is recognised in the consolidated statements of financial position and 
disclosed separately within other taxes receivable, while input VAT that has been claimed is netted off 
with the output VAT payable. Where provision has been made for impairment of receivables, impairment 
loss is recorded for the gross amount of the debtor, including VAT. 

2.20 Other taxes payable 

Other taxes payable comprise liabilities for taxes other than on income outstanding at the reporting date, 
accrued in accordance with legislation enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

2.21 Income tax  

Income taxes have been provided for in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with legislation 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The income tax charge or credit 
comprises current tax and deferred tax and is recognised in profit or loss for the year. 

Current tax 
Current tax is the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the taxation authorities in respect 
of taxable profits or losses for the current and prior periods. 

Deferred tax 
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the balance sheet liability method, on tax losses carry forward 
and temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 
in the consolidated financial statements. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises 
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the 
time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax balance is 
determined using tax rates that have been enacted or substantially enacted at the end of the reporting 
period and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred 
income tax liability is settled. Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

2.21 Income tax (continued) 

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries  
and associates, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by 
the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

The Group's uncertain tax positions are reassessed by management at the end of each reporting period. 
Liabilities are recorded for income tax positions that are determined by management as more likely than 
not to result in additional taxes being levied if the positions were to be challenged by the tax authorities. 
The assessment is based on the interpretation of tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the end of the reporting period and any known court or other rulings on such issues. Liabilities for 
penalties, interest and taxes other than on income are recognised based on management’s best estimate 
of the expenditure required to settle the obligations at the end of the reporting period. 

2.22 Employee benefits 

Payroll costs and related contributions  
Wages, salaries, contributions to the Russian Federation state pension and social insurance funds, paid 
annual leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year, in which 
the associated services are rendered by the employees of the Group.  

Pension costs 
The Group contributes to the Russian Federation state pension fund on behalf of its employees and has no 
obligation beyond the payments made. The contribution was approximately 20.8% (2017: 20.8%) of the 
employees’ gross pay and is expensed in the same period as the related salaries and wages. 

The Group does not have any other legal or constructive obligation to make pension or other similar benefit 
payments to its employees. 

Share-based payment transactions 

The Group accounts for share-based compensation in accordance with IFRS 2, Share-based Payment. 
The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the equity instruments is 
recognized as an expense. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined 
by reference to the fair value of the instruments granted measured at the grant date. For share-based 
compensation made to employees by shareholders, an increase to share-based payment reserve in equity 
is recorded equal to the associated compensation expense each period. 

2.23 Provisions for liabilities and charges

Provisions for liabilities and charges are recognised where the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the 
obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Where the Group expects a provision to be 
reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised 
as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. 

2.24 Revenue recognition 

Revenue is income arising in the course of the Group’s ordinary activities. Revenue is recognised in the 
amount of transaction price. Transaction price is the amount of consideration to which the Group expects 
to be entitled in exchange for transferring control over promised goods or services to a customer, excluding 
the amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue is recognised net of discounts and value added 
taxes.  

Sales of goods. Sales are recognised when control of the good has transferred, being when the goods are 
delivered to the customer, the customer has full discretion over the goods, and there is no unfulfilled 
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the goods. Delivery occurs when the goods have 
been shipped to the specific location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the 
customer, and either the customer has accepted the goods in accordance with the contract, the acceptance 
provisions have lapsed, or the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been 
satisfied.  
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

2.24 Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from the sales with discounts is recognised based on the price specified in the contract, net of the 
estimated volume discounts. Accumulated experience is used to estimate and provide for the discounts, 
using the expected value method, and revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable 
that a significant reversal will not occur.  

A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is the point in time that the consideration 
is unconditional because only the passage of time is required before the payment is due. 

If the Group provides any additional services to the customer after control over goods has passed, revenue 
from such services is considered to be a separate performance obligation and is recognised over the time 
of the service rendering. 

Sales of transportation services. Revenue from providing transportation services is recognised in the 
accounting period in which these services are rendered. For fixed-price contracts, revenue is recognised 
based on the actual service provided to the end of the reporting period as a proportion of the total services 
to be provided because the customer receives and uses the benefits simultaneously. 

Where the contracts include multiple performance obligations, the transaction price is allocated to each 
separate performance obligation based on the stand-alone selling prices. Where these are not directly 
observable, they are estimated based on expected cost plus margin.  

Interest income. Interest income is recorded for all debt instruments, other than those at fair value through 
profit and loss on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. This method defers, as part of 
interest income, all fee received between the parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective 
interest rate. Interest income on debt instruments at fair value through profit and loss calculated at nominal 
interest rate is presented within ‘finance income’ line in profit or loss.

Contract assets and liabilities are not separately presented in the consolidated statement of financial 
position as they are not material. 

2.25 Segment reporting 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided 
to the Group’s chief operating decision maker. Segments whose revenue, result or assets are ten percent 
or more of all the segments are reported separately. 

2.26 Government grants 

Government grants comprise compensation of interest expense under bank loans and government grants 
relating to costs and property, plant and equipment. 

Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment are included in non-current liabilities 
as deferred government grants and are credited to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected 
lives of the related assets. Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in profit 
or loss as other operating income over the period necessary to match them with the costs that they are 
intended to compensate. 

Compensation of interest expense under bank loans is credited to profit or loss over the periods 
of the related interest expense unless this interest was capitalised into the carrying value of assets 
in which case it is included in non-current liabilities as government grants and credited to profit or loss 
on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related assets.  

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of interest is treated as a government grant. 
The loan is recognised and measured in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement. The benefit of the below-market rate of interest is measured as the difference between 
the initial carrying value of the loan determined in accordance with IFRS 9 and the proceeds received.  

Bank loans at a below-market rate of interest under the programme of government support are recognized 
at the nominal value if there isn’t reasonable assurance that the grants will be received. The differences 
between nominal and market interest rate is recognized as interest expenses and government grants in a 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income or in a consolidated statement of 
financial position. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

2.26 Government grants (continued)

Government grants are recognized at their fair value when there is a reasonable assurance that the grant 
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions. 

Government grants cash inflows are presented in financing activities section of the consolidated statement 
of cash flows. 

2.27 Dividends 

Dividends are recorded as a liability and deducted from equity in the period in which they are declared and 
approved, appropriately authorised and are no longer at the discretion of the Group. Any dividends declared 
after the reporting period and before the consolidated financial statements are authorised for issue are 
disclosed in the subsequent events note.

2.28 Operating leases 

Where the Group is a lessee in a lease which does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership from the lessor to the Group, the total lease payments are charged to profit or loss
for the year on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The lease term is the non-cancellable period for 
which the lessee has contracted to lease the asset together with any further terms for which the lessee has 
the option to continue to lease the asset, with or without further payment, when at the inception  
of the lease it is reasonably certain that the lessee will exercise the option (Note 32). 

2.29 Share capital and share premium 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares 
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Any excess of the fair value 
of consideration receivable over the par value of shares issued is recorded as share premium in equity. 
Share premium can only be resorted to for limited purposes, which do not include the distribution 
of dividends, and is otherwise subject to the provisions of the Cyprus Companies Law on reduction 
of share capital. 

2.30 Treasury shares 

Where the Company or its subsidiaries purchase the Company’s equity instruments, the consideration paid, 
including any directly attributable incremental costs, net of income taxes, is deducted from equity 
attributable to the Company’s owners until the equity instruments are cancelled, reissued or disposed of. 
Where such equity instruments are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received, net of any 
directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is included in equity 
attributable to the Company’s owners. 

2.31 Amendments of the consolidated financial statements after issue 

Any changes to these consolidated financial statements after issue require approval of the Group’s 
management and the Board of Directors who authorised these consolidated financial statements for issue. 

2.32 Accounting policies before 1 January 2018

Loans and receivables IAS 39 

Loans and receivables are unquoted non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
other than those that the Group intends to sell in the near term. Loans and receivables are initially 
recognised at their fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently carried at amortised cost using 
effective interest method.  

Available-for-sale financial assets IAS 39 

Available-for-sale investments are carried at fair value. Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories. They 
are included in non-current assets unless management intends to dispose of the investments within twelve 
months of the reporting date. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

2.32 Accounting policies before 1 January 2018 (continued)

Financial liabilities IAS 39 

All the Group’s financial liabilities fall into the following measurement categories: (a) held for trading which 
are represented by financial derivatives and (b) other financial liabilities. Liabilities held for trading are 
carried at fair value with changes in value recognised in profit or loss for the year in the period in which they 
arise. Other financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost. 

Revenue recognition IAS 18 

Revenues and related cost of sales are recognised when goods are shipped and the title and significant 
risks and rewards of ownership pass to the customer in accordance with the contractual sales terms. Sales 
are measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable for the goods sold 
and services rendered, net of discounts and value added taxes, and after eliminating sales between 
the Group companies. 

The amount of revenue arising from exchanges of goods or services is measured at the fair value 
of the goods or services received, adjusted by the amount of any cash or cash equivalents transferred. 
When the fair value of the goods or services received cannot be measured reliably, the revenue is 
measured at the fair value of the goods or services given up, adjusted by the amount of any cash or cash 
equivalents transferred. Non-cash transactions are excluded from the cash flow statement. 

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. 

2.33 Adoption of new or revised standards and interpretations 

During the current year the Group adopted all the new and revised International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) that are relevant to its operations and are effective for accounting periods beginning on 
1 January 2018.

Adoption of IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” including Amendments to IFRS 15, 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers (issued on 12 April 2016 and effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018).  

The Group has initially applied IFRS 15 using the modified retrospective approach – i.e. recognizing the 
cumulative effect of applying IFRS 15 as at 1 January 2018, with no restatement on the comparative period. 
The Group has applied IFRS 15 retrospectively only to contracts that were not completed at the date of 
initial application (1 January 2018). 

The adoption of IFRS 15 resulted in changes in accounting policies and adjustments to the consolidated 
financial statements. The main changes from the adoption of IFRS 15 are explained below: 

 Additional performance obligations identified that relate to the revenue from transportation services 
transferred over time; 

 Changes in timing of revenue recognition from providing transportation services (from point in time 
to over time); 

 Presentation of contract assets and contract liabilities: Management decided not to present 
separately contract assets and contract liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 1 January 2018 as they are immaterial. 

Adoption of IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”

The Group adopted IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, from 1 January 2018.  There has been no impact of 
transition to IFRS 9 on the carrying value of financial instruments on the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 1 January 2018.The comparative period disclosures repeat those disclosures made in the 
prior year.      
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

2.33 Adoption of new or revised standards and interpretations (continued) 

Adopted by the European Union 

New standards 

IFRS 16, Leases (issued on 13 January 2016 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2019). The new standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation 
and disclosure of leases. All leases result in the lessee obtaining the right to use an asset at the start of the 
lease and, if lease payments are made over time, also obtaining financing. Accordingly, IFRS 16 eliminates 
the classification of leases as either operating leases or finance leases as is required by IAS 17 and, 
instead, introduces a single lessee accounting model. Lessees will be required to recognize: (a) assets and 
liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value; and 
(b) depreciation of lease assets separately from interest on lease liabilities in the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income. IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements 
in IAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases, and 
to account for those two types of leases differently. Based on the Management assessment at the moment 
of IFRS 16 implementation on 1 January 2019 the Group will recognize the right-of-use asset of
RR 3,541,874 and the lease liability RR 1,971,116. The difference between right-of-use asset and lease 
liability in amount of RR 1,570,758 as at 1 January 2019 presents the rights on use of lands recognised in 
intangible assets as at 31 December 2018. Weighted average interest rate applicable to the lease liability 
as at 1 January 2019 is expected to be 11.67%. The Group have chosen to adopt a modified retrospective 
approach with no restatement of comparative information. At the date of an initial application of the new
leases standard the Group is going to recognize the cumulative effect of the initial application as an 
adjustment to the opening balance of equity as of 1 January 2019. 

For the reconciliation between operating lease commitments and lease liability at the moment of IFRS 16 
adoption refer below: 

31 December 
2018

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases (Note 32) 1,444,210
Variable non-monetary part of lease payments in monetary contracts settled in agricultural 
products 1,691,019
Future minimum lease payments per contracts in which payments do not depend on an index 
or a rate (1,389,426)
Lease payments with a lease term of less than 12 months (44,590)
Effect of discounting to present value (1,060,431)
Effect of the measurement of present value of the remaining lease payments from non-
monetary contracts settled in agricultural products 1,330,334

Total lease liability at the moment of IFRS 16 adoption 1,971,116

IFRIC 23 "Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments" (issued on 7 June 2017 and effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019).  

Amendments

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation – Amendments to IFRS 9 (issued on 12 October 2017 
and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019). 

Not yet adopted and not yet endorsed by the European Union 

New standards 

IFRS 14, Regulatory Deferral Accounts (issued on 30 January 2014 and effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2016). 

IFRS 17 "Insurance Contracts" (issued on 18 May 2017 and effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2021). 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

2.33 Adoption of new or revised standards and interpretations (continued) 

Amendments

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture - Amendments to 
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (issued on 11 September 2014 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
a date to be determined by the IASB). 

Amendments to IAS 28 “Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures” (issued on 12 October 2017 
and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019).

Annual Improvements to IFRS 2015-2017 cycle - amendments to IFRS 3, IFRS 11, IAS 12 and IAS 23 
(issued on 12 December 2017 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019). 

Amendments to IAS 19 “Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement” (issued on 7 February 2018 and 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019).

Amendments to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (issued on 29 March 2018 and effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020). 

Definition of a business – Amendments to IFRS 3 (issued on 22 October 2018 and effective for acquisitions 
from the beginning of annual reporting period that starts on or after 1 January 2020). 

Definition of materiality – Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 (issued on 31 October 2018 and effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020). 

The Group’s Board of Directors assesses the impact of new standards and interpretations at the point 
when these are endorsed by the European Union. Unless otherwise described above, the new standards 
and interpretations are not expected to affect significantly the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

3. Cash and cash equivalents 

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Bank deposits with original maturity of less than three months 1,442,187 3,615,400
Bank balances receivable on demand 255,899 1,180,325
Interest receivable on bank deposits within cash equivalents - 43,288
Brokerage accounts 29,752 20,293
Cash in hand 521 446
Cash in transit 37 583
Total cash and cash equivalents 1,728,396 4,860,335

The Group had the following currency positions: 

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Russian Roubles 1,471,015 4,802,061
US Dollars 255,215 56,816
Euro 1,985 1,200
Other 181 258
Total 1,728,396 4,860,335

The weighted average interest rate on cash at bank balances in Russian Roubles presented within cash 
and cash equivalents was 7.4% at 31 December 2018 (31 December 2017: 7.81%). The weighted average 
interest rate on cash at bank balances in US Dollars presented within cash and cash equivalents was 1.76%
(31 December 2017: nil).
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4. Short-term investments 

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Loans issued to third parties (Note 15) 5,330,226 428
Bank deposits with original maturity over three months 2,790,562 18,141,297
Bonds held for trading 191,349 -
Interest receivable on bonds held to collect 188,914 -
Current portion of long-term bank deposits - 269,568
Interest receivable on bonds held for trading 50,015 46,313
Loans issued to related parties (Note 27) 172 172
Total 8,551,238 18,457,778

The bank deposits within short-term investments are denominated in the following currencies: 

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Russian Roubles 2,623,323 17,769,568
US dollars - 271,426
Total 2,623,323 18,040,994

As at 31 December 2018 the interest rates on bank deposit denominated in Russian Roubles within short-
term investments vary between 7.15% and 10.5% (31 December 2017: 2.0% and 10.5%). As at 
31 December 2018 the weighted average interest rate on the bank deposits equals 7.33% (31 December 
2017: 7.15%).  

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has bonds held for trading. The table below shows the rating and 
balances of bonds held for trading at 31 December 2018: 

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Rating agency Rating Balance Rating Balance

JSC EuroChem Fitch Ratings Bb 191,349 Bb -
Total bonds held for 
trading 191,349 -

5. Trade and other receivables 

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Trade receivables 5,620,439 2,866,621
Other 321,775 166,485
Less: provision for impairment (Note 30) (301,259) (280,975)
Total financial assets within trade and other receivables 5,640,955 2,752,131
Deferred charges 585,448 444,184
Total trade and other receivables 6,226,403 3,196,315

The above financial assets within trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies:
31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Russian Roubles 4,909,150 2,116,650
US dollars 726,291 556,809
Euro 5,514 77,795
Other - 877
Total 5,640,955 2,752,131
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5 Trade and Other Receivables (continued) 

The credit loss allowance for trade and other receivables as at 31 December 2018 is determined according 
to the provision matrix presented in the table below. The provision matrix is based the number of days that 
an asset is past due. 

Loss 
rate

Gross
carrying 
amount

Lifetime 
expected credit 

loss

Trade receivables
- current - 5,163,227 -
- less than 90 days overdue - 290,325 63,659
- 91 to 180 days overdue 100% 7,247 7,247
- 181 to 360 days overdue 100% 17,193 17,193
- over 360 days overdue 100% 142,447 142,447

Total trade receivables (gross carrying amount) 5,620,439 -
Credit loss allowance 230,546
Total trade receivables from contracts with customers 
(carrying amount) 5,389,893

Other receivables
- current - 247,491 -
- less than 90 days overdue - 3,571 -
- 91 to 180 days overdue 100% 1,107 1,107
- 181 to 360 days overdue 100% 6,035 6,035
- over 360 days overdue 100% 63,571 63,571

Total other receivables 321,775 -
Credit loss allowance 70,713
Total other receivables (carrying amount) 251,062

The following table explains the changes in the credit loss allowance for trade and other receivables under 
simplified expected credit loss model between the beginning and the end of the annual period: 

Trade receivables Other receivables

As at 1 January 2018 204,330 76,645
Accrued/(Reversed) 35,638 6,899
Utilised (9,422) (12,831)

As at 31 December 2018 (Note 30) 230,546 70,713

Reconciliation of movements in the trade and other receivables impairment provision for 2017: 
Trade receivables Other receivables

As at 1 January 2017 59,116 65,048
Accrued/(Reversed) 147,661 20,052
Utilised (2,447) (8,455)

As at 31 December 2017 (Note 30) 204,330 76,645

The majority of the Group’s trade debtors are proven counterparties with whom the Group has long-lasting 
sustainable relationships. 
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6. Prepayments 

Prepayments classified as current assets represent the following advance payments:
31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Prepayments for other materials 626,539 445,227
Prepayments for transportation services 567,532 211,980
Prepayments for fuel and energy 369,668 179,742
Prepayments for raw materials 144,936 89,725
Prepayments under insurance contracts 99,849 92,445
Prepayments for rent 73,265 84,944
Prepayments to customs 55,615 8,929
Prepayments for advertising expenses 5,892 4,130
Other prepayments 286,086 119,681
Less: provision for impairment (34,411) (35,324)

Total 2,194,971 1,201,479

Reconciliation of movements in the prepayments impairment provision:
2018 2017

As at 1 January 35,324 35,952
Accrued/(Reversed) 22,075 10,462   
Utilised (22,988) (11,090)

As at 31 December 34,411 35,324

As at 31 December 2018 prepayments classified as non-current assets and included in “Advances paid for 
property, plant and equipment” line in the consolidated statements of financial position in the amount of 
RR 9,681,448 (31 December 2017: RR 13,841,743) represent advance payments for construction works 
and purchases of production equipment. 

7. Other taxes receivable 

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Value added tax receivable 4,367,024 3,211,136
Other taxes receivable 52,987 141,470

Total 4,420,011 3,352,606

8. Inventories 

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Finished goods 28,506,835 13,821,563
Raw materials 17,747,066 9,052,826
Work in progress 3,138,541 3,137,423
Less: provision for write-down to net realisable value (381,434) (345,926)
Total 49,011,008 25,665,886

Sales of sugar and grain have been postponed until 2019 due to the market conditions that resulted in an 
increase of finished goods and agricultural produce balance as at 31 December 2018. The increase of raw 
materials as at 31 December 2018 relates to the increase of sunflowers seed stock in Oil and Fat segment 
in result of tolling with Solnechnye Producty. 

ROS AGRO PLC 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
(IN THOUSANDS OF RUSSIAN ROUBLES, UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE) 

29

9. Biological assets 

The fair value of biological assets belongs to level 3 measurements in the fair value hierarchy. Pricing model 
is used as a valuation technique for biological assets fair value measurement. There were no changes in 
the valuation technique during the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017. The reconciliation of changes 
in biological assets between the beginning and the end of the year can be presented as follows: 

Short-term biological assets 
Consumable 

livestock, pigs
Unharvested 

crops Total

As at 1 January 2017 3,892,609 804,348 4,696,957
Increase due to purchases and gain arising from 
cost inputs 14,661,497 13,546,784 28,208,281
Gain on initial recognition of agricultural produce - 1,743,907 1,743,907
Lost harvest written-off (Note 23) - (82,119) (82,119)

Decrease due to harvest and sales of the assets (16,545,692) (15,122,308) (31,668,000)
Gain arising from changes in fair value less 
estimated point-of-sale costs 1,110,939 - 1,110,939

As at 31 December 2017 3,119,353 890,612 4,009,965

Increase due to purchases and gain arising from 
cost inputs

17,287,643 16,529,162 33,816,805

Acquisitions through business combinations
(Note 25) 444,879 - 444,879

Gain on initial recognition of agricultural produce - 5,267,042
(70 580)

(20 575 442)
-

5,267,042
(70 580)

(20 575 442)
-

Lost harvest written-off (Note 23) - (70,580) (70,580)

Decrease due to harvest and sales of the assets (16,740,674) (21,697,840) (38,438,514)
Gain arising from changes in fair value less 
estimated point-of-sale costs (963,727) - (963,727)

As at 31 December 2018 3,147,474 918,396 4,065,870

Long-term biological assets 
Bearer livestock

Pigs Cows Total 

As at 1 January 2017 1,572,007 173,460 1,745,467
Increases due to purchases and breeding costs of 
growing livestock 724,651 110,794 835,445
Decreases due to sales (994,007) (105,604) (1,099,611)
Gain/(loss) arising from changes in fair value less 
estimated point-of-sale costs 249,049 (10,566) 238,483
As at 31 December 2017 1,551,700 168,084 1,719,784

Increases due to purchases and breeding costs of 
growing livestock 1,698,515 80,597 1,779,112
Acquisitions through business combinations 258,464 - 258,464
Decreases due to sales (1,011,982) (70,588) (1,082,570)
Gain/(loss) arising from changes in fair value less 
estimated point-of-sale costs 9,246 (33,835) (24,589)

As at 31 December 2018 2,505,943 144,258 2,650,201

In 2018 the aggregate gain on initial recognition of agricultural produce and from the change in fair value 
less estimated point-of-sale costs of biological assets amounted to RR  4,278,726 (2017: RR 3,093,329).

Included in the above amounts there are gains related to realised biological assets and agricultural produce 
amounting to RR 1,427,938 (2017: RR 6,069,498).
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9 Biological assets (continued) 

Livestock population were as follows: 
31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Cows (heads) 2,121 2,163
Pigs within bearer livestock (heads) 99,979 81,000
Pigs within consumable livestock (tonnes) 38,984 37,500

Cows are bred for the purpose of production of milk. In 2018 the milk produced amounted to  
6,484 tonnes (2017: 5,790 tonnes).  

In 2018 total area of cultivated land amounted to 582 thousand ha (2017: 567 thousand ha). 

The main crops of the Group’s agricultural production and output were as follows (in thousands
of tonnes): 

2018 2017

Sugar beet 3,487 3,509
Wheat 664 722
Barley 203 296
Sunflower 60 39
Corn 185 126
Soya bean 219 178

Key inputs in the fair value measurement of the livestock and the agricultural crops harvested together with 
sensitivity to reasonably possible changes in those inputs are disclosed in Note 2.2. 

As at 31 December 2018 biological assets with a carrying value of RR 857,270 were pledged as collateral 
for the Group’s borrowings (Note 15). There were no biological assets pledged as collateral as at 31 
December 2017. 

The Group is exposed to financial risks arising from changes in milk, meat and crops prices. The Group 
does not anticipate that milk or crops prices will decline significantly in the foreseeable future except some 
seasonal fluctuations and, therefore, has not entered into derivative or other contracts to manage the risk 
of a decline in respective prices. The Group reviews its outlook for milk, meat and crops prices regularly in 
considering the need for active financial risk management. 

10. Long-term investments 

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Bonds held to collect (Note 15) 19,900,000 -
Loans issued to third parties (Note 15) 18,090,981 15,400
Bank deposits with original maturity over twelve months 14,071,101 14,972,650
Bonds held for trading (Note 15) 2,316,415 2,549,698
Promissory notes (Note 15) 100,000 -
Other long-term investments 15,755 56,282
Total 54,494,252 17,594,030

The above long-term investments are denominated in Russian Roubles. 

As at 31 December 2018 bank deposits in the amount of RR 13,900,000 (31 December 2017:
RR 14,596,500) were pledged as collateral for the Group’s borrowings. 
Bank deposits include restricted deposit in Vnesheconombank in amount of RR 13,900,000 which could 
not be withdrawn till 27 November 2028 (Note 15). 

Bonds held to collect include restricted bonds in Rosselkhozbank in amount of the RR 19,900,000 which 
could not be withdrawn till 22 November 2038 (Note 15). 

Bonds held for trading and held to collect were denominated in Russian Roubles and mature in the period
from 2022 till 2038. Nominal interest rates on bonds vary between 10.12% and 12.15%. Bonds held for 
trading were acquired with the intention of generating a profit from short-term price fluctuations and for the 
purpose of these consolidated financial statements were classified as trading investments with 
measurement at fair value through profit and loss. 
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10 Long-term investments (continued) 

The table below shows the rating and balances of bonds held for trading and bonds held to collect at 31 
December 2018: 

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Rating agency Rating Balance Rating Balance

Rosselkhozbank Fitch Ratings bb+ 22,057,525 bb+ 2,191,065
JSC EuroChem Fitch Ratings bb - Bb 196,916
VimpelCom Ltd Fitch Ratings bb+ 136,883 bb+ 138,671
LLC Lenta Fitch Ratings bb 22,007 Bb 23,046

Total bonds (Note 10) 22,216,415 2,549,698

11. Non-current assets classified as held for sale

Major classes of non-current assets classified as held for sale are as follows: 

31 December 
2018

31 December 
2017

Property, plant and equipment 820,950 -

Total non-current assets classified as held for sale 820,950 -

Non-current Assets held for sale represent the fair value of production assets of vegetable oil processing 
plant of AO Maslozhirkombinat Armavirski (a subsidiary Solnechnye producty) which were pledged under 
the loans acquired by the Group from RSHB (Note 15). These assets were purchased in December 2018 
through settlement against the respective loan receivable of RR 504,927. The resulting gain of RR 316,023 
was reflected as “Gain from reposition of collateral” within Other operating income and expenses (Note 23).

In December 2018 Management approved a plan to sell these assets. The Group is actively marketing 
these assets and expects the sale to complete by the end of April 2019.  
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12. Property, plant and equipment 

Movements in the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment were as follows:  

Land 

Machinery, 
vehicles and 

equipment

Buildings 
and 

constructions

Assets 
under

construction Other Total 

Cost (Note 2.5)
As at 1 January 2017 7,215,586 36,175,649 23,576,418 5,331,671 347,510 72,646,834
Additions 462,493 5,723,881 62,517 11,426,124 3,794 17,678,809
Acquisitions through 
business combinations 
(Note 25) - 245 - - - 245
Transfers 3,008 2,671,712 2,628,397 (5,258,809) (44,308) -
Disposals (42,106) (503,401) (22,179) (34,572) (26,037) (628,295)

As at 31 December 2017 7,638,981 44,068,086 26,245,153 11,464,414 280,959 89,697,593

Accumulated 
depreciation (Note 2.6)
As at 1 January 2017 - (19,140,368) (7,517,237) - (197,941) (26,855,546)
Charge for the year - (5,243,265) (1,604,218) - (26,883) (6,874,366)
Transfers - (33,648) 33,648 -
Disposals - 414,658 - - 7,745 422,403
As at 31 December 2017 - (24,002,623) (9,121,455) - (183,431) (33,307,509)

Net book value
as at 31 December 2017 7,638,981 20,065,463 17,123,698 11,464,414 97,528 56,390,084

Land 

Machinery, 
vehicles and 

equipment

Buildings 
and 

constructions

Assets 
under

construction Other Total 

Cost (Note 2.5)
As at 1 January 2018 7,638,981 44,068,086 26,245,153 11,464,414 280,959 89,697,593
Additions 452,531 2,057,024 126,675 14,748,910 1,381 17,386,521
Acquisitions through 
business combinations 
(Note 25) 4,810 901,879 1,738,592 13,578 - 2,658,859
Transfers - 5,213,876 4,648,596 (9,865,875) 3,403 -
Disposals (139,737) (375,971) (67,454) (226,884) (18,472) (828,518)

As at 31 December 2018 7,956,585 51,864,894 32,691,562 16,134,143 267,271 108,914,455

Accumulated 
depreciation (Note 2.6)
As at 1 January 2018 - (24,002,623) (9,121,455) - (183,431) (33,307,509)
Charge for the year - (5,599,779) (1,736,586) - (29,376) (7,365,741)
Transfers - - - - - -
Disposals - 305,592 41,630 - 18,025 365,247
As at 31 December 2018 - (29,296,810) (10,816,411) - (194,782) (40,308,003)

Net book value
as at 31 December 2018 7,956,585 22,568,084 21,875,151 16,134,143 72,489 68,606,452

As at 31 December 2018 property, plant and equipment with a net book value of RR 20,870,439
(31 December 2017: RR 10,235,031) was pledged as collateral for the Group’s borrowings (Note 15).

As at 31 December 2018 and as at 31 December 2017 the assets under construction related mainly to the 
pig farm construction in the Tambov region and Primorsky Krai and desugarisation production line in 
Belgorod region.
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12 Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 

During the reporting period, the Group capitalised interest expenses within assets under construction in the 
amount of RR 1,934,454 (2017: RR 1,446,761). The average capitalisation rate in 2018 was 9.73% (2017:
10.68%). 

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, inventories intended for construction related mainly to the inventories 
which will be used for the pig farm construction in the Primorsky Krai.   

Movements in the carrying amount of inventories intended for construction were as follows: 

As at 1 January 2017 38,963
Additions 847,212
Disposals (90,861)

As at 31 December 2017 795,314

As at 1 January 2018 795,314
Additions 4,654,056
Disposals (1,312,515)

As at 31 December 2018 4,136,855

13. Other intangible assets 

Acquired 
land lease 

rights Trademarks
Software 
licenses

Internally 
developed 

software Other Total

Cost (Note 2.9)
As at 1 January 2017 1,649,026 325,147 454,288 55,011 170,578 2,654,050
Additions 106,590 3,193 354,177 1,001 56,549 521,510
Transfers - - - 3,079 (3,079) -
Acquisitions through 
business combinations 
(Note 25)

- - 40 - 12,640 12,680
Disposals (13) - (65,245) 1,062 (2,283) (66,479)

As at 31 December 2017 1,755,603 328,340 743,260 60,153 234,405 3,121,761

Accumulated 
amortisation
(Note 2.9)
As at 1 January 2017 (60,258) (150,568) (142,194) (32,206) (129,653) (514,879)
Charge for the year (132,859) (30,606) (187,209) (19,236) (10,078) (379,988)
Disposals 13,666 1 44,688 932 - 59,287

As at 31 December 2017 (179,451) (181,173) (284,715) (50,510) (139,731) (835,580)

Net book value
as at 31 December 2017 1,576,152 147,167 458,545 9,643 94,674 2,286,181
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13 Other Intangible Assets (continued) 

Acquired 
land lease 

rights Trademarks
Software 
licenses

Internally 
developed 

software Other Total

Cost (Note 2.9)
As at 1 January 2018 1,755,603 328,340 743,260 60,153 234,405 3,121,761
Additions 132,118 21,951 247,795 2,162 468 404,494
Transfers - (71,641) 1,408 (10,684) 80,917 -
Acquisitions through 
business combinations 
(Note 25)

- 4,008 - - - 4,008

Disposals (29,601) (152,648) (118,489) (2,139) (42,435) (345,312)

As at 31 December 2018 1,858,120 130,010 873,974 49,492 273,355 3,184,951

Accumulated 
amortisation
(Note 2.9)
As at 1 January 2018 (179,451) (181,173) (284,715) (50,510) (139,731) (835,580)
Charge for the year (113,361) (33,134) (228,657) (6,623) (40,949) (422,724)
Disposals 5,449 162,928 86,641 18,857 2,264 276,139

As at 31 December 2018 (287,363) (51,379) (426,731) (38,276) (178,416) (982,165)

Net book value
as at 31 December 2018 1,570,757 78,631 447,243 11,216 94,939 2,202,786

14. Share capital, share premium and transactions with non-controlling interests 

Share capital and share premium 

At 31 December 2018 the issued and paid share capital consisted of 27,333,333 ordinary shares  
(31 December 2017: 27,333,333 ordinary shares) with par value of EUR 0.01 each. 

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the authorised share capital consisted of 60,000,000 ordinary shares with 
par value of EUR 0.01 each. 

Treasury shares 

At 31 December 2018 the Group held 2,166,313 of its own GDRs (31 December 2017: 2,172,368 own 
GDRs) that is equivalent of approximately 433,263 shares (31 December 2017: 434,474 shares). The 
GDRs are held as ‘treasury shares’. In 2018 and 2017 there were no acquisitions of treasury shares. 
In 2018 the Group transferred 6,055 of its own GDRs to the employees under the share option incentive 
scheme initiated by the Group in 2014 amounting to RR 1,371 (Note 27).  

In 2017 the Group transferred 33,614 of its own GDRs to the employees under the share option incentive 
scheme initiated by the Group in 2014 amounting to RR 7,612 (Note 27). 

Dividends 

In 2018 the Company distributed RR 2,224,024 of dividends for the second half of 2017 and RR 1,026,426 
of interim dividends for the first half of 2018. The dividends for the second half of 2017 amounted to RR 
82.68 per share and interim dividends for 2018 amounted to RR 38.15 per share. 

In 2017 the Company distributed RR 4,619,353 of dividends for the second half of 2016 and RR 1,861,815 
of interim dividends for the first half of 2017. The dividends for the second half of 2016 amounted to RR 
171.75 per share and interim dividends for 2017 amounted to RR 69.20 per share. 

ROS AGRO PLC 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
(IN THOUSANDS OF RUSSIAN ROUBLES, UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE) 

35

14 Share capital, share premium and transactions with non-controlling interests (continued) 

Purchases of non-controlling interests  

2018
On 27 February 2018 the Group acquired 25.5% additional shares in OJSC Pugachevskiy elevator, thereby 
increasing its shares in the share capital of OJSC Pugachevskiy elevator to 93.3% (2017: 67.8%). The total 
excess of consideration paid over the Group’s share of identifiable net assets acquired in the amount of 
RR 30,249 was recorded as a capital transaction in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. 

2017
In 2017 the Group increased its share in OJSC Pugachevskiy elevator, in OJSC Hercules and in OJSC By 
General Vatutin. The total excess of consideration paid over the Group’s share of identifiable net assets 
acquired in the amount of RR 79,194 was recorded as a capital transaction in the consolidated statement 
of changes in equity. 

15. Borrowings 

Short-term borrowings 

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Interest 

rate
Carrying 
amount

Interest 
rate

Carrying 
amount

Bank loans 1%-13% 24,604,398 1%-13% 3,763,123
Loans received from third parties 6.0% 4,800 6.0% 293,506
Finance leases 18,877 11,850
Interest accrued on borrowings from third 
parties 4 99,249
Current portion of long-term borrowings 7,885,516 4,695,797

Total 32,513,595 8,863,525

All short-term borrowings are at fixed interest rate. The above borrowings are denominated in the following 
currencies: 

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Russian Roubles 32,511,435 8,481,006
Euro 2,160 382,519

Total 32,513,595 8,863,525

Long-term borrowings 
31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Interest 
rate

Carrying 
amount

Interest 
rate

Carrying 
amount

Bank loans 1.0-15.9% 70,373,958 1.0-13.0% 42,380,111
Finance leases 99,089 103,463
Less current portion of long-term borrowings 
from:
Bank loans 1.0-15.9% (7,885,516) 1.0-13.0% (4,695,797)

Total 62,587,531 37,787,777

The above borrowings are denominated in the following currencies: 

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Russian Roubles 62,511,928 37,720,381
Euro 75,603 67,396

Total 62,587,531 37,787,777
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15 Borrowings (continued) 

The VEB deposit bears interest of 2% on withdrawal amount and 7.8% on fixed amount and this interest 
rate is effectively also applied to the portion of the loan that was not disbursed from the deposit account. In 
accordance with the loan agreement a fixed interest rate of 5% is applied to the portion of the loan disbursed 
from the deposit account. The VEB deposit is accounted for as a short-term bank deposit and included in 
Short-term investments as at 31 December 2017 (Note 4). 

The fair value of this loan at inception date was RR 3,712,263 determined using the effective interest rate 
of 11%. The loan is measured at amortized cost with an effective interest rate of 11%.The benefit of the 
lower interest rate of 5% is treated as a government grant and amounted to RR 1,287,737 at inseption 
(Note 18). 

In November 2015 the Group entered into a transaction with VEB for the acquisition of debt (loans and 
bonds) and equity (19.97% shares in PJSC Group Razguliay) of PJSC Group Razguliay and its subsidiaries 
(hereinafter – “Razguliay Group”). The total consideration for this acquisition amounted to RR 33,914,546 
and was paid by the Group in cash.  

For the purpose of financing of this transaction, the Group raised a thirteen-year loan from VEB  
in the amount of RR 33,914,546 at 1% per annum. The fair value of this loan at inception date was 
RR 13,900,000 determined using the effective interest rate of 13.23%. The loan is measured at amortized 
cost with an effective interest rate of 13.23%. The loan is secured by a thirteen-year deposit placed by the 
Group with VEB in the amount of RR 13,900,000 at the interest rate of 12.84% per annum. 

The cost of the group of financial assets acquired in this transaction representing fair value of the loan 
obtained from VEB was allocated to the individual identifiable financial assets based on their relative fair 
values at the date of acquisition. 

The acquired ownership interest in Razguliay Group (19.97% of shares) was accounted for as on available-
for-sale investment and included in Long-term investments (Note 10). As at 31 December 2016 the fair 
value of the acquired ownership interest amounted to RR 253,136. In 2017 Razguliay Group was declared 
bankrupt.  Till this moment the decrease in fair value of available-for-sale investment in Razguliay reflected 
in other comprehensive income in 2017 in the amount of RR 154,082 together with the related income tax 
of RR 30,816. At the time Razguliay Group was declared bankrupt respective available-for-sale investment 
of RR 99,054 was written off together with recycling of related accumulated fair value reserve for available-
for-sale financial assets in other comprehensive income in the amount of RR 301,335 to profit or loss and 
included in the Other operating income/ (expenses) line item within the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income (Note 23). The related accumulated income tax in amount of 
RR 60,267 was also recycled to profit or loss and included in Income tax expense line item within the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

Maturity of long-term borrowings: 
31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Fixed interest rate borrowings:
2 years 12,583,616 5,081,773
3-5 years 32,231,789 23,633,309
More than 5 years 17,772,126 8,655,833

Total 62,587,531 37,370,915

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Floating interest rate borrowings:
2 years - 416,862
3-5 years - -

Total - 416,862

For details of property, plant and equipment and biological assets pledged as collateral for the above 
borrowings see Note 12. For details of bank deposits pledged as collateral for the above borrowings refer 
to Notes 4 and 10.
Shares of several companies of the Group are pledged as collateral for the bank borrowings, as follows: 
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15 Borrowings (continued) 

Pledged shares, %
31 December 2018 31 December 2017

LLC Tambovsky Bacon 100.0 100.0
LLC Rusagro-Primorie 100.0 100.0
LLC Rusagro-Belgorod (former OJSC Valuikisakhar) 51.0 51.0
LLC Rusagro-Tambov 51.0 51.0

Net Debt* 

As part of liquidity risk management, the Group Treasury analyses its net debt position. The Group 
management determines the Net Debt of the Group as outstanding long-term borrowings and short-term 
borrowings less cash and cash equivalents, all bank deposits, bonds held for trading and banks’ promissory 
notes. The Group management compares net debt figure with Adjusted EBITDA (Note 29) and considers the 
normal level of Net Debt/Adjusted EBITDA ratio to be not more than 3. 
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017 the net debt of the Group was as follows: 

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Long-term borrowings 62,587,531 37,787,777
Short-term borrowings 32,513,595 8,863,525
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 3) (1,728,396) (4,860,335)
Long-term promissory notes (Note 10) (100,000) -
Bank deposits within short-term investments (Note 4) (2,623,323) (18,040,994)
Bank deposits within long-term investments (Note 10) (13,900,000) (14,596,500)
Long-term bonds held for trading (Note 10) (22,216,415) (2,549,698)
Short-term bonds held for trading (Note 4) (191,349) -
Net debt* 54,341,643 6,603,775
including long-term Net debt 26,371,116 20,641,579
including short-term Net debt 27,970,527 (14,037,804)
Adjusted EBITDA* (Note 29) 16,179,075 13,955,369

Net debt/ Adjusted EBITDA* 3,36 0.47

* not an IFRS measure. 
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15 Borrowings (continued)

For the purpose of conformity with the methodology of the Group's Net Debt calculation, cash flows 
from investing and financing activities in the Group management accounts are presented as follows: 

Year ended 31 December 2018
According to 

IFRS Reclassifications
Management 

accounts

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (12,895,786) - (12,895,786)
Purchases of inventories intended for construction (1,968,594) - (1,968,594)
Proceeds from cash withdrawals from deposits 20,966,068 (20,966,068) -
Deposits placed with banks (6,139,044) 6,139,044 -
Purchases of bonds with maturity over three months (19,900,000) 19,900,000 -
Purchase of promissory note (100,000) 100,000 -
Purchases of loans issued (882,492) 882,492 -
Loans repaid 369,008 (369,008) -
Interest received 4,524,153 (4,524,153) -
Other cash flows in investing activities* 462,803 - 462,803
Net cash used in investing activities (15,563,884) 1,162,307 (14,401,577)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings 49,981,866 - 49,981,866
Repayment of borrowings (25,326,315) - (25,326,315)
Proceeds from cash withdrawals from deposits* - 20,966,068 20,966,068
Deposits placed with banks* - (6,139,044) (6,139,044)
Purchases of bonds with maturity over three months - (19,900,000) (19,900,000)
Purchase of promissory note - (100,000) (100,000)
Purchases of loans issued * - (882,492) (882,492)
Loans repaid* - 369,008 369,008
Interest paid (3,569,972) - (3,569,972)
Interest received* - 4,524,153 4,524,153
Proceeds from government grants 2,309,106 - 2,309,106
Lease payments 11,942 - 11,942
Other cash flows in financing activities* (3,464,863) - (3,464,863)
Net cash used in financing activities 19,941,764 (1,162,307) 18,779,457
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15 Borrowings (continued) 

Year ended 31 December 2017
According to 

IFRS Reclassifications
Management 

accounts

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (16,684,987) - (16,684,987)
Purchases of inventories intended for construction (848,870) - (848,870)
Proceeds from cash withdrawals from deposits 34,227,159 (34,227,159) -
Deposits placed with banks (35,976,815) 35,976,815 -
Purchases of associates (9,168) - (9,168)
Proceeds from sale of associates 42,116 - 42,116
Loans given (7) 7 -
Loans repaid 428,559 (428,559) -
Interest received 4,336,595 (4,336,595) -
Other cash flows in investing activities* (386,289) - (386,289)

Net cash used in investing activities (14,871,707) (3,015,491) (17,887,198)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings 18,819,053 - 18,819,053
Repayment of borrowings (16,860,947) - (16,860,947)
Proceeds from cash withdrawals from deposits* - 34,227,159 34,227,159
Deposits placed with banks* - (35,976,815) (35,976,815)
Loans given* - (7) (7)
Loans repaid* - 428,559 428,559
Interest paid (2,865,059) - (2,865,059)
Interest received* - 4,336,595 4,336,595
Proceeds from government grants 2,674,618 - 2,674,618
Lease payments (14,919) - (14,919)
Other cash flows in financing activities* (6,232,329) - (6,232,329)

Net cash used in financing activities (4,479,583) 3,015,491 (1,464,092)

*See details in the consolidated statement of cash flows. 

Liabilities from financing activities 

Borrowings
Finance 

leases
Total liabilities from 
financing activities

As at 1 January 2017 44,502,516 - 44,502,516
Cash flows (906 953) (14,919) (921,872)
Foreign exchange adjustments 103,220 (778) 102,442
Other non-cash movements 2,837,206 131,010 2,968,216

As at 31 December 2017 46,535,989 115,313 46,651,302

As at 1 January 2018 46,535,989 115,313 46,651,302
Cash flows 21,145,146 (47,625) 21,097,521
Business combinations 1,873,920 - 1,873,920
Foreign exchange adjustments 17,968 10,460 28,428
Deferred liability due to RSHB 20,076,445 - 20,076,445
Other non-cash movements 5,333,692 39,818 5,382,924
As at 31 December 2018 94,983,160 117,966 95,101,126
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16. Trade and other payables  

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Trade accounts payable 6,006,121 2,654,568
Payables for property, plant and equipment 781,556 742,167
Other payables 125,903 3,150

Total financial liabilities within trade and other payables 6,913,580 3,399,885
Payables to employees 1,344,643 1,478,158
Advances received 3,259,443 1,895,026
Other payables (Note 15) 672,494 -
Total trade and other payables 12,190,160 6,773,069

Financial liabilities within trade and other payables of RR 82,546 (31 December 2017: RR 54,894) are
denominated in US Dollars, financial liabilities within trade and other payables of RR 131,478  
(31 December 2017: RR 200,566) are denominated in Euros. All other financial liabilities within trade and 
other payables are denominated in Russian Roubles. 

17. Other taxes payable 

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Value added tax 3,621,245 3,761,666
Property tax 150,499 111,254
Social contributions 165,806 106,357
Personal income tax 54,382 52,239
Transport tax 4,048 3,923
Other 27,963 36,925

Total 4,023,943 4,072,364

18. Government grants 

During 2017-2018 the Group received government grants from the Tambov and Belgorod regional 
governments and the Federal government in partial compensation of the investments into acquisition  
of equipment for agricultural business and sugar processing and the investments into reconstruction and 
modernisation of the pig-breeding farms and the slaughter house. The receipts of these grants in 2018 
amounted to RR 193,551 (2017: RR 708,734). These grants are deferred and amortised on a straight-line 
basis over the expected lives of the related assets.  

In 2017 the Group received a loan with a low interest rate from the Far East Development Fund to fund a 
construction of pig-breeding farms and the slaughter house in the Far East region (Note 15). The benefit of 
the lower interest in amount of RR 1,287,737 is treated as a government grant. The government grants 
relates to interest expenses capitalised into the carrying value of assets, therefore, is deferred and 
amortised on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related assets. 

In 2017-2018 the Group obtained government grants for reimbursement of interest expenses on bank loans 
received for construction of the pig-breeding farms in the Far East and Tambov. The government grants 
related to interest expenses capitalised into the carrying value of assets, were similarly deferred and 
amortised on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related assets. The deferred government 
grants, related to capitalised interest expense, amounted to RR 1,261,523 (2017: RR 1,045,164).  
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18 Government Grants (continued)

The movements in deferred government grants in the consolidated statement of financial position were as 
follows: 

2018 2017

As at 1 January 6,377,469 3,712,593
Government grants received 1,455,074 3,041,634
Amortization of deferred income to match related depreciation 
(Note 23) (521,568) (376,758)

As at 31 December 7,310,975 6,377,469

Other bank loan interests, which had been refunded by the state, were credited to the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and netted with the interest expense  
(Note 24). 

Other government grants received are included in Note 23. 
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19. 
Sales 

D
isaggregation of revenue for 2018 by category under revenue recognition guidance effective from

 1 January 2018: 

The G
roup derives revenue from

 the transfer of goods and services over tim
e and at a point in tim

e in the m
ajor product lines and geographical regions.  

Analysis of revenue by category under revenue recognition guidance effective prior to 1 January 2018: 
2018

2017

Sales of goods
82,397,302

78,539,058
Sales of services

580,409   
518,802

Total
82,977,711

79,057,860

The transportation expenses related to R
evenue from

 transportation services in am
ount of R

R
 1,429,567 w

ere recognised w
ithin C

ost of sales. 

Sugar
M

eat
Agriculture

O
il and

Fat
O

ther
Elim

ination
Total

Type of goods and services
Sales of goods

23,405,678
22,258,084

20,541,363
25,210,867

986,566
(11,434,823)

80,967,735
Transportation services

466,268
66,505

32,303
864,491

-
-

1,429,567
O

ther services
210,910

25,436
254,764

210,455
200,917

(322,073)
580,409

Total revenue from
 contracts w

ith 
custom

ers
24,082,856

22,350,025
20,828,430

26,285,813
1,187,483

(11,756,896)
82,977,711

-
-

G
eographical m

arket
-

-
R

ussian Federation
21,162,607

21,331,585
18,335,323

16,932,197
1,187,483

(11,756,896)
67,192,299

Foreign countries
2,920,249

1,018,440
2,493,107

9,353,616
-

-
15,785,412

Total revenue from
 contracts w

ith 
custom

ers
24,082,856

22,350,025
20,828,430

26,285,813
1,187,483

(11,756,896)
82,977,711

-
-

Tim
ing of revenue recognition

-
-

G
oods transferred at a point of tim

e
23,405,678

22,258,084
20,541,363

25,210,867
986,566

(11,434,823)
80,967,735

Services transferred over tim
e

677,178
91,941

287,067
1,074,946

200,917
(322,073)

2,009,976

Total revenue from
 contracts w

ith 
custom

ers
24,082,856

22,350,025
20,828,430

26,285,813
1,187,483

(11,756,896)
82,977,711
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20. Cost of sales 

2018 2017

Raw materials and consumables used 39,876,534 36,345,547
Purchases of goods for resale 7,617,868 1,278,135
Services 7,486,005 4,563,455
Depreciation 7,047,472 6,436,603
Payroll 6,648,229 6,022,898
Other 2,117,974 1,919,564
Purchase of biological assets 1,148,348 564,944
Provision/ (reversal of provision) for net realisable value 67,919 (30,885)
Change in work in progress, finished goods and goods for resale, 
biological assets (10,330,507) 1,015,509
Total 61,679,842 58,115,770

“Changes in inventories and biological assets” line above includes changes in balances of goods produced 
and goods purchased for resale, changes in work in progress and changes in biological assets excluding 
the effect of revaluation adjustments. This line also includes change in depreciation as included in work in 
progress, finished goods and biological assets in the amount of RR (1,065,468) (2017: RR (995,662)).

Payroll costs include salaries of RR 5,122,021 (2017: RR 4,632,777) and statutory pension contributions 
of RR 1,175,032 (2017: RR 1,025,930).

The average number of employees employed by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2018 was 
15,123 (14,153 for the year ended 31 December 2017).

21. Distribution and selling expenses 

2018 2017

Transportation and loading services 3,444,015 4,469,006
Other services 1,210,157 831,178
Payroll 1,007,472 1,296,358
Advertising 469,821 533,633
Depreciation and amortization 305,984 370,854
Fuel and energy 120,817 180,327
Materials 97,511 171,306
(Reversal of provision)/provision for impairment of receivables (17,875) 142,611
Other 352,505 429,041
Change in selling and distribution expenses attributable to goods 
not sold (30,317) (63,350)
Total 6,960,090 8,360,964

Payroll costs include salaries of RR 801,181 (2017: RR 1,023,875) and statutory pension contributions 
of RR 206,291 (2017: RR 272,483). 
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24. Interest expense and other financial income/ (expenses), net 

Interest expense comprised of the following:
2018 2017

Interest expense 4,000,443 3,512,362
Reimbursement of interest expense (government grants) (1,116,025) (1,252,558)
Interest expense, net 2,884,418 2,259,804

Other financial income/ (expenses), net comprised of the following items: 
2018 2017

Financial foreign exchange differences gain/(loss), net (15,811) 10,896
Other financial expenses, net (151,031) (49,864)
Other financial income/ (expenses), net (166,842) (38,968)

25. Goodwill 

2018 2017

Carrying amount at 1 January 1,826,258 2,225,304
Acquisitions of subsidiaries 538,684 -
Impairment - (399,046)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2,364,942 1,826,258

The carrying amount of goodwill is allocated to the following CGUs: 
31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Meat CGU 538,684 -
Oil Samara CGU 899,401 899,401
Agriculture Center CGU 199,276 199,276
Sugar CGU 502,083 502,083
Agriculture Primorie CGU 225,498 225,498

Total 2,364,942 1,826,258

2018

In August 2018 the Group acquired through one deal 100.00% share capital of trading company 
LLC Torgoviy dom Kapital Agro and holding company LLC Kapital-Invest both located in Belgorod region. 
At the time of the purchase transaction, LLC Kapital-Invest controlled 100.00% ownership interest in CJSC 
KapitalAgro, located in Belgorod region. The total consideration transferred under the deal amounted to 
RR 557,000. The goodwill arising on acquisition was allocated to Meat CGU. The close location of acquired 
companies to the other Meat companies of the Group will enable the greater efficiencies and competitive 
advantages, allow to develop synergies and achieve cost savings on the combination of the businesses.  

The following table summarises the consideration paid, the fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed 
and non-controlling interest at the acquisition date: 
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25 Goodwill (continued) 

LLC Torgoviy 
dom Kapital 

Agro
LLC

Kapital-Invest
CJSC

KapitalAgro Total
Consideration transferred 557,000
Recognized fair value of
identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed:
Cash and cash equivalents 15,226 80 7,244 22,550
Trade and other receivables 7,441 - 67,172 74,613
Inventories 3 - 156,361 156,364
Short-term biological assets (Note 9) - - 444,879 444,879
Property, plant and equipment (Note 
12)

13 - 2,658,846 2,658,859

Other intangible assets (Note 13) - - 4,008 4,008
Long-term investments 4,975 - - 4,975
Long-term biological assets (Note 9) - - 258,464 258,464
Short-term borrowings - (1,132,487) (2,079,438) (3,211,925)
Trade and other payables (145,338) (17) (202,297) (347,652)
Other tax payable - - (46,819) (46,819)
Total identifiable net assets (117,680) (1,132,424) 1,268,420 18,316
Non-controlling interest - - - -
Goodwill on acquisition 538,684
Total purchase consideration 557,000
Less: Cash and cash equivalents of 
subsidiary acquired

(22,550)

Outflow of cash and cash
equivalents on acquisition

534,450

The fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities of the above mentioned acquisitions were determined 
using discounted cash flow models. The valuation of property, plant and equipment and the rights under 
land rent agreements was performed by an independent professional appraiser. 

On 19 September 2018 the Group acquired 100% of ownership interest in the share capital of LLC 
Vozrozhdenie, a construction company located in the Tambov region. The total cash consideration 
amounted to RR 217,850. This entity was acquired with the purpose of obtaining control over the agricultural 
land, owned by the acquired entity through ownership rights and rent agreements. There were no 
production processes on the acquired entity at the moment of acquisition. All other assets except of the 
land were immaterial. This deal was accounted for as assets. 

2017

In 2017 the Group acquired 100% of ownership interest in the share capital of LLC Regionstroy, a 
construction company located in the Far East. The difference between the cash consideration transferred 
in amount of RR 10 and total fair value of net identifiable liabilities in amount of RR 108,382 was immediately 
impaired and recognized in other operating expenses.  
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25 Goodwill (continued) 

The following table summarises the consideration paid, the fair value of liabilities acquired at the acquisition 
date:

LLC 
Regionstroy

Consideration transferred 10
Total consideration 10

Recognized amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed:
Cash and cash equivalents 79,426
Trade and other receivables 130
Prepayments 1,407
Current income tax receivable 15
Other taxes receivable 722,640
Inventories 34,281
Property, plant and equipment 121
Advances paid for non-current assets 3,739,049
Deferred income tax assets 27,369
Other intangible assets 12,680
Trade and other payables (4,724,927)
Current income tax payable (12)
Other taxes payable (551)
Deferred income tax liability (9)

Total identifiable net liabilities (108,382)
Loss arising from the acquisition 108,392

Total purchase consideration and previously held interest in the acquire 10
Less: Cash and cash equivalents of subsidiary acquired (79,426)

Outflow/ (inflow) of cash and cash equivalents on acquisition (79,416)
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25 Goodwill (continued) 

In 2017 the Group finalised the valuation of assets and liabilities of LLC Alekseevka-Agroinvest and 
adjusted the comparatives figures for 2016 in these consolidated financial statements accordingly. The 
differences between provisional amounts and the fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities assumed 
and the resulting impact on the excess of the Group’s share of identifiable net assets acquired over 
consideration paid are summarised in the following table: 

LLC Alekseevka-
Agroinvest: fair 

values

LLC 
Alekseevka-
Agroinvest: 
provisional 

amounts Differences
Consideration transferred 216,102 216,102 -
Total consideration 216,102 216,102 -

Recognized amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed:
Cash and cash equivalents 13 13 -
Short-term investments 6,217 6,217 -
Trade and other receivables 69,112 69,112 -
Prepayments 830 830 -
Other taxes receivable 4,353 4,353 -
Inventories 72,599 72,599 -
Short-term biological assets 97,877 97,877 -
Property, plant and equipment 149,464 20,322 129,142
Other intangible assets 139,962 - 139,962
Deferred income tax assets 106 106 -
Trade and other payables (49,644) (49,644) -
Current income tax payable (574) (574) -
Other taxes payable (1,009) (1,009) -

Total identifiable net assets 489,306 220,202 269,104
Excess of the Group’s share of identifiable net 
assets acquired over consideration paid (273,204) (4,100) (269,104)

The amount resulting from the excess of the Group’s share of identifiable net assets acquired over 
consideration paid was recognized as a bargain purchase gain (Note 23). The Group purchased LLC 
Alekseevka-Agroinvest with the purpose of expansion of its business within the Belgorod region by  merger 
with the existing successfully operating entity LLC Rusagro-Invest. The merger procedure was completed 
on 30 March 2017.  

Goodwill Impairment Test 

The carrying amount of goodwill as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 was tested for impairment. 
The recoverable amount of the Group’s cash-generating units has been determined based on a value-in-
use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the Group management 
covering a five-year period and the expected market prices for the Group’s key products for the same period 
according to leading industry publications. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are projected with a long-
term growth rate of 3.5% per annum (31 December 2017: 3.5% per annum). 
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25 Goodwill (continued) 

The assumptions used for value-in-use calculations to which the recoverable amount is most sensitive 
were: 

EBITDA margin* Pre-tax discount rate 
2018 2017 2018 2017

Oil Primorie CGU Not applicable Not applicable
Oil Samara CGU 8.0%-12.5% 5.5-11.0% 13,4% 13.1%
Agriculture Center CGU 24.0%-27.0% 20.6-30.9% 11,2% 12.4%
Sugar CGU 16.9%-20.6% 20.0-25.2% 13,2% 14.7%
Agriculture Primorie CGU 31.0%-37.0% 14.5-31.3% 11,2% 12.4%
Meat CGU 14.4%-18.8% - 12,5% -

*  EBITDA margin is calculated as the sum of operating cash flows before income tax and changes in 
working capital divided by the amount of cash flow received from trade customers. 

2018

As a result of the testing, no impairment losses were recognised for the goodwill allocated to each CGU. 

2017

As a result of the testing, impairment losses were recognised for the goodwill allocated to Oil Primorie CGU. 
The loss amounted to RR 399,046 and was included in “Other operating income/ (expenses), net” line item 
in the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income. The impairment in the Oil Primorie 
CGU arose as a result of the plants continuing underperformance in terms of production and sales volumes. 
No class of assets other than goodwill were impaired. As at 31 December 2017 the recoverable amount of 
Oil Primorie CGU amounted to RR 1,320,546. 

If the revised estimated EBITDA margin used in impairment test for the Oil Primorie CGU had been 2.0 % 
lower than management’s estimates, with all other assumptions held constant, the Group would need to 
reduce the carrying value of property, plant and equipment by RR 423,388. If the revised estimated pre-tax 
discount rate applied to the discounted cash flows of the Oil Primorie CGU had been 2.0 % higher than 
management’s estimates, with all other assumptions held constant, the Group would need to reduce the 
carrying value of property, plant and equipment by RR 189,957. The CGUs’ carrying amount would be 
equal to the value in use at a discount rate of 13.4%. 

A reasonably possible shift in key assumptions underlying the value-in-use calculations for other CGUs 
would not lead to impairment of goodwill as at 31 December 2017. 

26. Income tax 

2018 2017

Current income tax charge 956,925 268,876
Deferred tax (credit)/ charge (253,095) 148,972
Income tax expense 703,830 417,848

The Group companies domiciled in Russia were subject to an income tax rate of 20% (2017: 20%) 
of taxable profits, except for profit on sales of agricultural produce taxable at 0% (2017: 0%). 

Group entities operating in other tax jurisdictions were taxed at 0% and 12.5% (2017: 0% and 12.5%). 
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26 Income tax (continued) 

The current income tax charge represents a tax accrual based on statutory taxable profits. A reconciliation 
between the expected and the actual taxation charge is as follows: 

2018 2017
Profit before tax: 13,531,793 5,981,011
- taxable at 0% 9,984,229 2,970,595
- taxable at 12.5% 2,650,783 2,351,566
- taxable at 20% 896,781 658,850
Theoretical tax charge calculated at the applicable tax rate of 20% 
and 12.5% (2017: 20% and 12.5%) 510,704 425,716

- non-taxable income (410,126) (358,770)
- non-deductible expenses 427,853 300,506
- share based remuneration - 3,952
Deferred tax charge/(credit) in respect of withholding income tax on 
dividends to be distributed 119,034 -
Withholding income tax on dividends distributed - 2,917
Adjustments of income tax in respect of prior  years and tax 
penalties (1,889) 11,485
Tax losses for which no deferred tax assets were recognised - (18,505)
Other 58,254 50,547

Income tax expense 703,830 417,848

Differences between IFRS as adopted by the EU and local statutory taxation regulations give rise 
to certain temporary differences between the carrying value of certain assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred taxes are attributable to the following: 

1 January
2018

Deferred tax 
assets/ 

(liabilities)
acquisition/ 

disposal

Deferred tax 
credited/ 

(charged) to 
other 

comprehensive 
income

Deferred tax 
credited/ 

(charged) to 
profit or loss

31 December 
2018

Tax effects of deductible/ 
(taxable) temporary 
differences:
Property, plant and 
equipment (784,649) 101 - (239,060) (1,023,608)
Impairment of receivables 198,648 - - (403,173) (204,525)
Payables (195,911) - - (242,436) (438,347)
Financial assets 595,488 - - 222 595,710
Inventory and biological 
assets 64,776 - - 1,068,375 1,133,151
Borrowings (3,623,521) - - 401,528 (3,221,993)
Loss carried forward 4,698,950 5,324 - (162,802) 4,541,472
Withholding income tax on 
dividends to be distributed - - - (119,034) (119,034)
Other 294,945 296 - (50,525) 244,716
Net deferred tax (liability) / 
asset 1,248,726 5,721 253,095 1,507,542

Recognised deferred tax 
asset 1,992,839 1,866,593
Recognised deferred tax 
liability (744,113) (359,051)
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26 Income tax (continued) 

1 January
2017

Deferred tax 
assets/ 

(liabilities)
acquisition/ 

disposal

Deferred tax 
credited/ 

(charged) to 
other 

comprehensive 
income

Deferred tax 
credited/ 

(charged) to 
profit or loss

31 December 
2017

Tax effects of deductible/ 
(taxable) temporary 
differences:
Property, plant and 
equipment (671,709) - - (112,940) (784,649)
Impairment of receivables 288,093 350 - (89,795) 198,648
Payables (194,877) - - (1,034) (195,911)
Financial assets 3,873,746 - (29,450) (3,248,808) 595,488
Inventory and biological 
assets 671,193 - - (606,417) 64,776
Borrowings (3,685,281) - - 61,760 (3,623,521)
Loss carried forward 1,024,789 27,019 - 3,647,142 4,698,950
Withholding income tax on 
dividends to be distributed - - - - -
Other 93,830 - - 201,115 294,945
Net deferred tax (liability) / 
asset 1,399,784 27,369 (29,450) (148,977) 1,248,726

Recognised deferred tax 
asset 1,935,298 - - - 1,992,839
Recognised deferred tax 
liability (535,514) - - - (744,113)

Starting from 1 January 2017 the amendments to the Russian tax legislation became effective in respect 
of tax loss carry forwards. The amendments affect tax losses incurred and accumulated since 2007 that 
have not been utilised. The 10-year expiry period for tax loss carry-forwards no longer applies. The 
amendments also set limitation on utilisation of tax loss carry forwards that will apply during the period from 
2017 to 2020. The amount of losses that can be utilised each year during that period is limited to 50% of 
annual taxable profit. 

In the context of the Group’s current structure tax losses and current tax assets of different companies may 
not be set off against taxable profits and current tax liabilities of other companies and, accordingly, taxes 
may accrue even where there is a net consolidated tax loss. Therefore, deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are offset only when they relate to the same taxable entity. 

31 December
2018

31 December
2017

Deferred tax assets:
-Deferred tax asset to be recovered after more than 12 months 746,857 1,125,341
-Deferred tax asset to be recovered within 12 months 1,119,736 867,498

1,866,593 1,992,839

Deferred tax liabilities:
-Deferred tax liability to be settled after more than 12 months (240,017) -
-Deferred tax liability to be settled within 12 months (119,034) (744,113)

(359,051) (744,113)
Total net deferred tax asset 1,507,542 1,248,726

The Group has not recognised a deferred tax liability of RR 4,307,067 (2017: RR 3,515,472) in respect 
of temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries and associates 
as the Group is able to control the timing of reversal of those temporary differences and it is probable that 
they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

In August 2013 the Board of Directors approved a new dividend policy with payout ratio of at least 25% of 
net income. As the dividends will be distributed from net income of the reporting periods they will be subject 
to current withholding income tax at the applicable rate. 

Refer to Note 31 “Contingencies” for description of tax risks and uncertainties.

ROS AGRO PLC 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
(IN THOUSANDS OF RUSSIAN ROUBLES, UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE) 

53

27. Related party transactions 

Parties are generally considered to be related if the parties are under common control or if one party has 
the ability to control the other party or can exercise significant influence or joint control over the other party 
in making financial and operational decisions. In considering each possible related party relationship, 
attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, not merely the legal form.  

Key management personnel 

Share option incentive scheme 

In 2014 the Group initiated a new share option incentive scheme for its top-management. Under 
the scheme the employees will be granted GDRs of the Company provided they remain in their position up 
to a specific date in the future. The amount of GDRs granted will be dependent on the average market 
prices of GDRs for the period preceding this date.  

In 2018 6,055 GDRs (2017: 33,614) of the Company amounting to RR 1,371 (2017: RR 7,612) were 
transferred to the employees under the share option incentive scheme initiated by the Group in 2014.

In 2017 the Group initiated a new share option incentive scheme for its top-management. Under 
the scheme the employees will be granted GDRs of the Company provided they remain in their position up 
to a specific date in the future. The amount of GDRs granted will be dependent on the average market 
prices of GDRs for the period preceding this date. Expenses recognized under this scheme 
for the year ended 31 December 2018 amounted to RR 18,391 (2017: RR 19,761) are included in “Other 
operating income/ (expenses)” line in the consolidated statement of profit or loss or other comprehensive 
income (Note 23). 

As at 31 December 2018, the share-based payment reserve accumulated in equity as a result 
of the share-based payment transactions amounted to RR 1,326,579 (2017: RR 1,308,188). 

Other remuneration to key management personnel 

Remuneration to 12 (2017: 12) representatives of key management personnel, included in payroll costs, 
comprised short-term remuneration such as salaries, discretionary bonuses and other short-term benefits 
totalling RR 724,181 including RR 64,846 payable to the State Pension Fund (2017: RR 1,107,390 
and RR 96,849 respectively). 

The Company Directors’ remuneration

Included in the share-based compensation and other remuneration to Company Directors disclosed above, 
are the Company Directors' fees, salaries and other short-term benefits totalling RR 470,460 in respect of 
the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: RR 806,167).

Dividends paid to the Company Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2018 the dividends paid to the Company Directors amounted to 
RR 129,578 (2017: RR 228,504).

Loan agreements with the Key management personnel 

Balances and transactions under loan agreements with Key management personnel consist of the 
following: 

Transactions 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Operating foreign exchange differences gain/ (loss), net - (7)

Balances 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Other receivables from related parties, gross 4,780 6
Trade accounts payable to related parties - (121)
Other payables to related parties 3,372 1,624

Loans issued to Key management personnel were denominated in Russian Roubles with an interest rate 
of 8.25%. 

Entities controlled by the Owner 

Dividends paid to entities controlled by the Owner 
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27 Related party transactions (continued) 

During the year ended 31 December 2018 the dividends paid to entities controlled by the Owner amounted 
RR 2,332,410 (2017: RR 4,113,065).

Balances and transactions with entities controlled by the Owner are presented in the table below: 
31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Transactions
Sales of goods and services 111 131
Purchases of services 128,737 118,872
Short-term loans repaid 470 -
Interest paid 57 -

Balances 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Trade receivables from related parties, gross 24 24
Other receivables from related parties, gross 388 257
Prepayments to related parties, gross 66,351 80,887
Advances received from related parties (2) (2)

Associates 

Balances and transactions with associates are presented in the table below: 
31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Transactions
Short-term loans repayments received - 364,996
Purchases of shares in subsidiaries - 9,168
Provision for impairment of receivables - 6,228
Purchases of services 424 1,707
Interest received - 86
Interest accrued on loans provided - 1

Balances 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Other receivables from related parties, gross - 14,294
Provision for impairment of other receivables from related parties (6,228) (6,228)
Short-term loans issued 172 172
Trade receivables from related parties, gross 49 49
Provision for impairment of trade receivables from related parties (49) (49)
Trade and other payables (81) (32)

28. Earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year excluding the effect of GDRs 
purchased by the Company and held as treasury shares.  

2018 2017

Profit for the year attributable to the Company’s equity holders 12,807,823 5,630,671
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 26,898,959 26,898,319

Basic earnings per share
(RR per share) 476.15 209.33
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29. Segment information 

Operating segments are components that engage in business activities that may earn revenues or incur 
expenses, whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker (CODM) 
and for which discrete financial information is available. The CODM is a person or a group of persons who 
allocates resources and assesses the performance of the Group. The functions of CODM are performed 
by the Board of Directors of ROS AGRO PLC. 

Description of products and services from which each reportable segment derives its revenue 
The Group is organised on the basis of four main business segments:  

 Sugar – represents production and trading operation with white sugar;  

 Meat – represents cultivation of pigs and selling of consumable livestock to third parties; 

 Agriculture – represents cultivation of plant crops (sugar beet, grain crops and other plant crops) and 
dairy cattle livestock; 

 Oil and Fat – represents vegetable oil extraction, production and sales of mayonnaise, consumer 
margarine, and bottled vegetable oil. 

Certain of the Group's businesses are not included within the reportable operating segments, as they are 
not included in the reports provided to the CODM. The results of these operations are included in "Other" 
caption. The Company, OJSC Rusagro Group and LLC Group of Companies Rusagro that represent 
the Group's head office and investment holding functions and earn revenue considered incidental 
to the Group's activities are included in "Other" caption. 

Factors that management used to identify the reportable segments 

The Group’s segments are strategic business units that focus on different customers. They are managed 
separately because of the differences in the production processes, the nature of products produced and 
required marketing strategies.  

Segment financial information reviewed by the CODM includes: 

 Quarterly reports containing information about income and expenses by business units (segments) 
based on IFRS numbers, that may be adjusted to present the segments results as if the segments 
operated as independent business units and not as the division within the Group; 

 Quarterly reports with a breakdown of separate material lines of IFRS consolidated statement 
of financial positions and IFRS consolidated statement of cash flows by segment; 

 In addition to the main financial indicators, operating data (such as yield, production volumes, cost 
per unit, staff costs) and revenue data (volumes per type of product, market share) are also reviewed 
by the CODM on a quarterly basis.  

Measurement of operating segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities 
The CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments based on the Adjusted EBITDA figure for 
the period. Adjusted EBITDA figure is not an IFRS measure. Adjusted EBITDA is reconciled to IFRS 
operating profit in this Note. 

Adjusted EBITDA is defined as operating profit before taking into account: 

 depreciation and amortisation;  

 other operating income/expenses, net (other than reimbursement of operating costs (government 
grants));

 the difference between the gain on revaluation of biological assets and agriculture produce 
recognised in the year and the gain on initial recognition of agricultural produce attributable 
to realised agricultural produce for the year and revaluation of biological assets attributable 
to realised biological assets and included in cost of sales; 

 share-based remuneration; 

 provision/(reversal of provision) for net realisable value of agricultural products in stocks. 
Transactions between operating segments are accounted for based on financial information of individual 
segments that represent separate legal entities.  
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29 Segment information (continued) 

Analysis of revenues by products and services 
Each business segment except for the “Agriculture” segment is engaged in the production and sales of 
similar or related products (see above in this note). The “Agriculture” segment in addition to its main activity 
of growing and harvesting agricultural crops, is engaged in the cultivation of dairy cattle livestock. Related 
revenue from sales of milk and other livestock products was RR 170,001 (2017: RR 183,864).

For the amount of revenue from services, which comprise mainly processing of sugar beet for third party 
agricultural enterprises, see Note 19. 

Geographical areas of operations 
All the Group’s assets are located in the Russian Federation. Distribution of the Group’s sales between 
countries on the basis of the customers’ country of domicile was as follows: 

2018 2017

Russian Federation 67,192,299 66,168,045
Foreign countries 15,785,412 12,889,815

Total 82,977,711 79,057,860

Major customers 

The Group has no customer or group of customers under common control who would account for more 
than 10% of the Group’s consolidated revenue.

Information about reportable segment adjusted EBITDA, assets and liabilities 

Segment information for the reportable segments’ assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 
is set out below: 

2018 Sugar Meat Agriculture Oil and Fat Other Eliminations Total

Assets 30,717,241 58,491,501 38,857,967 24,586,906 162,773,786 (91,648,780) 223,778,621

Liabilities 19,670,526 38,319,051 26,282,901 23,822,217 63,426,404 (50,009,118) 121,511,981
Additions 
to non-
current 
assets* 3,780,454 15,149,529 2,403,801 1,373,855 29,308 - 22,736,947

2017 Sugar Meat Agriculture Oil and Fat Other Eliminations Total
Assets 37,085,727 48,161,678 36,724,421 12,343,592 106,472,363 (83,377,796) 157,409,985
Liabilities 22,411,867 32,582,072 25,678,761 10,468,130 22,537,092 (48,995,878) 64,682,044
Additions 
to non-
current 
assets* 3,688,520 7,950,017 6,613,147 1,232,915 111,880 (168,896) 19,427,583

Information about reportable segment adjusted EBITDA, assets and liabilities (continued) 

*Additions to non-current assets exclude additions to financial instruments, assets held for sale and goodwill 
and restricted cash.

Segment information for the reportable segments’ adjusted EBITDA for the years ended 31 December 2018 
and 2017 is set out below: 
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Segm

ent inform
ation (continued)

Inform
ation about reportable segm

ent adjusted
EB

ITD
A

, assets and liabilities (continued)

2018
Sugar

M
eat

A
griculture

O
il and Fat

O
ther

Elim
inations

Total
S

ales (N
ote 19)

24,082,856
22,350,025

20,828,430
26,285,813

1,187,483
(11,756,896)

82,977,711
N

et gain/ (loss) on revaluation of biological assets and 
agricultural produce

(N
ote 9)

-
(542,408)

2,313,300
-

-
1,079,896

2,850,788
C

ost of sales (N
ote 20)

(17,459,726)
(15,897,332)

(14,293,434)
(21,354,655)

(951,193)
8,276,498

(61,679,842)
incl. D

epreciation
and am

ortisation
(1,922,979)

(2,137,672)
(1,565,803)

(327,295)
(3,982)

(24,273)
(5,982,004)

N
et gain/ (loss) from

 trading derivatives
8,890

-
-

-
-

-
8,890

G
ross profit 

6,632,020
5,910,285

8,848,296
4,931,158

236,290
(2,400,502)

24,157,547
D

istribution and S
elling, G

eneral and adm
inistrative 

expenses (N
otes 21, 22)

(3,804,518)
(1,697,910)

(3,662,569)
(2,628,767)

(833,119)
498,265

(12,128,618)
incl. D

epreciation and am
ortisation

(95,515)
(73,868)

(418,357)
(150,597)

(26,929)
24,273

(740,993)
O

ther operating incom
e/(expenses), net

(N
ote 23) 

2,910,349
662,110

(233,425)
77,405

18,704,889
(21,528,216)

593,112
incl. R

eim
bursem

ent of operating costs (governm
ent grants)

35,638
25,984

124,266
92,049

-
-

277,937
O

perating profit 
5,737,851

4,874,485
4,952,302

2,379,796
18,108,060

(23,430,453)
12,622,041

A
djustm

ents:
D

epreciation included in O
perating P

rofit
2,018,494

2,211,540
1,984,160

477,892
30,911

-
6,722,997

O
ther operating (incom

e) /expenses, net
(2,910,349)

(662,110)
233,425

(77,405)
(18,704,889)

21,528,216
(593,112)

R
eim

bursem
ent of operating costs (governm

ent grants)
35,638

25,984
124,266

92,049
-

-
277,937

N
et gain/ (loss) on revaluation of biological assets and 

agricultural produce
-

542,408
(2,313,300)

-
-

(1,079,896)
(2,850,788)

A
djusted EB

ITD
A

*
4,881,634

6,992,307
4,980,853

2,872,332
(565,918)

(2,982,133)
16,179,075

* N
on-IFR

S
 m

easure 
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29 
Segm

ent inform
ation (continued) 

Inform
ation about reportable segm

ent adjusted EB
ITD

A
, assets and liabilities (continued)

2017
Sugar

M
eat

A
griculture

O
il and Fat

O
ther

Elim
inations

Total
S

ales (N
ote 19)

30,385,814
20,512,135

18,768,283
19,430,347

117,753
(10,156,472)

79,057,860
N

et gain/ (loss) on revaluation of biological assets and agricultural 
produce

(N
ote 9)

-
(319,136)

(862,189)
-

-
(1,794,844)

(2,976,169)
C

ost of sales (N
ote 20)

(22,284,480)
(15,133,016)

(15,315,051)
(15,879,149)

-
10,495,926

(58,115,770)
incl. D

epreciation
and am

ortisation
(1,629,200)

(1,905,872)
(1,465,383)

(355,939)
-

(84,547)
(5,440,941)

N
et gain/ (loss) from

 trading derivatives
(11,115)

-
-

-
-

-
(11,115)

G
ross profit 

8,090,219
5,059,983

2,591,043
3,551,198

117,753
(1,455,390)

17,954,806
D

istribution and S
elling, G

eneral and adm
inistrative expenses 

(N
otes 21, 22)

(4,371,691)
(1,100,094)

(5,336,802)
(3,348,896)

(1,098,874)
2,016,859

(13,239,498)
incl. D

epreciation and am
ortisation

(140,264)
(42,077)

(432,567)
(127,221)

(58,516)
81,914

(718,731)
O

ther operating incom
e/(expenses), net

(N
ote 23) 

(8,082)
235,884

27,608
128,206

7,003,732
(8,053,266)

(665,918)
incl. R

eim
bursem

ent of operating costs (governm
ent grants)

-
42,255

61,966
-

-
-

104,221
O

perating profit 
3,710,446

4,195,773
(2,718,151)

330,508
6,022,611

(7,491,797)
4,049,390

A
djustm

ents:
D

epreciation included in O
perating P

rofit
1,769,464

1,947,948
1,897,950

483,160
58,516

2,633
6,159,671

O
ther operating (incom

e) /expenses, net
8,082

(235,884)
(27,608)

(128,206)
(7,003,732)

8,053,266
665,918

R
eim

bursem
ent of operating costs (governm

ent grants)
-

42,255
61,966

-
-

-
104,221

N
et gain/ (loss) on revaluation of biological assets and agricultural 

produce
-

319,136
862,189

-
-

1,794,844
2,976,169

A
djusted EB

ITD
A

*
5,487,992

6,269,228
76,346

685,462
(922,605)

2,358,946
13,955,369

* N
on-IFR

S
 m

easure 
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30 Financial risk management (continued) 

Master scale credit risk 
grade

Corresponding 
internal ratings

Corresponding ratings of external
international rating agencies

Corresponding 
PD interval

Excellent [1 – 6] AAA to BB+ 0,01% - 0,05%
Good [7 – 14] BB to B+ 0,06% - 1%
Satisfactory [15 – 21] B, B- 1% - 5%
Special monitoring [22 – 25] CCC+ to CC- 6% - 99,9%
Default [26 – 30] C, D-I, D-II 100%

Each master scale credit risk grade is assigned a specific degree of creditworthiness: 

 Excellent – strong credit quality with low expected credit risk; 

 Good – adequate credit quality with a moderate credit risk;

 Satisfactory – moderate credit quality with a satisfactory credit risk; 

 Special monitoring – facilities that require closer monitoring and remedial management; and

 Default – facilities in which a default has occurred.  

The IRB system is designed internally and ratings are estimated by management. Various credit-risk 
estimation techniques are used by the Group depending on the class of the asset. There are three 
commonly used types of such systems: 

 Model-based – In this system, credit risk ratings are assigned by internally developed statistical 
models with the limited involvement of credit officers. Statistical models include qualitative and 
quantitative information that shows the best predictive power based on historical data on defaults. 

 Expert judgement-based – In this system, credit risk ratings are assigned subjectively by experienced 
credit officers based on internally developed methodology and different qualitative and quantitative 
factors. This approach is based on expert methodology and judgements rather than on sophisticated 
statistical models. 

 Hybrid – This rating system is a combination of the two systems above. It is developed by using 
historical data combined with expert input. 

The Group applies IRB systems for measuring credit risk for the following financial assets: cash and cash 
equivalents, bank deposits, bonds held for trading. 

The table below discloses the credit quality of cash and cash equivalents balances based on credit risk 
grades at 31 December 2018. 

Cash and cash 
equivalents

Bank
deposits

Total 

- Excellent 1,694,379 16,738,340 18,432,719
- Good 33,496 123,323 156,819
- Satisfactory - - -
- Special monitoring - - -

Total cash and cash equivalents, excluding cash on
hand 1,727,875 16,861,663 18,589,538
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30 Financial risk management (continued) 

The credit quality of cash and cash equivalents balances may be summarised as: 
31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Rating agency Rating Balance Rating Balance

Vnesheconombank Fitch Ratings aaa 14,071,116 bbb- 16,123,343
Alfa Bank Fitch Ratings bb+ 1,812,173 bb+ 10,534,742
Bank NCC Fitch Ratings bbb- 1,218,937 bbb- 1,000,539
Rosbank Fitch Ratings bbb- 1,064,644 bbb- 5,085,731
Locko Bank Fitch Ratings b+ 125,471 b+ 272,011
Credit Suisse Fitch Ratings a- 119,523 a- 297,846
Bank GPB Fitch Ratings bb+ 107,550 bb+ 2,821
Sberbank Fitch Ratings bbb- 20,672 bbb- 239,323
Rosselkhozbank Fitch Ratings bb+ 903 bb+ 2,122,677
VTB Bank Moody's Ba1 - Ba1 2,543,362
Other - 48,549 21,008

Total cash at bank, bank deposits and 
restricted cash (Note 3, 4, 10) 18,589,538 38,243,404

Expected credit loss measurement. Expected credit loss is a probability-weighted estimate of the present 
value of future cash shortfalls. An expected credit loss measurement is unbiased and is determined by 
evaluating a range of possible outcomes. Expected credit loss measurement is based on four components 
used by the Group: Probability of Default, Exposure at Default, Loss Given Default and Discount Rate. 

Exposure at Default is an estimate of exposure at a future default date, taking into account expected 
changes in the exposure after the reporting period, including repayments of principal and interest, and 
expected drawdowns on committed facilities. 

For purposes of measuring Probability of Default, the Group defines default as a situation when the 
exposure meets one or more of the following criteria: 

 the borrower is more than 90 days past due on its contractual payments; 

 international rating agencies have classified the borrower in the default rating class; 

 the borrower meets the unlikeliness-to-pay criteria listed below: 
- the borrower is deceased; 
- the borrower is insolvent; 
- it is becoming likely that the borrower will enter bankruptcy. 

Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models. The Group identified certain key 
economic variables that correlate with developments in credit risk and ECLs. As with any economic 
forecast, the projections and likelihoods of occurrence are subject to a high degree of inherent uncertainty, 
and therefore the actual outcomes may be significantly different to those projected. The Group considers 
these forecasts to represent its best estimate of the possible outcomes and has analysed the non-linearities 
and asymmetries within the Group's different portfolios to establish that the chosen scenarios are 
appropriately representative of the range of possible scenarios. 

The Group regularly reviews its methodology and assumptions to reduce any difference between the 
estimates and the actual loss of credit. Such backtesting is performed at least once a year. 

The results of backtesting the ECL measurement methodology are communicated to Group Management 
and further steps for tuning models and assumptions are defined after discussions between authorised 
persons. 



233232



235234

ROS AGRO PLC 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
(IN THOUSANDS OF RUSSIAN ROUBLES, UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE) 

64

30 Financial risk management (continued) 

Group does not have formal policies and procedures in place for management of fair value interest rate 
risk.  

Interest rates under most of the Group’s borrowings are fixed. However, the terms of the contracts stipulate 
the right of the creditor for a unilateral change of the interest rate (both increase and decrease), which can 
be based, among other triggers, on a decision of the CBRF to change the refinancing rate.  

Bank deposits and loans issued bear fixed interest rate and therefore are not exposed to cash flow interest 
rate risk. 

The Group analyses its interest rate exposure on a continuous basis. Various scenarios are considered 
taking into consideration refinancing, renewal of existing positions and alternative financing. Based on these 
scenarios, the Group calculates the impact on profit and loss of a defined interest rate shift. 
For each scenario, the same interest rate shift is used for all currencies. The scenarios are run only for 
liabilities that represent the major interest-bearing positions.  

During the year ended 31 December 2018, had interest rate for borrowings with other than fixed rate been 
increased/decreased by 600 basis points the profit before taxation would have been RR 25,012 (2017: RR 
125,059) lower/higher. 

Foreign exchange risk 

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, foreign exchange risk arises on cash in banks, short-term investments, 
long-term investments, trade and other receivables, borrowings and trade and other payables denominated 
in foreign currency (Notes 3, 4, 5, 10, 15 and 16). 

At 31 December 2018, if the Russian Rouble had weakened/strengthened by 30% (31 December 2017: 
30%) against the US dollar with all other variables held constant, the Group’s profit before taxation would 
have been RR 269,688 (2017: RR 240,875) lower/higher. 
At 31 December 2018 if the Russian Rouble had weakened/strengthened by 30% (31 December 2017:
30%) against the Euro with all other variables held constant, the Group’s profit before taxation would have 
been RR 60,523 (2017: RR 171,431) lower/higher. 
Purchase price risk 
The Group trades derivatives on ICE Futures US through an agent. Through derivatives, management aims 
to offset its long position in inventory in order to minimise effects of price fluctuations on the results of the 
Group. The gains less losses on trading derivatives of RR (8,890) (2017: RR 11,115) are presented as a 
separate line within the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The 
Group does not manage the exposure of purchases to their commodity price risk through financial 
derivatives in 2017.  
The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk arising on investments held by the Group and classified 
in the consolidated statement of financial position either as available for sale or at fair value through profit 
or loss (Note 11). The Group does not manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities.  
Sales price risk 
Changes in white sugar prices from January until August are closely related to changes in world raw sugar 
prices that is implicitly managed through the raw sugar derivatives (see above). The storage facilities of 
own sugar plants permit to build up stocks of white sugar to defer sales to more favourable price periods. 
The Group is exposed to financial risks arising from changes in milk, meat and crops prices (Note 9).  

Fair value estimation 
The estimated fair values of financial instruments have been determined by the Group using available 
market information, where it exists, and appropriate valuation methodologies. However, judgement is 
necessarily required to interpret market data to determine the estimated fair value. The Russian Federation 
continues to display some characteristics of an emerging market and economic conditions continue to limit 
the volume of activity in the financial markets. Market quotations may be outdated 
or reflect distress sale transactions and therefore not represent fair values of financial instruments. 
Management has used all available market information in estimating the fair value of financial instruments.  
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30 Financial risk management (continued) 

Financial assets carried at amortised cost  
The fair value of floating rate instruments is normally their carrying amount. The estimated fair value 
of fixed interest rate instruments is based on estimated future cash flows expected to be received 
discounted at current interest rates for new instruments with similar credit risk and remaining maturity. 
Discount rates used depend on credit risk of the counterparty.  
Liabilities carried at amortised cost 
The fair value of floating rate instruments is normally their carrying amount. The estimated fair value 
of fixed interest rate instruments with stated maturity was estimated based on expected cash flows 
discounted at current interest rates for new instruments with similar credit risk and remaining maturity.  
Financial instruments by measurement categories and fair values as at 31 December 2018 

Amortised 
cost

Other at 
amortised 

cost

At fair 
value 

through 
other 

comprehen
sive 

income

At fair value 
through 
profit or 

loss

Total 
carrying 
amount Fair value

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 
3) 1,728,396 - - - 1,728,396 1,728,396
Short-term restricted cash 49 - - - 49 49
Bonds held for trading - - - 191,349 191,349 191,349
Bank deposits (Note 4) 2,790,562 - - - 2,790,562 2,790,562
Short-term loans issued (Note 4) 5,330,398 - - - 5,330,398 5,330,398
Interest receivable on bonds held to 
collect (Note 4) 188,914 - - -

188,914 188,914

Interest receivable on bonds held for 
trading (Note 4) - - - 50,015

50,015 50,015

Financial assets within trade and 
other receivables (Note 5) 5,640,955 - - -

5,640,955 5,640,955

Total short-term financial assets 15,679,274 - - 241,364 15,920,638 15,920,638
Bonds held for trading (Note 10) - - - 2,316,415 2,316,415 2,316,415
Bonds held to collect (Note 10) 19,900,000 - - - 19,900,000 19,900,000
Bank deposits (Note 10) 14,071,101 - - - 14,071,101 14,071,101
Promissory notes (Note 10) 100,000 - - - 100,000 100,000
Long-term loans issued (Note 10) 18,090,981 - - - 18,090,981 18,090,981
Other long-term investments 
(Note 10) 15,755 - - -

15,755 15,755

Total long-term financial assets 52,177,837 - - 2,316,415 54,494,252 54,494,252
Total financial assets 67,857,111 - - 2,557,779 70,414,890 70,414,890
Financial liabilities
Short-term borrowings (Note 15) - 32,513,595 - - 32,513,595 32,513,595
Financial liabilities within trade and 
other payables (Note 16) - 6,913,580 - - 6,913,580 6,913,580
Total short-term financial 
liabilities - 39,427,175 - - 39,427,175 39,427,175
Long-term borrowings (Note 15) - 62,587,531 - - 62,587,531 62,587,531
Total long-term financial 
liabilities - 62,587,531 - - 62,587,531 62,587,531
Total financial liabilities - 102,014,706 - - 102,014,706 102,014,706
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30 Financial risk management (continued) 

Financial instruments by measurement categories and fair values as at 31 December 2017 

Loans and 
receivables

Other at 
amortised 

cost
Available 

for sale

At fair value 
through 
profit or 

loss

Total 
carrying 
amount Fair value

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 
3) 4,860,335 - - - 4,860,335 4,860,335
Short-term restricted cash 42 - - - 42 42
Bank deposits (Note 4) 18,410,865 - - - 18,410,865 18,410,865
Short-term loans issued (Note 4) 600 - - - 600 600
Interest receivable on bonds

(Note 4) 46,313 - - - 46,313 46,313
Financial assets within trade and 
other receivables (Note 5) 2,752,131 - - - 2,752,131 2,752,131
Total short-term financial assets 26,070,286 - - - 26,070,286 26,070,286
Bonds held for trading (Note 10) - - - 2,549,698 2,549,698 2,549,698
Loans issued (Note 10) 15,400 - - - 15,400 15,400
Bank deposits (Note 10) 14,972,650 - - - 14,972,650 14,972,650
Other long-term investments 
(Note 10) 56,282 - - - 56,282 56,282
Total long-term financial assets 15,025,183 - 19,149 2,549,698 17,594,030 17,594,030
Total financial assets 41,095,469 - 19,149 2,549,698 43,664,316 43,664,316
Financial liabilities
Short-term borrowings (Note 15) - 8,863,525 - - 8,863,525 8,863,525
Financial liabilities within trade and 
other payables (Note 16) - 3,399,885 3,399,885 3,399,885
Total short-term financial 
liabilities - 12,263,410 12,263,410 12,263,410
Long-term borrowings (Note 15) - 37,787,777 - - 37,787,777 37,787,777
Total long-term financial 
liabilities - 37,787,777 - - 37,787,777 37,787,777
Total financial liabilities - 50,051,187 50,051,187 50,051,187

The fair values in level 2 and level 3 of the fair value hierarchy were estimated using the discounted cash 
flows valuation technique. The fair value is based on discounting of cash flows using 10.7-21.3% (2017:
11.3-12.9%) discount rate. 

Fair value of bonds held-for trading is derived from open active markets and is within level 1 of the fair value 
hierarchy.  

Sensitivity of fair value to valuation inputs for financial assets and financial liabilities, if changing one or 
more of the unobservable inputs to reflect reasonably possible alternative assumptions would not be 
significant. For this purpose, significance was judged with respect to profit or loss, and total assets or total 
liabilities, or, when changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income, total equity. 

There were no changes in valuation technique for level 3 recurring fair value measurements during the year 
ended 31 December 2018. 

Capital management 
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to maximize participants’ return while 
sustaining a reasonable level of financial risks. The Group does not have a quantified target level 
of participants’ return or capital ratios. To fulfil capital management objectives while providing for external 
financing of regular business operations and investment projects, the Group management compares 
expected return of these operations and projects with the costs of debt and maintains prudent financial risk 
management as described above.  

The Group companies complied with all externally imposed capital requirements throughout 2018 and
2017. 
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31. Contingencies

Tax legislation 

Russian tax and customs legislation which was enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting 
period, is subject to varying interpretations when being applied to the transactions and activities of the 
Group. Consequently, tax positions taken by management and the formal documentation supporting the 
tax positions may be challenged tax authorities. Russian tax administration is gradually strengthening, 
including the fact that there is a higher risk of review of tax transactions without a clear business purpose 
or with tax incompliant counterparties.  Fiscal periods remain open to review by the authorities in respect 
of taxes for three calendar years preceding the year when decisions about the review was made. Under 
certain circumstances reviews may cover longer periods. 

Russian transfer pricing legislation is generally aligned with the international transfer pricing principles 
developed by the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD), with certain specific 
features. Transfer pricing legislation provides for the possibility of additional tax assessment for controlled 
transactions (transactions between related parties and certain transactions between unrelated parties) if 
such transactions are not on an arm’s length basis. Management has implemented internal controls to be 
in compliance with current transfer pricing legislation. 

Tax liabilities arising from intercompany transactions are determined using actual transaction prices. It is 
possible, with the evolution of the interpretation of the transfer pricing rules, that such prices could be 
challenged. The impact of any such challenge cannot be reliably estimated; however, it may be significant 
to the financial position and/or the Group’s operations.

Starting from 2015 new rules were put in place establishing when foreign entities can be viewed as 
managed from Russia and consequently can be deemed Russian tax residents. Russian tax residency 
means that such legal entity’s worldwide income will be taxed in Russia.  

The tax liabilities of the Group were determined on the assumption that the foreign companies of the Group 
were not subject to applicable Russian taxes, because they did not have a permanent establishment in 
Russia and were not Russian tax residents by way of application of the new tax residency rules. However, 
the Russian tax authorities may challenge this interpretation of relevant legislation in regard to the foreign 
companies of the Group. The impact of any such challenge cannot be reliably estimated currently; however, 
it may affect the financial position and/or the overall operations of the Group. 

The Group’s Management believes that its interpretation of the relevant legislation is appropriate and the 
Group’s tax and customs positions will be sustained. Accordingly, at 31 December 2018 no provision for 
potential tax liabilities had been recorded (2017: no provision). Management will vigorously defend the 
Group's positions and interpretations that were applied in determining taxes recognised in these 
consolidated financial statements if these are challenged by the authorities. 

Social obligations 

Some production companies of the Group have collective agreements signed with the employees. Based 
on these contracts the companies make social payments to the employees. The amounts payable are 
determined in each case separately and depend primarily on performance of the company. These 
payments do not satisfy the liability recognition criteria listed in IAS 19, “Employee Benefits”. Therefore, no 
liability for social obligations was recognised in these consolidated financial statements. 

Legal proceedings 

From time to time and in the normal course of business, claims against the Group may be received. On the 
basis of its own estimates, management is of the opinion that no material losses will be incurred in respect 
of claims. 

There are no current legal proceedings or other claims outstanding which could have a material effect on 
the results of operations and financial position of the Group. 

Operating environment of the Group 

The uncertainties related to the operating environment of the Group are described in Note 1. 
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32. Commitments 

Contractual capital expenditure commitments 

As at 31 December 2018 the Group had outstanding contractual commitments in respect of purchases 
or construction of property, plant and equipment in the amount of RR 11,990,092.

As at 31 December 2017 the Group had outstanding contractual commitments in respect of purchases 
or construction of property, plant and equipment in the amount of RR 10,009,959.

Operating lease commitments 

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had 970 land lease agreements (31 December 2017: 906) of these in 
558 land lease agreements (31 December 2017: 522) fixed rent payments are defined and denominated in 
Russian Roubles. For these land lease agreements the future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases are as follows: 

In addition, in 412 land lease agreements (31 December 2017: 384) the rent is established as a non-
monetary measure based on a certain share of agricultural produce harvested or a fixed volume of 
harvested crops. For 2018 related rent expenses were RR 408,287 (2017: RR 348,243). 

33. Subsequent events 

Subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board of Directors recommends the payment of 
additional dividends out of the profits for the year 2018 and prior years' undistributed reserves to the amount 
of RR 3,449,838. Given that the Company has already paid interim dividends for the first half of 2018 to the 
amount of RR 1,026,426, the total dividend out of the profits for 2018 and prior years' undistributed reserves 
amounts to RR 4,476,264. The dividend per share will be fixed at the dividend record date set on 26 April 
2019. The proposed dividend is subject to approval by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. 
These consolidated financial statements do not reflect the dividends that have not been approved on the 
reporting date. 

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Not later than 1 year 44,590 82,284
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 165,057 205,134
Later than 5 years 1,234,563 1,482,810

Total 1,444,210 1,770,228
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